Indfmm oang
y ud

e

H3R6

Wexﬂm

2019

~FINANCIAL
YEAR fosig o e

profikable core

|

|

ARG

..|.|I.|I|.|I|||I|I|

I

U osan



1 EDITORIAL 75 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

3 COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT a7 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

71 2019 FINANCIAL YEAR 163 FURTHER INFORMATION
Selected key figures

2018 2019 +—% Q42018 Q42019 +/—%

Revenue €m 61,550 43,341 2.9 16,926 16,956 02
Profit from operating activities (EBIT} €m 3,162 4,128 0.6 1,134 1,258 109
Return on sales? % 5.1 6.5 - 6.7 7.4 -
EBIT after asset charge (EAC) €m 716 1,509 >100 509 585 169
Consolidated net profit for the period? £€m 2,075 2,623 264 813 858 55
Free cash flow €m 1,059 867 -181 1307 1,163 -11.0
Net debt?® €m 12,303 13,367 8.6 - - -
Return on equity before taxes % 19.3 24.6 - - - -
Earnings per share® € 1.69 213 260 0.66 0.70 6.1
Dividend per share € 115 1.25% - - - -
Number of emplovees® 547,459 546,924 =01 - - -

! EBIT/revenue.

2 After deduction of non-controliing interests.

* Calculation €) Combined Management Report, page 45,
4 Basic earnings per share,

* Proposal.

* Headcount at the end of the year, including trainees.

© websites € cross-references &9 Back to the previous page
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With our Strategy 2025,
we shall continue to
grow in the years ahead,
even in avolatile
economic climate.

2019 was an important year for Deutsche Post DHL Group. We are in
hetter shape than ever and have a clear view of where we want to go
next. In terms of strategy, we are concentrating on what we do best: our
core business, where digitalisation will continue to play an important
role. By steadily modernising our IT infrastructure and using new tech-
nologies, we simplify day-to-day work for our employees, improve the
customer experience and increase our efficiency. This will enable us to
post continued growth in the years ahead.

Twelve months ago, | shared this thought with you in my interview: “2019
will be challenging but we can overcame the challenges and the measures
we've introduced are beginning to pay off.” In fact, we did succeed in getting
the mail and parcel business back cn track by restructuring our divisions,

reassigning responsibility in management, boosting productivity and low-
ering indirect costs.
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Looking back, ! am proud to say that 2019 was a good year for our com-
pany in spite of all the business challenges we faced. All divisions at
Deutsche Post DHL Group continued to grow. We strengthened our earn-
ings power whilst also making significant investments in digitalisation and
the expansion of our networks in order to improve our service and ensure
profitable future growth.

In recent years, we have successfully positioned ourselves as the market
leader in global logistics. Deutsche Post DML Group is the backbone of
world trade. Our global networks facilitate trade, connecting people and
improving their lives.

Our purpose:
connecting people,
improving lives.

We provide secure employment, a good working environment and career
prospects for around 550,000 empioyees, We make life easier for our cus-
tomers, creating added vaiue and providing meaningful benefits to society.
For our shareholders, we are a good investment in a growing industry.

Our portfolio includes Europe’s leading mail and parcel delivery service
provider and international express, freight forwarding, e-commerce and
supply chain management services. This balanced and focussed portfolio,
the profitable core of our business, enables us to profit from rapidly grow-
ing international markets whilst cushioning us against the volatility of
global trade.

The crisis caused by the coronavirus highlights both the challenges and the
importance of a diversified portfolio. It is currently impossible to estimate

Deutsche Post DHL Group ~ 2019 Annual Report
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how strang the virus's impact will be, both overall and on our business in
particular. We therefore announced on 28 February 2020 that our earnings
forecast for the current financial year excludes the effects of the virus and
that we would refpcus StreetScooter on the operation of its existing fieet
of v=hicles.

Our focus:
profitable growth in
our core husiness.

Focussing upon our profitable core business means being aware of our own
strengths and continuing to improve them. Deutsche Post DHL Group is in
hetter shape than ever. We shall build upon this strong foundation in order
to make the most of opportunities such as those arising from digitalisation
anc e-commerce logistics.

DHL had an anniversary in 2019; this successful brand has now been in busi-
ness for fifty years and has had a major impact upon the logistics industry,
There will also be some important milestones in 2020. Deutsche Post AG
was founded 25 years ageo with the privatisation of Deutsche Bundespost,
and Deutsche Post shares have been traded on stock exchanges since
November 2000 - a clear success story for us and for the investors who
have accompanied us cn this long journey. We aim to add more chapters
to this story.

1fi-mly believe that our company is on the right course for profitable future
growth in our core business, even in a volatile economic climate, thanks to
our great flexibility, strong corporate culture and clear strategic direction.
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Business model

An international service portfolio
Deutsche Post AG is a listed corporation domiciled in
Bonn, Germany. Under its Deutsche Post and DHL brands,

Organisational structure as at 31 December 2019

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNQNCE

Deutsche Post DHL Group pravides an international service
portfolio consisting of letter and parcel dispatch, express
delivery, freight transport, supply chain management
and e-commerce solutions, The Group is organised into
five operating divisions: Post & Parcel Germany, Express,
Global Forwarding, Freight, Supply Chain and eCommaerce
Solutions. The services offered are described in the section
on § Business units, page 6 ff. Each of tae divisions is man-
aged by its own divisional headquartars and subdivided

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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into functions, business units and regions for reporting
purposes.

The internal services that support the entire Group
are censolidated in our Global Business Services unit.
Group management functions are centralised in Corporate
Functions.

CEO,

Global Business Services

Board member
Frank Appel

Functions

» Board Services

 Corporate Legal

= Corporate Office

» Corporate Development &
First Choeice

« Corporate Executives

= Corporate Communications,
Sustainability & Brands

= Corporate Public Policy & Reg-

ulation Management

« Glohal Business Senvices
{Corporate Procurement,
Corporate Real Estate, IT
Services, Insurance & Risk
Management etc.)

Corporate Functions

Finance

Board member
Melanie Kreis

Functions

« Corporate Accounting &
Controlling

« investor Relations

» Corporate Finance

« Corporate Audit & Security

= Taxes

- Divisianal Finance Organisa-
tions

+ Legal Services

Deutsche Post DHL
Group
Divislons
Global
Human Resources, Post & 2arcel Forwarding, eCommerce
Corporate Incubations Germany Express Freight Supply Chain Solutions
Board member Board rember Board member Board member Board member Board member
Thomas Ogilvie Tobias Meyer John Pearson Tim Scharwath Oscar de Bok Ken Allen
Functions Business units Regions Business units Regions Regions
» Corporate HR Germany & + Post = Europe » Global  EMEA = Americas
Employee Relations « Parce. - Americas Forwarding {Europe, * Europe
International » Asia Pacific = Freight Middle Fast « Asia
+ Corporate HR Standards & + MEA {Middle and Africa}
Processes East and Africa * Americas Function
+ HR for Global Functions + Asia Pacific = Customer
- Divisional HR Organisations Solutions &
Innovation

Business unit
+ Corporate Incubations

Deutsche Post DHL Group ~ 2019 Annual Report
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Organisational changes
Cn 1 January 2019, Ken Allen assumed responsibility for the
newly ¢reated eCommerce Solutians division. The Express
division has been led by John Pearson since 1 January 2019.
Since 1 April 2019, Tobias Mevyer has been responsible
for the Post & Parcel Germany division, which was previ-
ously managed concurrently by CEQ Frank Appel.
inJune 2019, Tim Scharwath’s seat on the Board of Man-
agement and his contract were renewed until May 2025.

2019 FINANCIAL YERR GOVERNANCE

In September, the Supervisory Board extended Thomas
Ouilvie’s contract for five years until August 2025. Thomas
Ogilvie is the Labour Director and Board of Management
member responsible for Human Resources and Corporate
Incubations.

The Supply Chain board department has been run by
Oscar de Bok since 1 October 2019, following John Gilbert’s
resignation from the Board for personal reasons effective
as of 30 September 20165.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A presence that spans the globe

Deutsche Post DHL Group's locations can be found in the
© list of shareholdings, dpdht.com/en/investors. The following
graphic provides an overview of market volumes in key re-
gions. Our market shares are detailed in the business units
section below.

Market volumes'
Global Germany
(z018) (2019}

57

24

26.9

M TONNES
M TEUs Air freight? € BN
Ocean freight? Advertising
Nh market’
N HN €BN h.oN
International € 8N
€ BN express market Mail
Contract logistics® (2016)* communication®

{2018) Middle East/Africa Americas Europe Asia Pacific
Air freight {m tonnes)? 15 B 54 6.6 11.0
Ocean freight {m TEUs)? 5.3 - 9.2 8.4 - 339
Contract logistics (€ bn)* 7.4 - N 725 - ’ 732
International express market (€ bn)® . o -|||. || | N 8.2 (201¢6) - - 7.1 WDH‘S\ - T ||m,o BDME\
mowu.qwzmuc; {€ hn)* - - - - 206 - .

! Regional volumes do not add up to global velumes due to rounding.  ? Data based solely upon export freight tonnes. Source: Seabury Consulting,

* Twenty-foot equivalent units; estimated share of total market controlled by forwarders. Data based

solely upon export freight tonnes. Source: company estimates, Seabury Consulting.  # According to company estimates.  ® Includes the Time Definite International express product. Country base: Americas, Europe, Asia Pacific, AE, SA, ZA [Gtobal);
AR, BR, CA, CL, CO, MX, PA, US (Americas); AT, €Z, DE, ES, FR,IT, NL, PL, RQ, RU, SE, TR, UK {Europe); AU, CN, HK, IN, JP, KR, SG, TW (Asia Pacific). Source: Market Intelligence, 2017, annual reports and desk research. ¢ QOnly business communications.
Source: company estimates. 7 Includes all advertising media with external distribution costs. Source: company estimates. * Market volume covers 25 Eurcpean countries, excluding bulk and specialties transport. Source: DHL Market Intelligence
Study 2019, based upon company catculations and content supplied by IHS Markit Group, copyright® tHS Glebal Inc., 2019. All rights reserved.

Deutsche Post DHL Group ~ 2019 Annual Report
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The postal service for Germany

As Eurppe’s largest poestal company, we deliver around
55 mitlion letters every working day in Germany. Our prod-
ucts and services are targeted towards both private and
business customers and range from physical and hybrid

0 EDITORIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT 2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE
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Business units
POST & PARCEL GERMANY DIVISION
Nationwide transport and delivery network in Germany, 2019
e T T Around

Around ‘ ”N Around
Around H.Hc °° o mail centres NwHQO
kucco post cox%u. T Fales o
retail outlets e Around
Around \ K - . , Hhuﬂmco
letter and parcel
Heumoo . amm_zmﬂm_.m
Paketshops | B
: \ \
Around .,,, -~ Around ",
i Y )
" . 4,400
.x m m : Packstations .
,,,_,., million letters | ,_ ,.,,.

per working day

. 36 :

| parcel centres i

5.2

millign parcels
per werking day

letters to special products for merchandise delivery, and
include additional services such as registered mail, cash
on defivery and insured items.

In the year under review, the German market for mail
communication for business customers was worth around
€4.2 billion {previous year: around €4.3 billion). Here we
look at the business customer market in which we compete,
including the companies that operate as service providers
in this market —i.e., both competitors offering end-to-end
services and consolidators providing partial services. Qur
market share declined slightly to 62.2% compared with the
prior year (63.4%).

German mail communication market,
business customers, 2019

Market volume: around €4.2 hillion

Deutsche Post

Competition

Source: company estimates,

Cross~channel customer dialogue

On request, our dialogue marketing unit offers end-to-end
solutions to advertisers — from address services and tools
for design and creation all the way to printing, delivery and
evaluation. This supports cross-channel, personalised and

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

automated customer dialogue so that digital and physical
items with inter-related content reach recipients according
toa co-ordinated timetable and without any coverage waste.
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The advertising market in Germany reported a slight
drop of 0.1% in 2019 to come in at €26.9 billion. Our share
of this highly fragmented market declined to 7.5% (previous
year: 7.8%).

German advertising market?, 2019

Market volume: €24.9 billion

Competition 92.5%

Deutsche Post Hwa&\

Uincludes all advertising media with external distribution costs; the placement
tosts are shown as ratios.

Source: company estimates.

Dense parcel network further expanded

We maintain a dense network of parcel acceptance and

drop-off points in Germany, which we made even denser
in the reporting year. Our portfolio of recipient services

altows our customers to receive their parcels individually

and conveniently. They can decide at short notice whether
their parcels should be delivered to an alternative address,
aspecific retail outlet or a Paketshop. We support business

customersin growing their online retail businesses and we

can cover the entire logistics chain through to returns man-
agement on reguest.

The German parcel market continues to be subject to
competition-driven structural changes. Thus, in addition
to the services offered by the established providers, new
players have also entered the market, at least some of
which provide the delivery of mail items as part of their
own e-commerce offering.

The overall larger market volume including these
deliveries can only be estimated; we expect cur share of

Deutsche Post DHL Group —201% Annual Report
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this volume to be a good 40% in 2019, roughly unchanged
from 2018.

EXPRESS DIVISION

A global express network

In the Express division, we transport urgent documents and
goods reliably and on time from door to door. Our global
network spans more than 220 countries and territories
in which some 105,000 employees provide services to
around 2.7 million customers.

Time-definite international shipments: our core business
The division’s main product is Time Definite International
(TDI). Our TDI services enable delivery at predefined
times, and our expertise in customs clearance keeps ship-
ments moving as a key factorin ensuring fast and reliable,
door-to-door service. We also provide industry-specific
services to complement our TDI oroduct. For example,
our Medical Express transport solution, which is tailored
specifically to customers in the Life Sciences & Health-
care sector, offers various types of thermal packaging for
temperature-controlled, chilled and frozen contents.

Our virtual airline

Our global air freight netwark is operated by multiple air-
lines, some of which are wholly owned by the Group. The
combination of our own and purchased capacities allows
us to respond flexibly to fluctuating demand. The follow-
ing graphic illustrates how our availahle freight capacity is
organised and offered on the market. Most of the freight
capacity is used for TDI, our main product. If any of our
cargo space remains, we sell it to customers in the air

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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freight sector. The largest buyer of remaining capacity is
the DHL Global Forwarding business unit.

Availahle capacity

8SA

! Block Space Agreement- - ACS ,

© guaranteed air cargo Air Capacity Sales,
product. total spare

capacity —average

' capacity not uti-
lised by Block Space
or TDI Core

on a planned basis.

Core

Express TDI core 7

product - capacity I

based upon average 7

utilisation, adjusted

on a daily basls. 7
I

H L

Modernising our intercontinental fleet

In 2018, we contracted with Boeing to purchase 14 new
777F aircraftas part of upgrading our intercontinental fleet.
The first four aeroplanes were delivered and added to our
network in 2019. The next six planes are planned for deliv-
ery during 2020,
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Trade boosts international express business

The international express business is benefiting from
cross-border e-commerce as well as the growing import-
ance of small and medium-sized enterprises in the e-com-
merce segment. We therefore focus upon a select mix of
customers and cost-efficient delivery to ensure profitable
growth,

Continuing to expand and modernise the European
network

in the Europe region, we are reinforcing our network by
steadily expanding our infrastructure and modernising our
fleet. In total five Airbus A330-200s were added to the fleet
inthe past two years. In ad n, Aerologic has b&en flying
for us since October 2019 with direct flights between Co-

logne/Bonn and Hong Kong. In November 2019, our newly
built logistics centre was officially inaugurated at Cologne
Bonn Airport. Additional projects are planned, including the
opening of the new or expanded hubs in Milan (Malpensa),
Istanbut and Paris.

Expanding service in the Americas region

The air fleet was upgraded with the addition of three Boeing
767-300s, all converted from passenger to freight aircraft.
Inthe USA, we opened a new gateway in Chicago and med-
ernised our gateway at JFK Airport in New York, amongst
other things. In Canada, we are investing in a new gate-
way in Hamilton. We plan to make this gateway one of our
biggest inbound locations worldwide. In Latin America, we
continued making infrastructure improvements in Brazil
and Mexico.

Deutsche Post DHL Group - 2019 Annual Report
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Additional investments in Asia

We opened new locations in Sri Lanka, Indenesia, Malay-
sia, Vietham, New Zealand, Australia, Taiwan, Japan and
Thailand. We also announced the expansicn of our Incheon
gateway in South Korea last October. In additian, the third
Airbus we converted — an A330-300 — was put into oper-
ation. A new direct flight has been established to serve
rapidly growing regions in the Philippines. In China, we
entered into a strategic partnership with EHang, a drone
manufacturer. The idea is to jointly develop fully automated,
intelligent delivery solutions for China's metropolitan areas.

Reliable partner in the MEA region

inthe MEA (Middle Eastand Africa) region, the Middle East
continued to suffer from the sometimes unstable poelitical
situation in 2019. We were nonetheless able to maintain
our operations whilst ensuring the safety of our employees.

GLOBAL FORWARDING, FREIGHT DIVISION

The air, ocean and overland freight forwarder

Our air, ocean ang overland freight forwarding services

include standardised transport as well as muttimodat and

sector-specific solutions, together with individualised in-
dustrial projects. Our business model is based upan bro-
kering transport services between customers and freight

carriers. The global presence of our network allows us to

offer efficient routing and multimodal transport. Compared

with the other divisions, our operating business model is

asset-light.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Leading the air freight market

According to the International Air Transport Association
(IATA), total freight tonne kilometres flown decreased by
4% worldwide in the year under review. The biggest de-
clines were seen in the USA and China, the world’s targest
air freight markets. We remained the market leader in 2018
with around 2.2 million tonnes of export air freight trans-
ported, as shown in the following graphic.

Air freight market, 2018:top 5
Thousands of tonnes?

DHL . 2,150
Kuehne + Nagel L7143
_ DB Schenker ‘ e 1,304
Panalpina* 1,039
§ Dsv R - . 689

! Data based solety upon export freight tonnes.
2 Was taken over by DSV in 2019

Source: annual reports, puhlications and company estimates.

Ocean freight market continues to consolidate

The ocean freight market continued to see stight growth in

2016 with consclidation continuing on the carrier side. Over-
capacity persisted in the container ship market — a trend

that is expected to be sustained in the coming years. With

around 3.2 million twenty-foot equivalent units transported,
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we remained the second-largest provider of ocean freight
services in 2018, as shown in the following table.

Ocean freight market, 2018:top 5
Thousands of TEUs*

Kuehne + Nagel 4,690
DHL _ L 3,225
— DB Schenker o . 2203
Panalpina® - - . __l4s4
i psv 1442

! Twenty-foot equivalent units,
* Was taken over by DSV in 2019,

Source: annual reports, publications and company estimates.

European road transport market posts moderate growth
In the European road transport market, grewth slowed
down in the second half of 2019, driven mainly by a de-
clining growth in volume. In a fragmented and competitive
environment, DHL Freight remained the second-largest
provider in 2018 with a market share of 2.2%.

Deutsche Post DHL Group —201% Annual Report
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European road transport market, 2018: top 5

Market volume: €206 hillion!

DB Schenker - ¥t
DHL o 22%
_ psv_ 1.8%
Cachser = _ = . _ __L7%
{ xuehne+nagel 1.5%

! Total market for 25 European countries, excluding bulk goods and specialties
transports.

Source: DHL Market Intelligence Study 2019, based upon the company's
calculations and content supplied by IHS Markit Group, copyright® IHS Global
Inc, 2019, All rights reserved.

SUPPLY CHAIN DIVISION

Customer-centric contract logistics solutions

As the world leader in the contract logistic market, we man-
age supply chains to reduce complexity for our customer.
This is our profitable core, which includes warehousing,
transport as well as value-added services such as Lead
Logistics Partner {LLP), € Glossary, page 166, Real Estate
Solutions, Service Logistics, packaging and e-fulfilment
along strategic industry verticals. We also develop innova-
tion and sustainable solutions.

FINANCIAL STRATEMENTS
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Continuing to automate and digitalise the supply chain
In the interest of our customers, we ensure that our stand-
ard tools are seamlessly embedded into all of their pro-
cesses, Flexible automation technologies, such as wearable
devices and collaborative robotics, are being scaled across
our operations to take us to the next level in efficiency. We
are constantly striving to increase efficiency along the entire
supply chain through standardisation and the use of new
technologies. Whilst these efforts generally benefit all sec-
tors, we see the largest demand in the retail and consumer
sectors, which account for approximately half of the Sup-
ply Chain division's revenue, The automation technologies
shown in the graphic on € page 10 are being introduced in
all regions in order to make us even more agile.

Leading position in contract logistics

The global contract logistics market is estimated at around
€217 billion, DHL remains the global market leader in ¢on-
tract logistics with a market share of 6.1% (2018) and op-
erations in more than 50 countries.

Contract logistics market, 2018; top 10

Market volume: €217.3 billion

DHL 6.1%
XPO Logistics. S 24%
Kuehne m..anm_ - ‘ 22w
_.anzim:muo: m@m&|. T o ﬂux
ceva - 1.5%
UPS SCS - 13w
SNCF Geedis S 1%
mmlmnjm:xmq S T ﬂﬁ
Q@.|....|-. T ‘ - 0.9%
DSV - T T osw

Source: company estimates; Transport Intelligence. Market shares are on the
basis of divisional revenue.
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Automation and digitalisation of the supply chain

Robotic arms i Robotics far inventory . Goods-to-person , Building security
; ' management | robots . with drones
! ﬁ
; I
{ .
; Indoor robotic ) Assisted picking , " Wearables 7 | Track & trace via

! transport i robots m “ ! MySupplyChain

‘
f

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FURTHER INFORMATION

ECOMMERCE SOLUTIONS DIVISION

International delivery for the e-commerce sector
Since financial year 2019, we have been pooling our inter-
national parcel delivery operations in our new eCommerce
Solutions division. The new division is geared towards pro-
viding high-guality solutions, particularly to customers in
the rapidly growing e-commerce sector. Core activities
include national last-mile parcel delivery in selected Eu-
ropean and Asian countries and the United States. We also
supply cross-horder non-TDI services, especially to, from
and within Europe,

The business is managed by the regions in which we
operate.

eCommerce Solutions’ regions and services

Americas Nationwide B2C mm_zmz_ in the United States
and worldwide/cross-border shipping from
the United States and Canada

Europe " Nationwide 2C and 28 delivery in seven countries
and across Europe/cross-border services
Russia Nationwide delivery by partners

_:&m‘aw._cm Dart) Nationwide courier services and integratec
express parcel distribution

Asia Pacific Nationwide 2C delivery in Thailand, Malaysia,

Vietham (cross-border shipping frem China,

Australia, Singapare)

10
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Strategy
CORPORATE STRATEGY

Strategy 2025 - Delivering excellence in a digital world
Our Strategy 2025 provides a foundation for continuing our
profitable growth trajectory going forwards. The four trends
of globalisation, e-commerce, digitalisation and sustainabil-
ity will remain important drivers of growth for the logistics
sector and are reflected in our corporate strategy.

Aiming for lasting industry leadership

Our purpose is to connect people and improve their lives by
enabling trade and helping businesses to grow. In keeping
with our vision to be THE logistics company fer the world,
Deutsche Post DHL Group strives to continue leading the
industry in an increasingly digitalised world. Our core
values of Respect and Results are just as much a part of
our strategy today as they have been in the past.

Becoming the Employer, Provider and Investment
of Choice
Our customer promise “Excellence. Simply delivered.” is
defined by our three bottom lines: becoming the Employer,
Provider and Investment of Choice. We consider having
motivated and skilled employees is the key to providing
excellent service quality and achieving profitable growth.
Qur wark benefits from our common DNA, which 15 a set
of behaviours, tools and initiatives that we put into prac-
tice every day. In the interest of ensuring a common basis
of understanding, we continually expand our Group-wide
“Certified” initiative, including modules for executives. We
use our annual Employee Opinion Survey to measure our
progress, as described in € Empleyees, page 55. Our regu-
lar customer satisfaction surveys allow us to measure our

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report
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STRATEGY 2025
Delivering excellence
in a digitat world

Our Purpose
Connecting people,
improving lives

Our Vision
We are THE logistics company for the world

Our Values
Respect & Results

- Qur Mission
- Excellence. Simply delivered.
Along the three bottom lines in a sustainable way

CONREL NG AEOPLE,
PROVING LIVES

Enabled by Common DNA

Our Business Unit focus
Strengthening the profitable core

PROFITRBLE
toRE

Supported by Group functions

Digitalisation

11
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performance against our quality aspiration and to iden-
tify areas for improvement; see €) Quality, page 58 £ (n all
of our business units, we focus upon delivering profitable
long-term growth. Our First Choice methodology remains
a key lever for triggering continuous improvement. Apart
from the three hottom lines, we have firmly integrated
sustainability and corporate responsibility into our strat-
egy, as explained in our { Sustainability Report, dpdhl.com/
2019sustatnabilityreport.

Strategically diversified logistics portfolio

Our divisions form the core of cur Group. Since all of the
five divisions have distinct profiles and service offerings, our
Group strategy is structured along multi-divisional lines. We
focus upon the specific growth drivers that will strengthen
the profitable core of our business units, with the goal of
achieving industry-leading margins in all segments.

Digitalisation as a key lever

We see systematic digitalisation throughout the Group as
a key lever in driving forwards our business. That’s why
we're investing in inftiatives designed to enhance both the
custemer experience and the employee experience as well
as to improve operational excellence. We are modernising
our 1T systems and integrating new technologies with the
aim of steadily improving our performance, our processes
and our standards. Between now and 2025, spending on
digitalisation is expected to reach around €2 billion. This
is projected to contribute at least €1.5 billion annually to
earnings by 2025.
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STRATEGIES OF THE DIVISIONS

Post & Parcel Germany division

We connect the people in Germany by transperting, sort-
ing and delivering their mail, whether {2tters, documents or
merchandise. This also includes digital transmissions such

as informatien on shipment status and digital messages.

Our customers rightly rely upon us to fulfil our cus-
tomer promise: we are reliable, we zdhere to scheduled
delivery times and we make sure that the mail is not dam-
aged or lost. Post & Parcel Germany makes it easy to send
and receive mail. Our actions are environmentally, econom-
ically and socially sustainable, and we work to continuously
improve ourselves.

Our highly qualified employees and high level of ser-
vice quality help us to ensure a sustainable future for our
Group as well as the future of letter and parcel delivery
in Germany. With the “Certified” programme we create a
common basis. We teach our employees how the company
works, how we define and keep our customer promises and
which skills make a manager successful.

Express division

We concentrate upon shipments whose size and weight
make them an optimal match for our network, and in terms
of our pricing policy, we encourage giobal co-ordination
and discipline. At the same time, we continuously improve
our custemer approach. Using global campaigns, we spe-
cifically target small and medium-sized businesses, which
can often benefit fromincreasing exports.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Our Certified International Specialist training pro-
gramme ensures that our employees have the requisite
knowledge of the international express business at their
dispesal, develop mutual understanding and remain per-
manently motivated.

Our return cn sales improves when growing volumes
lead to economies of scale in our network, innovation and
automation enhance productivity, and costs are strictly
managed. We are gradually streamlining the 1T systems
architecture and are ensuring adherence to global stand-
ards, especialiy as regards facilities and operating resources.
The majority of our costs are attributable to our air and
ground network. Old aeroplanes are replaced with newer,
more efficient and thus more cost-effective aircraft. We sell
available cargo space to freight and forwarding companies,
improving our network utilisation and reducing costs in
the process. On the ground, processes are automated and
standardised.

Global Forwarding, Freight division

Our emphasis is upon customer orientation and indus-
try-leading, end-to-end quality. In the Global Forwarding
business unit, we are upgrading or replacing our IT systems
to integrate industry-proven solutions. Our focus is upon
improved shipmentvisibility, electronic document manage-
ment and a new transport management system. in add-
ition, we are working to develop myDHLI, a standardised
custoemer portal, in order to occupy a leading position in the
digital frefght forwarding market and to create a state-of-
the-art customer experience.
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our emphasis is on
customer orientation
and industry-leading,
end-to-end guality.

We are constantly adding new modules to our Certified
International Forwarder training programme, We are also
honing our talent management processes to promote
women in management positions, amongst other things.

In the Global Forwarding business unit, we want to
keep improving Our mw_.TS-@Smm-@Sz.ﬁ margin [conver-
sion rate} to raise it 10 the level of our leading competitors
over the medium term. To this end, we are increasing the
profitability of contracts and aligning costs with business
development.

in the Freight business unit, our new FREIGHT 2025
strategy is continuing the pathwe have taken upto now. To
keep growing profitably, we continue to rely on employee
engagement, customer focus and digitalisation. Key foun-
dations remain our efficient network, high tevel of service
guality, improvements in 1T systems and data transparency,
s well as sustainable logistics solutions. e are also devel-
aping farward-looking digitat solutions such as Saloodal,
our online road freight platform.

supply Chain division

To enhance our matket-leading pasition, we have standard-
ised our workflows and are steadily improving our operating
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performance. A key elernent in this is our Operations Man-
agement System First Choice aleng with the outstanding
cervice and high guality that set us apart.

we use the full breadth of our capabilities to create
value for our customers and thus establish a basis far
long-lasting, growing customer retationships. Our customer
experience management processes include structured
feadback loops to let us know what our customers need
and enable us to react more quickly to their expectations.

our “Certified” programmes create motivated and
engaged experts who collaborate as diverse teams and
are helping to shape the future of logistics. Recruitment,
development and employee retention are sore of our main
differentiators in the contract legistics market.

Our pioneering role in the complex contract logistics
market is supported by our position as & [eader in digital
transformation and our broad use of innovative technol-
pgies. Weare making collaborative robofics, dataanalytics
and process automationa standard partof our operatignal
workflows through our Accelerated Digitalization pro=
gramme. Our aspirationis to make the digitat supply chain
a reality whilst expanding our line of sustainable solutions
and entering into nNew partnerships. We believe that this
wili provide a basis for accelerated growih.

eCommerce Soluticns division

our goal is to levarage qur Group footprint, resources and
saryicesio build a Emﬂqu for cross-border, non-time-crit-
ical solutions that can he connected to the most cost-effi-
cient networks for 1ast-mile delivery. The focus in creating
the platform is upon generating profitable growth across

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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alt sectors and customer segments. Our USPs are our
high-guality parce!l detivery solutions, cur reach and our
competitiveness.

The Parcel Connect product, which comhbines our ser=
vices with those of other pastal services and private-sector
cervice providers, is experiencing strong growth. This vol-
urme growth atlows us to invest further in axpanding our
network and continually improve our quality.

Our goals are best achieved when motivated and well-
trained employees provide quality service that always fulfils
gurcustomers’ expectations. Our certitied programmesare
tailored to local conditions in the markets in which we op-
erate. Common values, anthusiasmand a clear focus upon
quality are the foundation forall amployeesand executives.
We have begun introducing the Certified programmes and
will highly prioritise the roll-out in all countries in which
we o business.
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Management
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Impact on management remuneration

Deutsche Post DHL Group uses both financial and non-
financial performance indicators in its management of the
Group. The monthly, quarterly and annual changes in these
indicators are compared with the prior-year data and the
forecast data to assist in making management decisions.
The year-to-year changes in the financial and non-financial
performance metrics portrayed here are also particularly
relevant for calculating management remuneration. The
Group’s financial performance indicators are intended to
preserve a balance between profitability, the efficient use
of resources and adequate liquidity. The performance of
these indicators in the year under review is described in
the € Repart on economic position, page 34 .

Profit from operating activities: a measure of

earnings power

The profitability of the Group's operating divisions is meas-
ured as profit from operating activities (EBIT). EBIT is calcu-
lated by on the basis of revenue and other operating income,
deducting materials expense and staff costs, depreciation,
amortisation and impairment losses, and other operating

expenses, and then adding net income from equity-method

investments. Interestand other finance costs/ather financial

income are shown in net financial income/ net finance costs.
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EBIT after asset charge promotes efficient use of
raésources

EBIT after asset charge {EAC) is another key performance
indicator used by the Group. EAC is calculated by subtract-
ing the asset charge, a cost of capital component, from
EBIT. Making the asset charge a part cf business decisions
encourages the efficient use of resourzes and ensures that
our operating business is geared towards increasing value
sustainably whilst improving cash flow.

The asset charge is calculated on the basis of the
weighted average cost of capital, or WACC, which is defined
as the weighted average net cost of irterest-bearing liabit-
ities and equity, taking into account company-specific risk
factorsin accordance with the Capital Assat Pricing Model.

Astandard WACC of B.5%is applied across the divisions.
That figure also represents the minimu m target for projects
and investments within the Group. The WACC is generally
reviewed once annually on the basis of the current situation
on the financial markets. To ensure better comparability of
asset charge with previous figures, in 2019 the WACC used
here was maintained at a constant leval compared with the
previous years.

The asset charge calculation is performed each month
so that fluctuations in the net asset base can also be taken
into account during the year. The table “Calcufations” shows
the composition of the net asset base.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Free cash flow facilitates liquidity management

Along with EBIT and EAC, cash flow is another key perfor-
mance metric used by Group management. The goal is to

maintain sufficient liquidity to cover all of the Group's fi-
nancial obligations from debt repayment and dividends, in

addition to meeting payment commitments arising from

the Group’s operations and investments. Cash flow is cal-
culated using the cash flow statement.

Operating cash flow {(OCF) includes all items that are
related directly to operating value creation. QCF js calcu-
lated by adjusting EBIT for changes in non-current assets
[depreciation, amortisation and (reversals of) impairment
losses, netincome/1oss from disposals), other non-cash in-
come and expense, dividends received, taxes paid, changes
in provisions and other non-current assets and ljabilities.
Another key parameter impacting OCF is net working cap-
ital. Effective management of net working capital is an im-
portantway for the Group toimprove cash flow in the short
to medium term.

Free cash flow (FCF} as a management-related per-
formance indicator is calculated on the basis of OCF by
adding/subtracting the cash flows from capital expend-
iture, leasing, acquisitions and divestitures as well as net
interest paid. Free cash flow is regarded as an indicator of
how much cash is available to the company at the end of a
reporting period for paying out dividends or repaying debt.
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Revenue
+ Other gperating income

+ Changes in inventeries and work
performed and capitalised

- Materials expense

— Staff costs

EBIT

— Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses

— Other operating expenses
+ Netincome from investments accounted
for using the equity method

EBIT

Profit from operating activities

Asset charge

= Net asset base
X Weighted average cost of capital (WACC)

EAC

EBIT after asset charge

Cperating assets

» Intangible assets

« Property, plant and equipment

» Goodwill

» Trade receivables (included in net working capital)®
« Other non-current operating assets?

Operating liabilities

= Operating provisions (notincluding provisions for
pensions and similar obligations)

» Trade payables {included in net working capital)!

= Other non-current operating liabilities?

Net asset base

EBIT

+ Depreciation, amertisation and impairment losses

% Netincome/loss from disposal of non-current assets

+ Non-cash income and expense

+ Changein provisions

+ Change in ather non-current assets and liabilities

+ Dividends received

+ Income taxes paid

Operating cash flow before changes
in working capital {net working capital)

I+

Changes in net working capital

= Netcash from/used in operating activities
(operating cash flow, OCF)

+ Cash inflow/outflow arising from change in property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets

+ Cash inflow/outflow arising from acquisitions/
divestitures

=~ Cash outflow arising from repayments and interest on
lease liabilities

Net interest paid

= FCF

Free cash flow

H

L ncludes EBIT-related current assets and Liabilities. Mot
? Includes EBIT-related other non-current assets and lia

Deutsche Post DHL Group—2019 Annual Report

included are assets and liab
itities. Not included are assets and liab

ies related to taxes or bonds, for example.

es refated to taxes, financing and cash and cash equivalents, for example.
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NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Annual worldwide Employee Opinion Survey

Our annual worldwide Employee Opinion Survey, whose re-
sults from this reporting period are presented in £ Employees,
page 55, shows Us how we are perceived asa Group fromthe

perspective of cur employees and how they view the lead-
ership abilities of their supervisors. The Active Leadership

indicator was used in the calculation of executive bonuses

in the reporting period, as in previous years. From 2020 on-
wards we want to focus upon employee engagement, and

will use this total value for management purposes and in-
clude it in the bonus calculation for exacutives, € Expected

developments, page 563,

Reducing dependency upon fossil fuels

We aim to reduce our dependency on fossil fuels, tmprove

our CO, efficiency and lower costs. We therefore use “green-
house gas efficiency” as a target in our GoGreen environ-
mental protection programme, Greenhouse gas efficiencyis

measured using a carbon efficiency index (CEX) based upon

business unit-specific emission intensity figures, which are

indexed to a base year. We guantify the greenhouse gas

emissions upon which cur CEX is based in accordance with

the Greenhouse Bas Protocol Standards and DINEN 16258;

those attributable to our European air freight business are

calculated in accordance with the requirements of the

European Union Emissions Trading System (EU ETS). Pur-
suant to DIN EN 16258, all gases that are harmful to the en-
vironment must be disclosed in the form of CO; equivalents

[CO5e). COze reflects the ratio of the respective emissions 1o

a matching indicator of Group performance. CEX is used as

a management indicator to quantify the Group’s non-finan-
cial performance. The figures obtained for the year under
review are provided in the section € Sustainability, page 57.
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Disclosures required by takeover law

Disclosures required under sections 289a (1) and 315a (1)
of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB — German commercial
code) and explanatory report.

Composition of issued capital, voting rights and
transfer of shares

As at 31 December 2019, the company’s share capital
totalled €1,236,506,759 and was composed of the same
number of no-par value registered shares, Each share
carries the same rights and obligations stipulated by law
and/arin the company’s Articles of Association and entities
the holder to ohe vote at the Annual General Meeting (AGM).
No individual shareholder or group of shareholders is en-
titled to special rights, particularly rights granting powers
of control.

The exercise of voting rights and the transfer of shares
are based upon statutory pravisions and the company’s
Articles of Association, which place no restrictions on the
exercise of voting rights or transfer of shares.

Shareholdings exceeding 10% of voting rights

Kfw Bankengruppe (Kfw), Frankfurt am Main, is our larg-
est shareholder, holding 20.53% of the share capital. The
federal Republic of Germany holds an indirect stake in
Deutsche Post AG via KfW.

Appointment and replacement of members of the

Board of Management

The members of the Board of Manacement are appointed
and replaced in accordance with the relevant statutory
provisions (cf. sections B4 and 85 of the Aktiengesetz
{AktG - German stock corporation act) and section 31 of
the Mithestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG — German co-deter-

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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mination act}). Article 6 of the Articles of Association stipu-
lates that the Board of Management must have at least two
members. Beyond that, the number of board members is
determined by the Supervisory Board.

Amendments to the Articles of Association

In accordance with section 119 (1), number & and sec-
tion 179 (1), sentence 1 of the AktG, amendments 1 the Arti-
cles of Association are adopted by resolution of the AGM. In
accordance with article 21 (2) of the Articles of Association
in conjunction with sections 179 (2) and 133 (1} of the AktG,
such amendments generally require a simpte majority of
the votes cast and a simple majority of the share capital
represented on the date of the resoluticn. In such instances
where the law requires a greater majority foramendmenits I
to the Articles of Association, that majority is decisive.

Board of Management authorisation, particularly
regarding issue and buy-back of shares

The Board of Management [s autherised, subject to the con-
sent of the Supervisory Board, to issue up to 160,000,000
new, no-par value registered shares (Authorised Capital).
Details may be found in article 5 (2) of the Articles of As-
sociation. The Articles of Association may be viewed on
the company’s website, @ dpdhl.com/en/investors, Or in the
electronic company register. They may alsc be viewed in
the commercial register of the Bonn Local Court.

The Board of Management has furthermore been au-
thorised by resolution of the AGMs of 27 May 2014 {agenda
item 8), 28 April 2017 (agenda item 7) and 24 April 2018
(agenda items & and 7} toissue pre-emptive rights/Perfor-
mance Share Units (PSUs). The authorisation resolutions are
included in the notarised minutes of the AGM, which can be
viewed in the commercial register of the Bonn Local Court.
In order to service both current pre-emptive rights/PSUs
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and those yet to be issued, the AGM approved contingent
capital increases. Details may be found in article 5 of
the Articles of Assaciation. As at 31 December 2019, the
pre-emptive rights/PSUs already issued conferred rights
to up to 30,633,575 Deutsche Past AG shares, assuming
the conditions are met. Under the autherisations granted,
up to 38,133,756 additional pre-emptive rights/PSUs may
be issued.

The AGM of 28 April 2017 authorised the company
to buy back shares on or before 27 April 2022 up to an
amount not to exceed 10% of the share capital existing as
at the date of adoption of the resolution. Further detaiis,
including the aption of using the treasury shares acquired
on that basis ar on the basis of a preceding authorisation,
may be found in the authorisation resolution adopted by
the AGM of 28 April 2017 (agenda item 8). In addition,
the AGM of 28 April 2017 authorised the Board of Man-
agement to buy back shares within the scope specified in
agenda item 8, including through the use of derivatives
{agendaitem 9). Based upon that authorisation resolution,
the company repurchased 384,421 shares in the financial
vear. As at 31 December 2019, the company held 983,694
treasury shares.

Significant agreements that are conditional upon a
change of control following a takeover hid and agree-
ments with members of the Board of Management or
employees providing for compensation in the event

of a change of control

Deutsche Post AG halds a syndicated credit facility with a
volume of €2 billion under an agreement entered into with
a tonsortium of banks. If a change of control within the
meaning of the agreement oceurs, each member of the
bank consortium is entitled, under certain conditions, to
cancel its share of the credit line as well as its share of any
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outstanding loans and to request repayment. The terms
and conditions of the bonds issued under the Debt Issy-
ance Programme established in March 2012 and those of
the canvertible bond issued in December 2017 also con-
tain change-~of-control clauses. In the event of a change of
control within the meaning of those terms and conditions,
creditors are, under certain conditions, granted the right
to demand early redemption of the respective bonds, Fi-
nally, Deutsche Post AG has concluded a factoring agree-
ment providing for a maximum volume of €70 million in
connection with distribution partnerships. The factoring
agreement can be terminated without notice in the event
of a change of controf as defined in the agreement.

In the event of a change of control, any member of
the Board of Management is entitled to resign their office
for good cause within a period of six months following
the change of cantrol after giving three months’ notice to
the end of a given month, and to terminate their Board of
Management contract {right to early termination). If the
right to early termination is exercised or a Board of Man-
agement contract is terminated by mutual consent within
nine months of the change of control, the Board of Man-
agement member is entitled to payment to compensate
the remaining term of their Board of Management contract,
Such payment must be capped pursuant to the recommen-
dation in No, 4.2.3 of the German Corporate Governance
Code as amended on 7 February 2017, subject to the spec-~
ifications outlined in the remuneration report. With regard
to the Annual Bonus Plan with Share Matching for execu-
tives, the holding period for the shares will become invalid
with immediate effect in the event of a change of control
of the company. The participating executives will receive
the total number of matching shares corresponding to their
investment in due course. In such a case, the employer will
be responsible for any tax disadvantages resuiting from a
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reduction of the holding period. Taxes normally incurred
after the holding period are exempt from this provision.

Research and development

As a service previder, Deutsche Post DHL Group does not
engage in research and development activities in the nar-
rower sense and therefore has no significant expenses to
report in this connection.

Remuneration Report

The remuneration report describes the principles of the re-
muneration systems for the members of the Board of Man-
agementand the Supervisory Board and provides informa-
tion about the remuneration granted to, and paid to, the

members of the Board of Management and the Supervisory

Board infinancial year 2019. It has been prepared in accord-
ance with the recommendations of the German Corporate

Governance Cede (the Code) and the requirements of the

Hondelsgesetzbuch (HGB - German Commercial Code), the

German Accounting Standards and the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

Principles of the remuneration system for

the Board of Management

The remuneration system for the Board of Management is
aligned with the company’s strategy and is geared towards
performance-based, sustainable, long-term corporate gov-
ernance. lt servesasacore managementtool for linking the
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interests of the Board of Management's members with those
of the company and the shareholders, and provides import-
ant incentives for implementing the company's strategy.

The company defines a combination of strategic tar-
getsand key operating performance indicators at company
and division level that takes into account our three bottom
lines — becoming the Employer, Provider and Investment
of Choice — as well as sustainability and corporate respon-
sibility, values we have firmly integrated into our strategy.
They are also used to calculate the variable components of
the Board of Management's remuneration.

The Supervisory Board regularly examines the appro-
priateness of this remuneration. The criteria for this review
are the responsibilities, performance and experience of
each individual Board of Management member as well
as the company’s economic situation, performance and
future prospects, and the customary level of remuneration,
taking into consideration the peer group and the overall
remuneration structure in the company. In this process, the
Supervisory Board also considers the relation of the Board
of Management remuneration to the remuneration of the
senior management leveland the workforce overall, includ-
ing its development over time. The companies included
in the DAX constitute the peer group used to determine
whether the remuneration is in line with market practice.
In evaluating the appropriateness of remuneration, the
Supervisory Board is assisted by an independent external
remuneration expert. The current remuneration system
was approved at the 2018 Annual General Meeting with
88.56% of the votes cast.
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Overview of the remuneration system

The Board of Management’s remuneration primarily com-
prises the following components;

Qverview of the remuneration components
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Remuneration
component

Base salary

Summary

Purpose and connection to strategy

B _u_xmn. S?Enﬂcm_:‘ agreed remuneration paid monthly

Fringe benefits

Pension commitments

Annual bonus with
medium-term
component {deferral)

Long-term component

Maximum amount [cap)
total remuneration

« Mainly the use of a company car and services of a driver,
allowances for 1ealth and long-term care insurance

= Attracts and retains Board of Management members
who can develop and successfully implement the
strategy based upon their experience and expertise

+ Secures an appropriate, non-variable income to
ensure that no undue risks are taken

» Contribution-based pension commitment

+ Annual amount of 35% of the base salary

« Variable interest on the pension contribution account,
minimum annual rate of 2.25%

« Guarantees pension commitment in line with market
practice to provide protection for retirement and in
case of death and inahility to work

. Asarule, 75% financial and 25% non-financial
performance targets
= Maximum amo.nt {cap): 100% of respective base salary
« Target amount: 80% of respective base salary
= Payout:
» 50% in following year (short-term component)
= 50% after another two years (sustainal
and only if an additional criterion is met
{medium-term component}

« Granting of stock appreciation rights
+ Personal invessment in the amount of 10% of the base
salary reguirec
- Performance targets based upon share price:
» Absolute increase in share price
« Relative performance as against the
STOXX Eu-ope 600
= Maximum amc unt (cap): 4% grant amount (2.5% grant
amount for the chairman of the Beard of Management)
+ Exercisabllity: according to achievernent of performance
targets after four years
+ Payout: in the 1ifth or sixth year after granting,
depending on the respective exercise date

« Cap on remuneration granted and from 2022 cap on
remuneration daid {plus fringe benefits}

= Chairrman: €8 million

- Regular Board of Management member: €5 miliion

» Provides incentive for Board of Management members
to concentrate on successfully carrying out annual
business priorities

+ Deferred component subject to an additional
performance criterion reinforces the focus of Board
of Management remuneration Upon the company’s
long-term performance and also aligns annual
business priorities with the company’s long-term
development

« Provides incentive for the Board of Management
to achieve a sustained increase in enterprise value

« Links the performance of Board of Management
remuneration directly to share price performance
and therefore to investor interests

remuneration
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Remuneration components and total target
remuneration

The remuneration of the Board of Management members
mostly comprises variable, performance-based compo-
nents whose amount is based upon the performance of
individuat Board of Management members and the com-
pany’s perfarmance. The Supervisory Board assigns targets
to all performance criteria for variable remuneration prior
to each financial year; the degree of target achievement is
then used to determine the amount actually paid out.

In determining the targets, as well as their lower and
upper thresholds, the Supervisory Board ensures that these
are appropriate and ambitious. If performance falls below
the lower thresholds, the variable remuneration is reduced
to zero. The variable remuneration is capped if the upper
thresholds are exceeded. This approach provides for a bal-
anced risk/opportunity profile in the remuneration system.

The sum of the fixed remuneration components, the
target amount for the annual bonus (including deferral)
and the SAR grant amount equals the total target remu-
neration:
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Grant year Year2 Years Year 4 Year5s Year 6
Annual bonus Deferral
Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP} LTIP exercise period
Total target remuneration
Base salary Fixed monthly amount —
Fringe benefits Mainly the use of a company nwn allowances . Fixed ) _
for health and long-term care insurance remuneration
Pension commitments no:ﬁ:cczo:-cmmlmn pension commitment: _
annual amount (= 35% of base salary)
i Total target
g % % ] remuneraticn
One-year share: g i E
50% of target amount (= 40% of base salary) ; b 3
¥ 1
Medium-term component (deferral) £ 2 Variable target MI
—+ ]
50% of target amount (= 40% of base salary) w remuneration W
S - H
s R B w W
Grant amount [= 100% of base salary) — g §
i §
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Structure of the total target remuneration

n accordance with the Code's recommendation, the Su-
pervisory Board takes care to set up a multi-year structure
when determining variable remuneration, i.e.. one where
the medium and long-term variable remuneration compo-
nents exceed the short-term components, This supports
the long-term development of the company. At the same
time, the short-term variable remuneration ensures a
sufficient focus upon the annual operating targets whose
achievement lays the foundation for future perfermance.
The following is an example of the structure of the total
target remuneration of Board of Management members,
assuming a base salary of £€930,000:

Total target remuneration structure {example)

€2,982,000

Long-Term Incentive Plap _ 31% _ €930,000

Medium-term component (deferral) 12.5% €372,000 _
Annualbonus 12.5%  €372.000 |
Fixed remuneration® _44% €1,308,000

'} The fixed remuneration consists of a base salary. pension contribution and
fringe benefits; fringe benefits are calculated based upon the average
amount in 201%.
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Maximum total remuneration

In addition to the maximum amounts for individual remu-
neration components, the total payout amount is limited

by an overall cap. Firstly, the cap limits the payout amount
from remuneration granted in one year (cap on remunera-
tion granted}. Secondly, from financial year 2022 onwards,
the cap will also apply to the remuneration paid in one year
{cap on remuneration paid). These caps amount to €5 mil-
lion for each regular member of the Board of Management

and €8 mitlion for the Board of Manac ement chairman {ex-
cluding fringe benefits in each case).

Example illustration of the included remuneration
components

Overall cap on remuneration
pald: Example 2022

%

Remuneration components Remuneration components

included M included

~ Long-Term Incentive Plan L Long-Term incentive Plan
2019 tranche a 2016./2017/2018 tranches!

+ Deferral from 2019 annual ¢ = Deferral from 2020 anpual
bonus bonus

+ Proportion of 2019 annual
bonus for immediate payout
* 2019 base salary
* 2019 pension expense
{service cost)

Tt PN o SR ARSAR ARSI R o ST e BT

» Propertion of 2022 annual
bonus for immediate payout

= 2022 base salary

= 2022 pension expense
{service cost)

R PRI Rl TR e SN AL A AT

x

:

! The time the tranches are paid depends onwhen they are exercised within
the two-year exercise period.
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Total remuneration range for a regular
Board of Management member

U R SRR IR BT

Maximum
total remuneration

Maximum
amount
LTtP

Maximum
amount

Annual bonus
{inctuding medium-
term component)

Base salary Base salary

Pension expenses
and fringe benefits

Pension expenses
and fringe benefits

-
i |

Minimum Maximum

Inthe case of a 100 % SAR allocation. For the Chairman of the Board of
Management, the maximum amount from the LTIP is 250% of base salary.
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an incentive for focussing upen the company's long-term
performance. Participation in the LTIP reguires Board of
Management members to make a personal investment of
10% of their annual base salary by the grant date of each
tranche, primarily in shares of the company.

A certain number of SARs with a four-year lock-up
period are granted at the start of the term. Starting with
the 2020 tranche, their value is 100% of the base salary.
The Board of Management members receive remuneration
from the granted SARS no earlier than upon expiry of this
tock-up period. First, a determinationismade as to whether
the pre-defined performance targets were met. The perfor-
mance targets are based upon the share price performance
n accordance with our strategic bottom line of being the
Investment of Choice.

Four sixths of the granted SARs are earned if the fi-
nal closing price of Deutsche Post shares at the end of the
lock-up period exceeds theissue price by at least 10%, 15%,
20% or 25% (absolute share price targets). This approach
emphasises the importance cof the company’s long-term
development and value growth, and gears the Board of
Management’s remuneration firmly towards the interests
of shareholders.

A further two sixths of the SARs granted are linked to
the performance of Deutsche Post sharesin relation to the
performance of the STOXX Europe 600 Index. They are
earned if the share price equals the index performance or
if it outperforms the index by more than 10% (relative share
price targets}. This highlights the performance of the com-
pany compared to that of the market.

SARs can be exercised once or several times withinan
exercise period of two years after expiration of the lock-up
period in compliance with insider trading regulations; SARs
not exercised during this period expire.

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report
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Mechanism of stock appreciation rights

SAR performance Number of
targets Thresholds exercisable SARs
g 5 o .

7 %L +10% = F o1

Performance M

m versus STOXX
W Europe 600 m +0% m /s
+25% 1/6
+20% 1/6
Absolute 0%
increase
in share price +15% e
]
+10% 1/6

Each SAR entitles the Board of Management member to
receive a cash settlement during the two-year exercise
period equal to the difference between the average clos-
ing price of Deutsche Post shares for the five trading days
preceding the exercise date and the issue price at the start
of the four-year lock-up period. The Board of Management
member therefore only receives payment if the share
price exceeds the issue price of the SARs. In this way, the
LTIP creates an incentive for a period of up to six years to
boost the price of Deutsche Post shares. The payout from
the SARs is limited te a maximum of four times the grant
amount (two-and-a-half times for t1e Board of Manage-
ment chairman). Moreover, the Supervisory Board can limit
the remuneration from the LTIP in the event of extraordi-
nary circumstances.

Non-exercisable SARs expire without replacement.
However, SARs already earned can te exercised up to the
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end of the respective exercise period if a Board of Manage-
ment member steps down at the instigation of the company
prior to expiration of the agreed service period, orif the em-
ployment relationship ends after expiration of the agreed
service period without the company offering to renew the
member’s contract. The same applies in case of retirement
or early retirement,

3. Other contractual provisions

CONTRACT TERM

The contract term for Board of Management members gen-
erally runs for three years for initial appointments and five
years for re-appointments.

EARLY CONTRACT TERMINATION AND CHANGE OF CONTROL
In accordance with the recommendation of the Code as
amended 7 February 2017, Board of Management contracts
contain a provision stipulating that, in the event of early
termination of a Board of Management member’s contract,
the severance payment may compensate no more than the
remalning term of the contract. The severance paymentis
limited to a maximum amount of two years’ remuneration
including fringe benefits (severance payment cap). The sev-
erance payment cap is calculated exclusive of the value of
any rights allocated, or exercised, from LTIPs.

In the event of a change of control, any member of the
Board of Management is entitled to resign frem office for
good cause within a period of six months following the
change in control, after giving three months’ notice to the
end of a given month, and to terminate their Board of Man-
agement contract [right to early termination).

The contractual provisions stipulate that a change in
control exists if a shareholder has acquired control within
the meaning of section 29 (2} of the Wertpapiererwerbs-und
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Ubernahmegesetz (WplG — German Securities Acquisition
and Takeover Act) via possession of at least 30% of the
voting rights, including the voting rights attributable to
such shareholder by virtue of acting in concert with other
shareholders as set forth in section 20 of the WpUG orifa
control agreement has been concluded with the company
as a dependent entity in accordance with section 291 of
the Aktiengesetz (AktG — German Stock Corporation Act)
and such agreement has taken effect or if the company
has merged with another legal entity outside of the Group
pursuant to section 2 of the Umwandlungsgesetz {UmwG -
German Rearganisation and Transformation Act), unless the
value of such other legal entity, as determined by the agreed
conversion rate, is less than 50% of the value of the company.

In the event that the right to early termination is ex-
ercised or a Board of Management contract is terminated
by mutual consent within nine months of the change in
control, the Board of Management member is entitled to
payment to compensate the remaining term of their Board
of Management contract. Such payment is limited to 150%
of the severance payment cap (see above for the calcula-
tion), The amount of the payment is reduced by 25% if the
Board of Management member has not reached the age
of 60 upon leaving the company. If the remaining term of
the Board of Management contract is less than two years
and the Board of Management member has not reached
the age of 62 upon leaving the company, the payment will
correspond to the severance payment cap. The same ap-
plies if a Board of Management cantract expires prior to
the Board of Management member’s reaching the age of
62 because less than nine months remained on the term
of the contract at the time of the change of cantrol and the
contract was not renewed.

If the right to early termination is exercised to ter-
minate a Board of Management contract, the Board of
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Management member can exercise the SARs already
granted after expiration of the four-year lock-up period
and until the end of the respective exercise period, nro-
vided the exercise conditions set out in the applicable plan
terms have been met. After termination of the Board of
Management contract, the member is no longer entitled
to claim granting of any additional SARs. In the event that
the company is delisted after a takeover, the company will
reach a suitable agreement with the Board of Management
members.

NON-COMPETE CLAUSE

Beard of Management members are also subject to a
non-compete clause. During the one-year non-compete
period, former Beard of Management members receive
100% of their last contractually stipulated base salary
on a pro-rata basis as compensation each month. Any
other income earned during the non-compete period is
subtracted from the compensation paid. The amount of
the compensation payment s deducted from any pension
payments. If a Board of Management member receives a
severance payment for remuneration claims, no additional
compensation payment for the non-cempete clause is paid
for this period. Prior to, er concurrent with, cessation of the
Board of Management contract, the company may declare
its waiver of adherence to the non-compete clause. In such
a case, the company will be released from the obligation
to pay compensation due to a restraint on competition six
months after receipt of such declaration.

CONTINUED PAYMENT OF REMUNERATION

If a Board of Management member is temporarily unable
towork due toitlness, accident or ancther reason for which
the member is not responsible, remuneration will continue
to be paid for a period of twelve months, but no longer than
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the end of the Beard of Management contract. in the case
of permanent disability of a Board of Management member
during the term of the Board of Management contract, the
contract will expire at the end of the quarter in which the
permanent disability was determined.

If the Board of Management contract ends on account
of death or permanent disability, the base salary and max-
imurn annual bonus, prorated in each case, will continue
to be paid for a period of six months following the end of
the month in which the Board of Management contract
ends, but no longer than the scheduled expiration date of
the contract. If the contract ends due to the death of the
Board of Management member, the payment is made to
the deceased’s beneficiaries as joint and several creditors.

CLAWBACK

According to the new Code recommendation G.11, variable
remuneration can be withheld or reclaimed (clawback) in
justified cases. The company complies with the recommen-
dation because the medium and long-term components of
variable remuneration can both be withheld.

50% of the annual bonus resulting from target achieve-
mentis transferred into the medium-term component and
is subject to a two-year sustainability phase {deferral). This
medium-term component, even if earned, is clawed back
and expires without replacement if EAC, the sustainability
criterion, is not met during the sustainability phase.

The SARs granted are clawed back and expire without
replacement, if and to the extent that, the absolute or rela-
tive performance targets are not met during the four-year
jock-up period. Moreover, SARs are granted on the con-
dition that the Supervisory Board may limit the payment
amount in the event of extracrdinary developments.

The statutory clawback rules are applied additionally
within the statutory limitation periods.
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SHARE OWNERSHIP

The targets for the LTIPare share-based, which ensures that
the remuneration of the Board of Management is strongly
and directly linked to, and aligned with, the interests of our
shareholders. Per SAR tranche, a Board of Management
member can receive at most two-and-a-half times (chair-
man of the Board of Management) or four times {regular
Beard of Management member) the allocated amount from
each individual tranche, provided the overall cap is not met
first. Even considering a one-year horizon, this provides an
incentive for focussing upon share price that far exceeds
one annual base salary. This effect is multiplied over sev-
eralyears. Moreover, participation in the LTIP requires Board
of Management members to make a personal investment
of 10% of their annual base salary per tranche, primarily
in shares of the cempany. Agreeing more extensive share
ownership guidelines therefore does not appear necessary.

OTHER
Members of the Board of Management do not receive any
loans from the company.

Remuneration of the Group Board of Management
in financial year 2019

1. Base salary

The hase salary of regular Board of Management members
generally amounts to €715,000 in the first contract year,
€£860,000 from the third contract year and €930,000 from
the fourth contract year. After that, it is reviewed after an-
other three years have passed or when the contract is re-
newed. The "Remuneration granted in accordance with the
German Corporate Governance Code” table on € page 27 ff.
contains a breakdown of the individual Board of Manage-
ment members’ base salaries.
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2. Target achievement for the annual bonus,

including deferral

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FURTHER INFORMATION

The performance criteria used to calculate the amount of

the annual honus and their weighting were the same as in
the previous year. The performance criterla outlined below

were used:

Performance criteria

Performance criterion Weighting
Group EAC! S5%/65%
Divisional EAC* 0%/10%
Free cash fiow 10%
Employee engagement 12.5%
Individuai targets, based upon 12.5%

the Group’s strategy?

incentive effect/Strategy connection

» Key performance indicator for the company

+ Adds a cost of capital component to the calculation of EBIT to encourage
the efficient use of resources and ensures that the operating businessis
geared towards increasing value sustainably whilst generating increasing
cash flow

» Measurement of individual performance in the respective Board department
+ Incentive for market-leading performance in every division

» Key performance indicator for the cempany

» Measure of how much cash the company generates, taking into account
payment commitments arising from the Group’s operations as well as capital
expenditure and lease and interest payments

« Indicator of how much cash is available to the company for paying dividends,
for repaying debt or for other purposes (e.g., funding pension obligations}

* Becoming employer of choice

« Quantifies the identification of employees with the company and their
motivation 1o contribute to the company's success

+ Compared with external benchmarks, identifies strengths and indicates
action areas

+ Opportunity to determine annual focus areas in operations depending upon
current priorities and the degree of implementation of our strategy

* E.g., implementation of the digital transformation initiatives necessary for
sustained business success, implementation of measures forincreasing
customer satisfaction

* EBIT after asset charge (EAC) including asset charge on goodwill and before goodwillimpairment. 2 Since Ken Allen assumed responsibility for a new division
1n 2019, no individual target was agreed. His divisional EAC target was increased accordingly on a percentage basis.
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The formula used to caiculate the amount of the annual bonus was as follows:
Annual bonus calculation
Target achievement Weighting*
each 0%-125%
Group EAC! 55%-65% - Payout
One-year share
5 ) H
Divisional EAC? 0%—-10% — MM Overall target achievement .
§ 0%-125% respectively w # 50%
Free cash flow 10% — W * ;o= Annual Bohus
!
i Targetamount : % S0%
Employee engagement 12.5% —] 3 80% of base salary m
Medium-term component
Individual targets 12.5% — Deferral

* Inciuding asset charge on goodwill and before goodwill impairment.

2 Ken Allen: weighting of divisional EAC at 22.5%, individual targets at 0%.

Target achievement, annual bonus achievement, 2019

Performance criterion Target Actual Degree of target Degree of target
in € million in € million achievement achievement
in% in % of maximum
amount
Group EAC? 1,513 82.35 65.88
Divisional EAC!
Post & Parcel Germany &84 2159 73.28
Global Forwarding, Freight -3 9148 73.18
Express H\mwm B85.99 B 6879
Supply Chain 451 125.00 N H@ooo
eCommerce Solutions B 71 ) \\lgo L 125.00 100.00
Free cash flow B67 125.00 100.00

! Inclugding asset charge on goodwill and before goodwill impairment.
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In measuring the degree of target achievement, three
thresholds were agreed upon with each Board of Manage-
ment member to calculate the amount of their individual
annual bonus: there is no payout until the lowest thresh-
old is reached; when this happens, 50% of the maximum
amount for this target is paid. When the performance tar-
get is achieved, 80% is paid, and when the upper thresh-
old is reached, L00% of the maximum amount is paid. For
each target, the maximum amount possible is equal to the
weighting applied to cne base salary (for example, for the
free cash flow performance criterion, the maximum payout
is 10% of one base salary).

The performance targets for the Group EAC and Group
free cash flow correspond to the budgeted figures for the
financial year. The degree of individual target achievement
was between 62.5% and 125%. 112.50% of the employee
target was achieved. Based upon these target achievement
percentages, the average annual bonus (including deferral)
was 75.71% of one base salary. The annual bonus amount
paid cut to each individual Board of Management member
is shown in the “Remuneration paid in accordance with the
German Corporate Governance Code” table.

The condition for payout of the share of the annual
bonus deferred in 2017 was that the EAC at the end of the
sustainability phase exceeds the EAC in the base year, or
that the EAC was positive overall during the sustainability
phase, i.e., that at least the asset charge (including asset
charge on goodwill} was earned. The latter was the case
during the sustainability phase. The individual payouts are
outlined in the “Remuneration paid in accordance with the
German Corporate Governance Code” table.
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3, SAR target achievement

The waiting period for the 2015 SAR tranche granted four
years previously ended on 31 August 201%. The absolute
performance of Deutsche Post shares was 11.70%, which
represented achievement of one of four absolute share
price targets. The share’s performance relative to the STOXX
Europe 600 was 11.07%. Both relative share price targets
were therefore met. Intotal, three of six share price targets
were met, making half of the SARs granted in financial year
2015 exercisable. The Board of Management members can
exercise these SARs until 31 August 2021.

On 1 September 2019, the members of the Board of
Management were again granted SARs as the 2019 tranche.
The Supervisory Board agreed upon strategic targets with
the members of the Board of Management for a period
of twelve months prior to the grant date to determine
the grant value. The relevant target categories were the
performance of the share price compared with that of the
company’s competitors, strategic individual targets and a
digital transformation target for each member. The target
categories each carry a weighting of a third. For the share
price perfarmance compared with the company's compet-
itors, peer groups of two to three companies are selected
for the operating divisions of the Group. Additional imple-
mentation steps for the divisional strategy were agreed as
part of the digital transformation. The focus of the other
individual targets was upon customers and employees, in
particuiar.

The Board of Management members were granted
SARs in the 2019 tranche that, on average, amounted
to 139% of their base salary on the grant date. From the
2020 tranche onwards, SARs will be uniformly granted to
all Board of Management members only in the amount of
100% of each individual base salary on the grant date.
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Target achievement for the targets applicable for
granting SARs in 2019 was as follows:
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Long-Term Incentive Plan: number of SARs granted
Quantity

SARs SARs
. 2018 2019
SAR target achievement tranche  tranche
Frank Appel, Chairman 329,538 656,568
Target SAR Ken Allen 196,596 336210
achieve- allocation _ -
ment 2019 Oscar de Bok (since 1 October 2019) - -

Weighting % tranche John Gilbert {until 30 September 2019) 216,384 -
Share price performance Melanie Kreis 1B5.070 310,878
compared with the Trline Mavar feinem 1 e - _
company’s competitors 1/3 127 711,254 Tobias Meyer [since H>ﬁ:_NoH£ T 239010
Strategic individual targets 1/3  120-150 818,601 e I 127.044 253,824
Digital transformation John Pearson {since 1 January 2019) ~ - 239010
targets 173 130-150 793,083 Tim Scharwath 137,208 287,478

2,322,978

The index started out at 371.81 points. The issue price was
€28.88. Payments from the 2019 tranche will be made no
earlier than 1 September 2023, assuming that the share
price targets are met at least in part. If no targetis met, the
SARs expire without replacement, which means that they
will never give rise to any payments. The value of the SARs
granted to each Board of Management member in finan-
cial year 2019 is presented in the “Rernuneration grantedin
accordance with the German Corporate Governance Code*
table on €} page 27 ff. See the "Long-Term Incentive Plan:
number of SARs granted” table for the number of SARs
granted,

4. Remuneration amount

Based upon the aforementicned determinations by the
Supervisory Board, the remuneration paid to members
of the Board of Management in financial year 201% in ac-
cordance with the applicable account ng standards totalled

+ Forfeited on departure.

€13.62 million {previous year: €11.37 million), That amount
comprised €8.15 millien in non-performance-related com-
ponents {previous year: £€8.12 million) and €5.47 million
in paid-out annual bonuses (including the deferral from
2017} as performance-related components (previous year:
€3.25 million}. An additional £2.88 million {previous year:
€0.58 million) of the annual bonus was transferred to the
medium-term component (deferral) and will be paid out
in 2022 subject to the condition that the required EAC, an
indicator of sustainability, is reached.

In financial year 2019, the Board of Management
members were granted a total of 2,322,978 SARs, which
at the issue date were valued at €9.90 million {previous
year: €5.43 million).

The total remuneration paid to Board of Management
members is presented in the tables below. In addition to
the applicable accounting principles, the Code recommen-
dations were alsoe taken into account,
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Remuneraticn granted in accordance with the German Corporate Governance Code
€
Frank Appel Ken Allen
Chairman elommerce Solutions
2018 2019 Min. 2016 Max, 2019 _ 2018 2019 Min. 2019 Max. 2019
Base salary 2,060,684 2,060,684 2,060,684 2,060,684 1,005,795 1,005,795 1,005,795 1,005,795
Fringe benefits - 52,889 50,933 50,933 50,933 102,716 100,672 100,672 100,672
Total i ) 2,113,573 2,111,617 2,111,617 2,111,617 1,108,511 1,106,467 1,106,467 1,106,467
Annual bonus; cne-year share 824,274 824,274 0 1,030,342 402,318 402,318 0 502,898
Multi-year variable remuneration o - 2,369,807 3,621,254 0 8022759 1,324,353 1,834,573 A 6,231,906
* LTIP with four-year waiting period T 1,545,533 2756980 0 6,992,417 922,035 1,432,255 o 5,729,008
Annual bonus: deferral with three-year waiting period o B24,274 824274 0 1,030,342 402318 402,318 o 502,898
Total ‘ o 5,307,654 6,557,145 2,111,617 11,164,718 2,835,182 3,343,358 1,106,467 7,841,271
Pension expense (service cost} 1,121,934 1,093,499 1,093,499 1,093,499 345,640 348,733 348,733 248,733
Total remuneration o 6,429,588 7,650,644 3,205,116 12,258,217 3,180,822 3,692,091 1,455,200 8,190,004
Cap on the maximum payment amount
{excluding fringe benefits} from remuneration granted in 2019 w.occ.oolol 5,000,000
Oscar de Bok John Gilbert
Supply Chain (since 1 October 2019) Supply Chain {until 30 September 2019)
2018 2019 Min. 2019 Max. 2019 _ 2018 2019 Min. 2019 Max. 2019
Base salary - 178,750 178,750 178,750 930,000 597,500 697,500 697,500
Fringe benefits N o - - 13,499 13499 13499 264,539 116,000 114,000 116,000
Total ‘ T 7% - 192,249 192,249 1,194,539 813,500 813,500 813,500
Annual bonus: one-year share - 71,500 0 89,375 372,000 279,000 0 348,750
Multi-year variable remuneration o o - 71,500 0 89,375 1224553 | 279000 ‘ 0 348,750
LTIP with four-year waiting periog ) o - - - - 852,553 - - -
Annual bonus: deferral with three-year waiting period - 71500 0 89,375 372,000 279,000 0 348,750
T B - - 335,249 192,249 370,999 2,791,092 1,371,500 813,500 1,511,000
- - - - 310,989 290,027 290,027 260,027
Total remuneration o o T 335209 192,249 370,099 3,102,081 1,661,527 1,103,527 1,801,027
Cap on the maximum payment amount
(excluding fringe benefits} from remuneration granted in 2019 n.a, n.a.

1 Forfeited on departure.
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Melanie Kreis Toblas Meyer
Finance Post & Parcel Germany (since 1 April 2019)
2018 2019 Min. 2019 Max. 2019 2018 2019 Min. 2019 Max. 2019
Base salary 920,000 30,000 930,000 930,000 - 536,250 536,250 536,250
Fringe benefits ) 17,003 20,674 20,674 20,674 - 20,045 20,045 20,045
Total ‘ o 947,003 950,674 950,674 950,674 - 558,295 556,295 556,295
Annual bonus; one-year share 372,000 372,000 0 465,000 - 214,500 0 268,125
Multi-year variable remuneration 1239978 1,696,340 ©  5762,280 - 1,232,683 0 4380765
LTIP with four-year waiting period 867978 1,324,340 0 5,297,280 - 1,018,183 0 4,072,640
" Annual bonus: deferral with three-year waiting period 372000 372,000 o 265,000 - 214500 0 268,125
Total T R 2,558,981 3,019,014 950,674 17,177,954 - 2,003,478 556,205 5,165,185
Pension expense (service cast) 217,375 309,440 309,440 308,440 - - - -
Totalremuneration 2,876,356 3328454 1,260,114 7,487,394 - 2003478 556,295 5,165,185
Cap on the maximum payment amount
{excluding fringe benefits) from remuneration granted in 201% 5,000,000 5,000,000
Thomas Ogilvie John Pearson
Human Resources and Corporate Incubations Express {since 1 January 2019)
2018 2019 Min. 2019 Max. 2019 2018 2015 Min. 2019 Max. 2019
Base salary 715,000 763,333 763,333 763,333 - 715,000 715,000 715,000
Fringe benefits o T T1am96 14079 14,079 14,079 - 86,269 86,469 86,469
Total S 729,896 777,412 777,412 777,412 - 801,469 801,469 801,469
Annual bonus: one-year share 286,000 305,333 0 381,667 - 286,000 0 357,500
Multi-year variable remuneration 77 ge1836 1,386,623 0 4,706,779 - 1304183 0 4,430,140
" LTIP with four-year waiting pericd ) 595,836 1,081,250 0 4,325,112 - T 1mis1s3 0 4,072,640
Annual benus: deferral with three-year wai ‘ 286,000 305,333 0 381,667 - 286,000 0 357.500
Total ‘ 1,897,732 2,469,368 777,412 5,865,858 - 2,391,652 801,469 5,589,109
Pension expense {service cost) 247,753 242,938 242,938 242,938 - 246,341 246,341 246,341
Total remuneration ) 2,145485 2,712,306 1,020,350 6,108,796 - 2,637,993 1,047,810 5,835,450
Cap on the maximum payment amount
{excluding fringe benefits) from remuneration granted in 2019 5,000,000 5,000,000
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Tim Scharwath
Global Forwarding, Freight
2018 2019 Min. 2019 Max, 2019
Base salary 715,000 799,583 799,583 799,583
Fringe benefits B 53,390 40,620 40,620 40,620
Totat - 7 ’ ’ 768,390 ’ " Tpaozo3 "~ 8ao,203 840,203
Annual bonus; ane-year share 286,000 319,833 o] 399,792
Multi-year variale remuneration B - 929506 1,544,489 o 0 5,298,352
* LTIP with four-year waiting period - i 643506 1,224,656 T 0 4,898,560
Annual bonus: deferral with three-year waiting period 286,000 319833 B B 399,792
Total o o o o 1,983,896 2,704,525 " 840,203 6,538,347
Pension expense (service cost) 247556 244,868 244868 244 B68
Total remuneration 2,231,452 ‘ 2,949,393 1,085,071 5,783,215
Cap on the maximum payment amount
{excluding fringe benefits) from remuneration granted in 2019 5,000,000
Remuneration paid in accordance with the German Corporate Governance Code
€
Frank Appel Ken Allen Oscar de Bok
Chairman eCommerce Solutions Supply Chain (since 1 October 2019)
2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
Base salary 2,060:684 1 . 2,060,684 1,005,795 1,005,795 - 178,750
Fringe benefits N o o . c28B9) = s0933 102716 100672 - T 13,499
Total 2115573 | 2,111,617 1108511 1,106,467 - 192,249
Annual bonus: one-year share , o 754,520 165,124 402,217 - 71,482
Multi-year variable remuneration 4958262 5,768,086 482147 1361956 s -
” Annual mo:cm am*mﬂ.ﬂwﬁ from 2016 T 950,662 R iimmw.gq - T B -
Annual mmscw am*mﬁ& from 2017 i o ‘ - : - ommme ’ - hmw_ﬁ - .
2012 LTIP tranche o 4007600 . - - - -
2013 LTIP tranche i - 4,815,735 ) - 874,011 N - =
other B o - - - - i - -
Totaa 777 17,071,835 8,638,223 1,785,782 2,870,640 o - 23731
Pension expense (service cost) 1,121,934 1,093,499 345,640 348,733 - -
Total o o - - 8,193,769 9,727,722 2,131,422 T 3,219,373 - 283,731
Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report 29



(<] EDITORIAL

MANAGEMENT REPORT
GENERAL INFORMATICN

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION

John Gilbert Melanie Kreis Tobias Mever
Supply Chain {until 30 September 2019) Finance Post & Parcel Germany (since 1 April 201%)
2018 2019 2018 201¢ 2018 201%
Base salary 230,000 697,500 220,000 G30,000 - 536,250
Fringe benefits ) i - 264,539 T 116,000 T 17,003 20,674 - 20,045
Total T 1,194,539 813,500 947,003 950,674 - 556,295
Annual bonus: one-year share 122,295 278,320 0! 335,963 - 205,547
Multi-year variable remuneration 389,263 434,805 364,964 405,892 - o Z
Annual bonus: deferral from 2016 ’ - 389,263 - w.oa,o.mb - - _
Annual bonus: deferral from 2017 - 434,808 - 405,892 - -
2012 LTIP tranche S o - ) - - - - S
2013 LTIP tranche ) - - - - - -
Other h . - T T - T |
Total ’ 1,706,097 1,527,235 1,311,967 1,602,529 - 762,242
Pension expense [service cost) 310,989 290,027 317,375 309,440 - -
Total T 2,017,086 1,817,263 1,629,342 2,001,969 - 762,242
Themas Cgilvie John Pearson Tim Scharwath
Human Resources and Corporate Incubations Express {since 1 January 2019) Global Forwarding, Freight
2018 2013 2018 2019 2018 2019
Base salary 715,000 763,333 - 715,000 715,000 799,583
Fringe benefits - 14,896 © 14079 I 86,469 53,3902 C 0620
Total T o 72989 777,412 - 801,469 768,390 840,203
Annual bonus: one-year share 96,275 268,388 - 262,977 129,773 301,043
Ic_zémw_\ variable 33%&&6: ) B - ) 116,188 o - - - :Hoo..\_mo
‘>3:cmmuo::m amﬁm:‘m_.:o:g 2016 N i - - - - - -
Annual bonus: deferral from 2017 ’ - 116,188 - - - 196,780
moHN LTIP tranche . - o - - ) - - - -
QE _..:_w tranche o - ~ = . - -
Other ’ - - - o - - -
Total 826,171 1,161,988 - 1,064,446 898,163 1,338,026
Pension expense [service cost) 247,753 242638 - 246,241 247 556 244 868
Total - 1,673,924 1,404,928 - 1,326,787  1,14571% 1,582,894
* waiver of annuat bonus {including deferral) 2018, * Plus a compensation payment of €783,460 1n 2018,
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Remuneration in accordance with the HGB (DRS 17)
€

Frank Appel Ken Allen Oscar de Bok

Chairman eCommerce Solutions Supply Chain {since 1 October 2019)

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
Base salary 2,060,684 2,060,684 1,005,795 1,005,795 - 178,750
Fringe benefits 52,889 50,933 102716 100,672 - 13,495
Annualbonus: one-year share ol 754520 195,124 T aozn . _ 71482
Annual bonus: deferral from 2016 o - 950662 | - 482,147 - - ) -
Annual bonus: deferral from 2017 o - 952,351 - 487,945 - -
2018 LTIP tranche S 1545533 | - 922,035 - ) - ’ _
201¢ LTIP ﬁﬂm:njm o T - 7 N......@W.@m.m T - 1,43 ‘N\_N\mﬂ o - o
Total 4,609,768 | 6,615,468 2,707,817 3,428,884 - 263,731

John Githert Melanie Kreis Tohias Meyer

Supply Chain (until 30 September 2019} Finance Post & Parcel Germany (since 1 April 2019)

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
Base salary 930,000 697,500 930,000 930,000 - 536,250
Fringe benefits 264,539 116,000 17.003 20674 - 20,045
Annual bonus: che-year share ’ 122,295 278930 01 | 335963 - - 205,947
Annual bonus; deferral from 2016 T T T T 380,043 - 364,964 - - -
Annual bonus: deferral from 2617 - 434,806 - 405,892 ) - _
2018 LTIP tranche ) S 852,5532 - ser978 . - =
2019 LTIP tranche o o - - - 1324340 - 1,018,183
Total h 2,558,650 1,527,236 2,179,945 3,016,869 - 1,780,425

Thomas Ogilvie John Pearson Tim Scharwath
Human Resources and Corporate Incubations Express {since L January 2019) Global Forwarding, Freight

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
Base salary 715,000 763,333 - 715,000 715,000 799,583
Fringe benefits 14,896 14,079 - 86,469 51,390 40,620
Annual bonus; phe-year share T @@Muw. T T 268388 - Nom.nﬂ‘ a 129,773 301,043
Annual bonus: deferral from mon ’ UL T - - ‘ - o - -
Annual bonus: deferral from 2017 - 116,188 - - - 194,780
2018 LTIP tranche 595,826 - - = 7 aazsoes -
2016 LTIP tranche ’ - 1.081,290 - 1,018,183 - 1,224,656
Total o 1,422,607 2,243,278 T 2,082,629 2,325,129 2,562,682

! waiver of annual bonus (including deferral) 2018.  * Forfeited on departura. * Including a compensation payment of £783.460 in 2018,

Deutsche Post DHL Group - 2019 Annual Report
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€

Total contribution

Total contribution

Present value {DBO)

Present value (DBO)

for 2018 for 2019 asat 31 Dec. 2018 asat31Dec. 2019

Ken Allen 352,028 352,028 3,364,734 3.888,461

Oscar de Bok (since 1 October 2019) 62563 - ) 517,661

John Gilbert (until 30 September 2019) - s5500 244125 1330,176 1834189

Melanie Kreis 325,500 325500 1,719,088 2,294,996

Toblas _,M_m(.mﬁ _ﬁmamm 1 April 2019} B i ’ - “ 187,688 o N .Em.m
Thomas Ogilvie B i 250,250 250,250 392,850 758,257

John Pearson (since 1 January Nop.&‘ o ‘ - Nmo.umo T - T Nﬂ.wm
Tim Scharwath . ] 250250 250250 404,952 711,698

e — 1,503,528 " 19226584 T 7,211,800 T 11,038,200

Final-salary-based legacy pension commitments: individual breakdown

Peqsion commitments
Pension level Pension level

on 31 Dec. 2018
%

Frank Appel, Chalrman 50
Total

on 31 Dec. 2019
%

50

Maximum pension level

%

Present value {DBO)
asat 31 Dec. 2018
3

50

21,563,074

21,563,074

Presentvalue (DBO}
as at 31 Dec. 2019
€

26,570,584

26,570,684

Benefits for former Board of Management members
Benefits paid to former members of the Board of Manage-
ment or their surviving dependants amounted to €6.3 mil-
tion in financial year 2019 {previous year: €9.6 million).
The defined henefit obligation (DBO) for current pensicns
calculated under IFRSs was €100 million {previous year:
€94 million).

Deutsche Post DHL Group— 2019 Annual Report
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REMUNERATION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Remuneration for the members of the Supervisory Board
is governed by article 17 of the Articles of Association of
Deutsche Post AG, according to which they receive only
fixed annual remuneration in the amount of €70,000 (as
in the previous year).

The Supervisory Board chairman and the Supervisory
Board committee chairs receive an additional 100% of the
remuneration, and the Supervisory Board deputy chair
and committee members receive an additional 50%. This
does not apply to the Mediaticn or Nominaticn Commit-
tees. Those who only serve on the Supervisory Board or its
committees, or act as chair or deputy chair, for part of the
financial year are remunerated on a pro-rata basis.

As in the previous year, Supervisory Board members
receive an attendance allowance of £1,000 for each plenary
meeting of the Supervisory Board or committee meeting
that they attend. They are entitled to the reimbursement of
out-of-pocket cash expensesincurred in the exercise of their
office. Any value added tax charged on Supervisory Board
remuneration or out-of-pocket expenses is reimbursed.

The remuneration for 2019 totalled €2.6 million (pre-
vious year: €2.7 million}. The following table shows both
totals, broken down as the remuneration paid to each
Supervisory Board member.

Annual Corporate Governance
Statement and non-financial report

The Annual Corporate Governance Statement can be found
at @@ dpdhl.com/en/investors and on € page 82 ff. The summa-

rised, separate non-financial report for Deutsche Post AG
and the Group with the disclosures in accordance with sec-

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE

tions 289b ff. and 315b f. of the HGB can be found in the
{® Sustainability Report, dpdhl.com/2019sustainabilityreport.

Remuneration paid to Supervisory Board members

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION

€

2018 2019
Fixed Attendance Fixed Attendance

Board members component  allowance Total component allowance Total
Dt Nikolaus von Bemhard Hnum‘_‘_..\m\mﬁm 24 April 2018) ) 253,750 26,000 279,750 315,000 17,000 332,000
Andrea KocsTs (Deputy Chair) 245000 26000 271,000 | 245000 16000 261,000
Rolf Bavermeister I 140000 22,000 162,000 | 140,000 12,000 152,000
Dr Ginther Braunig (since 17 March 2018) 55417 5000 60,417 | 91,875 6000 97,875
Dr Maric Daberkow [since 24 Aprit 2018) . 49583 7,000 56583 | 70,000 4000 74,000
ingrid Deltenre 94792 15000 109,792 | 105,000 8000 113,000
BrguonDosky o _ 70000 10000 _ 80,000 70,000 4000 74,000
Werner Gatzer 140,000 12,000 159,000 140,000 14,000 154,000
Gabriele Giilzau (since 24 April 2018) 29583 8000 57,583 | 70,000 4000 74,000
Thomas Held (since 24 April 2018) o 74375 12000 86,375 | 105,000 8,000 113,000
Dr Heinrich _.:mﬂjmmﬁ (since 15 May 2019) o - - - 43,750 3,000 46,750
Mario Jacubasch {since 24 April 2018) 8000 57,583 | 70,000 4000 74,000
Prof. Dr Henning Kagermann (until 15 May 2019) 105000 15000 120,000 | 39,375 2000 41,375
Thomas Koczelnik 175000 27,000 202,000 | 175000 19,000 194,000
Anke Kufalt (until 24 April 2018) o 20417 2000 22,417 - - -
Ulrike Lennartz-Pipentacher o 70000 10000 80,000 70,000 4000 74,000
Simone Menne o 105000 17,000 122,000] 105000 11000 116,000
Roland Oetker ‘ 140000 19,000 159,000] 140,000 12,000 152,000
Andreas Schadler (until 24 Aprit 2018) o 20,417 1000 21,817 - - -
Sahine Schiglmann (until 24 April 2018) T 20,417 2,000 22,417 - - -
Prof. Dr Wulf von Schimmelmann {Chair) (until 24 April 2018) 91,875 7.000 98,875 - - -
Dr Ulrich Sehrider (until 6 February 2018) 8,750 0 8,750 - - -
Dr Stefan Schulte 140000 18000 158,000 | 140,000 11000 151,000
Stephan Teuscher’ 105000 18000 123,000 105000 11,000 115,000
Stefanie Weckesser Z.m‘m% 20,000 135,208 105,000 11,000 115,000
Prof. Dr-Ing. Katja Winct S 70000 10,000 80,000 | 76000 4000 74,000

! Stephan Teuscher receives €1,500 peryear for his service on the Supervisory Board of DHL Hub Leipzig GmbH.
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Overall assessment

In financial year 2019, Deutsche Post DHL Group suc-
ceeded in increasing revenue in all divisions. Group EBIT
came to €4.1 billion, meaning that we reached the higher
profit target that we had defined during the course of 2019.
Earnings benefitted significantly from the effects of the re-
structuring activities in the Post & Parcel Germany division.
The Global Forwarding, Freight and Supply Chain divisions
also reported higher earnings thanks to profitability im-
provements. In the new eCommerce Solutions division,
earnings were negatively impacted by restructuring costs.
Express continued to see strong growth, and the measures
underway te revamp the division’s intercontinental fleet
will increase the Express division's already high product-
ivity levels even further. Given the capital expenditure of
€3.6 billion, we are very satisfied with the performance of
free cash flow. Allin all, the Board of Management assesses
the Group's financial position as being very sound.

Deutsche Post DHL Group - 201% Annual Report
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Targets for 2019

EBIT

Results for 2019

EBIT

+ Group: €4.0 billion to €4.3 billion!

+ Post & Parcel Germany division:
€1.1 billion to €1.3 billien?

+ DHL divisions: €3.4 billion to
€3.5 billien

* Corporate Functions: areund
€-0.5 billion

EAC

« EAC projected to increase in line with
EBIT.

Cash flows

» Free cash flow to exceed €0.5 billion
{inctuding the renewal of the
intercontinental Express fleet).

Capital expenditure (capex)

» Investment spending (excluding
leases): around €3.7 billion {including
the debt-financed renewal of the
Express intercontinental fleet).

Dividend distribution

= Dividend payout of 40% to 60% of
net profit,

Employee Opinion Survey
= Increase our Active Leadership KPI

by one percentage point.

Greenhouse gas efficiency

+ CEX projected taincrease by one
index point.

* Group: €4.1 billion

* Post & Parcel Germany division:
€1.2 billion

+ DHL divisions: £3.4 billian

+ Corporate Functions: €-0.5 billion

EAC

Targets for 2020

EBIT?

* Group: more than €5.0 billion.
* Post & Parcel Germany division:
more than €1.6 billion.
+ DHL divisions: more than €3.7 biilion.
= Corporate Functions: around
€-01.35 billion.

EAC

= EAC rose to €1.5 billicn in line with
EBIT.

Cash flows

« EAC projected to Increase in line with

EBIT.

Cash flows*

* Free cash flow reached €0.9 killion
{including the renewal of the
intercontinental Express fleet).

Capital expenditure (capex)

= Investment spending (excluding
leases): €3.6 billion (including the
debt-financed renewal of the Express
inmtercontinental fleet).

Dividend distribution

» To be proposed: dividend payout of
59% of net profit.

Employee Opinion Survey

+ Active Leadership KP| increased
by two percentage points to 78%.

Greenhouse gas efficiency

+ CEX up by two index points to 35.

AN, T 0 VA

* Free cash flow of around €1.4 billion

(including around €500 million for
the renewal of the intercontinental
Express fleet).

Capital expenditure (capex)*

* Investment spending {excluding
leases): approx. €2.6 billion (plus
around €500 million for the renewal
of the intercontinental Express fleat).

Dividend distribution

+ Dividend payout of 40% to 60% of
net profit.

Employee Opinicn Survey

+ Employee Engagement KPI of 78%.

Greenhouse gas efficiency

» CEX will increase by another index
point.

PERTENY

T A+ BT L AR KA e S BEN R a0

! rorecast raised during the year. 2 Before effects from the corenavirus and expenses in connection with the realignment of StreetScooter.  * Before effects from

the corenavirus.  * Including effects from the corcnavirus and the StreetScooter realignment.
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Trade volumes: average annuat growth rate, 2018 to 2019
%

/ Impert MEA
Export Asia Pacific Zurope Latin America {Middle East and Africa) North America
Asia Pacific -1.9 0.5 -2.8 29 -4.1
Europe - o.\H\ ) -1.7 ) |NH‘ -03 - \ﬂ
{atin America - 67 34 -10 - sz 2
MEA (Middie East and Africa) -28 . 83 60 EYY o
z‘o:: .melnm. ) ) Lmo ‘ -15 0.7 ‘ lm ’ |w.w.

Source: Seabury Consulting, as at 3 February 2020; based upon all relevant ocean and air freight trading volumes in tonnes, excluding liquic s and bulk goods.

Excluding shipments within the European Union free trade zone.

Trade growth stagnates

The global trade movements of relevance to us —air and
ocean freight sentin containers, excluding liquids and bulk
goods — declined by 0.4% in the year under review (previ-
ous year: +4.3%). Air freight volumes declined by 4.6%, due
to the trade conflict and weakening world trade, whereas
ocean freight volumes were down by 0.4%. The volume
declines were particularly prevalent in North America and
Asia.

Legal environment

In view of our leading market position, a large number of
our services are subject to sector-specific regulation under
the Postgesetz (PostG — German Postal Act). Further Tnfor-
mation regarding this issue and legal risks is contained in
€ note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

Significant events

in February, we completed the sale of cur Supply Chain
operations in China, Hong Kong and Macag, resulting in a

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

net payment of £653 million and a de-onsolidation gain of
€439 million.

Since the third quarter, we have extended the group of
(German-based) employees to whom we offer the option of
taking a lump-sum payment in lieu of receiving a lifetime
pension under our occupational pension plan. in the fourth
quarter, we expanded the eligible group of employees
even further. This resulted in total income of €258 million
from the remeasurement of pension obligations, most of
which we used to offset costs incurrzd to restructure the
Post & Parcel Germany division.

We spent a net amount of €481 million on restructur-
ing measures as part of a profit improvement initiative in
financial year 2019,

Results of operations

Portfolio largely unchanged

Beyond the sale of the Supply Cha n business in China,
our portfolio did not change significantly in the year un-
der review.

Consolidated revenue also increases due to
currency effects
In financial year 2019, consolidated revenue rose by
€1,791 millien to €63,341 million, for reasons including
positive currency effects of €746 million. The proportion of
revenue generated abroad increased from 69.5% t0 69.6%,
Revenue for the fourth quarter of 2019 was up by €30 mil-
lionto£16,956 million. [t was also given a boost by currency
effects of €199 million. The prior-year guarter still included
revenue from the Supply Chain business in China.

Income of €439 million from the sale of the Supply
Chain business in China was the main factor driving up
other cperating income considerably to €2,351 million.

Revenue, 2019

€m
2018 Change
61,550 +2.9%
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Selected indicators for results of operations

2018 2019 Q42018 Q42019
Revenue £€m 61,550 63,341 16,926 16,956
Profit from cperating activities (EBIT) o - €m w.uow S B 4,128 T H.M.EL 1,258
Return on sales® ) % 5.1 65 6.7 74
EBIT after asset charge (EAC) o L em 716 1509 509 T
Consolidated net profit for the period? €m 2,075 2,623 813 858
Earnings per share® s 169 213 S 0.66 o070
Dividend pershare - € 115 1254 - -
' EBIT/revenue. * After deduction of non-centrolling interests, * Basic earnings per share. * Proposal.
Increase in staff costs reporting period, thisitem included restructuring expenses m w—.—-o NQ H. 0
Currency effects in particular increased materials expense in the Post & Parcel Germany, Supply Chain and eCommerce em
by €397 miliionto €£32,070 million. At £21,610 million, staff Solutions divisions, whilst in the pravious year there was a
costs were up €785 million over the previous year's figure, negative effect from customer contracts.
due primarily to an increased headcount and the collective h H N m
wage increase in Germany beginning on 1 October 2018. Consolidated EBIT up 30.6% '
The previous year's figure included an expense of €400 mil- in the year under review, consolidated EBIT stood at - 2018 o thange
lion for the early retirement programme in what is now the €4,128 million, €966 million over the previous year's level 3,162

Post & Parcel Germany division. In the reporting period, this
figure was €123 mitlion. Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment losses rose from €3,292 million to €£3,684 mil-
lion, due in part to investments, which markedly increased
leased property, plant and equipment. The purchase of
aircraft as part of moadernisation of our Express intercon-
tinental fleet also contributed to this rise. Other cperating
expenses declined by €166 million to €4,431 million. In the

Deutsche Post DHL Group ~201% Annual Report

(€3,162 millicn). At €1,258 million, EBIT in the fourth guar-
ter exceeded the comparable prier-year figure by 10.9%.
Primarily negative effects frem the measurement of stock
appreciation rights {SARs) at fair value and higher interest
expense on lease liakilities caused net finance costs to in-
crease from €-576 miltion to €-654 million, Profit before
income taxes rose by €888 million to €3,474 millian. In-
come taxes increased by €336 million to €698 million.

+30.6%
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Changes in revenue, other operating income and operating expenses, 2019
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Total dividend and dividend per no-par value share

£€m +/-%
Revenue 63,341 2.9 = Currency effects increase figure by €746 m
Other operating income 2,351 22.8 « Includes income of €439 million from the sale of the Supply Chair business in China

Materials expense 32,070 1.3 -« Currency effects increase figure by €510 million
+ Higher transpert costs

Staff costs 21,610 38 - Riseinheadcount

« Currency effects increase figure by €220 m

+ The prior-year figure included expenses of €400 million for the early retirement
programme in the Post & Parcel Germany division; this figure was €123 million in the
reporting period.

+ The prior-year figure inciuded income from the remeasurement cf pension obligations
totalling €108 million; this figure was €258 million in the reporting period

+ Coltective wage Increase in Germany as at 1 October 2018

Depreciation, 3,684 11.9 - Investment-related increase in leased property, plant and eguipment
amortisation and
impairment losses

Other operating expenses 4,431 -3.6 = Prior-year figure included a negative effect from customer contracts
* Include restructuring expenses of €150 million in the Post & Parcel Germany, Supply Chain
and eCommerce Solutions di
= Personal insurance expenses in the amount of €195 million were raclassified to staff costs.

Significant improvement in consolidated net profit Proposed dividend: €1.25 per share

Consolidated net profit showed a sharp improvement in Our finance strategy calls for paying out 40% to 60% of

2019, rising from €2,224 miltien to £€2,776 million. Of this net profits as dividends as a general rule. The Board of

€m
1.546
1,409 1,419
1,270
1030 1027 \\\\\.I.\w.m
968 115 115
gm
" ogs oS
0.80 :
13 14 15 16 17 18 191

= Dividend per no-par value share (€}

1 Proposal.

EBIT after asset charge {EAC) grows significantly
EAC improved in 2019, rising from €716 million to
€1,509 million. Whilst EBIT was up considerably, the im-

amount, €2,623 millionis attributable to Deutsche Post AG
shareholders and €153 mitlion to non-centrolling interest
shareholders. Basic earnings per share increased from
£1.6% to €2.13 and diluted earnings per share from €1.66
to €2.05.

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

Management and the Superviscry Board will therefore
propose a dividend of €1.25 per share for financial year
2019 to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on
13 May 2020 (previous year: £1.15). The payout ratio in re-
lation to consolidated net profit attributable to the share-
holders of Deutsche Post AG amounts to 59%. The dividend
vield based on the year-end closing price for our shares is
3.7%. The dividend will be distributed on 18 May 2020 and
is tax-free in part for shareholders resident in Germany. It
does not entitle recipients to a tax refund or a tax credit.

puted asset charge rose only moderately.

EBIT after asset charge (EAC)

£m

2018
EBIT 3,162
— Asset charge -2,446
= EAC 716

2016 +/-%
4128 06
-2.4616 -7.1
1,509 >100
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The net asset base increased by around €1.9 billion to
€320,484 million as at the reporting date. Intangible assets
and property, plant and equipment increased in particu-
lar, mainly on account of the acquisition of freight aircraft
and investments in warehouses, sorting facilities and the
vehicle fleet.

Operating provisions were up year-on-year, whereas
other non-current assets and liabilities decreased.

Net asset base {consolidated)?

€m
31 Dec. 31 Dec. +/-%
2018 2019

intangibie assets and property,
plant and equipment 31,254 33,285 6.5
*+ Networking capital -91¢ -818 11.0
~ Operating provisions

{excluding provisions for

pensions and si

obligations) - _ -LBes 2036 -92
* Other non-current assets

and liabilities o 124 53 -573
= Net asset base 28,594 30,484 6.6

1 Assets and liabilities as described in the segment reporting,
& note 9 to the consclidated financial statements.

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE

Financial position

Selected cash flow indicators
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FURTHER INFCRMATION

€m

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December

Change in cash and cash egquivalents

Net cash from operating activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

2018 2019 042018 Q42019
3,017 2,862 3,017 2,862

- -0 -203 809 654
5796 6049 2652 2663
2777 2140  -1481  -1095
-3,039 -4112 —362  -9l1a

Financial management is a centralised function

in the Group

The Group’s financial management activities include man-
aging liquidity aleng with hedging against fluctuations in

interest rates, currencies and commodity prices, arranging

Group financing, issuing guarantees and letters of comfort
and liaising with rating agencies. Responsibility for these

activities rests with Corporate Finance at Group headquar-
ters in Bonn, which is supported by three Regicnal Treas-
ury Centres in Bonn (Germany), Weston {Florida, USA) and

Singapore. The regional centres act as interfaces between

Group headquarters and the operating companies, advise

the companies on financial management issuies and ensure

compliance with Group-wide requirements.

Corporate Finance’s main task is to minimise financial
risk and the cost of capital in addition to preserving the
Group's financial stabitity and flexibility over the long term.
In order to maintain its unrestricted access to the capital
markets, the Group continues to aim for a credit rating ap-
propriate to the sector.

Maintaining financial flexibility and low cost of capital
The Group’s finance strategy builds upon the principles and
aims of financial management. In addition to the interests
of shareholders, the strategy also takes craditor require-
ments into account. The goal is for the Group to maintain
its financial flexibility and low cost of capital by ensuring a
high degree of continuity and predictability for investors.

A key companent of this strategy is having a target
rating of "BBB+", which is managed via a dynamic per-
formance metric known as funds from operations to debt
{FFC todebt). Our strategy additionally includes a sustained
dividend policy and clear priorities regarding the use of
excess liquidity, which is to be used to distribute special
dividends or to buy back shares.
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Finance strategy FFO to debt
€m
2018 2019
ni&«\&w@ o -~ Investars - Operating cash flow before changes
- Maintain “BBB+" and “Baal” ratings. » Reliable and consistent information from Tn working capital o7 6,045
+ FFO to debt used as dynamic performance metric. the company. + Interest received 52 87
o . + Predictability of expected returns. < Interest paid 526 08
Dividend policy [
T Group -+ Adjustment for pensions 309 190

- Pay out 40% to 60% of net profit.
+ Consider cash flows and continuity.

Excess liquidity

« Preserve financial and strateqic flaxibility.
= Assure low cost of cap tal.

- Pay out special dividends or implement share buyback programme,

Debt portfolic

= Syndicated credit facility taken out as liguidity reserve.
- Debt Issuance Programme established for issuing bonds.
= Bonds issuet! to cover long-term capital requirements.

= Funds from operations, FFO 5,914 5,709

Reported financial liah 16,462 16,974

- Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss? 38 23
+ >&.Fq,.n3m3 for pensions o .awpo 4,872
~ Surplus cash and near-cash o

investmentst 2,683 1,916
= Debt ) 17,851 19,907
FFO to debt (%) 33.1 28.7

Funds from operations (FFQ) represents operating cash
flow before changes in working capital plus interest re-
ceived less interest paid and adjusted for pensions, as
shown in the FFO to debt calculation. in addition to finan-
cial liahilities and surplus cash and near-cash investments,
the figure for debt also includes pension liabilities funded
by provisions.

The FFO to debt performance metric saw a year-on-
year decrease in the year under review because funds from
operations declined and debt grew.

Funds from operations fell by €205 million to
€5,709 million. Interest received was up, primarily due to

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

interest income from currency hedg ng transactions. The
amount of interest paid increased as more interest was paid
on leases and bonds as well as in connzction with additional
tax payments. The adjustment for pensions decreased,
chiefly due to lower pension payments from plan assets.
Debtrose by €2,056 millionyear-on-year to €19,507 mil-
lion. Reported financial liabilities increased because of
higher lease liah
promissory note loans were repaid early in the amount of

esand amounts duatobanks. Conversely,

€265 miillion in 2019. The adjustment for pensions rose,
since pensian ohligations increased faster than plan assets.
Surplus cash and near-cash investments dropped despite

! Reported cash and cash equivalents and investment funds callable at sight,
less cash needed for cperations.

free cash flow of €867 million, mainly due to dividends
distributed.

Cash and liquidity managed centrally

The cash and liquidity of our giobally operating subsidiar-
ies is managed centrally by Cerporate Treasury. More than
80% of the Group’s external revenue is consolidated in cash
pocls and used to balance internal liquidity needs. In coun-
tries where this practice is ruled out for legal reasons, inter-
nal and external borrowing and investment are managed
centrally by Corporate Treasury. In this context, we observe
a balanced banking poticy in order to remain independent
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of individual banks. Our subsidiaries’ intra-group revenue
is also pooled and managed by our in-house bank {in-
ter-company clearing) in order to avoid paying external
bank charges and margins. Payment transactions are exe-
cuted in accerdance with uniform guidelines using stand-
ardised processes and IT systems. Many Group companies
pool their external payment transactions in the intra-group
Payment Factory, which executes payments on behalf of
the respective companies via Deutsche Post AG's central
bank accounts.

Limiting market risk

The Group uses both primary and derivative financial in-
struments to limit market risk. Interest rate risk is managed

exclusively via swaps. Currency risk is additionally hedged

using forward transactions, cross-currency swaps and

options. We pass on most of the risk arising from com-
modity fluctuations to our customers and, to some extent,
use commodity swaps te manage the remaining risk. The

parameters, responsibilities and controls governing the use

of derivatives are laid down in internal guidelines.

Flexible and stable financing
The Group covers its long-term financing requirements by
means of equity and debt. This ensures our financial stabil-
ity and also provides adeguate flexibility. OQur most import-
ant source of funds is net cash from operating acti
We also have a syndicated credit facility in a total vol-
ume of €2 billion that guarantees us favourable market
conditions and acts as a secure, long-term liquidity reserve.
The facility was extended in the year under review and now
runs until 2024. Itincludes one more renewal option of one

ies.
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year, and does not contain any covenants concerning the
Group's financial indicators. Thanks to our solid liquidity
situation, the syndicated credit facility was not drawn down
during the year under review.

As part of cur banking policy, we spread our business
volume widely and maintain long-term relationships with
the financial institutions we entrust with our business. In
addition to credit lines, we meet our borrowing require-
ments through other independent sources of financing,
such as bonds, promissory note loans and leases. Most
debt is taken out centrally in order to leverage economies
of scale and specialisation benefits and hence minimise
borrowing costs.

Promissory nate toans in the amount of €0.3 billion
were repaid early in the year under review. Further infor-
mation on bonds is contained in € note 38 to the consolidated

financial statements,

Sureties, letters of comfort and guarantees

Deutsche Post AG provides security for the loan agree-
ments, leases and supplier contracts entered into by Group
companies, associates and joint ventures by issuing sure-
ties, letters of comfort or guarantees as needed. This prac-
tice allows better conditions to be negotiated locally. The
sureties are provided and monitored centrally.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION

No change in the Group's credit rating

The ratings of “BBB+" issued by Fitch Ratings (Fitch) and

“A3” issued by Moody’s Investors Service {Moody's) remain
in effect for our credit quality. The stable outlook from both
rating agencies also still applies. We remain well positioned
inthe transport and logistics sector with these ratings. The
following table shows the ratings as at the reporting date
and the underlying factors. The complete and current ana-
lyses by the rating agencies and the rating categories can
be found at @ dpdhl.com/en/investors,

No change in the
Group’s credit rating
of BBB+ and A3
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Fitch Ratings

Long-term: BEB+
Short-term: F2
Outlook; stable

+ Rating factors

= Balanced business risk profile.

= Growth in internet-led parcel volumes,

- Strong position in global time-definite express services with continued growth and margin
improvement.

+ Solid credit metrics and goed liquidity.

— Rating factors

» Structural mai{ volume declines in the Post & Parcel Germany division and challenges in
managing the cost structure in the division.
« Exposure to global market volatility and competitiveness through the DHL divisions,

Mboody’s Investors Service

Long-term: A3
Short-term: P=2
Octlook: stable

+ Rating factors

* Scale and solid business profile, enhanced by global leadership position in Express
and Logistics and large-scale mail business in Germany.

- Rating bolstered by indirect interest of 21% held by the federal government and the
importance of the company’s services to the German economy.

+ Solid credit metrics.

— Rating factors

* Challenges in domestic mail business resulting from structural decline in traditional
mail business.

+ Exposure to highly competitive mature markets and volatile market condftions in the
logistics business.

* Crowing investments putting downward pressure on cash generation.

Liguidity and sources of funds

Financial liabilities

Capital expenditure for assets acquired up sharply

As at the reporting date, the Group had cash and cash equiv- €m
alents in the amount of €2.9 billion {previous year: €3.0 bil-

Investments in property, plant and equipment and intan-

lion) at its disposal. The centrally available cash is either Lease tiab

invested on the money and capital markets in the short Bonds

term or deposited in existing bank accounts. These central, Wﬁmﬁm dueto cws_mi

short-term financial investments had avolume of €1.5 bil-  Promissorynoteloans =~~~
lion as at the reporting date (previous year: €2.3 billion). Financial liabilities measured at fair value

The following table gives a breakdown of the financial
liabilities reported in the balance sheet. Additional infor-

through profit or loss

2018 2010 gible assets acquired (excluding goodwill} amounted to
9,859 10,301 €3,617 million in the year under review (previous year:
5472 5467 €2,648 million), A breakdown of capex into asset classes
264 468 and regions is presented in €} notes 9, 21 and 22 to the consoli~
489 235 dated financial statements,
38 23
30 as0

16,462 16,974

mation is provided in € note 38 to the consolidated financial

statements,

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annoval Report

42




0 EDITORIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT 2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FURTHER INFORMATION
REPORT ON ECONOMIC POSITION
Capex and depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses, full year
Post & Parcel Glebal eCommerce
Germany Forwarding, Soluticns Corporate
adjusted? Express Fraight Supply Chain adjusted! Functions Consolidation? Group
2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
Capex (€m} relating to assets acquired 620 469 1,190 2,080 110 114 282 323 166 132 290 502 -10 -3 2,648 3,617
Capex (Em} relating tc leased assets 1 29 739 940 158 159 805 701 175 124 518 772 1 0 2,397 2,727
Total (Em) 621 498 1,929 3,020 268 273 1,087 1,024 341 258 808 1,274 -9 -3 5,045 6,344
Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment losses (€m) 303 343 1,152 1314 238 254 826 897 151 213 623 663 -1 8] 3,292 3,684
Ratio of total capex to depreciation,
amortisation and impairment losses 205 1.45 1.67 2.30 1.13 1.07 132 114 2.26 121 1.30 1.92 - - 1.53 1.72
' € Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
* Including rounding.
Capex and depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses, Q4
Post & Parcel Global eCommerce
Germany Ferwarding, Solutions Corporate
adjusted! Express Freight Supply Chain adjusted! Functicns Consolidation? Group
2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
Capex (€m) relating to assets acquired 193 184 511 557 35 41 82 G2 52 52 111 120 -39 -1 245 1,045
Capex (Em) relating to leased assets 0 2 102 216 37 54 216 280 81 42 143 150 2 0 581 744
Total [(€m) 193 186 613 773 72 95 298 372 133 94 254 270 =37 -1 1,526 1,789
Depreciatien, amartisation and
impalrment tosses (€m) 79 116 312 345 65 65 217 217 42 54 164 169 -1 0 878 966
Ratio of total capex to depreciation,
amortisation and impairment losses 244 1.60 1496 2.24 111 146 1.37 317 1.74 1.55 1.60 - - L.74 1.85
' € Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
2 Including rounding.
Deutsche Post DML Group — 2019 Annual Report 43
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In the Post & Parcel Germany division, the largest capex
portion was attributable to the expansion of our network.

Investments in the Express division related to buildings
and technical equipment. Capital spending also focussed
upon continuous maintenance and renewal of our aircraft
fleet, including further advance payments for the renewal
of the Express intercontinental aircraft fleet.

Inthe Global Forwarding, Freight division, we invested
in warehouses, office buildings and IT.

In the Supply Chain division, the majority of funds were
invested to support new business in all regions, mostly in
the Americas and EMEA regions.

In the eCommerce Solutions division, most of the in-
vestments were attributable to a new terminal in the Neth-
erlands and investments in India and the United States.

At Corporate Functions, the higher capital spending
during the reporting period was made increasingly in the
vehicle fleet, in IT equipment and in expanded production
of StreetScooter electric vehicles.

Higher operating cash flow

Net cash from operating activities increased by €253 million

toc £6,049 miltion in financial year 2019, Based upon EBIT,
which at €4,128 million was well over the prior year-figure

[€3,162 million), all non-cash income and expense items

were adjusted. The payments resulting from the sale of
the Supply Chain business in China are shown in net cash

frem/used in investing activities. Depreciation, amortisa-
tion and impairment losses were up from €3,292 million

to €3,684 million due to investment activity. The change in

provisions was from €282 million to €-506 mitlion, mainty

due to the early retirement programme in the former Post -
eCommerce - Parcel division. Income tax payments rose

by €264 million to €843 million. Net cash from operating

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report
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activities before changes in werking capital decreased
slightly, by £34 millien to €6,045 m llien. The change in
working capital resulted in a net cast inflow of €4 million,
By contrast, a net cash cutflow of €283 million was gener-
ated in the previous year, chiefly because we used cash to
build up inventories that were decreased again in the year
under review.

Net cash used in investing activities declined mark-
edly from €2,777 million to €2,140 rrillion. The key factor

Calculation of free cash flow

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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here was net proceeds from the sale of the Supply Chain
husiness in China amounting to €653 million. In addition,
the sale of money market funds increased proceeds from
current financial assets by €800 million. Investments in
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets rose
by €963 million to €3,612 million; £1.1 billion was paid to
modernise the Express intercontinental aircraft fleet.

€m
2018 2019 Q42018 Q4 2019
Net cash from operating mnn?E.Wm 5,796 6,042 2,652 2,663
Sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 151 138 105 34
Acguisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -2,649 ~3,612 -851 -933
Cash outflow from change in property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets -2,498 ~-3,474 -746 -899
Disposals of subsidiaries and other business units 14 702 9 24
Disposals of investments accounted fer using the equity method
and other Max.m.mﬁgmsﬁm 23 o] 23 0
on of subsidiaries and other business units -58 ~14 0 0
on of investments accountad for using the equity method
and other investments L -39 -8 —& o]
Cash outflow/inflow from mnnEﬂzaﬁ&?mﬂﬁﬁ@i o =60 580 26 24
Proceeds from lease receivables ‘ - 17 32 4 13
Repayment of lease liabilities -1,722 -1,894 -445 -476
-376 -416 -59 -106
Cash outflow from leases =-2,081 -2,278 ~56&0 -56©
Interest received 52 82 13 23
Interest paid -150 -192 -78 =79
Net interest paid -98 -110 -65 -56
Free cash flow 1,059 867 1,307 1,163
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Free cash flow deteriorated from €1,059 million to €867 mil-
lion, Apart from the effects mentioned above, greater cash
funds were required for leases.

At €4,112 million, net cash used in financing activities
was €1,073 million significantly higher than in the prior-year
period (€3,03% million). In the previous year, we issued a
€750 million bond and placed promissory note loans of
€500 million. In the reporting year we repaid an amount of
€265 million early, whilst also taking out lcans of €348 million.

Cash and cash equivaltents feli from €3,017 million as
at 31 December 2018 to £2,862 million.

Net assets

Selected indicators for net assets

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2018 2019
Equity ratio % Mwm E
Netdebt Em 12303 13,367
Net _Isﬂ.mﬂmmﬁ cover 6.7 7.8
Netgearing N oy 470 48.2

Consolidated total assets up

The Group's total assets amounted to €52,169 million as
at 31 December 2019, €£1,6%9 million higher than at 31 De-
cember 2018 {€50,470 million).

Intangible assets increased from €11,850 million to
€11,987 million because additions and positive currency
effects exceeded amortisation and impairment losses
and disposals. Property, plant and eguipment rose from
€19,202 million to £21,303 million, primarily on account

Deutsche Post DHL Group— 2019 Annual Report
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of the €1.1 billion already capitalised for the renewal of
the Express intercontinental aircraft fleet, amongst other
things for advance payments. Other non-current assets in-
creased slightly by €42 millionto €395 million. Qur net sale

of money market funds sharply reduced current financial

assets from €943 million to €394 million. Trade receivables

rose by €314 million to €8,561 million. Other current assets

increased by €229 million to€2,598 million on the back of a

large number of minor factors. Assets held for sale declined

considerably by €417 millicn to €9 million after the sale of
the Supply Chain husiness in China.

At €14,117 million, equity attributable to Deutsche
Post AG shareholders was higher than at 31 Decem-
ber 2018 (€13,590 miilion). Conselidated net profit for the
period and currency effects increased this figure, whilst
actuarial losses from pension cbligations and the dividend
distribution decreased it. Lower interest rates resulted in
anincrease in provisions for pensions and other obligations
by €754 million to €5,102 million. Financial liabilities rose
from €16,462 million to €16,974 million, primarily as a re-
sult of anincrease of €442 million in lease liabilities due to
investments. Trade payabtes decreased from €7,422 mil-
lion to €7,225 million. Other current liabilities increased
significantly by €481 million to €4,213 million, due primar-
ily to an increase in employee-related liabilities. After the
disposal of the Supply Chain business in China, liabilities
associated with assets held for sale declined to €14 million.

Net debt increases to €13,367 million

Our net debt rose from €12,303 million as at 31 Decem-
ber 2018 to €13,367 million as at 31 December 2019 also
due to higher lease liabilities. At 27.6%, the eguity ratio was
slightly higher than at 31 December 2018 (27.5%). Net in-
terest cover indicates the extent to which net interest obli-

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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gations are covered by EBIT. At 7.8, itwas up on the previous
year's level (6.7). Net gearing was 48.2% as at 31 Decem-
ber 2019.

Net debt
€m
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2019
Non-current financial liabilities 13,838 13,708
H Current ;mgn_m_ liabilities ) ||a |....-m..|o;
= Financial liabilities' 16263 16624
- Cash and cash mn:_cmﬁm‘sm T 3017 2,862
= Current financial assets - ﬁm wm
~ Positive fair value of non-current o o B
_ financial derivatives® 0 1
= Financial assets o |--..a . 3,257
Net debt 12,303 13,367

! Less operating financial tiabilities.
? Recognised in non-current financial assets in the balance sheet.
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Balance sheet structure of the Group as at 31 December

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

€m
ASSETS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
so470  5-169 soa70 52169
Intangible assets 23% . Nwﬁ 3 Equity 27% 28%
Property, plant and eguipment 38% 41% N .
— e — - Non-current provisions and liabilities 40% boﬁi
Trade receivables 16% — 16% —
Current provisions and liahilities 33% 32%
Other assets 23% 20% — —_—
2018 2019 2018 2019
. s
Divisions
POST & PARCEL GERMANY DIVISION
Key figures, Post & Parcel Germany
€m
2018 2019 +/-% Q42018 Q42019 +/=%
adjusted? adjusted?
Revenue 15,108 MM.LW& 2.5 4,189 ...|\__.N®O 2.4
of which Post 2,760 3,640 -1.2 2,626 2,600 |.Ho
Parcel 5556 o.onv\ Q.3 1,627 ) H.\.mw 7.7
Other/Censclidation -208 |N.NW -10.1 -64 -63 1.6
Profit from operating activities (EBIT) 683 1230 BO1l 372 522 40.3
Return on sales (%)? 4.5 7.9 - 8.9 HN‘N -
Operating cash flow 1,106 1,137 2B £44 657 20.8

* €} Note ¢ ta tie consolidated finaacial stacenents.
* EBIT/revenue.
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Revenue surpasses prior-year level

Tharks to the good performance of our parcel business,
division revenue rose 2.5% to €15,484 million in the re~
porting period (previous year: €15,108 million). Its reve-
nue for the fourth quarter was up 2.4% compared with the
prior-year period.

Moderate revenue decline in the Post business unit
Inthe Post business unit, revenue was €9,640 millionin the
year under review and thus 1.2% below the prior-year level
of £€9,760 million. Volumes declined by 2.5%. Fourth-quar-
ter revenue declined 1.0% to €2,600 million.

As expected, Mait Communicationvolumes remained in
decline due to progressive electranic substitution. However,
the postage rate increase that took effect on 1 July 2019
meant that revenue for the year as awhole only registered
a moderate decline.

Inthe Dialogue Marketing business, activities are shift-
ing increasingly to onling media. Although we have taken
steps to increase sales to e-commerce businesses, the
measures implemented were unable to fully compensate
for the declines in revenue and volumes,

E-commerce brings further growth in the Parcel
business unit

Revenue in our Parcel business unit was €6,073 millionin
the reporting period, an increase of 9.2% on the prior-year
figure. Growth in the fourth guarter amounted to 7.7%. Sus-
tained growth in e-commerce was responsible for the rise
in velumes of 5.9% to 1,567 million items in the reporting
period and 3.9% to 449 million items in the fourth guarter.
The fact that revenue growth outpaced volume growth is
attributable to price increases.
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Post & Parcel Germany: revenue
€m
2018 2019 +/~% Q42018 Q42019 +/-%
adjusted! adjusted®

Post 2,760 9,640 -1.2 2,626 2.600 -10
of which Mail Communication . 6329 6278 -08 1,703 1692 -0.6

Dialogue Marketing 2,205 2,130 -34 602 572 =50

Other/Consolidation Post ‘ - HNNW ) H_WMN\ o om ) ww 336 4.7
Parcel 5556 6,073 9.3 1,627 1,753 7.7
! € Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
Post & Parcel Germany: volumes
Mail items [millions)

2018 2019 +/-% Q42018 Q42019 +I=%
adjusted?® adjusted?*

Post 17,820 17,3467 =25 4761 4,633 -2.7
of which Mail Communication M..uuoo - ‘.\.bmo‘ Uw.b o 2,068 1,944 —-6.0

Dialogue Marketing 8,417 m.w.u.o.\. w.m.o 2,235 2224 -0.5
Parcel 1,479 1,567 5.9 432 449 3.9

' € Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Significant EBIT improvement compared to prior year
with one-time effects

EBIT in the division improved significantly in 2019, ris-
ing from €683 million in the prior year to €1,230 million.
Earnings for the previous year had been heavily impacted
by non-recurring expenses for the early retirement pro-
gramme for civil servants and by restructuring measures
amounting to €502 million. However, the prior-year figure
alsc included a positive non-recurring effect of €108 mil-
lion from the remeasurement of pension obligations. In the
reporting period, income of €234 million resulted from the
remeasurement of pension cbligations, offset by additional

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

restructuring costs inthe same amount. Return on sales for
the reporting period rose from 4.5% 10 7.9%. The Post & Par-
cel Germany division generated EBIT of €522 million in the

fourth quarter of 2019 (previous year: €372 million). The

prior-year figure included restructuring expenses totalling

€59 million. The fourth guarter of 2019 additionally saw net
income of €144 million from the remeasurement of pension

obligatiens, although this was offset by additional restruc-
turing costs in the same amount. Operating cash flow rose

to €1,137 million in the reporting period, due mainly to the

good operating performance of working capital.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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EXPRESS DIVISION

Key figures, Express

€m
2018 2019 +/~% Q42018 Q42019 =%
Revenue 16,147 17,101 59 4,423 4,643 5.0
of which Europe . 7245 7650 56 1972 209 63
Americas ‘ 329 3599 92 913 985 73
T AsiaPacific ‘ 5740 6097 62 1585 1659 47
MEA (Middle East and Africa) o 11a2 1229 76 300 320 6.7
Consolidation/Other . ’ ) T 276 -lava -155 347 -a17  -202
Profit from operating activities (EBIT) T T ies? 2,039 4.2 570 611 72
Retrnonsales (%) o  12r 11 - 129 13.2 -
Operating cash flow ) [..bo.& m.mﬁ; l.ql’H a ..I.ww 970 B 72
! EBIT/revenue.
Express: revenue by product
€m per day!
2018 2019 +/-% Q42018 042019 ‘=%
Time Definite International [TDI) 48.8 51.0 4.5 53.2 55.1 um
Time Definite Domestic (TOD) T T a4 ag g1 49 52 61

' Toimprove comparability, product revenues were translated at uniform exchange rates. These revenues are also the basis for the weightec calculation of working days.

Express: volumes by product

Thousands of items per day

2018 201G +/~% Q42018 042019 +/=%
Time Definite International {TDI) 955 . H.oow ) mﬂ\ Hbﬁh ‘\H.HOO - mW
Time Definite Domestic (TDD) 493 531 79 546 588 7.7

Deutsche Post DHL Group - 2019 Annual Report

International business shows stable growth

Revenue in the division improved by 5.9% to €17,101 mil-
lion in the reporting year (previous year; €16,147 millior).
This figure includes foreign currency gains of €281 million;
excluding these gains, the revenue increase was 4.2%. The
revenue figure also reflects the fact that fuel surcharges
were higherin all regions compared with the previous year.
Excluding currency effects and fuel surcharges, revenue
was up by 3.5%.

In the Time Definite Internationat (TDI} product tine,
revenues per day increased by 4.5% and per-day shipment
volumes by 5.7% n the reporting period, Fourth-quarter
revenues per day were up by 3.6% and per-day shipment
volumes by 5.4%.

In the Time Definite Domestic (TDD} product line, rev-
enues per day increased by 9.1% and per-day shipment
votumes by 7.9% in the reporting period. Fourth-quarter
growth ameunted to 6.1% for revenues per day and 7.7%
for per-day volumes.

Sustained momentum in Europe region

Revenue in the Europe region increased by 5.6% in the year
under review to €7,650 million {previous year: £7,245 mit-
tion). That figure includes foreign currency gains of €5 million.
Excluding currency effects, revenue increased by 5.5%. Inthe
TDI product line, revenues per day rose by 4.8% and per-day
TDI shipment volumes by 7.8% in the reporting period. Inter-
national revenues per day for the fourth quarter were up by
4.6% and per-day shipment volumes by 7.9%.

Strong fourth-quarter volume growth in the

Americas region

Revenueinthe Americasregion increased by .2% inthe year
under review to €3,599 million (previous year: €3,296 mil-
lion). The revenue figure includes foreign currency gains
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of €95 million. Revenue growth excluding currency effects
was 6.3%. Inthe TDI productline, revenues per day were up
4.5% in 2019 and per-day shipment volumes improved by
5.4%. In the fourth quarter, revenues per day increased by
3.9%and per-day shipment volumes were up a strong 8.7%.

Business in the Asia Pacific region remains stable
Revenue in the Asia Pacific region increased by 6.2% in
the year under review to €6,097 million {previous year:
€5,740 million). That figure includes foreign currency
gains of €140 million. Excluding currency effects, revenue
increased hy 3.8%. Inthe TDI product line, revenues per day
improved by 4.1%and per-day volumes by 3.7%. Growth in
the fourth quarter amounted to 2.3% for revenues per day
and 2.4% for per-day volumes.

Revenue increases in the MEA region

Revenue in the MEA region (Middle East and Africa) im-
proved by 7.6% in the year under review to €1,229 million
(previous year: €1,142 million). The revenue figure includes
foreign currency gains of €35 million. Revenue growth ex-
cluding currency effects was 4.6%. In the TDI product line,
revenues per day were up by 5.5% and per-day volumes by
2.9%. In the fourth quarter of 2019, international revenues
per day were up by 4.6% and per-day shipment volumes
declined by 4.1%,

Earnings improve at accelerated pace

Division EBIT was up 4.2% in financial year 2019 to
€2,039 million (previcus year: €1,957 million). Return on
sales was 11.9% (previous year: 12.1%). EBIT growth accel-
erated in the fourth quarter of 201% withariseto 7.2%and
return on sales increased from 12.9% to 13.2%. Operating
cash flow amounted to €3,291 million in the year under re-
view (previous year: €3,073 million).
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GLOBAL FORWARDING, FREIGHT DIVISION
Key figures, Global Forwarding, Freight
€m

2018 2019 +/-% Q42018 Q42019 +/-%
xm<m:cm o B 14,978 15,128 1.0 4,002 3854 =37
of éj_n: m_on— moﬁEm‘ﬂ_jmw 10,668 10,680 0.1 2,884 2724 -5.5
B :‘_nﬂm_mjd\! o ~ . .b.|amw 4,565 25 1,155 1,160 0.4

) Conselidation/Other ~143 -117 182 =37 -20 189

Profit from operating activities (EBIT) 442 521 17.9 161 Hm 7.5
Return on sales (%)? 30 34 - a0 n\m\ -
o%qw@m nm.mg@a i o B - 523 801 53.2 286 386 35.0
b Prior-year figures adjusted due to reclassifications.
2 EBIT/revenue,
Global Forwarding: revenue
€m

2018 2019 +/-% Q42018 Q42019 +/=%
Air freight . An24 4772 -1 1,372 1,265 -78
Qcean :@,mrn.. o B 3,503 3,604 29 529 871 -6.2
m.ﬁsmi . o 2241 2,304 2.8 583 588 0.9
Total® 10,668 10,680 0.1 2,884 2,724 -55
! Prior-year figures adjusted due to reclassifications.
Global Forwarding: volumes
Thousands

2018 2019 +/-% Q42018 (42019 +/-%
Air :m_m_wﬁ L tonnes 3,806 3,626 -4.7 1,000 940 =31
of EES exports o tonnes 2,150 2,051 -4.6 571 552 -33
Ocean freight TEU! 3,225 3,207 -0.6 824 795 -35

! Twenty-foot equivalent units.
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Gross profit up on prior year

Revenue in the division increased by 1.0% in the yearunder
review to €15,128 million {previous year: €14,978 million).
Excluding foreign currency gains of €125 million, revenue
remained at the prior year [evel. Fourth-quarter revenue
declined by 3.7% to €3,854 million.

In the Global Forwarding business unit, revenue was
€10,680 million inthe year underreview and thus on a level
with the prior-year period {€10,668 mitlion). Adjusted for
currency gains of €146 million, revenue declined by 1.3%.
Gross profit was up 1.5% tc €2,524 million (previous year:
€2,487 million). Gross profit is defined as revenue from
transport or other services less directly attributable costs,
which include transport costs for air and ocean freight,
road and rail transport, expenses for commissions, insur-
ance and customs clearance, and other revenue-related
expenses.

Improved air freight margins and solid project business
Air freight volumes decreased by 4.7% in the reporting vear,
due mainly to declining market volumes on key trade lanes.
As a consequence, air freight revenues also declined, post-
ing a decrease of 3.1%. Despite the volume decline, gross
profit from air freight increased slightly by 0.7% thanks to
petter margins. Alr freight revenues for the fourth quarter
declined by 7.8%. Air freight volumes were down 3.1% in
the fourth quarter, and gross profit fell 6.7%.

QOcean freight volumes for the year under review were
down 0.6% year-on-year. Ocean freight revenues rose by
2.9%, whilst gross profit declined by 32.0%. In the fourth
guarter, ocean freight revenues decreased by 6.2%. Gross
profit also fell below the prior-year level in the fourth quar-
ter, with a decrease of 5.2% amidst volume declines of 3.5%.
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Our industrial project business (resorted in the “Global
Forwarding: revenue” table as part ot Other in the Global
Forwarding business unit) performed significantly better
than in the previous year. The share cf revenue related to
industrial project business, which is reported under Other,
increased from 30.0% in the prioy year to 34.3% in the year
under review. Gross profit for industrial projects improved
by 33.6%.

Revenue increase in European overland transport
business

In the Freight business unit, reven.e rose by 2.5% to
€4,565 million in the year under review (previous year;
€4,453 million) despite negative currency effects of
€21 million. The 8.4% volume growt1 was driven mainly
by B2C business in Sweden and less-than-truckload busi-
nass in the Czech Republic and Poland. The business unit's
gross profit rose by 3.0% 1o €1,150 rrillion (previous year:
€1,117 million}.

EBIT up sharply

Divisional EBIT increased significanzly by 17.9% in 2019,
rising from €442 million to €521 million. The increase was
due mainly to improvements in project business and cost
measures. Return on sales rose from 5.0%t0 3.4%. EBIT for
the fourth quarter of 2019 improved from €161 mitlion to
€173 million and return on sales ros= to 4.5%. Operating
cash flow amounted to €801 million in the year under re-
view (previous year: €523 million).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION
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SUPPLY CHAIN DIVISION
Key figures, Supply Chain
€m
2018 2019 +/=% Q42018 Q42019 +/-9

Revenue 13,350 13,436 0.6 3,743 3,571 -4.6
of which EMEA (Europe, Middte East and Africa) 6,871 5,708 —24 1824 1750 -4l

Americas B 4,385 4,759 BS 1352 1324  -21

Asia Pacific 2147 1992 -72 578 502 -13.1
~ Consolication/Other o s3] -3 s66  -11 -5 54.5
Profit from operating activities (EBIT) o 520 912 754 184 177 38
Returnon sales (%) . o 9] 8 - 49 50 -
Operating cash flow i 130 o6 936 809 -136

* EBIT/revenue.

{ncreased revenue despite sale of China business
Revenue in the division was up by 0.6% to €13,436 millionin
the reporting period {previous year: €13,350 million), due in
particular to the good business performance in the Americas
region. Currency gains additionally contributed €268 million
to revenue growth. This positive effect was offset by port-
folio changes, mainly comprising the sale of our Supply
Chain business in China in the first quarter. Exciuding these
effects, revenue growth came to 1.5% in the reporting period.
Fourth-guarter revenue decreased by 4.6%to €3,571 millicn
{previcus year: €3,743 million) The year-on-year decline was
due to higher income recognised in the prior year from the
sale of real estate.

In the Americas and Asia Pacific regions, volumes
grew in nearly all sectors after adjusting for the sale of
the Supply Chain business in China. in the EMEA region,
the Engineering & Manufacturing sector registered the
highest revenue growth.
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New business worth €1,212 million secured

In 2019, the division conctuded additicnal contracts worth
€1,212 million in annualised revenue with both new and
existing customers. The Retail and Consumer sectors ac-
counted for the majority of the new business acquired, of
which 23% is attributable to e-fulfilment. The anpualised
contract renewal rate remained at a consistently high level,

Solid business performance leads to earnings growth

EBIT in the division was €912 millien in the year under re-
view [previous year: €520 million). Earnings were impacted
positively by net proceeds of €426 million from the sale of
the Chinese business in the first quarter. The rise in EBIT
was offset by non-recurring expenses of €151 mitlion in
the reporting period. In the previous year, EBIT had been
impacted by non-recurring expenses of €50 million from
customer contracts and €42 million from pension abliga-
tions. Excluding these one-off effects, EBIT was up 4.1%

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Supply Chain: revenue by sector and region, 2019

Total revenue: €13,438 million

of which Retail 2B%
|gwr—3mﬂ - T 24%
Auto-mebilty 16%
...mm?:o_om_,\ - Hﬁa

© LifeSciences & Healthcare . 10%
m:m_:mm:.:@ &Manufacturing - \1‘0&‘

.\\ .o..ﬁ.jma o o 2%
of which Europe/Middle East/Africa/Consolidation 50%
o >3mznmm\i B - 35%
Asia Pacific o 15%

in 2019 thanks to growth in nearly all regions. Return on
sales was 6.8% (previous year: 3.9%). Operating cash flow
amounted to €1,330 million in the year under review [pre-
vious year: €1,322 million). EBIT for the fourth quarter of
2019 amounted to €177 million {previous year: €184 mil~
lion}. Return on sales for the fourth quarter was 5.0% [pre-
vious year: 4.9%).
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DEUTSCHE FOST AG [HGB)

ECOMMERCE SOLUTIONS DIVISION

Key figures, eCommerce Solutions

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR

£m
2018 2019 +/-% Q42018 042019 it
Revenue 3,834 4,045 55 1,065 1,087 21
of which Americas 1064 1153 84 304 319 49
" Europe 2218 2,307 41 08 ell 05
asia ) ETY: 586 46 155 159 26
Other/Consolidation ) -6 |w 833 -2 -2 @0\
P.omﬂw_om .ﬁ.83 ommﬁmz:m activities (EBIT) |Nw -51 -88¢% -6 -1 -833
Return on sales (3 ) -07 -3 - -06 -lo, -
Operating cash flow 159 11 13 105 33 -68.6

L EB{T/revenue.

Revenue increases despite portfolio streamlining

The eCommerce Solutions division generated revenue of
€4,045 millioninthe reporting pericd, a rise of 5.5%onthe
prior-year figure of €3,834 million. All regions contributed
to the increase, which was achieved despite the limited
portfolio streamlining measures taken. Revenue in the
Americas region rose by 8.4% to €1.153 million {previous
year: €1.064 million}. In the Europe region, revenue grew
by 4.1% to €2,307 million (previous year: €2,216 million).
In the Asia region, revenue exceeded the prior-year fig-
ure by 4.6% to reach €586 million in the reperting period.
Excluding foreign currency gains of €77 miiljan, the to-
tal year-on-year revenue increase came to 3.5% in the
reporting period. In the fourth quarter of 2019, division
revenue was up by 2.1% to €1,087 million {previous year:
€1,065 miilion).
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EBIT declines due to restructuring expenses

Division EBIT declined to €-51 mill:on in the reporting
period {previous year: €-27 million}. due primarily to re-
structuring expenses in a het amount of €80 million. The
expenses were incurred for portfolio optimisation, over-
head reductions and loss allowances, amongst other things.
Return on sates therefore remained n2gative at—1.3% (pre-
vious year: —0.7%). Operating cash flow was up slightly on
the prior-period to reach €161 million. EBIT for the fourth
quarter of 2019 was €-11 million {previous year: €~6 mil-
lion). Return on sales amounted to-1.0%in the fourth quar-
ter (previous year: —0.6%).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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DEUTSCHE POST AG
(HGB)

Deutsche Post AG as parent company

Inaddition to the reporting on the Group, the performance
of Deutsche Post AG is outlined below.

As the parent company of Deutsche Post DHL Group,
Deutsche Post AG preparesits annual financial statements
inaccordance with the principles of the Handelsgesetzbuch
(HGB - German Commercial Code) and the Aktiengesetz
{AktG - German Stock Corporation Act). The HGB financial
statements are relevant for calculating the dividend.

There are nc separate performance indicators relevant
for management purposes thatare applicable to the parent
company Deutsche Post AG as a legal entity. For this reason,
the explanations presented for Deutsche Post DHL Group
are also applicable to Deutsche Post AG. In financial year
2019, 46 DHL Delivery regional companies were merged
with Deutsche Post AG, thus transferring parcel delivery
activities back to Deutsche Post AG.

Opportunities and risks

Since Deutsche Post AG isinterconnected, to a large degree,
with the companies of Deutsche Post DHL Group through
arrangements including financing and guarantee commit-
ments and direct and indirect investments in its investees,
Deutsche Post AG's opportunities and risks align closely
with those of the Group, € Opportunities and risks, page 63 .
The Post & Parcel Germany division essentially consti-
tutes Deutsche Post AG's core business. The Group’s DHL
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divisions have an indirect influence on Deutsche Post AG
through net investment income.

Employees

The number of full-time equivalents at Deutsche Post AG
at the reporting date was 156,989 (previous year: 145,628).
The key driver of this increase were the merger of the DKL
Delivery regional companies with Deutsche Post AG and
the subsequent absorption of their employeesin 201%.

Results of operations

Revenue grew by a total of €604 million {4.2%) year-on-
year, which was mainly due to higher revenue in the Par-
cel business unit. In the Post business unit, revenue was
€%,010 million in the reporting year, 1.6% below the pri-
or-year figure of €9,160 million, €5,173 million {previous
year: €5,153 million) of this revenue was attributable to Mail
Communicaticn, €2,013 million {previous year: €2,087 mil-
lion) to Dialogue Marketing and €1,824 million {previous
year: €1,620 million) to other services. The postage increase
effective as of 1 July 2019 influenced the development of
Mail Communication, Revenue in our Parcel business unit
was €4,913 million in the reporting pericd, an increase of
16.6% on the prier-year figure of €4,213 million. Factors
here were an increase in velumes as well as the merger of
the DHL Delivery regional companies with Deutsche Post AG.
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Income statement for Deutsche Post AG (HGB)
1 January to 31 December

€m
2018 2019
Revenue o 14353 14957
Other own work capitalised 47 32
Other operating income 562 625
14,962 15,614

Materials expense -4,867 -4,549
Staff costs -8,0454 -B8,374
Amortisation of intangible assets and
depreciation of property, plant and
equipment -274 -310
Other onmqmﬂﬁm expenses -1,631 -1,861

-14,848 -15,494
Financial result 1,000 2,215
Taxes on income -155 -85
Result after tax/Net profit for the period 959 2,250
Retained profits brought forwards from
previous year 4,694 4,234
Net retained profit 5,653 6,484

Other operating income increased by €63 million, or 11.2%,
year-on-year.

The materials expense item rose by €52 million, mainly
onaccount of anincrease in the cost of purchased services
for transport services for letters and parcels. Staff costs
increased by €328 million year-on-year. This was due to
the meraer of the DHL Delivery regional companies with
Deutsche Post AG retroactively to 1 January 2019 and the
subsequent absorption of their employees.

Depreciation rose by €36 million, attributable chiefly
to technical equipment and machinery.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The increase in other operating expenses by €230 mil-
lien stemmed mainly from higher service level agreements
(€61 millien) and higher currency translation expenses
(€52 million).

The financial result in the amount of €2,215 million
(previous year: €1,000 million) comprises net investment
income of €2,581 million and net interest expense of
€—-366 million. The change in the financial result is mainly
due to the €746 million increase in income from profit
transfer agreements attributable to Deutsche Post Beteili-
gungen Holding GmbH and the improvement in net interest
expense by €413 million, which was due largely to higher
income from cover assets.

After deducting taxes on income of €85 million (pre-
vious year: €155 million), net profit for the period totalled
£€2,250 million (previous year: €959 million). Including
retained profits brought forwards, net retained profit for
the period amounted to €6,484 million (previous year:
€5,652 million).

Net assets and financial position

Total assets up
Total assets rose to €38,315 million at the balance sheet
date (previous year: €36,864 million).

Non-current assets increased from €18,839 million
to €19,169 mitlion, with investments in praperty, plant and
equipment totalling €384 million (previous year €479 mil-
lion) and relating primarily to tand and buiidings (€100 mil-
lion); other equipment, operating and office equipment
{€£94 million) as well as advance payments and assets under
devetopment (€134 million). In addition to investments in
mail and parcel centres and conveyor and sorting systems,
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other capital expenditure related to the electric vehicle
fleet. Due to higher loans to affiliated companies, non-cur-
rent financial assets rose by €250 million.

Balance sheet Deutsche Post AG (HGB)
as at 31 December

€m

2018 2019
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets z01 178
v(SumEﬂ plant and mnc_cqﬂ:ﬁ“ - i’whoo I’wnoﬂ
g.‘n::.m_.; financial assets ImeM I’wmw
o S 18,839 19,169
Currentassets
Inventories i 64 66
mmamm and other assets - [Hlm.,um a :.»ﬂ
Securities T &7 8
Cash and mm.ﬂ.mnc_,@mam. - S Hom ‘ %
o - 17,779 18,860
w_.,muwa mxummﬂ o H J 4
TOTAL ASSETS 36,864 38,315
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Subscribed capital 1,237 1,237
Treasury shares \ o ‘nb\ o M
Issued nmva. - [!H.NM ‘ H‘.wﬂ
Afn.o;ﬂ_:umgﬁ capital: €158 3::03
muwﬁm?mmﬁc.mm - aw rm‘__Em‘
Revenue ﬂmﬂ,\mw ) - .Pmm - Pbmu‘
Netretanedproft 5655 6484
o 15,893 16,795
Provisions 5,138 4,889
Liabilities T 15776 16,568
Deferredincome 57 63
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIARILITIES 36,864 38,315

Deutsche Post DHL. Group — 2012 Annual Report

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERMANCE

Current assets grew by €1,081 million, which was
largely due to an increase in receivables fram affiliated
companies of €1,847 million and a dec-ease in securities of
€799 million.

Equity was up €15,893 million in the previous year to
€16,795 million. The distribution to shareholders totalling
€1,419 million fram the prior-year profit was mare than
offset by the net profit for 2019 of €2,250 miilion. The in-
crease in the capital reserves by €6 million and revenue
reserves by €62 million is attributable to the commitment
and settlement of shares for executive remuneration plans.
Intotal, the equity ratio increased slightly from 43.1% in the
previous year to 43.8% in the reporting period.

Provisions decreased by €249 million year-on-year.
Provisicns for pensions and similar obligations increased
by €100 million. In contrast, provisions for taxes (€202 mil-
lion) and other provisions (€147 million) were lower.

Liabilities increased by €772 milion to €16,568 mil-
lien. The increase in liabilities to affiliated companiesin the
amount of €657 million stood in contrast to lower amounts
due to banks (€200 million). The increase in other liab
of €272 million resulted mainly from the implementaticn
of early retirement programmes.

es

Decrease in cash funds
Deutsche Post AG's cash funds declined by €286 millionto
€1,315 miilion in financial year 2019,

Debt

Deutsche Post AG’s debt (provisions end liabilities) rose by

€543 million to €£21,457 million compared with the previ-
ous year. The increase is chiefly due to higher liabilities to af-
filiated companies (€657 million) in financial year 2013 and

results from Group cash management (In-house banking).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION

Expected developments

Deutsche Post AG is Included fully in the Group’s interna~
tional strategy and associated performance forecast. The
€ Expected developments, page 61 ff., section also includes
the expected developments for the parent company. The
Post & Parcet Germany Division reflects Deutsche Post AG's
core business in materiali respects. The DHL divisions have
an indirect influence on Deutsche Post AG through net
investment income from profit transfer agreements. As
a result, the subsidiaries’ future operating results also in-
fluence the future results of Deutsche Post AG. The HGB
financial statements are relevant for calculating the div-
idend. For financial year 2020, we anticipate a result for
Deutsche Post AG that will enable a dividend payment com-~
natible with our financial strategy.
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Employees, customers and investors look increasingty to
sustainability aspects such as climate change and envir-
onmental protection, social responsibility and corporate
governance when deciding in favour of Deutsche Post DHL
Group. The key performance indicators in these areas are
presented below. Additional information is provided in the
© Sustainability Report, dpdhl.com/2019sustainabilityreport,
which also includes the separate non-financial report.

Employees

Facing changes in the professional world

Digital transformation in the professienal world is chang-
ing job descriptions as well as creating new fields of activ-
ity. We ensure that our employees are optimally prepared
for new opportunities and changing requirements in their
working environment and involve them in the process of
change. This places particular demands on our managers,
who follow defined leadership principles to give them the
necessary foundation for creating a motivating working en-
vironment that fosters open communication and in which
employees feel valued.

Selected results from the Employee Opinion Survey

Our annual Group-wide Employee Opinion Survey com-
prises 41 questions grouped into ten key performance in-
dicators and one index. In the year under review, the results
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achieved were the same as or better than in the previous
year in each survey category. The results also surpassed
external benchmarks in nearly all cases. Our “Active Lead-
ership” KPl exceeded the target for 2019 with a score of
78 %, €y Forecast/actual comparison, page 34. The participation
rate of 77% again clearly demonstrated the survey’s high
level of acceptance.

Selected results from the Employee Opinion Survey

%

2018 2019
Response rate 76 77
Fositive rating for Active Leadership KPI 76 S 78
_‘uS:Em qmﬁ_\lw}&q Employee Engagement
KP! 76 77

Number of employees stays stable

As at 31 December 2019, we employed 499,250 full-time
equivalents, or approximately the same as in the previous
year. The headcount was 546,924 at the end of the year.
Female employees made up 34.4% of our global workforce,
with 22,2% of all upper and mid-level management posi-
tions being held by women in 2019 (previous year: 22.1%).

The opportunity for part-time employment was taken
by 17% of all employees {previous year: 18%). 9.0% of em-
ployees left the Group at their own request over the course
of 2019 {previous year: 9.2%).

In the Post & Parcel Germany division, the number of
employees declined in the reporting year due, in particular,
to special effects such as the early retirement programme
and productivity improvements, despite continued strong
growth in parcel volumes and the creation of a number
of new positions. In the Express division, the number of
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employees increased compared with the previous year
due to higher shipment volumes. Thus most of the new
hires were in operations. The headcount in the Global For-
warding, Freight division was nearly unchanged from the
previous year. In the Supply Chain division, the number
of employees grew because of additional business with
both new and existing clients, despite the sale of our sup-
ply chain business in China. In the eCommerce Solutions
division, the headcount decreased in all regions, mainly
due to portfolio streamlining.

The number of employees rose in the Americas and the
Other regions. Germany is still the region with the largest
number of employees.

We offer our employees in Germany and certain neigh-
bouring ceuntries the opportunity to enrol in dual-study
apprenticeship programmes consisting of in-house training
combined with programmaes at state vocational schools. in
2019, we offered approximately 2,000 positions in these
apprenticeship and study programmes.

Our current planning foresees a slightincrease in the
number of employees in financial year 2020.

Employees in 2019

Year-end headcount, including trainees.

546,924

2018 Change
547,459 -0.1%
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Number of employees
2018 2019 /%
Full-time equivalents
Atyear-end* o 499,018 ama.wmo 0.0
of which Post & Parcel Germany? 160,354 158713  -1.0
‘ Express 95717 98203 26
Global Farwarding, S
Fraight 42783 42712 -02
T supply Chain | 155954 1548356 0.4
" eCommerce Solutions? 31,883 30335 -4.9
Corporate ﬂ::ngowm 12,327 12,451 ‘HD
of which Germany T 187,103 ) 185,795 -0.7
7 Europe ‘ . o
{excluding Germany) 118,745 117,748 -0.8
Americas 90648 94696 45
) Asia Pacific ‘ ©8Issr 80,135 -4l
Other regions T 18951 20876 101
Average for the year® 489571 499,461 2.0
Headcount
At year-end® 547,459 546,924 -0.1
p:m«mmm*..o::m vear 534,370 mhh‘n.mm... E

of which hourly workers w_a.
salaried employees

hoo.oh& mHm.wmm N.m
Civil servants 28,718 N@.Moa -84
Traineas 5,709 5,661 -08

! Excluding trainees. ? Prior-period amounts adjusted due to new segment
structure, € note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. 3 Including
trainees.

Performance-based and market-based pay
At €21,610 million, staff costs exceeded the prior-year fig-
ure of €20,825 million. Details can be found in € note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

We foster employee loyalty and motivation by offer-
ing performance-based pay in line with market standards,
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supplemented by contributions to defined benefit and de-
fined contribution pension plans, amongst other benefits.

The coliective agreement concluded in 2018 gave
those Deutsche Post AG employees wno are covered by the
agreement the opportunity to choosz between a pay rise
and additional time off (for the first time in October 2018
and againin Qctober 2019). As at 31 D2cember 2019,16.9%
of our covered employees had seiectad the option to take
more time cff, giving them up to 13 additional days off per
year.

Further details on remuneration components can
be found in our @ Sustainability Report, dpdhl.com/2019

sustainabilityreport.

Responding to demographic change

We have concluded a Generations Pact with the trade un-
ions in response to demegraphic change in Germany and
for the purpose of ensuring an ageing-friendly workplace.
Effective as of 1 March 2019, the corditions for partial re-
tirementas set forth in the Pact were improved significantly.
The Generations Pact enables employees to reduce their
working hours from the age of 55 onward. Atotalof 28,444
of our non-civil servant employees mzintain a working time
account in line with this proven model and 4,929 are al-
ready in partial retirement. Since 2016, we have also been
offering comparable arrangements for civil servants, 4,172
of whom have established a lifetime working account and
1,322 of whom have entered partial retirement.

An early retirement programme initiated in the pre-
vious year and aimed chiefly at civil servants in overhead
areas in the Post & Parcel Germany division was contin-
ued during the year under review. T e main requirement
for taking part in the engaged retirement programme is
that the civil servant be working in an area with a surplus
of personnel and that there is no option for employment

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION

elsewhere in the company or in federal administrative or-
ganisations. Moreover, there may be no operational or busi-
ness-related objections to placement in the programme.
The civil servant must also commit to performing volunteer
work within the first three years of commencing retirement.

Safety and health

Strengthening a safety-first culture

In the area of safety and health, our focus lies on system-
atic prevention. That’s why one of the goals of our Strategy
2025 is to reinforce a safety-first culture throughout the
Group. The requirements for a safety-first culture are de-
scribed in detail in our Occupational Health & Safety Policy
Statement.

Workplace accidents

2018 2019
Accident rate (number of accidents per
200,000 hours worked) 4.3 4.2
Working days lost per accident 15.8 165
Number of fatalities due to workplace
accidents 8 3
of which as a result of traffic accigents 3 1

Most accidents occur in connection with pick-up and deliv~
ary. In the year under review, the Group’s accident rate fell

slightly. We report on our occupational safety initiatives and

targets and present the accident data for the divisions and

regionsinmore detailin our @ sustainability Report, dpdht.com/
2019sustainabilityreport.
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Bolstering health

We foster our employees’ awareness of a healthy lifestyle
through health-related projects and local initiatives. Dur-
ing the reporting period, stress management and dealing
with mental health issues were again topics of focus. Our
Group-wide employee benefits programme also enables
employees outside of Germany to enjoy primary or supple-
mentary health insurance benefits. The Group's worldwide
illness rate was 5.3% in 2019, or approximately the same as
in the prior year. We report in detail on the illness rates in
our divisions and regions in our €) Sustainability Report, dpdhl.
com/2019sustainabilityreport.

Sustainability

Commitment to shared values

We conduct our business in accordance with applicable laws,
ethical principles and ecological standards, and internationat

guidelines. Through ongoing dialogue with our stakeholders,
we ensure that their expectations as regards social and en-
vironmental issues are accounted for appropriately and that
our business is aligned systematically with those interests.

We use our expertise as a mail and logistics services
group for the benefit of society and the envircnment. For
example, we provide logistical support following natural
disasters, prepare airports for such scenarios, help to im-
prove career opportunities for young people and support
our employees’ local projects.

Qur initiatives to increase CO; efficiency and our envir-
onmentally friendly product range enable us touphold our
responsibility for the envirenment whilst strengthening our
own market position. Inthe year under review, we focussed
on further increasing the share of electric vehicles in our
fleet in Germany and in our non-German fleet.
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CO,e emissions, 2019

Total: 28.95 million tonnes?

 65%

Alr transport

21%

Ground
transport

C12% -

Ocean transpart - S

/ N

2%

Buildings

1 Scope 1to 3 {previous year, adjusted: 29.46 million tonnes}

Efficiency target exceeded

We use a carbon efficiency index (CEX) to measure and
manage our greenhouse gas efficiency, € Management,
page 16.In 2019, our direct {Scope 1) and indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions amaunted to 6.59 million
tonnes of COse (previous year; 6.57 million tonnes of
CO,e). Theindirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 3) of
our transport subcontractors came to 22.36 millicn tonnes
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of CCye (previous year, adjusted: 22.89 million tonnes
of CO-e).

Amongst other things, we have set ourselves the en-
vironmental target of improving our CEX score by 50%
with respect to the 2007 base year by 2025. In 2019, we
succeeded in improving CEX by two index points to 35%,
€ Forecast/actual comparison, page 34, This development was
achieved primarily through improvements in the Global
Forwarding, Freight division’s ocean freight business and
road transport, and the Supply Chain division’s road trans-
port, Using green electricity at the sites of the Express and
Supply Chain divisions alsc contributed to the resuit. De-
tailed information on our carbon efficiency trend and on
our environmental activities and targets is inctuded in our
® Sustainability Report, dpdhi.com/2019sustainabilityreport.

Energy consumption in company fleet and
company buildings

Million kWh
2018 2019
Consumption by fleet
_Airtransport (jet fuel) 18,598 19,032
Road transport (petrol, biodiesel,
diesel, g.o-mz._mzor LPG) 4,592 4,442

Road qm:mumn (biogas, CNG, LNG) 53 45

Consumption for buildings and facilities
{including electric vehicles)

3,194 3,135
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Quality

Delivering mail and parcels quickly and reliably
According to surveys conducted by Quotas, a quality re-
search institute, around 92% of all domestic letters posted
in Germany during daily opening hours at our retail outlets
or before final collection were delivered to their recipients
the very next day in 2019. Around 99 % reached their recip-
ients within two days. This puts us well above the legally
required levels of 80% (D+1) and 95% (D+2). The Quotas
measurement system is audited and certified each year by
TUV. For international letters, transit times are calculated by
the International Post Corporation. We are part of a group of
leading postal enterprises working to improve transit times
across postal networks.

Around

2%D+1

of all domestic letters within Germany

are delivered the very next day.

In the parcel business, around 83% of all items reached
their recipients the next working day in the year under re-
view. This figure reflects parcels colietted from business
customers that were delivered on the following day. Our
internal system for measuring parcel transit times has been
certified by TUV since 2008.

In the interest of enhancing customer service given
the steady rise in parcel numbers, we invest continuously
in improving the performance of our parcel network to
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ensure the continued reliability of cur delivery services.
For example, we successfully commissioned our 36th

parcel centre on the grounds of the former Opel factory in

Bochum during the reporting period. Once the parcel cen-
tre reaches full operating capacity, it will be able to process

up to 50,000 parcels per hour. Another new parcel centre

is being built in Ludwigsfelde on the outskirts of Berlin and

go into operation in 2021.

Our approximately 26,000 sales paints were open for
an average of 55 hours per week in the year under review
(previous year: 54 hours). The annual survey conducted by
Kundenmonitor Deutschland, the largest consumer survey
in Germany, showed a high acceptanze level for our exclu-
sively partner-operated retail outlets: 94.5% of customers
were satisfied with our quality and service (previous year:
©4.3%). In addition, impartial mystery shoppers from Kantar
TNS {formerly TNS Infratest) tested the postal outlets in re-
tail stores approximately 24,000 times over the year. The
resultshowed that 94.2% of customers were served within
three minutes {previous year: 93.5%).

24.5%

satisfied customers according to
Kundenmonitor Deutschland,

Cur environmental performance is another key quality

indicator for us, as described in our ) Sustainability Report,
dpdhl.com/2019sustainabitityreport. In terms of electromobil-
ity—an area of strategic importance for us —we put around

2,500 e-vehicles and nearly 1,500 of the e-bikes into op-
eration in the reporting period.
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Around

2,500

e-vehicles
put into operation 2019.

Express business: service quality and an insanely
customer centric culture

As a global network operator working with standardised
processes, we are constantly optimising our services to
enable us to keep our commitments to customers. We
therefore keep an eye on our customers’ ever-chang-
ing requirements, for example through our Insanely
Customer Centric Culture programme and as part of
implementing the Net Promoter approach, Our manag-
ers speak personally to customers in order to translate
customer criticism into continuous improvements. The
MyDHL+ portal and the Small Business Solutions sec-
tion on our website are especially useful for small and
medium-sized business customers, providing them with
comprehensive shipping information and enabling them
to ship their goods with ease.

Our European Key Account Support service provides
aur interpational custemers in Eurppe with a central point
of contact. Upon request, shipment information can even
b uptated directly In their systems.

At our quality control centres, we track shipments
across the globe and adjust our processes dynamically as
needed. All premium products are tracked by default until
they are delivered.

Our On Demand Delivery service has been available
in more than 110 countries and 46 languages since the
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Brands
Brand architecture
Deutsche Post DHL

Group Group
Divisions Post & Parcel Germany Express o_ocm__n_ﬂw_wﬁwa.sm. Supply Chain eCommerce Seclutions
Brands Deptsthe Post & =y Bﬂul* /- e -~/ i EH& /-
Value of Group brands remains stable 50 years of DHL Marketing expenditures, 2019
According to independent studies, the value of the The year 2019 was an anniversary for DHL, in which we Volume: around €371 million
Deutsche Post and DHL brands has remained relatively could already look back upon half a century of successful
stable for years. DHL brand history. The commemorative activities included Product development and communication 50.4%

The DHL brand was valued at US$16.6 billion in the participating in Bryan Adams' 2019 "Shine A Light” world Other L 28.5%
reparting vear by the market research institute Kantar tour as the official logistics partner. Public & customer relations 14.8%
Millward Brown {previous year: U$$20.6 billion). This is Corporate wear 6.3%
approximately the same as the average level for the past Digital brand management
five years. The annual Interbrand rankings put the DHL Ournew Brand Hub went live in 2019. The digital brand de-
brand at around US$4 billion, up from around US$5.9 billion sign platform enables efficient brand management across
inthe prior year. all regions, and the standardised interface helps employees

For the Deutsche Post brand, the consulting company save time and create on-brand designs. In response to cur
Brand Finance calculated a value of €4.5 billien in 2019 customers’ wishes, we have adapted our brand design to
(previous year: £3.6 billion}. The Deutsche Post brand thus the digital environment and given higher priority to emo-
maoved up to 20th piace amengst the strongest German tional branding aspects.
brands. The DHL brand was valued at €9.6 hillion, putting
itat No. 12 on the list.
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Earnings forecast

Since the Chinese government introduced measures to con-
tain the coronavirus, we have been consistently monitoring

the volume development in our networks. In recent weeks,
trade volumes have weakened, not only on the inbound

and outbound China trade lanes but also in other regions

in Asia and Europe; constraints onindustrial preduction are

expected to increase also outside of China.

The Group had seen a very good start into 2020 in Jan-
uary and was prepared for the usual effects around Chinese
New Year in February when the measures of the Chinese
government were introduced. Since then the business de-
velopmentin the Post & Parcel Germany, Supply Chainand
eCommerce Solutions divisions has only been impacted
marginally by the corona crisis. In contrast, we currently
see more significant effects for the Global Forwarding
business unit and the Express division, where the business
is particularly affected with regards to cross-border trade
flows into and out of China. Group-wide the negative im=-
pacts of the corana crisis on Group EBIT amount to around
€60 million to €70 million for February, compared with the
initial internal planning.

Implications for Deutsche Post DHL Group's results for
full year 2020 will uitimately depend upen a series of fac-
tors, which in the phase of recovering preduction volumes
could also have an offsetting positive effect. It currently
cannot be concretely assessed, over which time horizon, in
which divisions and to what extent, there will be negative
effects, and how far these can be balanced by offsetting
positive effects.

In case of a longer duration or a worsening of the cur-
rent situation over several months, the negative effects for
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the Group are likely to outweigh the positives. The actual
impact on earnings can only be determined after the situ-
ation has normalised.

Also against the background of the global economic
uncertainties the Group decided to not further actively
pursue the current exploratory talks regarding partnership
options for the StreetScooter activities.

The conversion of StreetScooterirto an operator of the
current fleet is expected to result in a one-off expense of
€300 millionto €400 million outside of the company’s core
business for the current financial year. The impact on cash
flow, however, will be limited.

The Board of Management is expecting consolidated
EBIT to reach more than €5.0 bitlion in financial year
2020. The Post & Parcel Germany division is expected to
contribute more than €L.6 billion to Group EBIT. For the
DHL divisions, we expect total EBIT to come to more than
£3.7 billion. Corporate Functionsis anticipated to contribute
approximately €-0.35 billion to earnings. As from 28 Feb~
ruary 2020, our earnings forecast 2xcludes any effect
induced by the as yet not fully guantifiable impact of the
coronavirus and upon the aforementicned expenses arising
from the StreetScooter decision.

Our finance strategy continues to call for a dividend
payout of 40% to 60% of net profit asa general rule. As part
of that strategy, we have the option of adjusting reparted
net income for non-recurring items in the interests of div-
idend continuity where appropriate. We have also made
the corresponding adjustment for financial year 2019 and
intend to propose a dividend payout of €1.25 per share
(previous year: £1.15 per share) to the shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting to be held on 13 May 2020. The
payout ratio in relation to adjusted net profitis thus 59.4%.
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Expected financial position

No change in the Group’s credit rating

In light of the earnings forecast for 2020, we expect our
“FFO to debt” performance indicator to remain stable on
the whole and do not expect the rating agencies to change
our credit rating frem the present levei.

Liquidity to remain solid

We anticipate a reduction in cur cash position in the first half

of 2020 asaresult of the annual pension-related prepayment

due to the Bundesanstalt fiir Post und Telekommunikation

(German federal post and telecommunications agency)

as well as the dividend payment for financial year 2019 in

May 2020. In addition, the payments not covered by bor-
rowed funds to renew the intercontinental Express aircraft

fleet will reduce liquidity. Our operating liquidity situation

will improve again towards the end of the year due to the

customary upturnin business in the second half of the year.

Capital expenditure of around €2.6 billion expected

In 2020, we plan to increase capital expenditure (excluding

leases) to around €2.6 billion in support of our strategic

objectives and further growth. The focus of capital expend-
iture will be similar to that of previous years. In addition,
around €500 million will be spent an the renewal of the

intercontinental Express fleet. This figure includes the as

vet unquantifiable effects of the coronavirus and the rea-
lignment of StreetScooter.
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Additional management indicators

Increase in EAC and free cash flow

Inline with the projected growth in EBIT, we expect that EAC
will also increase in 2020. EAC for the divisions is affected
by the same factors that are described in the outlook for
EBIT. However, our ongoing investing activities could result
in EAC growth falling slightly short of EBIT growth. Free
cash flow is expected to amount to around €1.4 billion, in-
cluding a payment of arcund €500 million for the renewal of
the intercontinental Express fleet. This figure also excludes
the as yet unquantifiable effects of the coronavirus but does
reflect the realignment of StreetScooter.

Focus shifts towards employee engagement

Part of developing our Strategy 2025 involves evaluating
our concepts, in the context of which we determined that it
is no longer expedient to focus upon just one aspect of the
employee survey as a performance indicator. Instead, from
2020 onwards we will introduce employee engagement as
a performance indictor and include it in calculating execu-
tive bonuses. Our goal is to reach a level of 80% approval
across the Group by 2025, In 2020, the approval rate is ex-
pected tc be 78%.

Further improving greenhouse gas efficiency

We expectthe Group te continue improving its carbon foot-
print. Our CEX score is projected te increase hy one index
peint during financial year 2020.
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OPPORTUNITIES
AND RISKS

Overall assessment

Identifying and swiftly capitalising upon opportunities and

counteracting risks are important objectives for our Group.
We already account for the anticipated impact of potential

events and developments in our business planning. Oppor-
tunities and risks are defined as potential deviations from

projected earnings. The current business planning has not

identified any significant changes inthe Group's overall op-
portunity and risk situation compared with last year’s risk

report. No new risks with a potentially critical impact upon

the Group's result have beenidentified according to current

assessments. Based upen the Group's early warning system

and in the estimation of its Board of Management, there

were no identifiable risks for the Group in the current fore-
cast period which, individually or collectively, cast doubt

upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Nor
are any such risks apparent in the foreseeable future. The

stable to positive outlook projected for the Group is more-
over reflected in our € credit rating, page 41 f.
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Opportunity and risk management

Uniform reporting standards for opportunity and risk
management

As an internationally operating logistics company, we are
facing numerous changes. Our aim is to identify the re-
sulting opportunities and risks at an early stage and take
the necessary measures in the specific areas affected in
due time to ensure that we achieve a sustained increase
in enterprise value. Our Group-wide opportunity and risk
management system facilitates this aim. Each quarter,
managers estimate the impact of future scenarios, evaluate
opportunities and risks in their departments, and present
planned measures as well as those already taken. Queries
are made and approvals given on a hierarchical basis to
ensure that different managerial levels are involved in the
process. Opportunities and risks can also be reported atany
time on an ad-hoc hasis.

Our early identification process links the Group’s op-
portunity and risk management with uniform reporting
standards. We continuously improve the IT application
used for this purpose. Furthermore, we use a Monte Carlo
simulation for the purpose of aggregating opportunities
and risks in standard evaluations.

The simulation is a stochastic mode! that takes the
probability of occurrence of the underlying risks and op-
portunities into consideration and is based upon the law of
large numbers. One million randomly selected scenarios —
one for each oppertunity and risk — are combined on the
basis of the distribution functions for each individual op-
portunity and risk. The resulting totals are shown ina graph
of frequency of occurrence. The following graph shows an
example of suich a simulation:
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Opportunity and risk management process

€ 1dentify and assess © ~ggregate and report

Assess Review
Define measures Supplement and changa
Analyse Aggregate
{dentify - Report

/ Internal

auditors
review €) Overall strategy/risk management/
505 compliance

© control Proces Q

Determine

Review resuits

Manage

O operating measures
Plan

Review measures

Menitor early warning indicators Implement

<o Divisions Cpportunity and risk-controlling processes — Baard of Management — Internal auditors

Example Monte Carlo simulation The maost important steps in our opportunity and risk man-

agement process are:

© Identify and assess: Managers in ail divisions and
regions evaluate the opportunity and risk situation

on a quarterty basis and document the actions taken.

Frequency of occurrence
in one million simulation steps {incidence density)

Bangwidth with 5% probability
B o EE—

They use scenarios to assess best, expected and worst
cases. Each identified risk is assigned to one or more
managers who assess and monitor the risk, specify
possible procedures for going forwards and then file
areport. The same applies to opportunities. The results
| | are compiled in a database,
—~aa€m +bb€m +7ZEM © Aggregate and report: The controlling units collect
Deviation from planned EBIT the results, evaluate them and review them for plaus-
ibility. If individual financial effects overlap, this is
noted in our database and taken into accountin the
compilation process, After beinc approved by the de-
partment head, all results are passed on to the next

= Planned EBIT
wm oSt common value in one million simulation steps {“mode™)
- “Worse than expected”

“Better than expected”
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level in the hierarchy. The last step is complete when
Corporate Controlling reports to the Group Beard of
Management on significant opportunities and risks as
well as on the potential overall impact each division
might experience. For this purpose, opportunities and
risks are aggregated for the key organisational levels.
We use two metheds for this. In the first method, we
calculate a possible spectrum of results for the div-
isions and combine the respective scenarios. The totals
for “worst case” and “best case” indicate the total spec-
trum of results for the respective division. Within these
extremes, the total “expected cases” shows current ex-
pectations. The second method makes use of a2 Monte
Carlo simulaticn, the divisional results of which are
regularly included in the opportunity and risk reports
to the Board of Management.

Overall strategy: The Group Board of Management
decides on the methodology that will be used to ana-
lyse and report on opportunities and risks. The reports
created by Corporate Controlling provide the Board
of Management with an additional, regular source of
informatian for managing the Group as a whole.
Operating measures: The measures to be used to
take advantage of opportunities and manage risks are
determined within the individual organisational units.
They use cost-benefit analyses to assess whether
risks can be avoided, mitigated or transferred to third
parties.

Control: With respect to key opportunities and risks,
early-warning indicators have been defined that are
menitored constantly by the risk owners. Corporate
Internal Audit has the task of ensuring that the Board
of Management's specifications are adhered to. It also
reviews the quality of the entire opportunity and risk
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maragernent operation. The control units regularly
analyse all parts of the process as well as the reports
from internal Audit and the independent auditors, with
the goal of identifying potential for improvement and
making adjustrments where netessary.

Accounting-related internal control and risk
management system

IDisclosures required under sections 289(4] and 315{4) of
the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB ~ German Commercial Code)
and explanatory report)

Deutsche Post DHL Group has implemented an ac-
counting-related internal control system {ICS} as part of its
risk management system. The ICS aims to ensure the com-
pliance of (Group) accounting and financial reporting with
generally accepted principies. specifically, it is intended to
ensure that all transactions are recorded promptly, accu-
ratety and in a uniform manner on the basis of the applica-
ble norms, accounting standards and internal Group requ-
lations. Accounting errorsare to be aveidedin principie and
significant measurement errors detected promptly.

The 1CS was designed to follow the internationaily
recognised COSQ framework for internal control systems
(COSO: Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission). Itis continuously updated and is a
mandatory and integral part of the accounting and financial
reporting process of the companies included in the Group.

The approach of the accounting-related ICS in summary:
. The internal control system takes a risk-hased appreach
that is defined in a Group guideline and takes both quan-
titative and qualitative aspects into account.

Risks that could lead to material misstatements in the fi-
nancial reports are identified and minimum requirements
are formulated on the basis of such risks.

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report
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- Both preventive and detective conirol mechanisms are
used to ensure that the minimum reguirements are met
along with all division-specific and local requirements.

- To maintain the system's effectiveness and implement
continuous improvements, the 1CS is subjected toongoing
reviews using the “four eyes” principle of dual control.

+ The Supervisory Board is provided with regular reports
on the results of the review of ICS effectiveness.

In addition to the 1CS components already described, add-

itional organisational and technical procedures have been

implemented for all companies in the Group. Centrally
standardised accounting guidelines govern the reconcili-
ation of the single-entity financial statements and ensure
that international financial reporting standards {EU IFRSs)
are applied in a uniform manner throughout the Group. In
addition, German GAAP accounting policies have been es-
tablished for Deutsche Post AG and the other Group com-
panies subject to HGB reporting reguirements. A standard
chart of accounts is required to be applied by all Group
companies. We immediately assess new developments in
international accounting for relevance and announce their
implementationinatimely manner, for example in monthly
newsletters. Often, accounting processes are pocled ina
shared service centre in order to centralise and standard-
ice them. The IFRS financial statements of the individual
Group companies are recorded in a standard, SAP-based
systemand then processed atacentral location where one-
step consolidation is performed. Other quality assurance
components include automatic plausibility reviews and sys-
tem validations of the accounting data. in addition, regular,
manuat checks are carried out centrally at the Corporate

Center by Corporate Accounting & Controlling, Taxes and

Corporate Finance. If necessary, we callin outside experts.

Finally, the Group’s standardised process of preparing
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financial staternents by using a centrally administered
financial statements calendar guarantees a structured and
efficient accounting process.

Over and above the ICS and risk management, Corpor-
ate Internal Audit is an essential component of the Group's
control and monitering system. Using risk-based auditing
procedures, Corporate Internal Audit regularly examines
the processes related to financial reporting and reports its
results to the Board of Management.

it should, however, always be taken into consideration
that no ICS, regardless of how well designed, can offer ab-
solute certainty that all material accounting misstatements
will be avoided or detected.

Reporting and assessing opportunities and risks

In the following, we have reported mainly onh those risks

and opportunities which, from a current standpoint, coutd

have a significant impact upan the Group during the fore-
cast period beyond the impact already accounted forinthe

business plan. All risks and opportunities have been as-
sessed in terms of their probability of occurrence and their
impact. The assessment is used to classify opportunities

and risks as either low, medium or high, Medium and high

risks and opportunities are considered “significant’, and are

shown as black or grey in the tabie below. The following

assessment scale is used:
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employees against current embargo lists, the pregramme
ensures, for example, that the legally required review of
shipments is carried out for the purpose of enforcing appli-
cable export restrictions as well as country sanctions and
embargos. Deutsche Post DHL Group co-operates with the
authorities responsible, both in working to prevent viola-
tions as well as in assisting in the investigation of violations
to avoid and limit potential sancticns.

Macroeconomic and industry-specific opportunities
and risks

Macroeconomic and sector-specific conditions are a key
factor in determining the success of our business. We
therefere pay close attention to economic trends within
the regions in which we operate. We are currently focussing
upon the potential impact of US trade policies, the possible
consequences of the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from
the EU and possible effects of the coronavirus. Alongside
other aspects, Brexit poses a risk to the Group’s net assets,
financial position and results of operations owing 1o poten-
tial changes in exchange rates, the economy, air traffic rights
and customs duties as well as the impact on our customers
both within and outside of the UK. The topic-specific work-
ing groups we have established in this context have helped
us to prepare as thoroughly as possible for the effects of
Brexit. The possible effects of the coronavirus are discussed
in the report an expected developments.

Avariety of external factors offer us numerous oppor-
tunities; indeed we believe that markets will grow all over
the world. As the global economy grows, the logistics in-
dustry will continue to expand. Although the trade dispute
between the USA and China has weakened world trade, our
DHL divisions are bhenefitting from rising demand for com-
plex logistics solutions, amongst other things, thanks to our

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report
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position as the global market leader. Our strong position in
all the regions in which we operate allows us to compen-
sate for declines in certain trade lanes based on growth in
others. Whether and to what extent the logistics market will
grow depends on a number of factors.

Thetrend towards outsourcing business processes con-
tinues. Supply chains are hecoming more complex and more
international, but are alsc more prone to disruption. Cus-
tomers are therefore calling for stable, integrated logistics
solutions, which is what we provide with our broad-based
service portfolio. We continue to see growth oppaortunities
in this area, in particular in the Supply Chain divisien and
as a result of closer co-operation between all our divisions.

New opportunities
thanks to the
booming online
marketplace.

The booming enline marketplace represents another op-
portunity for us as it is creating demand for transporting
documents and goods. The B2C market, £ Glossary, page 166,
is experiencing strong growth, particularly due to the con-
tinued upward trend in digital retail trade. This has created
high growth potential for the domestic and internaticnal
parcel business, which we intend to tap into by expanding
our parcel network.

We are nonetheless unable to ruie out the possibility of
an economic downturn in specific regions or a stagnation or
decrease in transport guantities. However, we assume that
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this would not reduce demand in all business units. Indeed,
the opposite effect could arise in the parcel business, for
example because consumers might buy online more fre-
quently for reasons of cost. Companies might also be forced

to outsource transport services in order to lower costs. Cy-
clicalrisks can affect our divisions differently depending on

their magnitude and pointintime, which could mitigate the

total effect. Overall, we consider these to be medium-ievel

risks. Moreover, we have taken measures in recent years to

make costs more flexible and to allow us to respond quickly

to changes in market demand.

Deutsche Post and DHL are in competition with other
providers and new competitors entering the market. Such
competition can significantly impact our customer base as
well as the levels of prices and margins in our markets. In
the mail and logistics business, the key factors for success
are guality, customer confidence and competitive prices.
Thanks to the high quality we offer, along with the cost sav-
ings we have generated in recent years, we believe that we
shall be able to remain competitive and keep any negative
effects at a low level.

Financial opportunities and risks
As a giobal operator, we are inevitably exposed to financial
opportunities and risks. These mainly involve opportunities
or risks arising from fluctuating exchange rates, interest
rates and commodity prices and the Group's capital re-
guirements. We attempt to reduce the volatility of our fi-
nancial performance due to financial risk by implementing
both operational and financial management measures.
With respect to currencies, opportunities and risks re-
sult from scheduled foreign currency transactions as well
as those budgeted for the future. Any significant currency
risks arising from budgeted transactions are guantified as
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a net positiont over a rolling 24-month period. Highly cor-
related currencies are consolidated in blocks. At the Group
level, the most important net surpluses are budgeted for
the "US dellar block” as well as for the pound sterling, the
Japanese yen and the Korean won. The Czech koruna is the
only currency with a considerable net deficit. As at the re-
porting date, there were no significant currency hedges for
scheduled foreign currency transactions.

Any general depreciation of the euro presents an op-
portunity as regards the Group’s earnings position. Based
upon cutrent macroecanomic estimates, we consider the
likelihood of such an opportunity arising to be low. The
main risk to the Group's earnings position woulc be a gen-
eralappreciation of the euro. The significance of this risk is
deemed low when considering the individual risks arising
from changes in the respective currencies.

The aggregate opportunity arising from all of these
currency effects is currently deemed to be of low relevance
for the Group.

As a logistics group, our biggest commaodity price
risks resuit from changes in fuel prices {kerosene, diesel
and marine diesel). In the DHL divisions, most of these risks
are passed on 1o customers via operating measures (fuel
surcharges).

The key control parameters for liquidity management are
the centrally available liquidity reserves, Deutsche Post DHL
Group had central liguidity reserves of €3.5 billion as at the
reporting date, consisting of central financial investments
amounting to €1.5 hillion plus a syndicated credit line of
€2 billion. The Group's liquidity is therefore secured over
the short and medium terms. Moreover, the Group enjoys
open access to the capital markets on account of its good
ratings within the industry and is well positioned to ensure
that long-term capital requirements are fuffilled.

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Repert
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The Group's net debt amounted to €13.4 billion at the
end of 2019. The share of financial liabilities with short-
term interest rate lock-ins in the total financial liabilities of
€17.0 billion was approximately 19%.

Further information on the Group’s financial position
and finance strategy as well as on the management of fi-
nanciat risks can be found in the report on the economie
position and in € note 42 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, Detailed informaticn on risks and risk mitigation in
refation to the Group’s defined henefit etirement plans can
be found in € note 35 to the consolidated financial statements,

Opportunities and risks arising from
corporate strategy
Over the past few years, the Group has ensured that its
business activities are well positioned in the world's fast-
est-growing regions and markets. We are also constantly
working to create efficient structuresin all areas to enable
us to flexibly adapt capacities and costs to demand — a
condition for (asting, profitabie business success. With re-
spect to our strategic orientation, we are focussing upon
our core competencies in the mailand logistics businesses
with an eye towards growing organicatly and simplitying
our processes for the benefit of our customers. Digitali-
sation plays a key role in this. Qur digital transformation
Involves the integration of new technologies into a cor-
porate culture that uses the changing environment to its
advantage. Opportunities arise, for example, from new
infrastructure networking possibilities and from digital
business madels. Our earnings projections regularly take
account of development opportunities arising from our
strategic orientation.

In the observation pericd specified, risks arising from
the current corporate strategy, which covers a leng-term
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period, are considered to be of low relevance for the Group.
The divisions face the following special situations, however:

In the German mail and parcel business, we are re-
sponding to the challenges posed by the structural shift
from a physical to a digital business. We are counteracting
the risk arising from changing demand by expanding our
range of services. Due to the e-commerce boom, we ex-
pectour parcel business to continue growing in the ceming
years and are therefore expanding cur parcel network. We
are also expanding our range of electronic communications
services, securing our standing as the guality leader and,
where possible, making our transport and delivery costs
more flexible. We follow developments in the market very
closely and take them into account in our earnings projec-
tiorts, For the specified forecast period, we do not see these
developments as having significant potential to impactthe
Post & Parcel Germany division negatively.

In the Express division, our future success depends
above all upan general factors such as trends in the com-
petitive environment, costs and quantities transported. We
plan to keep growing our international business and expect
a further increase in shipment volumes. Based upen this
assumption, we are investing in our network, our Services,
our employees and the DHL brand. Against the backdrop
of the past trend and the overali outlook, we do not see any
strategic opportunities or risks for the Express division that
go significantly beyond those reported in the section en-
titled *Opportunities and risks arising from macroeconomic
and industry-specific conditions”,

Inthe Global Forwarding, Freight division, we purchase
transport services from airlines, shipping companies and
freight carriers rather than providing them ourselves, We
normally expect to be able to save money by outsourc-
ing transport services, as this presents an cpportunity to
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their duties. All systems and data are backed up on a regular
basis, and critical data are replicated across data centres.
in addition to outsourced data centres, we operate centrat
data centresin the Czech Republic, Malaysia and the United
States. Our systems are thus geographically separate and
can be replicated locally.

Allof our software is updated regularly to address bugs,
close potential gaps in security and increase functionality.
We employ a patch management process —a defined pro-
cedure for managing software upgrades —to control risks
that could arise from outdated software or from software
upgrades.

We also take continuous action to minimise risk, such
as global monitoring of all of our networks and 1T systems
by our Cyber Defence Centre along with regular informa-
tion security incident simulations. These are limited to our
regular employee training.

Based upon the measures described above, we esti-
mate the probability of experiencing asignificant [T incident
with serious consequences as very low,

The European Union's General Data Protection Regu-
lation (GDPR) prescribes a series of measures for pro-
tecting personal data as well as immediate and extensive
responses to and reporting of data losses {unauthorised
access by third parties). Any violations are punishable by
fines imposed by the data protecticn supervisory author-
ities. We have established implementation programmes in
all divisions and implemented the GDPR's requirements in
the best possible way.

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE

Opportunities and risks arising from human resources

It is essential for us to have qualified and motivated em-
ployees in order to achieve long-term success. However,
demographic change ceuld lead to a Jecrease in the pool
of available talent in various markets. We respond to this
risk with measures designed to motivate our employees as
well as promote their development.

We use strategic resource management to address the
risks arising from an ageing populat on and the capacity
shortages that may result frem changing demographic
and social structures. The experience gained is used to
continuously improve strategic resoLrce management as
ananalysis and planning instrument. “he Generations Pact
€ page 56 agreed upcn with trade unions in Germany also
helps take advantage of the career experience of employ-
ees for as long as possible whilst, at th2 same time, offering
young people long-term career perspectives.

Possibie increases in both chronic and acute diseases
pose another risk to sustaining our business operations. We
address this risk with health manag=ment programmes,
measures tailored to local requirements and cross-divi-
sional co-operation.

@ The content of any websites that may be referred to in the combined management report does not form part of the combiyed management report.
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REPORT OF THE
SUPERVISORY BOARD

Dear Shareholders,

Deutsche Post DHL Group, the global logistics company,
continued to grow in 2019. All operating divisions posted
positive performance despite the challenging economic
environment.

The Supervisory Board advised and oversaw the Board
of Management in management of the company, made de-
cisions regarding Board of Managemz2nt membership, con-
sulted with the members of the Board of Management onthe
strategic direction of the company and shaping corporate
policy, as well as participating in decisions that were ma-
terial for the company. Strategy 2025, which was adopted
after extensive discussions by the governing bodies in the
autumn of 2019, was particularly impartant. This plan aims
to achieve lasting business success through a focus upon
the profitable core businesses and diyital transformation.

The Board of Management informed us on an engoing
basis about the course of business, material transactions
and its deliberations on these matte-s. Issues concerning
business planning, profitability and maintaining competi-
tiveness were thoroughly deliberated in the committees
and the plenary meetings.

Between meetings, | also had recular discussions with
the Chairman of the Beard of Management (CEO), Frank
Appel. Stefan Schulte, Finance and A adit Committee Chair,
additionally held regular conversations on current develop-
ments with the Chief Financial Office-, Melanie Kreis.

Members who were unable to atfend all meetings gen-
erally participated in decisions by sukmitting their votes in
writing. At 98%, the attendance rate ramained very high on
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the whole in the year under review, as the following break-
down shows.

Attendance at plenary and committee meetings
%

Supervisory Board member Attendance
Dr Nikolaus von Bomhard (Chair) 100
Andrea Kocsis {Deputy Chair) - 100
Rolf Bauermelster ) i ‘ - 160
Dr mm:ﬁmﬁ Braunig ) ‘ 86
Dr Mario Daberkow S pon_:
Ingrid Deltenre i ) S o 89
Jérg mo: Dosky Hoo.
Werner Gatzer 88
Gabriele Gilzau - 100
Thomas Held . N B 100
Dr Heinrich Iwmm_:mm_‘.ﬁ_gnm 15 May 2019} o - 100
Mario Jacubasch 100
_uwmzﬂ Dr Im:m_:m Kagermann ?2: 15 May 2019) B 100
Thomas xoﬁm_j‘;‘ S o 100
Ulrike ._..m.ﬁ_:wﬂmﬂv._umncm%mﬂ ) o ||Hoo
Simone Menne ) ) o ‘ Ho‘o
Roland Cetker ‘ 100
Dr mmmﬂm: Schulte - i i 100
mﬁmnmm: .mwcmn:ma ) ‘ \\a
Stefanie Emmrmmwm_. o 100
Prof. Dr-Ing. Katja Windt . 100

Four plenary Supervisory Board meetings and twenty com-
mittee meetings were held in the year under review. The
members of the Board of Management regularly partici-
pated in nlenary meetings and reporied on the business
performance inthe divisions for which they are responsible.
The Chairman, and the members of the Board of Manage-
ment responsible for their relevant divisions, attended the
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and engaged member of the Supervisory Board for more
than ten years, contributing his experience and advising
the Board of Management with great vision, primarily on
digitalisation and technology. The 2019 Annual Generat
Meeting elected Heinrich Hiesinger as a new member of
the Supervisory Beard. As a manager with international
experience, his particular expertise in strategy, innovation
and digitalisation issues is a supplement to the Supervisory
Board'’s skilis profile,

An overview of current Supervisory Board membersis
provided cn €) page 79.

Changes to the Board of Management

with effect from 1 January 2019, Ken Allen assumed re-
spansibility for the newly created eCommerce Solutions
division. John Pearson was appointed te the Board of Man-
agement for an initial period of three years and became
his successor at the Express division. On 1 April 2019, To-
bias Meyer took over responsibility for the Post & Parcel
Germany division, initially also for a period of three years.
John Gilbert resigned from the Board of Management for
personal reasons with effect from 30 September 2019, We
transferred responsibility for the Supply Chain division to
Oscar de Bok and also appointed him to the Board of Man-
agement for an initial three years. He was previously Chief
Executive Officer of DHL Supply Chain Mainland Europe,
Middie East and Africa.

Managing conflicts of interest

Supervisory Beard members do not hold positions on the

governing bodies of, or provide consultancy services to, or
maintain personat relationships with, the Group’s main

competitors. The Supervisory Board was not informed of

any conflicts of interest affecting individual members dur-
ing the year under review.
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Company in compliance with all recommendations

of the German Corporate Governance Code

In December, the Beard of Management and the Super-
visory Board issued an unqualified Declaration of Conformity

pursuant to section 161 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG—-German

Steck Corporation Act), which was also published on the

company's website. The declarations from previous years

are also available there. The company also continued to

comply with all recommendations of the Government Com-
mission on the German Corparate Governance Code in the

version dated 7 February 2017, which was published in the

Federal Gazette on 24 April/12 May 2017, following sub-
mission of the Declaration of Conformity in December 2018,
and decided to continue to do so in the future. We have

also implemented all the suggestions made by the Gov-
ernment Commission, with the exception of broadcasting

the full AGM on the internet. Further information regarding

carporate governance within the company can be found in

the annual Corporate Governance Statement {page 82 ff.).

2019 annual and consolidated financial statements
examined

The auditors elected by the AGM, PricewaterhouseCoo-
pers GmbH Wirtschaftspriffungsgesellschaft (PwC), Dussel-
dorf, audited the annual and consolidated financial state-
ments for financial year 2019, including the combined
managementreport, and issued unqualified audit opinions,
Pw( also reviewed the quarterly financial reports and the
half-yearly financial report and audited the non-financiat
report on behalf of the Finance and Audit Committee with-
out issuing any objections.

Upon recommendation by the Finance and Audit Com-
mittee, the Supervisory Board in its meeting today focussed
upon the annual and consolidated financial statements,
including the Board of Management’s proposal on the
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appropriation of the net retained profit, the combined man-
agement reportand the combined non-financial report for
financial year 2019, and discussed these in depth with the
Board of Management. The auditors reported on the results
of their audit before the Finance and Audit Committee and
plenary meeting and were available to answer guestions
and provide information. The Supervisory Board concurred
with the results of the audit and approved the annual and
consolidated financial statements for financial year 2019,
as recommended by the Finance and Audit Committee. No
objections were raised on the basis of the final outcome of
the examination by the Supervisory Board and the Finance
and Audit Committee of the annual and consolidated finan-
cial statements, the combined management reportand the
proposai for the appropriation of the net retained profit.
Similarly, no objections were raised with regard to the
examination of the combined non-financial report. The
Supervisory Board endorsed the Board of Management's
proposal for the appropriation of the net retained profit and
the payment of a dividend of €1.25 per share.

We would like to thank the members of the Board of
Management and the employees of the company for their
dedicated and successful work in this financial year,

Bonn, @ March 2020
The Supervisory Board

Nikolaus von Bomhard
Chairman
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SUPERVISORY BOARD

Members of the Supervisory Board Mandates held by Supervisory Board members

Shareholder
representatives

Dr Nikolaus von Bomhard
[Chair) Chair of the Supervisory
Board and former Chair of the
Board of Management,
Miinchener Riickversicherungs-
Gesellschaft AG (Munich Re)

Dr Giinther Braunig
CEO of Kfw Bankengruppe

Dy Mario Daberkow

Member of the Managing
Board of Volkswagen Financial
Services AG

Ingrid Deltenre

Member of varicus boards of
directors and former Director
General of the European
Breadcasting Union

Werner Gatzer
State Secretary, Federal
Ministry of Finance

DrHeinrich Hiesinger

(sinca 15 May 2019) Member of
the Superviscry Board of

BMW AG

Prof. Dr Henning Kagermann
{until 15 May 2019) Member of
the Supervisory Board of KUKA
AG and former CEQ of SAP AG

Simone Menne

Member of varicus supervisory
boards and former member of
the Board of Managing
Directors, Boehringer
Ingelheim GmbH

Roland Oetker
Managing Partner, ROI
Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Dr Stefan Schulte
Chair of the Executive Board
of Fraport AG

Prof. Dr-Ing. Katja Windt
Member of the Managing
Board of SMS group GmbH

Employee representatives

Andrea Kocsis (Deputy Chair)
Deputy Chair of ver.di National
Executive Board and Head

of Postal Services, Forwarding
Companies and Logistics on
the ver.di National Executive
Board

Rolf Bauermeister

Head of Postal Services,
Co-determination and Youth
and Head of National Postal
Services Group at ver.di
(until 14 September 2019)

Secretary, ver.di naticnal
adrinistraticn
(since 15 September 2019)

J8rg von Dosky

Chair of the Group and
Company Executive
Representation Committee,
Deutsche Post AG

Gabriele Glilzau

Chair of the Works Council,
Deutsche Post AG,

Mail Branch, Hamburg

Thamas Held
Chair of the Central Works
Council, Deutsche Post AG

Mario Jacubasch
Deputy Chair of the
Group Works Council,
Deutsche Post AG

Thomas Koczelnik
Chair of the Group Works
Council, Deutsche Post AG

Ulrike Lennartz-Pipenbacher
Deputy Chair of the Central
Works Council,

Deutsche Post AG

Stephan Teuscher

Head of Wage, Civil Servant
and Social Policies in the
Postal Services, Forwarding
Companies and Logistics
Department, ver.di National
Administration

Stefanie Weckesser
Deputy Chair of the Works
Council, Deutsche Post AG,
Mail Branch, Augsburg

Shareholder
representatives

Memberships of statutory
supervisory boards

Dr Nikolaus von Bomhard
(Chair) Chair of Milnchener
Ruckversicherungs-
Geszllschaft AG {Munich Re}
(since 30 April 2019)

Dr Glinther Briunig
Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG
(Chair)

Deutsche Telekom AG

Werner Gatzer
Flughafen Berlin Branden-
burg GmbH

PD-Berater der dffentlichen
Hand GmbH (Chair)

Br Heinrich Hiesinger
[since 15 May 2019)
BMW AG

Prof. Dr Henning Kagermann
{until 15 May 2019) Miinchener
Riickversicherungs-
Gesellschaft AG (Munich Re)
{until 30 April 2019}

KUKA AG

Simone Menne
BMW AG

Springer Nature KGaa

Prof. Dr-Ing. Katja Windt
Fraport AG

Memberships of
comparahie bodies

Dr Nikolaus von Bomhard
[Chair) Athora Holding Ltd.,
Bermuda (Board of Directors,
Chair)

Dr Mario Daberkow
Softbridge-Projectos
Tecnoldgices S.A., Portugai!
(Board of Directors)

Volkswagen Participaces Ltda.,
Brazil (Supervisory Board)*

Volkswagen Holding Financiére
S.A., France (Superviscry Board)?

Volkswagen Payments S.A,,
Luxembourg [Supervisory
Board, Chair)?

Volkswagen S.A,, Institucion de
Banca Multiple, Mexico
(Supervisory Board)®

VYW Credit, Inc., USA
(Board of Directors)?

Ingrid Deltenre
Givaudan SA, Switzerland
{Board of Directors}

Bangue Cantonale Vaudolse
SA, Switzerland
{Board of Directors)

Agence France Presse, France
[Board of Directors)

Sunrise Communications AG,
Switzerland (Board of Directors)

Roland Qetker
Rheinisch-Bergische
verlagsgesellschaft mbH
{Supervisory Board)

Simone Menne
Johnson Controls International
ple, Ireland {Board of Directors)

Russel Reynolds Associates Inc.,
USA [Board of Directors)
{since 30 January 2019)

Dr Stefan Schulte
Fraport Ausbau Sild GmbH
{Supervisory Beard, Chair)?

Fraport Regional Airports of
Greece A 5 A, Greece
(Board of Directors, Chair)?

Fraport Regional Airports

of Greece Board of Directors,
Chair B S.A., Greece

(Board of Directors, Chair)?

Fraport Regicnal Airports
of Greece Management
Company S.A., Greece
(Board of Directors, Chair)?

Fraport Brasil 5.A. Aercporto
de Porto Alegre, Brazil
{Supervisory Board, Chair}?

Fraport Brasil 5.A, Aeroporto
de Fortaleza, Brazil
{Supervisory Board, Chair)?

Employee representatives

Memberships of statutory
supervisory boards
Jérg von Dosky

PSD Bank Minchen eG

Stephan Teuscher
DHL Hub Leipzig GmbH
{Deputy Chair)
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Members of and mandates held by the Board of Management

DR FRANK APPEL

Chief Executive Officer, Global Business
Services, also responsible for Post -
eCommerce - Parcel until 31 March 2019,
born in 1961, Member of the Board of
Management since November 2002, CEO
since February 2008, appointed until
October 2022,

Seats on other tegally mandated
supervisory boards: member of the
Supervisary Board of adidas AG
until 9 May 2019,

Deutsche Post DHL Group ~ 2019 Annual Report

MELANIE KREIS

Finance, born in 1971, Board member
since October 2014, appointed until
June 2022,

GOVERNANCE
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

DR THOMAS OGILVIE

Humen Resources, Corporate Incubations,
born in 1976, Board member since Sep-
tember 2017, appointed until August 2025,

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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KEN ALLEN

eCommerce Solutions (since 1 Janu-
ary 2019), born in 1955, Board member
since February 2009, appointed until
July 2022,

Also holds a seat on the Board of Direc-
tors of DHL. Sinotrans International Air
Courier Ltd.}, China and is a member

of the Board of Directors of B(ue Dart
Express Ltd.}, India.

! Group mandate
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TIM SCHARWATH

Global Forwarding, Freight, born in 1945,
Board member since June 2017,
appointed until May 2025.
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JOHN PEARSON

Express (since 1 January 2019},

hornin 1963, Board member since Janu-
ary 2019, appointed until December 2021.

Was a member of the Board of Directors of
Global-e U.K. Ltd.! until 31 December 2019.

! Group mandate

GOVERNANCE
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

DR TOBIAS MEYER

Post & Parcel Germany (since 1 April 2019),
bornin 1975, Board member since

April 2019, appointed until March 2022,
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OSCAR DE BOK

Supply Chain (since 1 October 2019),
bornin 1967, Board member since
October 2019, appointed untii Septem-
ber 2022.

Left the company during the year
under review
JOHN GILBERT Supply Chain, bornin 1963.

Board member from March 2014 to
September 2019.
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ANNUAL CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT, COR-
PORATE GOVERN-
ANCE REPORT

Company in compliance with all recommendations

of the German Corporate Governance Code

In December 2019, the Board of Managementand the Super-
visory Board once again issued an unqualified Declaration

of Conformity pursuant to section 161 of the Aktiengesetz

(AktG — German Stock Corporation Act):

“The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board
of Deutsche Post AG declare that all recommendations of the
Government Commission German Corperate Governance
Code (DCGK) in the version dated 7 February 2017 and pub-
lished in the Federal Gazette on 24 April/19 May 2017 have
been complied with even after issuance of the Declaration
of Conformity in December 2018 and that all recommenda-
tions of the Code in the version dated 7 February 2017 and
published in the Federal Gazette on 24 April/19 May 2017
shall also be complied with in the future”

The suggestions of the Code dated 7 February 2017 are
also implemented, except broadcasting the full AGM. This
helps ensure frank and open discussion curing the share-
holders’ debate.

The Board of Management and Supervisory Board will
discuss the new recommendaticns and suggestions in the
Code, which is expected to be published in the Federal Ga-
zetteinthefirst quarter of 2020, and will take a position on
these in the next Declaration of Conformity.
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The current Declaration of Conformity and those for
the last five years as well as the Annual Corporate Govern-
ance Statement can be viewed on the company’s website.

Corporate governance principles and shared values

Qur business relaticnships and activities are based upon
responsible business practice that complies with applic-
able laws, ethical standards and international guidelines,
and this alsc forms part of the Group’s strategy. Equally,
we reqguire our suppliers to act in this way. Long-term re-
lationships with our shareholders, employees and groups
associated with the company, whose decisions to select
Deutsche Post DHL Group as a supplier, employer or in-
vestmentare increasingly also based upon the requirement
that we apply goed corporate governance criteria, are en-
touraged.

The @ cede of Conduct, dpdht.com/en, is firmly established
within the company and is applicablz in all divisions and
regions. The Code of Conduct is based upon the principles
set out in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and
the United Nations (UN) Global Corrpact. It is consistent
with recognised legal standards, including the applicable
anti-corruption legislation and agreernents.

The Code of Conduct also definas what is meant by
diversity, Diversity and mutual respect are some of the
core values that contribute to good co-operation within
the Group and thus to economic success. The key criteria
for the recruitment and professional development of our
employees are their skills and qualifications. Our Diversity
Council discusses the strategic aspects of diversity manage-
ment and divisional requirements. Its members comprise
executives from the central functions and divisions and itis
chaired by the Board Member for Human Resources. Mem-
bers also act as ambassadors for, and promote, diversity in
the divisions. The members of the Board of Management
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and the Supervisory Board support the Group’s diversity
strategy, with a particular focus upon the goal of increasing
the number of women in executive positions.

Doing business includes using the expertise as a mail
and logistics services group for the benefit of saciety and
the environment, and we motivate our employees to en-
gage personally.

Ensuring our interactions with business partners, share-
holders and the public are conducted with integrity and
within the bounds of the law is vital to maintaining our
reputation. It is also the foundation of Deutsche Post DHL
Group's lasting business success. Our compliance manage-
ment system (CMS) focusses upon preventing corruption
and anti-competitive conduct. We continually improve and
upgrade the CMS, in part by incorporating the results of
the compliance audits and insights obtained from reported
violations. The CMS's individual components, the Code of
Conduct and information on diversity management and
sustainability issues are outlined in detail in our @ Corporate
Sustainability Report, dpdhl.com/sustainabilityreport2012. This
report also contains the non-financial report with manda-
tory disclosures in accordance with sectiens 289c¢ ff. of the
Handeisgesetzbuch (HGB - German Commercial Code).

Co-operation between the Board of Management and
the Supervisory Board

As a German listed company, Deutsche Post AGis managed
by the members of the Beard of Management, who are ap-
pointed, advised and supervised by the members of the
Supervisory Board.

The Board of Management’s rules of procedure set out
the principles governing its internal organisation, manage-
ment and representation, as well as co-operation between
its individual members. The members of the Board of Man-
agement manage their beard departments on their own
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responsibility, except where decisions of particular signifi-
cance and consequence for the company or the Group must
be taken by the members of the Board of Management as
awhole. They are required to subordinate the interests of
their individual board departments to the collective inter-
ests of the company and to inform the full Board of Man-
agement about significant developments in their spheres
of responsibility.

The Chair of the Board of Management conducts its
business, aligns board department activities with the com-
pany’s overall goals and plans, and ensures that corporate
policy is implemented. When making decisions, members
of the Board of Management may not act in their own per-
sonal interest or exploit corporate business opportunities
for their own benefit, Conflicts of interest must be disclosed
to the Supervisery Beard without delay; the other Board of
Management members must also be informed.

The Supervisory Board works with the Board of Man-
agement to ensure long-term succession planning for the
Board of Management. In addition to the requirements of
the Aktiengesetz (AktG —~ German Stock Corporation Act)
and the DCGK, this plan includes the Supervisory Board's
diversity criteria it has stipulated for the Board of Man-
agement’s compaosition and the target for the percentage
of women on the Board of Management. Taking into ac-
count the specific qualifications required, the Executive
Committee develops a profile, selects particularly suitable
candidates from those available for interviews and submits
candidate proposals to the Supervisary Board. The initial
term of service for members of the Board of Management
runs for no mora than three years. No member of the Board
of Management is a member of a supervisory board of a
non-Group listed company or exercises a comparable func-
tion. The Supervisory Board has stipulated that the term
of service of Board of Management members generally
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ends no later than the year in which the Board of Manage-
ment member reaches the age of 65. D&0 insurance for
the members of the Board of Management provides for a
deductible as set out in the AktG.

The Supervisory Board's rules of procedure contain
the principles for its internal organisation, a catalogue of
Board of Management transactions reguiring its approval
and the rules governing the work of the Supervisory Board
committees. The chair elected by the members from their
ranks co-ordinates the work of the Supervisory Board and
represents the Supervisory Board publicly. The Supervisory
Board represents the company in respect of the Board of
Management members. The General Meeting determines
the remuneration of Supervisory Board members. There
are no contracts between the company and Supervisory
Board members apart from those governing their Super-
visory Board activities and the employment contracts with
the employee representatives.

The Supervisory Board meets at least twice each
half-year, often without the Beard of Management pres-
ent. Extraordinary Supervisory Beard meetings are held
whenever decisions need to be taken at short notice or
particular issues require discussion. In financial year 2019,
Supervisory Board members held four plenary meetings,
twenty committee meetings and one closed meeting, as
described in the € Report of the Supervisory Board, page 76 f.
At 98%, the attendance rate again remained very high. The
Report of the Supervisory Board contains a breakdown of
attendance by member.

The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board
regularly discuss the Group's strategy, the divisions’ object-
ives and strategies, the financial position and performance
of the company and the Group, key business transactions,
the progress of acquisitions and investments, compliance
and compliance management, risk exposure and risk man-
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agement, and all material business planning and related
implementation issues, The Board of Managementinforms
the Supervisary Board promptly and in full about all issues
of significance. The chair of the Supervisory Board and the
CEO maintain close contact about current issues.

Supervisory Board decisions are prepared in advance
in separate meetings of the shareholder representatives
and the employee representatives, and by the relevant
committees. Each plenary Supervisory Board meeting in-
cludes a detailed report regarding the committees’ work
and the decisions taken. Supervisory Board members are
personally responsible for ensuring they receive the train-
ing and professional development measures they need to
perform their tasks and receive appropriate support from
the company. A core element is the annual Directors’ Day,
which is held regularly in conjunction with the Supervisory
Board's closed meeting. At this event, speakers from within
and outside of the company make presentations on current
issues and developments and are available to provide ex-
planations and answer questions.

Independence of Supervisory Board members

All Supervisory Board members are independent within
the meaning of the DCGK. The number of independent
Supervisory Board members therefore exceeds the target
we had set ourselves of at least 75% of the Supervisory
Board as a whole. In light of the European Commission's
recommendation regarding the independence of non-
executive or supervisory directers and the wide-ranging
protection against summary dismissal and ban regarding
discrimination contained inthe Betriehsverfassungsgesetz
(BetrVG — German works constitution act) and the
Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG — German co-deter-
mination act), being an employee of the company is not
inconsistent with the requirement for independence. The
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largest shareholder in the company, KfW Bankengruppe,
currently holds approximately 21% of the shares in
Deutsche Post AG and therefore does not exercise control.
Accordingly, Werner Gatzer and Glinther Briunig are also
independent. The duration of service of all members of the
Supervisory Board is in compliance with the recommenda-
tion by the European Commission that finds no heightened
risk of loss of independence for members serving up to
three complete terms of office. No former members of the
Board of Management are members of the Supervisory
Board.

The Superviscry Board intends to submita proposalto
the 2020 Annual General Meeting to elect Lawrence Rosen
to the Supervisory Board. Lawrence Rosen was a member
of the company's Board of Management until September
2016. With his proven finance expertise, he meets the
reguirements in the skills profile stipulated by the Super-
visory Board and is a particularly suitable candidate.

No Supervisory Board members exceed the maximum
service perind of three terms of office or the age limit of 72.
They also do not hold positions on the governing bodies of,
or provide consultancy services to, or maintain personal
relationships with, the Group’s main competitors.

Effectiveness of the Supervisory Board's activities

The Supervisory Board carries out an annual review of the
effectiveness of its work in plenary meetings and in the
comimittees. This review is based upon a questionnaire,
individual conversations between the Supervisory Board
members and the chair and discussion in a Supervisory
Board meeting, without the Board of Management. Sug-
gestions made by individual members of the Supervisory
Board are also taken up and implemented during the year.
In financial year 2019, the Supervisory Board reviewed the
efficiency of its activities in its meetings in September and
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December. It conctuded that it had pe-fermed its monitor-
ing and advisory duties efficiently and effectively.

Targets for the composition of the Supervisory Board

{skills profile)

The Supervisory Board has set itself the following targets

for its composition; they aiso represe 1t the skills profile it

has set itself:

© When proposing candidates to the Annual General
Meeting for election as Supervisory Board members,
the Supervisory Board is guided purely by the best
interests of the company. Subject to this requirement,
the Supervisory Board aims to ensure thatindependent
Supervisory Board members as defined in number 5.4.2
of the German Corporate Governance Code account for
at least 75% of the Supervisory Board, and that at least
30% of the Supervisory Board members are women,

© TheSupervisory Board’s future proposals to the Annual
General Meeting will continue to consider candidates
whose origins, education or pro“essional experience
equip them with particular international knowledge
and experience.

€© The Supervisory Beard should be in a position to
collectively provide competent advice to the Board
of Management on fundamental future issues; in its
opinion this includes, in particular, the digital trans-
formation.

© The Supervisory Board should callectively have suffi-
cient expertise in the areas of accounting and finan-
cial statement audits. This includes knowledge of in-
ternational developments in the field of accounting.
Additionally, the Supervisory Board believes that the
independence of its members helps guarantee the in-
tegrity of the accounting process and ensure the inde-
pendence of the auditors.
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© Conflicts ofinterest affecting Supervisory Board mem-
bers are an cbstacle to providing independent advice
to, and supervision of, the Board of Management. The
Supervisory Board will decide how to deal with poten-
tial or actual conflicts of interest on a case-by-case
basis, in accordance with the law and giving due con-
sideration to the German Corporate Governance Code.
0O Inaccordance with the age limit adopted by the Super-
visory Board and laid down in the rules of procedure
for the Supervisory Board, proposals for the election
of Supervisory Board members must ensure that their
term of office ends no later than the ciose of the next
Annual General Meeting to be held after the Supervi-
sory Board member reaches the age of 72. As a gen-
eral rule, Supervisory Board members should not serve
more than three full terms of office.
The current Supervisory Board meets these targets and this
skills profile. The Supervisory Board took into account the
targets and skills profile in its proposals to the 2019 Annual
General Meeting and now also in its proposal te this year's
Annual General Meeting to elect Lawrence Rosen to the
company’s Supervisory Boargl.

Board of Management and Supervisory Board
committees

The members of the Board of Management meet quarterly
for business review meetings. The business review meet-
ings discuss strategic initiatives, operational matters and
the budgetary situation in the divisions.

The members of the Supervisory Board’s committees
prepare the resolutions to be taken in the plenary meetings
and fulfil the duties assigned to them by the law, the com-
pany's Articles of Associationand the rules of procedure for
the Supervisory Board.
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The Executive Committee prepares the resolutions to
be taken in the plenary meetings for appointing members
of the Board of Management, drawing up their contracts of
service and determining their remuneration. It also works
on long-term succession planning for the Board of Man-
agement.

The Finance and Audit Committee reviews the com-
pany’s accounts, oversees its accounting process, the effec-
tiveness of the internal control system, risk management
and internal auditing, and the financial statement audit, and
in particular the setection of the auditors and their inde-
pendence. The Finance and Audit Committee also deals
with the audit of the non-financial report. It also approves
the Board of Management's engagement of the auditor to
perform non-audit services. The committee examines cor-
porate compliance issues and discusses the half-yearly and
quarterly financial reports with the Board of Management
before publication. Based upon its own assessment, the
committee submits propesals for the approval of the annual
and consolidated financial statements by the Supervisory
Board. Upon entry into force of the Act Implementing the
Second Shareholder Rights Directive (ARUG 11} on 1 Jan-
uary 2020, the Finance and Audit Committee additionally
assumed responsibility forissuing the required Supervisory
Board approval for significant transactions between the
company and related parties.

The Chairman of the Finance and Audit Committee,
Stefan Schulte, is an independent financial expert as de-
fined in sections 100(5) and 107(4) of the AktG. He has no
relationship with the company, its governing bodies or its
shareholders that could cast doubt on his independence,

An agreement has been reached with the auditors that
the Chairman of the Superviscry Board and the Chairman of
the Finance and Audit Committee shall be informed without
delay of any potential grounds for exclusion or for impair-
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ment of the auditors’ independence that arise during the
audit, to the extent that these are not immediately rem-
edied. Inaddition, it has been agreed that the auditors shalt
inform the Supervisory Board without delay of all material
findings and incidents occurring in the course of the audit.
Furthermore, the auditors must inform the Supervisory
Board if, whilst conducting the financial statement audit,
they find any facts teading to the Declaration of Conform-
ity issued by the Board of Management and Supervisory

Committees of the Supervisory Board

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION

Board being incorrect. The Audit Committee chair and the
auditor regularly exchange information both at meetings
and at other times.

The Strategy Committee prepares the Supervisory
Board’s strategy discussions and regularly discusses the
competitive position of the enterprise as a whole and of the
divisions. It addition, it does preparatory work on corporate
acquisiticns and divestitures that require the Supervisory
Board's approval,

Executive Committee

Strategy Committee

Dr Nikolaus von Bomhard {Chair)
Andrea Kocsis (Deputy Chair}
Rolf Bauermeister

Ingrid Deltenre

Werner Gatzer

Thomas Held

Personnel Committee

Andrea Kocsis (Chair)

Dr Nikolaus von Bomhard {Deputy Chair)
Thomas Koczelnik

Roland Cetker

Finance and Audit Committee

Dr Stefan Schulte (Chair)
Stephan Teuscher {Deputy Chair)
Werner Gatzer

Thomas Koczelnik

Simane Menne

Stefanie Weckesser

Dr Nikolaus von Bomhard (Chair}

Andrea Kocsis (Deputy Chair)

Rolf Bauermeister

Dr Gunther Braunig {since 15 May 2019)

Pref. Dr Henning Kagermann (until 15 May 2019}
Thomas Koczelnik

Roland Oetker

Nomination Committee

Or Nikolaus ven Bomhard (Chair)
Ingrid Deltenre
Werner Gatzer

Mediation Committee (pursuant to section 27(3) of the
German Co-determination Act)

Dr Nikolaus von Bemhard (Chair)
Andrea Kocsis (Deputy Chair)
Rolf Bauermeister

Roland Oetker
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The Nominaton commitiee n_.mmmam the mjw«m_:oam«
ﬂqummmﬁwﬂe_mm of the mcvm_%_moé goard with recermns
mendations for mrma:oamq candidates for election to the
supervisory poardat the Annuat General Meeting.

The persornel Cominitiee diseusses human resources
.D::n._gmw forthe Group.

The Medjation comrmittee carries out the duties as”
signhed 10 it UEm:mE 1o the MitbestG: it makes vqovomwﬁ
o the Supenvisony poard on the wnﬂo__:ﬁ:mZ of members
of the moard of Ewsw@mama inthose cases in which the
required majority of nwo-thirds of the votes ot the SUper”
Visory goard members isnot reached. The committes aid
normeetin the past fnancial year

ntermation about the work of the Supervisory moard
and its commiftees in financial year 2015 i5als0 co ntained
in the & report of the gupervisory goard, page 78 & The mem”
hers of the mcva.,moz Rroard andthe mangates ey hold
are listed On & page 79,

piversity
winen fiting goard of —swsw@mBmE yacancies, e Super
Visory goard pays close attention g ensuring that the
members of the goard of _sm:m@mBmE have a variety of
pcwi._nwﬁ._ozm_ skitls and experience. Long-term gucces”
sion planning in all givisions manmsﬂmmm that there wilt be
mcm._n\_ngtw:mmg candidates to fill poard of ZmﬂwntmB
positions in future. The early ano:o: of women inthe
company also plays @ kay Tole. The current target fof the
Eono&oj of wornen of the Board of Emjmmm:ﬁsﬁ i52:8,
to be achieved oY the date of the annual general Meeting
in 2021

The goard of Zw:w@mj,_ma.. et target quotas for the
Eowo:.a: of wornen in the two execulive tiers below the
poard of Zm:m@mBmZ of 20% for tier Land z0% for tiet 2
these targets wco:mg tpihe nmzca petween 1 January 2017

e enee PEst DHE Group~ 2019 annuat repart

mﬂ<mxﬁbz_um
AMHUAL ﬁcwvﬁ:ﬂ_ﬁm
mazmn_.;z.nm m._._n._.m!mzq
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and 31 pecermnber 2019.The targetof 2pY%setfor {ier 1 wos

far exceeded at 25%, but at 23.1%, the target of 20% spec”
{fled for tier o9 was not met. Since the start of the target

ﬂmzca on ' January 2017, eytensive on:._mmmo pal changes

have bEen made at TeT ¢ this has \ed 10 changgs in the

siruciure of the various units and thus also affected the

number of female executives. weshall continueie workon

expanding the female talent pool pelow the cecond exety”
yive tier SO that qufficient suitable candidates aT® available

in the future.

A new target of 30% was get for the vmqnm:ﬁmcm of
womenat both executive fiees pelow the goard of Manade-
ment. We aim o mestthest targets by 31 Decernber 2024,

The company intends to increase the share of women
in manag ement positions c_avm__z and has therefore set
itself the goal of increasing the Umﬂnm:ﬂmmm of women in
micdie ant upper ranagement o 20% Y 5075, This figure
has risen continually in recentyears and stoad at 22.2%as
at 31 pecember 2019,

The diversity criteria .,3no:w2 10 the gupervisory
poard, ncluding when considering it5 QW campasition,
are outlined in the list of its goals. viith 35%, the Super-
Visory Board exceeds the statutoly share of womenof 30%.

shareholders and General Meeting

ghareholders axercise their rights. andin ﬁmn._nc_m:. their
right 10 receive informatien and to vote at the oeneral
meeting. gach shave inthe cornpany antitles the holder 1o
pnevote The w@mznwi.&._ the Qo_uomma resolutions fprthe
general Meeting and additional information will be made
ayailable a®d aums_aoims::amﬁaa at the latest whenthe
general Meeting s conyened. B detaited OV is nza:m:ma
for each Supervisary Board candidate vcio:: for election:
e assistoul sharenolders in exercisingd theirvoting rights
not onty DY making it uOmm...cs (o submit uomﬁmp yotes but

FINANCIAL wardmgmzqm

FURTHER INEORM ATION

also by mvno._smzu company proxies, whno cast fhetr voles
solely 45 instructed to doso by the mrmﬂmsoima and who
can be reached during the General Meeting. paa.&o:w:{.
shareholders can authorise company proxies, gubmit postal
votes and grant proxies 1o HBm:.:m%mem and sharehalder
assaciations attending the General Meeting Via the com-
pany'’s onling service.

xmz.c:m_..wmo: of the goard of _swswmoamﬁ and
supervisory Board

Most recently, the Annual General Meeting mvﬁqo,_ma the
gysiem of Board of Zmzmmmam% rernuneraton in2018 with
around g9% of the yates cast. The ﬁman:mdwﬁo: system
continues ta he wﬂu:nmim largely c:n_._w:@ma, as mxcﬁm.sma
in greater detaitinthe S gemuneration report, page 37 . That
report also contains ._10«336: «m@wa?m the yamuner-
ation of the ingiviguat ermbers of the goard of tManage-
ment and gupervisory Board. The remuneration gystem is
again scheduled tO be cqmmmsﬁma for w.uﬂ«ocmr tg the 2021
anral General Meeting.
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STATEMENT OF
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1 January to 31 December 1 January to 31 December
€m €m
Note 2018 2019 Note 2018 2019
Revenue 10 61,550 63,341 consolidated net profit for the perlod 2,224 2,776
h ingincome 11 1,914 2,351 . .
Other o_uw;_.:;m _:8. ) o LomIi inet Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
n:m.smmm in inventaries and work performed arnd 239 Change due to remeasurements of nat pension provisions 36 91 -1,048
@ﬁlm__mma — 12 87 —_— B ouo Reserve for equity instruments without recycling -4 -29
i - -32.07 - PR,
Materials expense __ 1 31,673 NH.EO. Other changes in retained earnings 0 3
14 ~20,825 -21, - I P
w»[mﬂnoﬂm - . Income taxes relating to components of other compre-
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 15 -2,292 1wmmh’ hensive income 18 71 75
Other operating expenses ] _ 16 _—ASST -4431 Share of other comprehensive income of investments
Net income from investments accounted for using accounted for using the equity method, net of tax L 0 0
the equity method - . 24 -2 Lm Total, net of tax 115 =-1,01¢9
Profit from operating activities {EBIT) 3.162 4128 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss
Financial income 201 194 1AS 3¢ hedging reserve
Finance costs ‘ -750 B4 Changes from unrealised gains and lasses -3 -4
Foreign currency losses =27 -2 Changes from realised gains and losses -31 7
Net finance costs 17 -576 -654 Currency translation reserve
- Changes from unrealised gains and losses 74 243
Profit before income taxes 2,586 3474 Changes from realised gains and losses B 0 30
Incame taxes _ 18 -362 —5%8 Income taxes relating to components of other compre-
Consolidated net profit for the period 2,224 2,776 hensive income R 13 -1
h. f other comprehensive income of investments
attributable to Deutsche Post AG shareholders 2,075 2,623 Share of othe X P . men
— — acceunted for using the equity method, net of tax 2 2
attributable to non-controlling interests . ) 149 153 mw.mw_ net of tax - 0 P
i 1 69 213 .
Basic earntings per share {€} — 16 — Other comprehensive income, net of tax - 165 =742
Diluted earnings per share (€} kad 1.6¢ 209 Total comprehensive income 2,389 2,034
¥ £l
attributable to Deutsche Post AG shareholders 2,243 1,882
attributable to non-centrolling interests 146 152
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€m
Note 31Dec. 2018 21 Dec, 2019 Note 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2019
ASSETS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Intangible assets 21 11,850 11,587 Issued capital _ 32 1,233 1,236
Property, slant and equipment 22 19202 21303 Capital reserves ) 13 5269 3482
_3<mmﬁ3MmH property r . 23 B m:m! 25 Other reserves -947 L.oo,
Investments accounted for using the equity Bmﬁﬂmm T ,.N..a. - l.lCo 123 Retained earnings 9,835 T 10,099
r_m‘_‘._-mr‘_‘,:mzﬁ z:m_.dm._.m?mmmﬁ 25 730 759 Equity attributable to Deutsche Post AG shareholders 34 13,5%0 o 14,117
O.njm_‘.a:olun\c\?msﬂ assets 26 353 295 Non-controlling interests le 283 275
mﬁ:& taxassets 7 27 m,mmmw 2,525 i o
S - — = — Equity 13,873 14,392
Non-current assets 34,804 37,117 . ) . .
——— — Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 36 4,348 5,102
Inventories 28 454 3946 Deferred tax liabilities - T 27 ma. 56
Current financial assets 25 943 394 Other :%AEB.E provisions N 37 1655 1,650
jma‘m\ﬂmnm_o‘mm_mw o 29 B,247 8,561 zo:-nc:ngwmlsm_mﬁ liabilities N 38 .E,mmo 13,736
Other current assets 26 2,369 2,598 Other non-current liabilities ’ 39 i 205 360
Income tax assets 210 252 Non-current provisions and liabilities 20,131 20,904
Cash and cash equivalents 30 3,017 2,862 —
Assets held for sale 31 426 9 Current provisions 37 1,073 964
T Current financial liabilities - 38 2593 3,238
Currentassets 15,666 15,052 e —
- ; - Trade payables 7,422 7,225
TOTAL ASSETS 50,470 52,169 Other current liabilities o 39 4432 4913
Income tax Liabilities o 718 519
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale N 228 14
Current provisions and Llabilities 16,466 146,873
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 50,470 52,149

Deutsche Post DHL Group - 2019 Annual Report
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

1 January to 31 December

€m

Note 2018 209

Consolidated net profit for the period - - - 2,224 2,776
ﬂ”cim taxes ) - o 362 - 698
Zmﬁ._:m:nm nommm.ll‘l‘ T ) T S , o |mw T 654
ﬂazn from operating activities (EBIT) - - B 3,162 S 4,128
Depreciation, amortisation .&a msnmz.Bm:m_ommmm - - 2,292 N m.mwM
Net income from disposal of non-current assets - o ) - lm T —445
al:.nmmj ._:Sam w:g mxum:mm ) I ll’ ) o - ) Ef - -57
Change in v_‘osw,o:m - ) 282 —506
Change in ather non-current assets and liabilities - - =75 a
msn_m:n_ received ) ] e _ 2 B (w
?nDBm taxes nw.a ) ] ) lm.uo.. |Wﬂ
zllmn’nmm: from E:u activities before n_..»smww in s_o_.rm_..n nwv‘zwﬂ B o PHM T Po.am
Changes inworking capital

Inventories -1lle 36
ﬁn@,cmonm.w and other current assets T T T T -559 |ﬂ
Liabilities and other items T S o B 466
Net cash from operating mnmmi:,mm T T - o {l( o , 4 o m.uom\ - 6,049
Subsidiaries and other business units ) 14 702
%3\. Em% and equipment and Smmze_._u_m assets i - 151 \m
Investments accounted for using the equity 32:.2_ and other investments B ) B - 23 |., 0
oﬁ:m;cz.nc?m:" financial assets . - ) o ) |£N - 51
vg%uomm_ of nen-current assets ) e ‘[l/’J - “ - 234 - B%1
Subsidiaries and other business units N -58 -l4
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets ] - - —2,64% B |w_m
ﬁn.mmgmsﬁ wnno‘:.san qom using the Sc:.< Bmﬁj& and other 5%&333 T ’ -39 | HM
Other Jo:-nclmaﬂ financial assets ) T .I’i|| T -10 [‘H
nme_”_ paid 3 acguire :o:.?:.mi w‘mwmﬁ HH S o - |mw‘m0/ B |m‘“oa
Interest received [ ~ _ 52 82
nc:masﬁ m:m:.ﬁm. assets i . - - ‘ N -307 527
zﬂnﬂamm__ used in investing activities 41 ~2,777 =-2,140
Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annuai Report 90
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Note 2018 2019
Proceeds from issuance of non-current financial liabilities 1,314 349
Repayments of non-current financial liabi _.mmm - T o - -2,284 -2,214
Change in current financial mm, o L T -1 -105
Other *.,.jm:nim mnn es ) ‘ o ) 38 40
mmw: mw_mﬂcﬂ transactions with non-centrolling interests T o ) -3 -5
m% ﬂﬂm..&.cmimm:‘m_umwﬂ AG shareholders S ‘ i o T B -1,40% |rﬁa‘
c_qam:mmm_n._‘mm non-contrelling interest shareholders o ] , -124 -150
_ucjn.;mm.m.o% treasury shares - T o -44 -11
Proceeds from issuing shares or oﬁjmﬁmgr\_w(. instruments o B ‘ T 0 11
Interest uma: o o -526 ~608
Net cash used in financing activities T S B o T 41 |u.om -4,112
Net change In cash and cash equivalents -20 =203
Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivaients ) ~ -65 15
m_,_vaumm 3 nmm.r. mmm mm equivalents associated with assets held for mwm. ,I .I o7 o B =33 N mw.
m:w:mmm in cash and cash equivalents due to changes in S:mo_a&ma‘mazu o - o - 0 o]
mwm: and n.m.w: mn.c_<2m_.:m at heginning of reporting period o 3,135 3,017
Cash and cash equivalents at end of _.mvo_..:._..u period 30 3,017 2,862
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES
IN EQUITY
1 January to 31 December
€m
Other reserves
Reserye f Equity
quity attributabl
instrum C ncy to Deutsch
1AS 39 without translation Retained PostAG  Non-controlling

Issued capital Capital reserves  hedging reserve recyciing  reserve earnings shareholders interests Total equity
Note i 32 33 34 35
Balance at 1 January 2018 ) 1224 3,327 19 HHI L L._on[ 9,034 12,587 264 12,851
Dividend L ~1,409 -1,409 -125 -1,534
Transactions with non-controlling interests _ o 0o 0 0 ) 4 4 -4 0
Changes in non-controlling interests due to changes in
consolidated group ) - - e 0 2 2
Issue/retirernent of treasury shares 3 26 - o o 29 D 29
Purch. ft ry sh - -1 e 45 46 46
Differences between purchase and issue prices of treasury shares
{share-based payment schemes]) ) 7 ) o -7 ] o} ) 0
Convertible bonds e L - 107 107
Share-based payment schemes (issuance) _ 99 99 39
Share-hased payment schemes {exercise) 2 |mw - _ . m me -24

o L - 1,240 -127 367

Total comprehensive income
tonsclidated net profit for the period e i o o i mbum\ 2075 149 2,224
Currency translation differences B8O 80 -4 76
Change due to remeasurements o f net pension provisions 117 117 118
Other chang _ 26 -3 s 26 0 29
o e L o . 2,243 146 2,389
Balance at 31 December 2018 1,232 3,469 -7 8 -948 9,835 13,550 283 13,873
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES
iN EQUITY
Other reserves
Reserve for Equity
equity attributable
instruments Currency to Deutsche
I1AS 39 without transiation Retained PostAG  Non-tontrolling
Issued capital Capitalreserves  hedging reserve recycling reserve earnings shareholders interests Total equity
Balance at 1 January 2019 1,233 3,469 =7 8 -948 4,835 13,590 2B3 13,873
Dividend - o L -1.419 -1,419 -155 -1,574
Transactions with non-controlling interests o o} 0 0 7 7 -7 C
Changes in non-controlling interests due to changes in
consolidated group o o o 0 1 1
Issue of treasury shares R o R ‘o} _ ) 0 o] 1 1
Purchase of treasury shares 0 o o -10 -10 -10
Differences between purchase and issue prices of treasury shares
{share-based payment m.n:.m.a.m.m._ s _ -5 C 0
Convertible bonds 0 0 ~ R 0 0
Share-based payment schemes {issuance) - 56 o 56
Share-based payment schemes {exercise) - 3 -48 56 11
o - o =1,355 ~160
Total comprehensive income
Consolidated net profit for the period o o 2623 2,623 153 2,776
Currency transiation differences 275 275 0 275
Change due to remeasurements of net pension provisions ~380 -9%0 -1 -391
Other changes S 2 B |.VVH. 2 -26 o] ~24
e . 1,882 152 2,034
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,236 3,482 =5 -22 ~673 10,099 14,117 275 14,392
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NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF
DEUTSCHE POST AG

Basis of preparation

Deutsche Past DHL Group is 2 global mail and logistics group.
The Deutsche Post and DHL corporate brands repraesent a port-
folioc of logistics (DHL) and communication {Deutsche Post) ser-
vices. The financial year of Deutsche Post AG and its consolidated

subsidiaries is the calendar year. Deutsche Post AG, whose reg-
istered office is in Bonn, Germany, is entered in the commercial

register of the Bonn Local Court under HRB 6792.

1  Basis of accounting

As a listed company, Deutsche Post AG prepared its consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with section 315e
Handelsgesetzbuch [RGB - German Commercial Code] (“con-
solidated financial statements in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards”] in compliance with International

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and related Interpre-
tations of the International Accounting Standards Board {|ASB)

as adopted in the European Union in accordance with Regula-
tion (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the

European Council on the application of internationalaccounting

standards.

The requirements of the standards applied have been sat-
isfied in full, and the consolidated financial statements therefore
provide a true and fair view of the Group's net assets, financial
position and results of operaticns.

The consolidated financiai statements consist of the in-
come statement and the statement of comprehensive income,

Deutsche Post DHL Group -~ 2019 Annual Report
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the balance sheet, the cash flow statement, the statement of
changes in equity and the notes. in order to improve the clarity
of presentation, various items in the balance sheet and in the in-
come statement have been combined. These items are disclosed
and explained separately in the notes. The income statement has
been classified in accardance with the nature of expense method.

The accounting policies and the explanations and dis-
closures in the notes to the IFRS consolidated financial statements
for financiai year 2019 are generally based on the same account-
ing policies used in the 2018 consolidated financial statements.
Exceptions to this are the changes in international financial re-
porting under the iFRSs described in € note 4 that have been
required to be applied by the Group since 1 January 2019. The
accounting policies are explained in € note 6.

These consolidated financial statements were author-
ised for issue by a resolution of the Board of Management of
Deutsche Post AG dated 14 February 2020.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
euros (€). Unless otherwise stated, ali amounts are given in
millions of euros (€ million, €m).

2 Consolidated group

The consolidated group includes all companies controtled by
Deutsche Post AG. Control exists if Deutsche Post AG has dec-
ision-making powers, Is exposed, and has rights, to variable
returns, and is able to use its decision-making powers to affect
the amount of the variable returns. The Group companies are
consolidated fram the date on which Deutsche Post DHL Group
is able to exercise control.

When Deutsche Post DHL Group holds less than the major-
ity of voting rights, other contractual arrangements may result
in the Group controiling the investee.

DHL Sinotrans International Air Courier Ltd. (Sinotrans),
China, is a significant company that has been consolidated de-
spite Deutsche Post DHL Group not having a majerity of voting
rights. Sinotrans provides domestic and international express
delivery and transport services and has been assigned to the
Express segment. The company is fully integrated into the global

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES

FURTHER INFORMATION

DHL network and operates exclusively for Deutsche Post DHL
Group. Due to the arrangements in the Network Agreement,
Deutsche Post DHL Group is able to prevail in decisions cencern-
ing Sinotrans’ relevant activities. Sinotrans has therefore been
consolidated although Deutsche Post DHL Group holds no more
than 50% of the company’s share capital.

The complete list of the Group's shareholdings in accord-
ance with section 313{2) nos. 1to 6 and (3) HGB may be viewed
on the company’s website @ dpdhl.com/en/investors,

The companies listed in the following table are consoli-
dated in addition fo the parent company Deutsche Post AG:

Consolidated group

2018 2019
Number of fully consolidated companies
{subsidiaries)
German 127 81
Foreign 616 617
Number of joint operations
German 1 1
Foreign 0 o]
Number of investments accounted
for using the equity method
German 1 1
moﬂmﬁ: 18 18

In the reporting period, 46 German DHL Delivery companies
were merged inte Deutsche Post AG, The disposaf of companies
related o the sale of the supply chain business in China, Hong
Kongand Macau, ®nete 2.3. In addition, another 4.9% interestin
Relais Cotis SAS, France, which is accounted for using the equity
method, was acquired, as was the remalning 10% interest in Ol-
impo Holding S.A., Brazil.
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2.1 Acquisitions, 2019
No significant companies were acguired in the financial year.

2.2 Contingent consideration
The foliowing are the variable purchase prices for companies

acquired in prior years;

Contingent consideration

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR

Perind for financial

Results range

Fair value of total
cbligation at the

payment obligation

GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FURTHER INFORMATION
NOTES
Including transaction costs of €13 million, the net gain from dis-
posals amounted to €426 million. In addition, Deutsche Post DHL
Greoup will receive an annual revenue-based amount over a
period of ten years as part of a strategic partnership.
2.4 Joint operations
Joint operations are consolidated in accordance with IFRS 11,
based on the interest held,
Aerologic GmbH (Aerologic), Germany, a cargo airlne domi-
Remaining Remaining

payment obligation

Company Basis years from/to from/to acquisition date at 31 Dec. 2018 at 31 Dec. 2019
Mitsafetrans S.r.l. EBITDA 2016102018 Dtol9€m 15€m S€m -
Suppla Group ESITDA mowmﬁo.wos 0to LOEmM! 12€m 10€m -
! Adjusted during 2018 due to reassessments,
A total of €8 million was paid for the Suppla Group in May 2019, Deconsolidation effects
and €5 million was paid for Mitsafetrans S.r.l. in July 2019. €m
Supply
C . . Chain
2.3 Deconsolidation effects in 2019 business
Gains are shown in other operating income; losses are reported 1 January to 31 December 2019 in China
in other operating expenses. Non-current assets 212
of which goodwill o Q1
Supply Chain Current assets o 194
In mid-February 2019, Deutsche Post DHL Group sold its Supply Cash and cash equivalents e 33
. . . . ASSET 439
Chain business in China, Hong Kong and Macao to S.F. Holding, SSETS — — 3
. N L R Non-current provisions and liabi 45
China. The assets and liabilities of the companies in question had — — -
iously b ted as held for sale. The table below shows Current provisions and Nabiites 179
previously been _‘m_muow. e e . . ) . ) EQUITY AND UIABILITIES ‘ 24
the effects 03.3 disposal of ngm. S:mo:amﬂ.m companias an Net assets 15
three companies accounted for using the equity method. Cach consideration recelved 586
Losses from the currency translation reserve -32
Deconsotidation gain 439
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tiled in Leipzig, is the only joint operation in this regard. It was

jointly established by Lufthansa Cargo AG and Deutsche Post

Beteiligungen Holding GmbH, which each hold 50% of its cap-
italand voting rights. Aerologic has been assigned to the Express

segment. Aerologic’s shareholders are simultaneously its cus-
tomers, giving them access to its freight aircraft capacity. Aer-
ologic mainly serves the DHL Express network from Monday to

Friday, and flies for the Lufthansa Cargo network at weekends.
In contrast to its capital and voting rights, the company's assets

and liabilities, as well as its income and expenses, are allocated

based on this user relationship.

3 significant transactions
In addltion to the sale of the Supply Chain business in China,
® note 2, the following significant transactions occurred:

We spent a net amount of €481 million on restructuring
measures as part of a profit improvement initiative in financial
year 2019. Of this amount, €234 million was attributable to
Post & Parcel Germany, €151 million to the Supply Chain div-
ision, €80 million to eCommerce Solutions and €16 million to
Corporate Functions.

In the third quarter of 2019, the Group began offering an
extended group of employees in Germany the opticn of taking
a lump-sum payment rather than receiving a lifetime pension
under our occupatienal pension arrangements. In the fourth
quarter, the eligible group of employees was expanded further.
Total income of €258 million was recognised in staff costs as a
result, driven by past service income of €271 million, which was
partly offset by additional current service cost.
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New developments in international accounting
under JFRSs

New accounting standards required to be applied
in financial year 2019

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES

FURTHER INFORMATIDN

The following standards, changes to standards and interpreta-
tions must be applied from 1 January 2019:

Standard

Subject matter and significance

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Prepayment Features
with Negative Compensation

IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to tAS 2&, Investments in Assaciates and Joint Ventures;
Long-term Interests in Assaciates and Joint Ventures

Annual 368<m3m3m ta IFRSS [2015~2017 Cycle)

Amendments to IAS 19, Employee Benefits ~ Plan Amendment,
Curtaitment or Settlernent

The amendment clarifies how certain financial instruments with prepayment features are classified according to IFRS 9. The consolidated financial statements
_ werenot be affected.

IFRIC 23 clarifies the requirements for measuring and _.mnous_mso uncertain incorre tax items., The __.;mawmﬂm:a_‘_ must be applied to the uﬁm-s_:m:o: of
taxable profit (tax loss}, tax bases, unused tax losses, unbsed tax credits and tax rates when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under J1AS 12.
?m interpretation had no material influence on the consolidated financial statements.

A_Jm amendments to 1AS 28 clarify that IFRS 9 must be applied to iong-term interests that, In mccmasnm form part of the :mzacmmHBmsﬂ in m: mwmon_mﬁm or
joint venture to which the equity method is mn._u__ma The m_.:m:a_::m:”m had no effect on the consolidated financial mnmﬁmamsﬁw

The amendments retate to IFRS 3, Business noausmgo:m. and 1FRS 11, Joint Arrangements, as well as IAS 12, _:noam Taxes, and IAS 23, mo:os__sm noms»
.:5 m:_msn_amim 3wn no effect on the no:wc_am»ma ::m:n_wﬁmgmamim

The mamsgs\,m:ﬂm momn_z the basis for determining the current service cost msa netinterest for the period between the change in a defined benefit retirement
plan and the end of the reporting period. As a result of the changes in cccupational pension arrangements in Germany, for example, this had a minor impact
overall on the cansolidated A:_Es_um_ statements.

We voluntarily applied IFRS 16, Leases, early in 2018,

New accounting standards adopted by the EU but only
required to be applied in future periods

The following standards, changes to standards and interpreta-
tions have already been endorsed by the EU. However, they will
only be required to be applied in future periods.

Effective far financial years

Standard (issue date) beginning on or after

Subject matter and significance

Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRS
Standards {29 March 2018)

1 January 2020

Amendments to 1AS 1 and JAS B - 1 January 2020
Definiticn of Material

{31 October 2018}
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform:
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and
IFRS 7 (26 Septernber 2019}

1 ;_m:cmé mom‘c

The IASB has published a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reparting that is intended to be used to develop new standards and interpretations in
the future. in particular, the definitions of assets and liabilities as well as the guidance on measurement and derecognition, presentation and disclosures were
amended. This has not resuited in any technical amendments to current standards ta date. The amendments merely update the references to the conceptual
?m:,_msawx it existing mwms%aw The conceptual ?mBmsB% itself is not the subject of the endorsement procedure. This will not result in any changes.

j.ﬁ amendments to _nm 1and IAS 8 clarify the definition of “material”, Besides additional explanaticns, the definition of “material” in the conceptual framework
as well as all standards was aligned with the central definition now anchored in JAS 1. No material effects on the consolidated financial statements are expected,

Entities can continue to use hedge accounting and designate new hedging relationships despite the expected replacement of various interest rate benchmarks.
No material effects on the consolidated financial statements are expected.

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2C1% Annual Report
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New accounting standards not yet adopted by the EU
{endorsement procedure)

The IASB and the IFRIC issued further standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations in financial year 2019 and in pre-
vious years whose application is not yet mandatory for financial
year 2019. The application of these IFRSs is dependent on their
adoption by the EU.

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE

HOTES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION

Standard {issue date)

Effective for financial years
beginning on or after Subject mattar and sig

IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts (18 May 2017)

1 January 2021

IFRS 17 outlines the principles governing the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts.
The objective of the standard is to ensure that the reporting entity provides relevant Information that faithfuily represents
those insurance contracts. This information gives users of financial statements better insights into the effects that insurance
contracts have on an entity’s net assets, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The effects an the Group are
currently being assessed.

wr.,..mm..n__.:.m:ﬂm 1o IFRS 3, Business Combinations — Definition of a Business
(22 October 2018}

1 January 2020

The amendments relate to the definition of a business and include clearer guidelines for distinguishing between a business
and a group of assets when applying IFRS 3. According to the amendments, the future definition of a business includes
having both economic resources and at least a substantial process which tegether are capable of generating output. Output
is deemed to be enly the sale of goeds and provision of services as well as the generation of capital and other income.
Alternatively, there is an option to apply a concentration test to assess whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business. No materfal effects on the consolidated financial statements are expected.

Amendments to |1AS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Nen-current {23 January 2020)

1 January 2022

The amendments to IAS 1 relate solely to the presentation of debt and other liabilities in the statement of financial position.
They clarify that a liability must be classified as non-current if the entity has a right at the reporting date to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. The determining factor is that such a right exists; no intention
to exercise that right is required. No materiat effects on the consolidated financial statemants are expected.

5  Currency translation
The financial statements of consolidated companies prepared

statements, assets and liabilities are therefore translated at the

Goodwill arising from business combinations after 1 Janu-

in foreign currencies are translated into euros (€) in accord-
ance with 1AS 21 using the functional currency method. The
functional currency of foreign companies is determined by the
primary econemic environment in which they mainly gener-
ate and use cash. Within the Group, the functional currency is
predominantly the local currency. In the consolidated financial

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

closing rates, whilst periodicincome and expenses are generally
translated at the monthiy clasing rates. The resulting currency
translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income. In financial year 2019, currency translation differences
amounting to €275 million (previous year: €76 million) were
recognised in other comprehensive income, see the ® statement

of comprehensive income.

ary 2005 is treated as an asset of the acquired company and
therefore carried in the functional currency of the acquired
company.

The exchange rates for the currencies that are significant
for the Group were as follows:
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Closing rates Average rates
2018 2019 2018 2019
Currency Country 1EUR= 1EUR= 1EUR= 1EUR=
AUD Australia 16224 1.46006 hmw _ |;|omm
oy chmaagial 1s21s 78133 77318
caP T United Kingdom - 08947 08510 08860 08758
wo  HomgKeng 89680 87461 92413 87715
W inda S 79899 801796 B0.6204 78.8033
w G T T 12s@pes 1218953 1209766  121.9835
ek Sweden 102418 10.4491 10.2955 10.5827
uso T usa T Triesl 1azaz 11790 11197

The carrying amounts of hon-monetary assets recognised at sig-
nificant consolidated companies operating in hyperinflationary

economies are generally indexed inaccordance with IAS 29 and

thus reflect the current purchasing power at the reporting date.

In accerdance with 1AS 21, receivables and liabilities in

the financial statements of consolidated companies that have

been prepared in local currencies are translated at the closing

rate as at the reporting date. Currency translation differences

are recognised in other operating income and expenses in the

incame statement. In financial year 2019, income of €184 mil-
lion (previous year: €213 million) and expenses of €179 million

(previous year: €207 mittion) resulted from currency translation

differences. In contrast, currency translation differences relating

to net investments ina foreign operation are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

&  Accounting policies

Uniform accounting policies are applied to the annual financial
statements of the entities that have been included in the con-

Deutsche Post DHL Group—201% Annual Report

solidated financial statements. The consolidated financial state-
ments are prepared under the historical cost convention, except
where items are required to be recognised at their fair value.

Revenue and expense recognition

Deutsche Post DHL Group’s normal business operations consist
of the provision of logistics services comprising letter and parcel
dispatch in Germany, express delivery, freight transport, supply
chain management and e-commerce solutions. Ail income re-
tating to normal business operations is recognised as revenue
in the income statement. Ali other income is reported as other
operating income.

Revenue is recognised when control over the goads or ser-
vices transfers to the customer, i.e. when the customer has the
ability to control the use of the transferred goods or services pro-
vided and generally derive their remaining benefits, The require-
ment is that a contract with enforceable rights and obligations
exists and, amongst other things, the receipt of consideration
is likely, taking into account the customer’s credit quality. The

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES

FURTHER INFORMATION

revenue corresponds to the transaction price to which the Group
is expected to be entitled. Variable consideration is included in
thetransaction price whenitis highly probable that a significant
reversalin the amount of revenue recognised will not occur and
to the extent that the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration no longer exists, The Group does not expect to
have contracts whete the pericd between the transfer of the
promised goods and/or services to the customer and payment
by the customer exceeds one year. Accordingly, the pramised
consideration is not adjusted for the time value of money. For
each performance obligation, revenue is either recognised at a
certain time or over a certain period of time. The obligation to
perform transport services is fulfilled over a certain period of
time and revenue is recognised over the performance period.

The revenue generated by praviding other (ogistics ser-
vices is recognised in the reporting period in which the service
was rendered.

Whenever third parties are involved in the performance of
a service, adistinction must be drawn between the principal and
agent. If Deutsche Post DHL Group serves as the pringipal, then
the gross amount of revenue is recognised. if the Group acts as
the agent, the net amount is recognised. The transaction price for
this specific serviceis limited to the amount of the commission to
be received. Deutsche Post DHL Group is generally the principal
when transport services are provided.

Operating expenses are recognised in income when the
service is utilised or when the expenses are incurred.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets, which comprise internaily generated and pur-
chased intangible assets and purchased goodwill, are measured
at amortised cost.

Internally generated intangible assets are capitalised at
costifitis probable that their production will generate an inflow
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of future aconomic penefits and the costs tan be reliably meas”
ured, Inthe Group, this concerns internally nm%,ronma goftware.
(f the critesia for nmnﬁm:mwzg are pot met, the expenses are
recognised ,,Bama,_ﬁmz iningome in the year in which they are
incurred. \n agditionto directcosts, the ?oacmﬂaz cnstof interme
ally developed software includes an wvuqovzmﬁm share of allo”
cable an:nzo: overhead costs. ANy porrowing costs incurred
tar qualifying assets are included in the production cost. Value
jon o proguc-

added tax ansing in conjunction with the acqud

tlon of intangibte assets {8 included in <he costif it cannot be
deducted as input tax. nmn:m:mma software 1 amortised over
its useful life.

ntangibte assels texcluding @ooaé:s are aroriised
using the straight-line method over their useful lives. (mpair-
ment losses are recognised in accordance with the principles
deseriped i0 e sectian headed _3vw.:3ma. The useful lves of
w_an_jnmz intangible agsets are 88 follows!

yseful lives

vears'
_%mSmE nmmmmmmmwom,qmﬁw ) upto 10
purchased coftware L — uptos
Ligences reem of
agreement

Customer ﬂm_,w:osmzvm upto20

- > -

s The useful ?mi:uﬁ&mu represent maximum amounts specified fy the Grok: The
artual psefullives may be shorter gue o SESQ:& w:mzmmSmja or other specific
factors SUEn astirne ang fpcanon-

|rtangible assets that areé not affected oy legal. econamic, Lon-
tractual of other factors that might restrict thei¥ useful lives are
consitiered o have indefinite useful fives. Theyare not amortised
put are ragted for m:ﬁwﬂam% annualtly of whenever there ar&

s annaal Repott

201% FINANCIAL YEAR Gagmwzvzﬂm

NOTES

indications of ,38:3@3. They @m:miz nclude wrand names
from Husiness comabinations and @coai.n_r for example. ympair-
ment testing is carvied outin accordance with the principles de-
seribed in the spction headed ympairment.

property, plant and mnivama“

property, plant and mg:wcam:,ﬁ is carried at cost, reduced by ¢~
curmnutated nmﬂ..mn._mm_o: and valuation allowances. I addition 10
direct costs, vSac%_os costingiudes an mnv,‘oﬂimﬁm shareof al-
lptable an:nﬁo: gerhead COSTS. Borrowing costs that can oe
allocated directiy to the purchase no:m::m.h._o: or manufacturée
af property. plant and aguipment are capitalised. vatue added
ta arising in conunction with the acquisition ar an:nﬂos of
items of progerty. plantof aguipment & included in the costif it
cannot be deducted as input taX. Depreciation i charged using
the straight-une raethod. The estimated useful lives applied W
the major aseet classes are Emmmsﬁma 10 the table below!

usefut lives

pircraft

T equipment

ﬁwsw.vo: equipment and vebicle figet 41018

ment gto 10

et et o

» The ugeful Lives indicated represent MaximueT amounts specified oy the Group. The
actual yseful ves iy e shorter dueto 8333;% arrangeMENts or oiner special

fattofs suthas me ard lotauen.

If there are indications of impairment, an @38:3““3 test must
be carried outl see section headed _va.:?wa.

FINANCIAL STATEM ENTS

LR

__Bﬁu.__..ami
at each reporting date, the careying arnounts of intangiole asgels,
nqo..uqu. plant and mnEvBmB and investmant property are
reviewed for indications of impairment. 1§ there are any such
indications, &t jrnpairment test is carried out. This ig done By
determining the recoverable amourt of the relevant asset and
comparing itwith the carrying amount.

|n accordance with 188 36, the recoverabie amount is the
assels falr value 1853 costs 1o sell oF its value in use {present
vatue ofthe Em.ﬁmximm cash flows axpacted o pe derived from
the assetin futurel, whichever s nigher. The discount rate used
for the value inuseisa pre-tax rate of interest reflecting turs
sent market conditions. \f the «mno,%m«wgm amount cannot be
amﬁm::,jmu for an inclividual asset, the recoverable amount
is getermined for the smallest ;gentifiable groupP of assets 10
which the agsetin questian can be allocated and which inge-
vmjaw:?_ generates cash flows {cash mm:mqwa:m wnit — T
If the «mnocmacmm amount of anasset i lower than its carrying
amount, an ._Bnm.,qgmg \pss is recognised immediately inre-
spect of the assel. 1, after an impairment |oss has been recog-
nised, a highet Snoédmc_m arnountis aﬁﬁ%._zma forthe asset
orthe couata \ater date, the .hanm._ﬂamsﬂ 055 I8 reversed up 1o
acarnying arnountthat does not exceedthe recoverable aroount.
The increased carrying arnount attriputable 10 the roversat af
the .,Evm:BmE lossis Limited to the carrying arount that would
have been determined {netof amortisation ©F amnqmgwcoa if no
jrmpaifment |oas had been recognised in the past. The reversat
of the impairment toss is recognised 0 the income statement.
Jmpairment losses recognised in raspect of goodwill may not
be reversed.

gince January 2005, oooaé& has been accounted for
using the ravm._mam:n.onz mnvqowns inaccordantce with IFRS 3.
This stipulates that mooaé:__ must be mcvmmncm:.% measured
a1 cost, less any curnulative adjustments from impairment
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losses. Purchased goodwill is therefore no longer amortised
and instead is tested for impairment annually in accordance
with 1AS 36, regardless of whether any indication of possible
impairment exists, as in the case of intangible assets with an
indefinite useful life. In addition, the ohligation remains to con-
duct animpairment test if there is any indication of impairment.
Goodwill resulting from company acqui ns is allocated to
the CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the acquisition. These groups represent the
lowest reporting level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. The carrying amount of a CGU

to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. Where impairment iosses are recognised in con-
nection with a CGU to which gaodwill has been allocated, the
existing carrying amount of the goodwill is reduced first. If the
amount of the impairment loss exceeds the carrying amount
of the goodwill, the difference is allocated to the remaining
non~-current assets in the CGU.

Leases

Aleaseis a contract inwhich the right to use an asset (the leased
asset) is granted for an agreed-upon period in return for com-
pensation.

Since 1 January 2018, the Group as lessee has recognised
at present value assets for the right of use received and liabil-
ities for the payment obligations entered into for all teases in
the balance sheet. Lease liabiiities include the following lease
payments:

« fixed payments, less tease incentives offered by the lessor;

« vatiable payments linked to an index or interest rate;

« pxpected residual payments from residual vatue guarantees;

» the exercise price of call options when exercise is estimated
to be sufficiently likely and

Deutsche Post DHL Group - 2019 Annual Report
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» contractual penaities for the termination of a lease if the
lease term reflects the exercise of a termination option.

Lease payments are discounted at the implicit interest rate
underlying the lease to the extent that this can be determined.
Otherwise, discounting is at the incremental botrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, which comprises
the following:

« lease liabilities;

+ lease payments made at or prior to delivery, less tease incen-
tives received;

= initial direct costs and

« restoraticn obligations.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at amort-
ised cost. They are depreciated over the term of the lease using
the stralght-line method.

The Group will make use of the relief options provided for
leases of low-value assets and short-term leases (shorter than
twelve months) and expense the payments in the income state-
ment according to the straight-line method. Additionaity, the re-
quirements do not apply to leases on intangible assets. The Group
also exercises the aption available for contracts comprising lease
components as well as non-lease components not to split these
components, except in the case of reai estate and aircraft leases.
In addition, under IFRS 8 intra-group leases~in line withinternal
management — are generally presented as operating leases in
segment reporting in accordance with 1AS 17.

Extensicn and termination options exist for a number of
leases, particularly for real estate. Such contract terms offer
the Group the greatest possible flexibility in doing business. In
determining lease terms, all facts and circumstances offering
aconomic incentives for exercising extension options or not ex-
ercising termination options are taken into account. Changes due
to the exercise or non-exercise of such options are considered in
determining the lease term only if they are sufficiently probable.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES

FURTHER INFORMATION

For operating leases, the Group reperts the leased asset at
amortised cost as an asset under property, plant and equipment
where itis the lessor. The lease payments received in the period
are shown under other operating income.

Where the Group is the lessor in a finance lease, it recog-
nises the assets as lease receivables in the amount of the net
investment in the balance sheet.

Investments accounted for using the equity method
Investments accounted for using the equity method cover asso-
ciates and joint ventures. These are recognised using the equity
metheod in accordance with IAS 28, Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures, Based on the cost of acquisition at the time
of purchase of the investments, the carrying amount of the in-
vestment is increased or reduced annually to reflect the share of
earnings, dividends distributed and other changes in the equity
of the associates and joint ventures attributable to the invest-
ments of Deutsche Post AG or its consolidated subsidiaries. An
impairment loss is recognised on investments accounted for
using the equity method, including the goodwitl in the carry-
ing amount of tha investment, if the recoverable amount falls
below the carrying amount. Gains and losses from the disposal
of investments accounted for using the equity method, as weil
asimpairment losses and their reversals, are recognised in other
operating income or other operating expenses.

Financial instruments

Afinancial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial

asset of ane entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of
another entity. Financial assets include in particular cash and cash

equivalents, trade receivables, originated loans and receivables,
and derivative financial assets. Financiai liabilities include con-
tractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset to

another entity. These mainly comprise trade payables, liabilities
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to banks, liabilities arising from bonds and leases, and derivative
financial liabilities.

Measurement

The Group measures financial assets at fair value plus the
transaction costs directly attributabie to the acquisition of
these assets on initial recognition if they are not subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss. The transaction
costs of assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised as expenses. For financial liabilities measured ac-
cording to the fair value option, the part of the change in fair
value resulting from changes in the Group's own credit risk is
recegnised in cther comprehensive income rather than in the
income statement.

Classification

Financial assets are classified in the measurement categories
betow. The classification of debt instrurments depends on the
business model used to manage the financial assets and their
contractual cash flows.

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT AMORTISED COST

Debt instruments that are assigned to the "hold to collect con-
tractual cash flows” business model and whose cash flows ex-
clusively comprise interest and principal are measured and rec-
cgnised at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial

assets is reparted in financial incame accarding tn the effective

interest method.

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (FVOCI)

Debt instruments assigned to the “hold ta collect and sell” busi-
ness model must be measured and recognised at fair value.
Gains and losses from fair value measurement are recoghised
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in other comprehensive income. Cumulative gains and losses
are reclassified to profit or loss when the financial asset is
derecognised.

DEBT INSTRUMENTS, DERIVATIVES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS {(FVTPL)

Debt instruments, derivatives and equity instruments acquired
tc maximise their cash flows by selting them in the short to me-
dium term are assigned to the “sell” business model. They are
measured at fair value. The resulting measurement gains and
losses are reported in profit or loss.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS CLASSIFIED AS FVOCI

Most of the equity instruments that the Group invests in for stra-
tegic reasons are assigned to the FYOCI measurement category.
They must be measured at fair value. The effects of any changein

the fair value of these equity instruments are recegnised in other
comprehensive income. On derecognition, these effects are not

reclassified to profit or loss. Dividends from such instruments are

reported in other income in the income statement.

Impairment

Asatl January 2018, the Group began making a forward-looking
assessment of the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments (expected credit loss model).

Expected credit loss (ECL) within the meaning of IFRS ¢ is
an estimate af credit lass over the expected lifetime of a. financial
instrument, weighted for the probability of default. A credit loss
is the difference between the contractual cash flows to which
the Group is entitled and the cash flows expected by the Group.
The expected credit loss takes into account the amount and tim-
ing of payments. Accordingly, a credit loss may also occur if the
Group expects payment to be made in full, but later than the
contractually agreed date.

FINANCIAL STRTEMENTS
NOTES
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The Group distinguishes between two types of financial
assets, both of which are subject to the ECL model: trade receiv-
ables and contract assets, on the one hand, and debtinstruments
measured at amortised cost, on the other. Cash and cash equiva-
lents are also subject to the IFRS 9 impairment rules. However,
the impairment loss identified is not material.

ECL is generally measured at the level of individual items;
inexceptional cases, such as groups of receivables with the same
credit risk characteristics, it is measured collectively at portfolio
level. The Standard stipulates the three-stage “general approach”
to determining credit loss for this process. This does not include
trade receivables and contract assets.

In accordance with the three-stage model, debt instru-
ments measured at amortised cost are initially recognised in
Stage 1. The expected loss is equal to the loss that may occur
dueto possible default events in the twelve months following the
reporting date. Financial assets that have experienced a sign
cantincrease in counterparty credit risk since initial recognition
are transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2. A “significant increase”
includes situations in which debtors are no longer aizle to meet
their payment obtigations at short notice or when it appears that
the debtor has experienced an actual or expected deterioration
in business performance. The credit risk can then be measured
using the probability of default (PD) over the instrument’s
lifetime (lifetime PD). The impairment loss is equivalent to the
loss that may occur due to possible default events during the
remaining term afthe financialasset. Assets must he transferrad,
from Stage 1 to Stage 2 when the contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due. If there is objective evidence that a
financial asset is impaired, it must be transferred to Stage 3. In
cases where payments are more than 90 days past due, there
is reason to belteve that the debtor is experiencing significant
financial difficulties. This constitutes objective evidence of a credit
loss, The financial asset must therefore be transferred to Stage 3.
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Alldebtinstruments measured atamortised costare consid-
ered to be at low risk of default, The impairment loss recognised
in the period was thereforelimited to the twelve-month expected
credit loss. Management considers listed bonds to meet the cri-
teria for a low risk of default when they have been assigned an
investment-grade rating by at least one major rating agency. Other
instruments qualify for the low-default-risk category if the risk of
non-performance is low and the debtoris atall times in a position
to meet contractual payment obligations at short notice.

Trade receivables and contract assets are generally short-
term in nature and contain no significant financing components.
According to the simplified impairment approach in IFRS 9,
a loss allowance in an amount equal to the lifetime expected
credit losses must be recognised for ali instruments, regardless
of their credit guality. The Group calculates the expected loss
using impairment tables for the individual divisions. The loss
estimate, documented by way of loss rates, encompasses all
of the available information, including historical data, current
economic conditions and reliable forecasts of future economic
conditions {macroeconomic factors).

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contractassets
are presented in other operating expenses. Inturn, gains on the
reversal of impairment losses are presented in other operating
income.

Further details are presented in € note 42.

Derivatives and hedges

To avoid variations in earnings resulting from changes in the fair
value of derivative financial instruments, hedge accounting is
applied where possible and economically useful. Gains and losses
from the derivative and the related hedged item are recognised
in income simultanecusly. Depending on the hedged item and
the risk to be hedged, the Group uses fair value hedges and cash
flow hedges.
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A fairvalue hedge hedges the fair value of recognised assets
and fiab

jes. Changes in the fair value of both the derivatives
and the hedged item are recognised in income simultaneously.

A cash flow hedge hedges the fluctuations in future cash
flows from recognised assets and liabilities (in the case of
interest rate risks), highly probable forecast transactions as
well as unrecognised firm commitments that entail a currency
risk. The effective portion of a cash flow hedge is recognised in
the hedging reserve in equity. Ineffective portions resulting from
changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recog-
nised directly in income. The gains and losses generated by the
hedging transactions are initially recognised in equity and are
then reclassified to profit or loss in the period inwhich the asset
acquired or liabitity assumed affects profit or loss. If a hedge of
a firm commitment subsequently results in the recognition of
a non-financial asset, the gains and iosses recognised directly
in eguity are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset
(basis adjustment).

Net investment hedgas in foreign entities are treated in
the same way as cash flow hedges. The gain or loss from the
effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehen-
sive income, whilst the gain or loss attributable to the ineffect-
ive portion is recognised directly in income. The gains or losses
recognised in other comprehensive income remain there until
the disposal or partial disposal of the net investment. Detailed
information on hedging transactions can be found in & note 42,

Recognition and derecognition

Reqular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recog-
nised at the settlement date, with the exception of derivatives in
particular. A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to
receive the cash flows from the asset have expired or have been
transferred, and the Group has transferred essentially all risks
and opportunities of ownership.
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Financial liabilities are derecognised if the payment obli-
gations arising from them have expired.

Netting

Financial assets and liabilities are set off on the basis of netting
agreements (master netting arrangements) only if there is an
enforceable right of set-off and settlement on a net basis is In-
tended as at the reparting date.

If the right of set-off is not enforceabte in the normal course
of business, the financial assets and liabitities are recognised in
the balance sheet at their gross amounts as at the reporting date.
The master netting arrangement then creates onlya conditional
right of set-off.

Investment property

Inaccordance with IAS 40, investment property is property held
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or bath, rather than for
use in the supply of services, for administrative purposes or for
sale in the normal course of the company’s business. Itis meas-
ured in accordance with the cost model. Depreciable investment
property is depreciated over a period of between 20 and 50 years
using the straight-line method. The fair value is determined on
the basis of expert opinions. Impairment losses are recognised in
accordance with the principles described in the section headed
Impairment.

Inventories

Inventories are assets that are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, are in the process of production, or are con-
sumed in the production process or in the rendering of services,
They are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value.
valuation zllowances are charged for obsolete inventories and
slow-moving goods.
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Government grants

Inaccordance with IAS 20, government grants are recognised at
their fair value only when there is reasonable assurance that the
conditions attaching to them will be complied with and that the
grants will be received. The grants are reported in the income
statement and are generally recognised as income over the
periods in which the costs they are intended to compensate are
incurred. Where the grants relate to the purchase or production
of assets, they are reported as deferred inceme and recognised
in the income statement over the useful lives of the assets.

Assets held for sale and liabilities associated with assets
held for sale

Assets held for sale are assets available for sale in their present
condition and whose sale is highly probable. The sale must be ex-
pected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year of the date of classification. Assets held for sale may con-
sist of individual non-current assets, groups of assets (dispaosal
groups), components of an entity or a subsidiary acquired exclu-
sively for resale (discontinued operations). Liabilities intended to
he disposed of together with the assets in & single transaction
form part of the disposal group or discontinued cperation and
are also reported separately as liabilities associated with assets
held for sale. Assets held for sale are no longer depreciated or
amortised, but are recognised at the lower of their fair value less
costs to sell and the carrying amount. Gains and losses arising
from the remeasurement of individual non-current assets or dis-
pesat groups classified as held for sale are reported in profit or
loss from continuing operations until the final date of disposal.
Gains and losses arising from the measurement at fairvalue less
costs to sell of discontinued operations classified as held for sale
are reported in profit or toss from discontinued operations, This
also applies to the profit or loss from operations and the gain or
loss on disposal of these components of an entity.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, demand deposits and
cther short-term liquid financial assets with an original maturity
of up to three months; they are carried at their principal amount.
Overdraft facilities used are recognised in the balance sheet as
amounts due to banks.

Non=-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are the proportionate minority in-
terests in the equity of subsidiaries and are recognised at their
carrying amount. If an interest is acquired from, or seld to, other
sharehelders without this impacting the existing control relation-
ship, this is presented as an equity transaction. The difference
between the proportionate net assets acquired from, or sold to,
another shareholder/other shareholders and the purchase price
is recognised in other comprehensive income. If non-controlling
interests are increased by the proportionate net assets, no good-
will is allocated to the proportionate net assets.

Share-based payments to executives
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions are measured
at fair value at the grant date. The fair value of the obligation is
recognised in staff costs over the vesting period. The fair value of
equity-settled share-based payment transactions is determined
using internationally recognised valuation technigues.
Cash-settled, share-based payments (Stock appreciation
rights, SARs) are measured on the basis of an option pricing
model in accordance with IFRS 2. The stock appreciation rights
are measured on each reporting date and on the settiement date.
The amount determined for stock appreciation rights that will
probably be exercised is recognised pre rata in income under staff
costs to reflect the services rendered as consideration during the
vesting period (lock-up period). A provision is recognised for the
same amount. Changes in value due to share price movements
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occurring after the grant date are recognised as other finance
costs in net finance costs.

Retirement benefit plans

There are arrangements {plans) in many countries under which

the Group grants post-employment benefits to its employees.
These benefits include pensions, lump-sum payments on retire-
ment and other post-employment benefits and are referred to

inthese disclosures as retirement benefits, pensions and similar
benefits, or pensions. A distinction must be made between de-
fined benefitand defined contribution plans.

THE GROUP’S DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLANS

Defined benefit obligations are measured using the projected

unit credit methed prescribed by IAS 19, This involves making

certain actuarial assumptions. Most of the defined benefit retire-
ment plans are at least partly funded via externai plan assets. The
remaining net liabilities are funded by provisions for pensions

and similar obligations; net assets are presented separately as

pension assets, Where necessary, an asset ceiting must be applied

when recognising pension assets. With regard to the cost com-
ponents, the service cost is recognised in staff costs, net interest

costin net finance costs and the remeasurements outside profit

and loss in other comprehensive income. Any rights to reimburse-
ment are reported separately in financial assets.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLANS FOR CIVIL
SERVANTS [N GERMANY

In accordance with statutory provisions, Deutsche Post AG
pays contributions for civil servants in Germany to retirement
benrefit plans which are defined centribution retirement ptans
for the company. These contributions are recognised in staff
costs.
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loss reserves. The company carries out its own assessment of
ultimate loss liabilities using actuarial methods and also com-
missions an independent actuarial study of these each year in
order to verify the reasanableness of its estimates,

Financial liabilities
On initial recognition, financial liabilities are carried at fair value
less transaction costs. The price determined on a price-efficient
and liguid market or a fair value determined using the treasury
risk management system deployed within the Group is taken
as the fair value. In subsequent periods the financial liabilities
are measured at amortised cost. Any differences between the
amount received and the amount repayable are recognised in
income over the term of the loan using the effective interest
method.

Disclosures on financial liakilities under leases can be
found in the section headed Leases.

CONVERTIBLE BOND ON DEUTSCHE POST AG SHARES

The convertible bond on Deutsche Post AG shares is split into

an equity and a debt component, in line with the contractual ar-
rangements, The debt compenent, less the transaction costs, is

reported under financial liabilities {bonds), with interest added

up to the issue amount over the term of the bond using the ef-
fective interest method (unwinding of discount). The value of
the call option, which allows Deutsche Post AG to redeem the

bend early if a specified share price is reached, is attributed to the

debt component in accordance with IAS 32.31. The conversion

right is classified as an equity derivative and is reported in capital

reserves, The carrying amount is calculated by assigning ta the

conversion right the residual value that results from deducting

the amount calculated separately for the debt component from

the fair value of the instrument as a whole. The transaction costs

are deducted on a proportionate basis.
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Liabilities

Trade payables and other liabitities are carried at amortised cost.
Most of the trade payables have a maturity of less than one year.
The fair value of the liabilities corresponds more or less to their
carrying amount.

Deferred taxes

Inaccordance with IAS 12, deferred taxes are recognised far tem-
porary differences between the carrying amounts in the IFRS fi-
nancial statements and the tax accounts of the individual entities.
Deferred taxassets also include tax reduction claims which arise

from the expected future utitisation of existing tax loss carryfor-
wards and which are likely to be realised. The recoverahitity of

the taxreduction ciaimsis assessed on the basis of each entity's

earnings projections, which are derived from the Group projec-
tions and take any tax adjustments into account. The planning

horizan is five years.

In compliance with 1AS 12,24 {b) and IAS 1215 (b), deferred
tax assets or liabilities were only recognised for temparary dif-
ferences between the carrying ameounts in the IFRS financial
statements and in the tax accounts of Deutsche Post AG where
the differences arose after 1 January 1995, No deferred tax
assets or liabilities are recognised for temperary differences
resulting from initial differences in the opening tax accounts
of Deutsche Post AG as at 1 January 1995. Further details on
deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards can be found in € note 27.

In accordance with 1AS 12, deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties are calculated using the tax rates applicable in the individual
countries at the reporting date or announced for the time when
the deferred tax assets and liabilities are realised. The tax rate
applied to German Group companies is unchanged at 30.5%. It
comprises the corporation tax rate plus the sclidarity surcharge,
as well as a municipal trade tax rate that is calculated as the
average of the different municipal trade tax rates. Foreign Group
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companies use their individual income tax rates to calculate
deferred tax items. The income tax rates applied for foreign
companies amount to up to 38% (previous year: 39%}.

Income taxes

Income tax assets and liabilities are recognised when they are

probable. They are measured at the amounts for which repay-
ments from, or payments to, the tax authorities are expected to be
received or made. If uncertain tax items are recognised because
they are probable, they are measured at their most likely amount.
Tax-related fines are recognised in income taxes if they are in-
cluded in the calculation of income tax liabilities, due to their in-
clusionin the tax base and/or tax rate. All income tax assets and
liabilities are current and have maturities of less than one year.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities represent possible obligations whose ex-
istence will be confirmed only by the occurrence, or non-oceur-
rence, of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the enterprise. Contingent liabitities also include
certain obligations that will probabtly not lead tec an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits, or where the amount
of the cutflow of resources embedying economic henefits can-
not be measured with sufficient reliability. In accordance with
IAS 37, contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance
sheet; © note 43,

7  Exercise of judgement in applying the accounting
policies

The preparation of IFRS-cempliant consoclidated financial state-

ments requires the exercise of judgement by management, All

estimates are reassessed on an ongoing basis and are based on

historical experience and expectations with regard to future

events that appear reasonable under the given circumstances.
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For example, this applies to assets held for sale. In this case, it
must be determined whether the assets are available for sale in
their present condition and whether their saleis highly probable.
If that is the case, the assets and associated liabiiities must be
measured and recognised as assets held for saie or liabilities
associated with assets held for sale.

Estimates and assessments made by management

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in

accordance with IFRSs requires management to make certain

assumptions and estimates that may affect the amounts of the

assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet, the amounts

of income and expenses, and the disclosures relating to contin-
gent liabilities. Examples of the main areas where assumptions,
estimates and tha exercise of management judgement cccur are

the recogniticn of provisions for pensions and similar obligations,
the calculation of discounted cash fiows for impairment testing

and purchase price allocations, taxes and legal proceedings.

Disclosures regarding the assumptions made in connec-
tion with the Group's defined benefit retirement plans can be
found in € note 36.

The Group has operating activities around the globe and is
subject to local tax laws. Management can exercise judgement
when calculating the amounts of current and deferred taxes in
the relevant countries. Although management believes that it
has made a reasonable estimate relating to tax matters that are
inherently uncertain, there can be no guarantee that the actual
outcome of these uncertagn tax matters will correspond exactly to
the original estirate made. Any difference between actual events
and the estimate made could have an effect on tax liabilities and
deferred taxes in the period in which the matter is finally decided.
Theamount recognised for deferred tax assets could bereduced if
the estimates of planned taxable income or changes to current tax
laws restrict the extent to which future tax benefits can be realised.
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Goodwillis regularly reported in the Group’s balance sheet
as a consequence of business combinations. When an acquisition
initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements,
all identifiable assets, tiabilities and contingent liabilities are
measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. One of
the important estimates this requires is the determinaticn of the
fair values of these assets and liabilities at the date of acquisi-
tion. Land, buildings and office equipment are generally valued
ky Independent experts, whilst securities for which there is an
active market are recognised at the guoted exchange price. If in-
tangible assets are identified in the course of an acquisition, their
measurement can be based on the opinicn of an independent
external expert valuer, depending on the type of intangible asset
and the comptexity involved in determining its fair value. The
independent expert determines the fair value using appropriate
valuatien technigues, normally based on expected future cash
flows. In addition to the assumptions about the development of
future cash flows, these valuations are also significantly affected
by the discount rates used,

Impairment testing for goodwill is based on assump ions
about the future. The Group carries out these tests annually and
also whenever there are ingications that goodwill has become
impaired. The recoverable amount of the CGU must then be cal-
culated. This amount is the higher of fair vatue less costs to sell
and value in use. Determining value in use requires assumptions
and estimates to be made with respect to forecast future cash
flows and the discount rate applied. Although management be-
lieves that the assumptions made for the purpose of calculating
the recoverable amount are appropriate, possible unforsee-
able changes in these assumptions —e.g. a reductionin the EBIT
margin, an increase in the cost of capital or a decline in the long-
term growth rate - could result in an impairment loss that could
negatively affect the Group's net assets, financial position and
results of operations.
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Pending legal proceedings in which the Group is involved
are disclosed in & note 44. The outcome of these proceedings
could have a significant effect on the net assets, financial pos-
n and results of operations of the Group. Management regu-
larly analyses the information currently available about these
proceedings and recognises provisions for probable obligations
including estimated legal costs. Internal and external legal ad-
visers participate in making this assessment. In deciding on the
necessity for a provision, management takes into account the
probability of an unfavourabie outcome and whether the amount
of the obligation can be estimated with sufficient reliability. The
factthat an action has been launched or a claim asserted against
the Group, or that a legal dispute has been disclosed in the notes,
does not necessarily mean that a provision Is recognised for the
associated risk.

All assumptions and estimates are basec on the circum-
stances prevaiting and assessments made at the reporting date.
For the purpose of estimating the future development of the
business, a realistic assessment was also made at that date of
the economic environment likely to apply in the future to the dif-
ferent sectors and regions in which the Group operates. For ex-
ample, Brexit could affect the Group’s net assets, financial posi-
tion and results of operations, see € Combined Management Report,

Opportunities and risks, page 67. In the event of developments in this
general environment that diverge from the assumptions made,
the actual amounts may differ from the estimated amounts. In
such cases, the assumptions made and, where necessary, the
carrying amounts of the relevant assets and liabilities are ad-
justed accordingly.

At the date of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, there is no indication that any significant change in
the assumptions and estimates made witi be required, so thaten
the basis of the information currently available it is not expected
that there will be significant adjustments in financial year 2020
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to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities recognised companies thatare consolidated fully or on a propartionate basis
in the financial statements. are eliminated. Intercompany profits or losses from intra~group
deliveries and services not realised by sale to third parties are
8 Consolidation methods eliminated. Unrealised gains and losses from business transac-
The consolidated financial statements are based on the IFRS tions with investments accounted for using the equity method
financial statements of Deutsche Post AG and the subsidiaries, are eliminated on a proportionate basis.

joint operations and investments accounted for using the equity
method included in the consolidated financial statements and
prepared in accordance with uniform accounting policies as at
31 December 2019.

Acquisition accounting for subsidiaries included in the con-
sclidated financial statements uses the purchase method of ac-
counting. The cost of the acquisition corresponds to the fair value
of the assets given up, the equity instruments issued and the
liabilities assumed at the transaction date. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses, Contingent consideration is
recognised at fair value at the date of initial consolidation.

The assets and liabilities, as well as income and expenses,
of joint operations are included in the consolidated financial
statements in proportion to the interest held in these operations,
in accordance with IFRS 11. Accounting for the joint operators’
share of the assets and liabilities, as well as recognition and
measurement of gocdwill, use the same methods as applied to
the consolidation of subsidiaries.

Inaccordance with IAS 28, joint ventures and companies on
which the parent can exercise significant influence (associates)
are accounted for in accordance with the equity method using
the purchase methed of accounting. Any goodwill is recognised
under investments accounted for using the equity method.

In the case of step acguisitions, the equity portion previously
held is remeasured at the fair value applicable on the date of ac-
quisition and the resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

Intra-group revenue, other operating income, and ex-
penses as well as receivables, liabilities and provisions between
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Segment reporting
9  Segment reporting
Segments by division
€m
Post & Parcel Global Forwarding, eCommerce

Germany! Express Freight Supply Chain Solutions®  Corporate Functiong Consolidation? Group
1 Jan.to 31 Dec. 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2018 2018 2019 2018 2019
External revenue 14,766 15009 15775 16734 14063 14175 13201 13332 3,578 3,852 167 149 0 0 61550 63,341
Internalrevenue A Tz ses 372 367 915 953 149 104 256 195 1457 1328 -5491 -5330 0 o
Total revenue " 1510 15484 16147 17101 14,978 15128 13350 13436 _ 3834 4045 1624 1,477 -3491 3330 61550 63,341
Profit/loss from operating activities [EBIT) T oean 1,230 1957 2,039 242 521 520 912 -27  -51  -414 -521 1 -2 3,162 4,128
;ms netincome/loss from investments o B o
accounted for using the equity method 0 0 -1 1 1 -2 1 3 -3 -5 0 -5 0 0 -2 -8
Segment assets 5577 5549 13766 15640 8728  BJl4  B248 7854 1750 1725 4935 5495 ~9% B4 42,908 45,291
MEZ.”: ‘_:<\m%3m3m mmaoc_‘;mu aﬂ .zm._sm_ T - . N ’ ) a T
the equity method 0 0 23 34 24 22 12 14 30 32 21 21 -1 0 119 123
Segment liabilities N T 2311 2728 3835 3801 3,105 3058 3229 3,127 569 629 1520 1530 75 “6z 14318 14,807
Net segment assets/Liabilities 3266 3225 1031 11,839 5623 5656 5019 4727 116l 1094 3415 3965 21 -22 28,594 30,484
_ Capex (assets acquired) ~ "e20  ag9 1190 2080 110 114 282 325 186 132 200 502 __ ~10 3 2448 3617
" Capex {right-of-use assets] ) 1 29 739 940 158 159 805 701 175 126 518 772 1 0 2397 2727
Total capex - ) 521 498 1,923 3020 268 273 1087 1024 341 258 BO8 1274 -9 50a5 6,344
_“Depreciation and amortisation 293 343 1151 1314 238 254 §21 867 151 201 623 662 N 3276 3,640
_ Impairment iosses 10 0 1 0 o o s 3 o 12 o 1 0 1 15 44
woﬁmamnqmn_w:o:. w:._o_.ammgoﬂ,. and T T o B -
impairment losses ] 303 343 1,152 1314 238 254 826 897 151 213 623 665 -1 o 3,292 3,684
Gther non-cash income () and expensas {+) 530 182 273 316 66 26 204 206 26 61 74 85 -7 -1 1166 875
Employees® - 155032 159,00 95550 96,850 43347 44265 151877 155791 29493 30797 12272 12659 0 1 289571 499,461
* prior-period ampunts adjusted. 2 Including rounding. * Average FTES.
Adjustment of prior-period amounts
Effective as of 1 January 2019, the Post - eCommerce - Parcel
division was split into a German and an internaticnal division,
each led by a separate member of the Board of Management, The
German business was renamed Post & Parcel Germany and the
international business is now called eCommerce Solutions. The
prior-period amounts were adjusted accordingly.
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Information about geographical regions
€m
Europe

Germany {excluding Germany) Americas Asia Pacific Other regions Group
1Jan.to 31 Dec. 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 201% 2018 201% 2018 2019
External revenue 18,75% 19,040 18,464 18,807 11,163 11,841 10,766 11,040 2,398 2,613 61,550 63,341
Non-current assets 9,229 9,949 10,065 10,342 6,740 7.695 4,563 4,842 524 639 31,121 33,467
Capex Wamm\ 2,160 1333 1,323 1,333 1,997 594 649 127 215 5,045 6,344

9.1 Segmentreporting disclosures

Deutsche Post DHL Group reports five operating segments for
financial year 2019; these are managed independentiy by the
responsible segment management bodies in line with the prod-
ucts and services offered and the brands, distribution channels
and customer profiles involved. Components of the entity are
defined as a segment on the basis of the existence of segment
managers with bottom-line responsibility who report directly to
Deutsche Post DHL Group’s top management.

External revenue is the revenue generated by the div-
isions from non-Group third parties. Internal revenue is revenue
generated with other divisions. If comparable external market
prices exist for services or products offered internally within the
Group, these market prices or market-oriented prices are used
as transfer prices {arm'’s length principle). The transfer prices for
services for which no external market exists are generally based
onincremental costs.

The expenses for services provided in the IT service centres
are allocated te the divisions by their origin. The additional costs
resulting from Deutsche Post AG’s universal postat service obli-
gation (nationwide retail outlet netiwork, detivery every working
day), and from its obligation to assume the compensation struc-
ture as the legal successor to Deutsche Bundespost, are allocated
to the Post & Parcel Germany division.

In keeping with internal reporting, capital expenditure
{capex) is disciosed. Additions to intangible assets net of good-
will and to property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
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assets, are reported in the capex figure. Depreciation, amort-
isation and impairment losses relate to the segment assets al-
located to the individual divisions. Other non-cash income and
expenses relate primarily to expenses from the recognition of
provisions.

The profitability of the Group’s operating divisions is meas-
ured using profit/ioss from operating activities {EBIT).
9.2 Segments by division
Reflecting the Group’s predominant crganisational structure, the
primary reporting format is based on the divisions. The Group
distinguishes between the following divisions;

Post & Parcel Germany

The Post & Parcel Germany division transports, sorts and de-
livers documents and goods in and outside of Germany. This also
includes digital transmissions such as infarmation on shipment
status and digital messages.

Express

The Express division offers time-definite courier and express
services to business and private customers. The division com=
prises the Europe, Americas, Asia Pacific and MEA {Middle East
and Africa) regions.

Global Forwarding, Freight

The activities of the Global Ferwarding, Freight division comprise
the transport of goods by road, air and sea. The division’s busi-
ness units are Global Forwarding and Freight.

Supply Chain

The Supply Chain division delivers customised supply chain solu-
tions to its customers based on globally standardised modular
compenents including warehousing, transport and value-added
services.

eCommerce Solutions

The eCommerce Solutions division is home to the Group’s inter-
national parcel delivery business. Cere activities include parcel
delivery within selected countries in Europe, the United States
and Asia as well as cross-border non-TDI services, especialiy to,
from, and within Europe.

In addition to the reported segments shown above, segment
reporting cemprises the following categories:;

Corporate Functions

Corporate Functions comprises Carporate Center/Other and
Corporate Incubations. Corporate Center/Other includes Global
Business Services {GBS), the Corporate Center, non-operating
activities and other business activities. The profit/loss gener-
ated by GBS is allocated to the operating segments, whilst its
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assets and liabilities remain with GBS (asymmetrical allocation).
The Corporate Incubations board department is anincubator for
mobility solutions, digital platforms, automation and other tech-
nolegical innovations.

Consolidation

The data for the divisions is presented following consolidation of
interdivisional transactions. The transactions between the div-
isions are eliminated in the Consolidation column.

9.3 Information about geographical regions

The main geographical regicns in which the Group is active are
Germany, Europe, the Americas, Asia Pacific and Other regions.
External revenue, non-current assets and capex are disclosed
for these regions. Revenue, assets and capex are allocated to the
individual regions on the basis of the domicile of the reporting
entity. Nen-current assets primarity comprise intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets.
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GOVERNANCE

9.4 Reconciliation of segment amounts

Reconciliation of segrment amounts to

consolidated amounts

Reconciliation to the income statement

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES

FURTHER INFORMATION

€m
Total for reported Reconciliation to
segments? Corporate Functions Group/Consolidation®? Consolidated amount
2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
External revenue £1,383 63,192 167 149 o] 0 61,550 63,341
Internal revenue ’ T 20%a 2,002 1457 1328  -3491  -3330 0 0
Total revenue 63,417 65194 1824 1477 -3,491 -3,330 61,550 43,341
Other operating income 1,955 2,340 1,553 1570 -1594  -1559 1,914 2351
m_m:mmm in S<m=81mm and s_o‘} o h
performed and capitafised =176 39 70 174 192 26 87 239
Materials expense 33001 34365 -1336 -1,300 3564 3595  -31673 32,070
Staffcosts -19849  -20578 -986  -104z 10 10 -20825 -21,610
Depreciation, amortisation w,:n . T T
impairment losses -2,670 -3,021 ~423 -643 1 o] -3,292 -3,684
Other operating expenses C5199  -4955 716 =732 1,318 1256 -4597  -a,431
ﬁm loss from investments mnnocmﬁmn._.| ,.|
for using the equity method -2 -3 o -5 0 o] -2 -8
profit/loss from operating activities -
(EBIT) 2,575 4651  -414 -521 1 -2 3,162 4,128
Net finance costs o o B =576 -654
Profit before income taxes 2,586 3,474
Income taxes - B =362 -498
mozmo:nmnmn net profit for .rm period o T 2,224 2,776
of which attributable to
e Deutsche Voﬂ AG shareholders o B - H! B - 2,075 2,623
Non-centrolling _Bm:‘wﬂm T - 149 153
* Prior-period amounts adjusted,
* Including rounding.
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The following table shows thereconcitiation of Deutsche Post DHL
Group's total assets to the segment assets. Financial assets, in-
come tax assets, deferred taxes, cash and cash equivalents and

MANAGEMENT REPORT

other asset components are deducted.

2019 FINANCIAL YERR

The following table shows the reconciliation of Deutsche Post DHL
Group's total liabilities to the segment liabi

the provisions and lia
deferred taxes are deducted.

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES

ies. Components of
ies as well as income tax liabilities and

FURTHER INFORMATION

Income statement disclosures

10 Revenue by business unit

€£m
Reconciliation to segment assets Reconciliation to segment liabilities 2018 2019
€m €m Post & Parcel Germany* 14,766 15,099
2018 2019 2018 2019 Post ~93sal 9201

Total equity and labilities 50,470 52,169 Total equity and liabilities 50,470 52,169 Parcel _ 5333 5816
Investment uaum:.,\..: B -18 ~-25 Equity ~13,873 -14,392 Other ) 82
Non-current financial assets o ‘Mmmﬂ ~5%4 Consolidated liabilities 36,597 37,777 Express Hm.N.slm 16,734
Other non-current assets -26D -242 Non-current provisions and Uabilities -18,909 ~19,372 Glohal Forwarding, Freight 14,063 14,175
Deferred tax assets B N rm‘.‘mmw -2,525 Current provisions and liab -3,374 -3,598 Global Forwarding 10,430 10,484
Income tax assets -210 -232 Segment liahilities 14314 | 14,807 Freight 3,633 3,691
Receivables and other current assets -13 -20 of which Corporate Functions 1,520 1,530 Supply Chain 13,201 13,332
Current financial assets -930 -378 Totalfor reported segments' 12,869 13,339 eCommerce Solutions® 3,578 3,852
Cash and cash equivalents -3,017 -2.B62 Consolidation™2 ~75 -62 Corporate m_._m_,umo_..m “_.E.| 149
Segment assats i T a2e0e | asam Total revenue 61550 | 63,341
of which Corporate Functions 4,935 5,495 . ﬂﬁ_ﬁ,_% 2“.8_5 adjusted.

Total for reported segments® 38,069 39,880 g rouncing. * Prior-period amounts adjusted dug to new seqment structure, £ note 9.

Consolidation®-* -9 -84

* Prigr-perlod amounts adjusted.
* Including reunding.
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This includes revenue from performance obligations in the
amount of €10 miltion (previous year: €13 million) settled in prior
periods. The change in revenue was due to the following factors:

Factors affecting revenue, 2019

€m

Organic growth 1,427
Portfolio changes? -382
Currency translation effects 746
Total 1,791
! @ Notes 2 and 41,
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The allocation of revenue to geographical regions is presented
inthe segment reporting.

11 Otheroperating income

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE

Income from the disposal of assets increased, in particular due to
the sale of the Supply Chain business in China, € note 2.
Subsidies relate to grants for the purchase or production of
assets. The grants are reported as deferred income and recog-
nised in the income statement over the useful lives of the assets.

€m Miscellaneous other operating income includes a large
2018 2019 number of smaller individual items.
Income from the disposal of assets 101 525
Ineurance income 219 247 12 changesininventories and work performed
Income from the remeasurement of liabilities 134 197 and capitalised
Income from currengy translation ..l 213 184
Reversals of impairment losses on £m
receivables and other assets 125 140
— - 2018 2019

Income from the reversal of provisions 200 124 — -
neome from § I reimb - 3 Toa Changes In inventories —
income from fees and reimbursements 127 20 income {+)/expense (-} -222 -130
Commission income .- 99 _. 80 Work performed and capitalised 309 369
Operating lease income 49 R -m Total a7 239
Sublease income ) 37 50
Income from prior-period billings 54 42
Income from loss compensation 27 31 o i .

f—_— - Changes ininventories relate mainly to real estate development
Income from derivatives 62 23 ) i ) i
Recoveries on receivables previously projects and the production of StreetScooter electric vehicles.
written off 17 18 Work performed and capitalised was attributable primarily to
Subsidies 16 18 StreetScooter GmbH.
Income from the derecognition of liabilities 15 18
Miscellaneous 419 462
Total 1,914 2,351
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13 Materials expense

€m
2018 2019
Cost of raw materials, consumables and
supplies, and of goeds purchased and held
for resale
Aircraft fuel 1,478 1,452
Fuel 797 800
Packaging materiat 435 481
Goods purchased and held for resale 241 265
Spare parts and repair materials 113 124
Office supplies 71 71
Other expenses o wwo o awm
3,514 3,605

Cost of purchased services

Transport costs 21,462
Cost of temoorary staff and services 2,347
Maintenance costs 1,277 1,347

Lease expenses

Short-term leases 664 544
Leases {incidentat expenses) 56 72
Low-value asset leases 46 54
«m:mm_m _.mmmm payments ‘ ) uw S m\m
IT services 604 589
Commissions paid 560 581
Other purchased services 1,080 1,084
28,159 28,465
Materials expense 31,673 32,070

Theincrease in materials expense resulted from currency effects
and higher transport costs.

Atotal of €188 millicn (previous year: €257 million) of the
other expenses included in the cost of raw materials, consum-
ables and supplies, and of goods purchased and held for resale,
relates to the production of etectric vehicles.

The other expenses item includes a large number of indi-
vidual items.

112




0 EDITORIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT 2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNAMNCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FURTHER INFORMATION
NOTES
14 staff costs/employees The average number of Group employees in the reporting 15 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
period, broken down by employee group, was as follows:
€m €m
2018 2019 Employees 2018 2019
Wages, salaries and compensation 16,840 17,399 Headcount Amortisation of and impairment losses on
Social security contributions 2,522 2,656 2018 2019 _“5;@_% assets (excluding goodwill),
o of which impair : ] :
Retirement benefit expenses 846 688 ¢ pairment [0ss: 1 {previous year: 2) 195 211
m. for oth 0 benefit T o\H\q 4 Headcount (annual average} o . .
xpenses for other employee seneflits Hourly workers and sataried employees 499,943 512,325 Umuﬂmnﬁ_mg_: oM m:% Hnpairment _Ommmmao:
Staff costs 20,825 21,610 e . — Lo property, plant and equipment acquired,
Civil servants 28718 26,256 of which impairment losses: 20
Trainees 5709 5,661 [previous year: 4)
Total 534,370 544,282 Land and b 182 207
Staff costs relate mainly to wages, salaries and compensation, F ener Technical equipment ang machinery 319 379
) . Full-time equivalents ; -
i m of the Group for
as ém: mm.wz 0.53 cm.:mﬂ_a. paid to e U_Qmmm p As at 31 December 504,902 504,781 dm:mco;mgguama 234 276
thelr services in the financial year, The rise was largely due to Average for the year 489571 299,461 Aircraft 266 327
salary increases and new hires as well as expenses for the early IT equipment 138 144
retirement programme in the Post & Parcel Germany division. * Including trainees. __ Dperating and office equipment o 86 %4
Secial security contributions relate, in particular, to statu- Advance payments and assets under
. ’ . . . . . . development 1
tory sacial security contributions paid by employers. The employees of companies acquired or dispesed of during the velopmen — o
. . . . ) . R . Investment property 0 2
Retirement benefit expenses include the service cost re- financial year were included rateably. The number of full-time 1228 Taz9
lated to the defined benefit retirement plans. These expenses equivalents at joint operations inctuded in the cansolidated fi- C . .
also include contributions to defined contribution retirement rancial statements as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 326 Depreciation of and impairment losses on
o . . s . . - ight-of-
plans for civil servants in Germany in the amount of €409 million on a proportionate basis {previaus year; 276), right-ot-use assets,
of which impairment losses: 19
(previous year: €449 million), as well as for the Groug’s hourly (previous year: 10)
workers and salaried employees, totailing €347 million (previous Land and buildings . 1,325 1451
year: €307 million}, & note 6. For information on the decline in Technical equipment and machinery 45 52
retirement benefit expenses, see & note 36. Transpert equipment 195 224
Aircraft 304 310
IT equipment 1 1
Investment property 1 2
. 1,671 2,040
Impairment of goodwill 0 4
Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment losses 3,292 3,684
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The depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses item in- 16 Other operating expenses For reasons of transparency, the disclosure of personal insur-
cludes impairment losses totalling €44 mitlion as follows: ance expenses was standardised as staff costs in the reporting
€m period. Insurante expenses declined by €195 million.
Impairment losses 2018 2019 Miscellaneous other operating expenses include part of the
€m Cost of purchased cleaning and security restructuring expenses for Post & Parcel Germany, Supply Chain
2018 2019 services 411 442 and eCommerce Solutions.
Warranty expenses, refunds and Taxes other thanincome taxes are either recognised in the
Post & Parcel Germany compensatian payments . 346 388 related expense item or, if no specific allocation is possible, in
Intangible assets 2 0 Expenses for advertising and public ralations 374 371 .
- - — —— other operating expenses.
Acquired property, plant and equipment 2 0 Travel and training costs 348 350 Miscell th i nclude al
- . —— iscellaneous other operating expenses include a large
Right-of-use assets 6 0 Qther business taxes 263 280 o U. gexp g
Express Write-downs of current assets 239 239 number of smalter individual items.
Acquired property, plant and equipment 1 o Telecommunication costs 213 220 .
office supplies 183 202 17 Netfinance costs
m:uu:._. Chain Entertainment and cerporate hospitality
Intangible assets ° 3 expenses B 185 188 €m
Acquired property, plant and equipment 1 19 Insurance costs N 226 SA.
ight-of- oo - 201
|m_mjﬁ of cmlwwm\mmm - - 4 8 Currency translation expenses B 207 179 2018 019
eCommerce Sclutions Services provided by the Bundesanstait fiir Financial income
Intangible assets o 1 Post und Tefekemmunikation (German Interest income 64 100
Acquired property, plant and equipment [ 1 federal post and telecommunications Gains on changes in fair value of financial
Rignt-of-use assets s T 1o agency) _. sz 152 assets 63 80
ight-of-use . — — .
Customs ciearance-related charges o 134 So Other financial incame 74 14
Corporate Functions Cansulting costs (including tax advice) o 132 111 Py —_ Toa
Right-of-use assets o 0 1 Voluntary social benefits ) 103 B& - i
Consolidation (including rounding}) G 1 Legal costs &7 70 Finance tosts
Impairment lesses 16 44 Manetary transaction costs 62 70 _:Hm_.mﬂ.m.xum:mm from unwinding discounts
- —— . on provisions -98 -113
Losses on disposal of assets 72 67 —_——
— - Interesi expense on leases =376 -416
Commissions paid 56 5% - _ =
e e e —— o Other interest expenses -155 -172
tontributions and fees 16 a4 T e I T
Impairment losses in the Supply Chain segment related mainly Ayt costs 34 34 Smmﬂmm on changes in fair value of financ al o o
. . assets - -
€21 million) to the non-current assets of the power packagin i
( . ] ) . . P . P ging Donations - — 22 20 Other finance costs -32 -53
business in the United States, which was sold in the fourth Expenses from prior-periad billings 30 17 B e 750 —bae
illi i Expenses from derivatives 29 8 N
guarter of 2019. Another €12 million related to the disposal .7.\.“”.@ =. i ) = - Foreign currency losses 27 >
i i i i iscellaneous —
of assets as part of the strategic partnership with Austrian o Net finance costs 578 —é54
Post {eCommerce Solutions segment). In the previous year, Total 4,597 4,431
€10 million of the impairment losses was attributable to All you
need GmbH, which was reclassified to assets held for sale and
liabiiities associated with assets held for sale.
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The deterioration in net finance costs resulted mainly from
higher interest expense on leases and lower income from stock
appreciation rights (SARs).

The expense from the unwinding of discounts on bonds
resulting from the application of the effective interest method
amounted to €12 million {previous year; €12 million).

Interestincome and interest expenses result from financial
assets and liabilities that were not measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Information on unwinding discounted net pension provi-
sions can be found in & note 6.

18 Incometaxes

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE
Reconciliation
€m
2018 2019
Profit before income taxes 2,586 3,474
Expected income taxes -789 -1,060

Deferred tax assets not recognised for
initial differences 12 32

Deferred tax assets of German Group
companies not reccgnised for tax loss
carryforwards and temporary differences 337 176

Deferred tax assets of foreign Group
companies not recognised for tax loss

carryforwards and temporary differences 171 188
m.mmnﬁ from previous years on current taxes =34 T ﬂ
mm.x\me:.Jmm _:nm_,mm‘mmn :o:-amamm.ﬁmv_m

expenses -149 -173
Differences in tax rates at foreign companies g0 1600
income taxes =362 -698

€m
2018 2019
_.ncqmzﬁ income tax expense o ..oou‘ - -704
Current recoverable income tax 14 . n
T -e83 -633
Dm*m._.‘.q.ma‘.ﬁmx mwum:wm [previous year: income}
from temperary differences 12z -5&
.om.mm?mn_ tax expense {previous year; income) - ‘
from tax loss carryforwards 194 -8
. T
Income taxes o " -362 -698

The recanciliation to the effective income tax expense is shown
below, based on consolidated net profit before income taxes and
the expected income tax expense:
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The difference from deferred tax assets not recognised for initial
differences is due to differences between the carrying amounts
in the opening tax accounts of Deutsche Post AG and the car-
rying ameunts in the IFRS financial statements as at 1 Janu-
ary 1995 {initial differences). In accordance with IAS 12.15(b}
and |AS 12.24(b), the Group did not recognise any deferred tax
assets in respect of these temporary differences, which retated
mainly to property, plantand equipment as well as to provisions
for pensions and similar obligations. The remaining temporary
differences between the original IFRS carrying amounts, net
of accumulated depreciation or amortisaticn, and the tax base
amounted to €139 million as at 31 December 2019 (previous
year: €245 million),

The effects from deferred tax assets of German Group com-
panies not recognised for tax loss carryforwards and temporary
differences relate primarily to Deutsche Post AG and members
of its consolidated tax group. Effects from deferred tax assets of
foreign companies not recognised for tax loss carryforwards and
temporary differences relate primarily to the Americas region.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES

FURTHER INFORMATION

Effects from deferred tax assets net recognised for tax
loss carryforwards and temporary differences in the amount of
€3 million (previous year: €4 million) relate to the reduction of
the effective income tax expense due to the utilisation of tax toss
carryforwards and temporary differences, for which deferred
tax assets had previously not been recognised. In addition, the
recognition of deferred tax assets previously not recognised for
tax loss carryforwards and of deductible temporary differences
frem a prior period {and resulting mainly from the Americas
region) reduced the deferred tax expense by €391 million (pre-
vious year: €526 million). Effects from unrecognised deferred
tax assets amounting to €3 million (previous year: €13 million}
were due to a valuation allowance recognised for a deferred tax
asset, Other effects from unrecognised deferred tax assets relate
primarily to tax loss carryforwards for which no deferred taxes
were recognised.

A deferred tax asset in the amount of €11 million was rec-
agnised in the balance sheet for companies that reported a loss
in the previous year or in the current period as, based on tax
planning, realisation of the tax asset is probahble.

In financial year 2019, there were no changes in tax rates
affecting German Group companies. Tax rate changes in some
tax jurisdictions abroad also had no material effects. The effect-
ive income tax expense includes prior-period tax income from
German and foreign companies inthe amount of £39 mitlion (tax
income} (previous year: expense of €34 million).

The follewing table presents the tax effects on the compo-
nents of other comprehensive income:
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Other comprehensive income Basic earnings per share
€£m
Before Income After
taxes taxes taxes 2018 2019
Consolidated net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Post AG shareholders €m 2,075 2,623
m”uw duet Weighted average number of shares outstanding number 1,230,118545 1,234,109,757
ange due to - - -
remeasurements of Basic earnings per share € L69 2.13
net pension provisions -1,068 77 =991
IAS 39 hedging reserve 3 =l 2
Reserve for eguity instruments
without recycling ) 2% -1 -30 Basic earnings per share for financial year 2019 were €2.13 {pre- of ordinary shares that can be issued on exercise of the con-
Currency translation reserve 273 L 2L vious year: €1.69). version rights under the convertible bond issued in Decem-
oﬂ:m._ﬁ changes in retained . . ) To compute diluted earnings per share, the weighted aver- ber 2017. Consalidated net profit for the period attributable to
earnings - o X .
. - - age number of shares outstanding is adjusted for the number of Deutsche Post AG shareholders was increased by the amounts
Share of other comprehensive . o e ) o .
income of investments all potentially dilutive shares. This item includes the executives spent for the convertible bond.
accounted for using the equity rights to shares under the Performance Share Plan and Share Diluted earnings per share in the reporting period were
method 2 o 2 Matching Scheme (as at 31 December 2019: 4,887,495 shares; €2.09 [previous year: €1.66).
Other comprehensive income -816 74 -742 previous year: 3,810,357 shares) and the maximum number
2018
Change dueto Diluted earnings per share
remeasurements of
net pension provisions 191 o ~73 118
1AS 39 hedging reserve -40 14 =26 2018 2019
Reserve for equity instruments Consolidated net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Post AG shareholders €m 2,075 2,623
without recycling [ -4 L -3 Plus interest expense on the convertible bond £m 8 8
Currency transiation reserve E\ o] 74 Lass income taxes - em ] 1
.m:m:m of E.:mq comprehensive Adjusted consolidated net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Post AG shareholders €m 2,082 2,630
income of investments —— - e e
accounted for using the equity Weighted average ::_..:_umﬂ of shares cutstanding number 1,230,118,545  1,234,109,757
method 2 [} 2 Potentially dilutive shares ) number 21,791,635 22,862,212
Other comprehensive income 223 ~58 165 Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings number 1251910,180  1,256,971,969
Diluted #arnings per share € 1.66 2.09

19 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are computed in accordance with 1AS 33,
Earnings per Share, by dividing consclidated net profit by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding. Outstanding
shares relate to issued capital less any treasury shares held.

Deutsche Post DHL Group - 2019 Annual Report

20 Dividend per share

Adividend per share of €£1.25 is being proposed for financial year
2019 (previous year; €1.15). Further details on the dividend dis-
tribution can be found in ® note 24.
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Balance sheet disclosures
21 Intangible assets
21.1 Overview
€m Advance payments
Internally generated Purchased Purchased Other purchased and intangible assets

intangible assets brand names customer lists Intangible assets Goodwill under development Total
Cost
Balance at1 January 2018 B 1,303 455 43 1,653 12,239 66 15,759
Additicns from business combinations L 0 1 8 3 A5 ) 0 57
Addiiens o ~s0 0 0 69 0 9B 217
Reclassifications - 20 0 0 54 0o -54 20
Disposals ] -37 0 6 -83 -127 -5 -258
Currency translation differences . . -1 ~-3 -1 3 79 0 77
Balance at 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 L 1,335 453 44 1,699 12,236 108 15,872
Additions from business combinations 0 0 0 o 0 0 0
Additions . N 52 o 0 69 0 86 207
Reclassifications B o 1 0 o 102 0 -76 27
Disposals B . ] -99 0 0 -294 -3 9 _307
Currency translation differences 2 23 1 13 165 0 204
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,291 476 45 1,587 12,398 106 15,903
Amortisation and impairment losses
Balance at1 January 2018 . = 425 14 1,327 1070 0 3,967
Additions from business combinations 0 0 2 0 0 2
Amortisation 64 6 EE o 0 193
_B.Um__\}m.m_m.w.m.m.m - o 0 2 o] 0 2
Reclassifications o 0 -1 o] 0 -1
Reversals of mam.m?.ﬂ.rm:ﬂ losses 0 a] o o c o]
Disposals S \| ) = e . -2 15 -32 T =13y
Currency translation differences o - 0 0 3 -1 o] -2
Balance at 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 1,184 - 18 1,381 ] 1,037 0 4,022
Additions from business combinations 0 o 0 0 o 0
Amortisation 77 4 128 o 0 210
Impairment losses T 1 0 ‘ 0 4 [ 5
Reclassifications B -22 0 L2 o . 0 0
Reversals of Impairment losses o} 5] ) 0 0 o ]
Disposals o o  -88 - 0 -288 -1 0 =377
Currency translation differences 1 1 10 22 Q 56
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,133 23 1,253 1,062 0 3,916
Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 158 31 22 334 11,334 106 11,987
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 171 31 26 318 11,199 105 11,850
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Goodwill disposals in the previous year were mainly attributable
to the reclassification of the supply chain business in China
(€92 million) to assets held for sale and liabilities associated
with assets held for sale, & note 2.

Purchased software, concessions, industrial rights, licences
and similar rights and assets are reported under purchased in-
tangible assets. Internally generated intangible assets relate to
development costs far internally developed software.

21.2 Allocation of goodwill to CGUs

€m
31 bec. 31 Dec,
2018 2019
Post & Parcel Germany (formerly PeR)? 1,107 961
Express 3,910 3912
Global Forwarding, Freight
DHL Global Forwarding 3,950 4,019
DHL Freight .INuc 279
Supply Chain 1,839 1992
eCommerce Solutions?® - n.a. 160
Corporate Incubations - 14 13
Total goodwill 11,199 11,336

! Goodwill was reassigned to the corresponding segments as at 1 January 2019 after
the division of the PeP segment into the Past & Parcel Germany and eCammerce
Solutions segments.

For the purposes of annual impairment testing in accordance
with |AS 36, the Group determines the recoverable amount of
a CGU on the basis of its value in use or its fair value less costs
to sell. This calculation is based on projections of free cash
flows that are initially discounted at a rate corresponding 1o the
post-tax cost of capital. Pre-tax discount rates are determined
iteratively.
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The cash flow projections are based on the detailed plan-
ning for EBIT, depreciation/amortisation and investment plan-
ning adopted by management, as well as changes in networking
capitatl, and take both internal historical data and external macro-
economic data into account. From a methodological perspective,
the detailed planning phase covers a three-year planning hori-
zon from 2020 to 2022. By contrast, an extended planning phase
of up to eight years is used for the CGUs eCommerce Solutions
and Corporate Incubations. Planning is supplemented by a per-
petual annuity representing the value added from 2023 onwards
or the value added after the extended planning phase. This is
calculated using a long-term growth rate, which is determined
for each CGU separately and the amount of which - for CGUs
whose carrying amounts are significant in comparison with the
total carrying amount of goodwill —is shown in the table below.
The growth rates applied are based on long-term real growth
figures for the relevant econoemies, growth expectatiens for
the relevant sectors and long-term inflation forecasts for the
countries inwhich the CGUs operate, The cash flow forecasts are
based both on past experience and on the effects of the antici-
pated future general market trend. Inaddition, the forecasts take
into account growth in the respective geographical sub-markets
and in global trade, and the ongoing trend towards outsourcing
logistics activities. Cost trend forecasts for the transport network
and services alse have an impact on value in use. Another key
planning assumption for the impairment testis the EBIT margin
for the perpetual annuity.

The pre-tax cost of capital is based on the weighted aver-
age cost of capital. The (pre-tax) discount rates for the material
CGUs and the growth rates assumed in each case for the perpet-
ual annuity are shown in the following table:
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%
Discount rates Growth rates

2018 2019 2018 2019
Post & Parcel
Germany 8.0 7.7 0.5 0.5
Express a8 8.2 2.0 2.0
Global
Forwarding,
Freight
DHL Global
Forwarding 7.0 7.2 2.5 2.5
DHL Freight 7.2 7.4 2.0 2.0
Supply Chain 7.0 7.2 2.5 2.5
eCommerce
Solutions n.a. 8.9 na. 1.5

On the basis of these assumptions and the impairment tests
carried out for the individual CGUs to which goodwiil was
allocated, it was established that the recoverable amounts
for all CGUs exceed their carrying amounts. No impairment
losses were recognised on goodwill in any of the CGUs as at
31 December 2019.

When performing the impairment test, Deutsche Post DHL
Group conducted sensitivity analyses for the significant CGUs in
accordance with IAS 26.134 for the EBIT margin, the discount
rate and the growth rate. These analyses —which included vary-
ing the essential valuation parameters within an appropriate
range - did not reveal any risk of impairment to googdwill.
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22 Property, plant and equipment
Overview of property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets
Further information about right-of-use assets can be found in € note 40.
€m Technical equipment [T systems, operating Advance payments and
Land and buildings anc machinery and office equipment Aircraft Transport equipment  assets under development Total
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2018 11,946 5,612 2,509 3,218 3,074 777 27,136
Additions from business combinations? 20 9 2 50 0 o} o1
Additions 1,959 210 174 562 462 146l 4,828
o 286 374 91 ) 357 208 ~1,338 -22
‘ ‘ B -578 -208 -291 68 -194 -13 -1352
Currency translation differences B -2 4 4 104 2 ‘ 11 123
Balance at 31 December 2018/1 January 201% 13,631 6,011 2,489 4,223 3,552 898 30,804
Additions from business combinations? i 0 0 c 3 0 0 3
Additions ‘ 2,324 278 172 451 475 2,437 6,137
Reclassifications 234 321 100 819 51 ~1,557 -32
Disposals ) ~ -830 T =217 =55 25 -1,921
Currency transtation differences ‘ 157 52 25 33 30 e 303
mw_wanm at 31 December 2019 15,516 6,385 2,529 5312 3,793 1,759 35,294
Depreciation and Impalirment losses
Balance at 1 January 2018 2,129 3,220 1,866 837 1,209 o 9,251
%wﬁ& business combinations?® 2 3 1 8 o : 0 Ji!ai|:
Depreciation 1,495 363 225 570 429 0 3,082
Impairment losses 12 1 o] 0 0 ) 1 14
Reclassifications & 2 -8 ) o] ] ) 0 [}
?:m.ﬁmﬁ% impairment losses -3 -6 8] ) 0 o} ’ 0 -¢
Disposals o -178 -165 —266 Taz —144 -1 —796
m.:ﬂ.m.mzn,...:w:m_m:o: differences o 14 9 3 14 -4 ‘ 0 36
Balance at 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 3,477 3,427 1,821 1,387 1,490 B 0 11,602
Additions from business combinations?® o] 0 0 1 o} 0 1
Denpreciation 1640 411 239 637 500 B 0 3,427
Impairment losses T 18 - 200 ) 0 0 ) Q 0 3g
Reclassifications -6 1 & 0 0 0 1
Reversals of impairment losses ||. T - o ) - = .1 . 0 -3 0 0 -4
Disposals o - -351 -233 | 248 -102 -248 o -L182
Currency translation differences 43 27 18 7 13 0 108
Balance at 31 December 2019 4,821 3,652 1,834 1,927 1,755 0 13,991
Carrylng amount at 31 December 2019 10,695 2,733 693 3,385 2,038 1,759 21,303
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 10,154 2,584 6568 2,836 2,062 B98 19,202

1 Alsoincludes a proportionate change from joint operations.
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Disposals in the previous year related chiefly to the reclassifica~
tion of the supply chain business in China to assets held for sale
and liabilities associated with assets held for sale and disposals
of right-of-use assets as a result of amended lease terms and
terminations.

Advance payments relate only to advance payments on
items of property, plant and equipment for which the Group
has paid advances in connection with uncompleted transactions.
They increased chiefly due to the renewal of the intercontinental
Express aircraft fleet, for which €1,200 million was paid in the
financial year.

Assets under development relate to items of property, plant
and equipment in progress at the reporting date for whose pro-
ductioninternal or third-party costs have already been incurred.

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE

NOTES

The investment property largely comprises leased property en-
cumbered by heritable building rights and developed and un-
developed land.

Rental income for investment property amounted to €4 mil-
lion (previous year: €3 million}, whilst the related expenses were
€3 million [previous year: €1 miltion). The fair value amounted to
€50 million {previous year: €48 million).

24 Investments accounted for using the equity method
The following is an overview of the carrying amount in the con-
solidated financial statements and selected financial data for
those companies which, both individually and in the aggregate,
are not of material significance for the Group:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION

€m
23 Investment property Associates Jointventures Tatal
2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
€m Balance at 1 January 82 106 3 13 85 119
2018 2019 Additions - 36 12 g o !m 45 12
Disposals o -9 o} 4] o] -9 0
Cost Impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0 0
Balance at 1 January 34 29 A v i c -
— Changes in Group's share of equity
Additions . 8 8 Changes recognised in profit or loss -3 -10 1 2 -2 -8
Reclassifications L -5 5 Profit distributions -2 -2 0 0 -2 -2
Disposals . -8 -4 Changes recognised in other
Currency translation differences 0 0 comprehensive income 2 2 0 o] 2 2
Balance at 31 December 29 38 Balance at 31 December 106 108 13 15 119 123
Depreciation and impairment losses >mwﬂ.wmwﬁwmﬁ_mﬁmﬁwrammﬁwxmm -3 -10 1 5 2
Balance at 1 January 13 11 — P, —— L = -8
Depreciation and impairment losses 1 3 Other comprehensive income 2 2 0 0 2 2
Impairment losses 1 L Total comprehensive income -1 -8 1 2 1] -6
Dispesals ) -3 -2
Reclassifications -1 ¥
Currency translation differences .9 0 Additions mainly relate to the acquisition of another 4.9% inter-
Balance at 51 December I 11 13 est in Relais Colis SAS, France, which is accounted for using the
Carrying amount at 31 December 18 25 equity method.
of which right-of-use assets 1 10

Deutsche Post DHL Group —201% Annual Report
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25 Financial assets
€m £€m
Non-current Current Total
2018 2019
2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 Prepaid expenses Py 756
Assets measured atcost 499 490 100 369 599 859 Current tax receivables 474 554
Assets at fair value through cther Pension assets, non-current only 260 242
comprehensive inceme 43 Q o} 43 34 EET——
- L - P Contract assets 59 129
Assets at fair value through profit or loss 188 235 843 25 1,031 260 -
e BT Income frem cast absorption 125 127
Financial assets 730 759 943 304 1,673 1,153 N -
Other assets from insurance contracts 83 124
Creditors with debit balances 49 72
Recaverable start-up costs, non-current only 24
Receivables from insurance business 40
Assets measured at cost increased due to the purchaseof prom- 26  Other assets Receivables from private postal agencies 124 44
Issory note loans. At the same time, assets measured at fair value Other assets were up primarily as the result of increased tax wﬁmzmzmwﬂ qo:w toss campensation o i
recourse ciaims
decreased, largely on account of the sale of money market fund receivables, higher contract assets in connection with real es- - -
] o . Receivables from employees 31 29
shares. tate development projects and the rise in assets frominsurance - - - :
. ) Receivables from Sm: on delivery 2] 4
Compared with the market rates of interest prev g contracts. Receivables from asset disposals 3 o
at 31 December 2019 for comparable non-current financial No valuation allowances were recognised on contract Other assets - A —
assets, most of the housing promotion loans are low-interest assets. Of the tax receivables, €420 million (previous year: of which non-current: 98 {previous year: 59) 756
or interest-free loans. They are recognised in the balance sheet €368 million) relates to VAT, €21 million (previous year: €70 mil- Other assets 2,722
at a present value of €2 million (previous year: €3 million). The fien} to customs and duties, and €43 million (previous year: of which current 2369
principal amount of these loans totals €2 million (previous year: €36 million) to other tax receivables. non-current 333

€3 million).

Netimpairment losses amounted to €-69 million (previous
year: €-93 million).

Details on restraints on disposal are contained in € note 42,2,

Deutsche Post DHL Group— 2019 Annual Report

Infermation on pension assets can be found in € note 36.
Miscellaneous other assets include a large number of in-
dividual items.
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27 Deferred taxes

Breakdown by balance sheet item and maturity

€m

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Non-current financial assets

Other non-current assets

Other current assets

Provisions

Financial liabilities

o\mzmq {iabilities

Tax loss carryforwards

Gross amount

of which current

non-current

:_.mmz:._m

Carrying amount

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FURTHER INFORMATION
NOTES
29 Tradereceivables
£€m
2018 2019
2018 2019 Trade receivables 7,581 7,828
Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred revenue 66 733
assets liabilities zs5sets liabilities Trade receivables 8,247 8,561
15 B 96 4 97
s4 1,723 350 1917
H mw Hw ‘ow For information on impairment losses, default risk and maturity
_ - S structures, see & note 42.
28 &2 58 52
o 620 20 560 45 .
1708 e 17 1621 - 37 30 cashand cash equivalents
101 26 158 13
1,957 - 1,957 €m
asl2 2,034 4,724 2,255 2018 2018
1,114 mwol 759 215 Cash equivalents 1,116 1,103
3398 1,524 3.965 2,040 Bank balances/cash in transit 1,801 L675
T 180 -1980  -2199 -2,199 Cash 16 12
2532 54 2,525 56 Other cash and cash equivaients 84 71
Cash and cash equivalents 3,017 2,862

A total of €1,422 miilion {previous year: €1,551 million) of the
deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards relates to tax loss
carryforwards in Germany and €535 million (previous year:
€406 million) to foreign tax loss carryforwards (mainly from
the Americas region).

No deferred tax assets were recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards of around €4.2 billich (previous year: €5.0 billion)
chiefly from the Americas region and for temporary differences
of around €3.5 billion (previous year: €2.2 billion) primarily from
Germany, as it can be assumed that the Group will probably not
be able to use these tax loss carryforwards and temporary dif-
ferences in its tax planning.

The tax loss carryforwards from the Americas region for
which no deferred tax assets were recognised do not expire prior
10 2027

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

Deferred taxes have not been recognised for temporary dif-
ferences of €528 million (previous year: €510 millien) relating to
earnings of German and foreign subsidiaries because these tempo-
rary differences wili probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.

28 Inventories
Adequate valuation allowances were recognised.

€m

2018 2019
Raw materials, consumables and supplies 233 251
Finished goods and goods purchased T
and held for resale 150 75
?...m;_s progress ) \r , 69 65
Advance payments 2 5
Inventories S 454 396

Of the €2,862 millicn in cash and cash equivalents, €1,054 mil-
lion was niot available for general use by the Group as at the
reporting date (previous year: €977 million). Of this amount,
€979 million (previous year: €905 million) was attributable to
countries where exchange controls or other legal restrictions ap-
ply (mostly Ching, India and Thailand) and €75 million (previcus
year: €72 million) primarily to companies with non-contro
interest shareholders.
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31 Assets held for sale and liahilities associated
with assets held for sale
The amounts reported in this item retate mainly to the following
items:
€m
Assets Liabiities
2018 2019 2018 2019
Sale of CSG.PB GmbH, Germany — Corporate Functions segment 0 8 o] 14
Sate of the Supply Chain business in China, Hong Kong and Macao —
Supply Chaln segment 414 0 228 0
Other 12 1 0 ) 0
Assets held for sale and liabilities assoclated with assets held for sale 426 9 228 14

The sale of CSG.PB GmbH, which provides facility management
services, is planned for the end of March 2020. The most recent

remeasurement prior to reclassification to assets held for sale
and liabilities associated with assets held for sale did not result

inany impairment loss.

CSG.PB GmbH

£€m
31 Dec,
2019
Non-current assets 8
mq s_m,,n: m.o.oué‘ D 0
Currentassets ‘ o
nwm.: and cash equivalents ) 0
ASSETS o 8
Non-current provisions and llabilities 11
Current provisions and liabilities 3
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES . T

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

The sale of the Supply Chain business in China to S.F. Holding,
China, was completed in February 2019, @ note 2.

The planned sales of the Swiss DHL Supply Chain business
and the assets of DHL Paket {Austria) GmbH {eCommerce Solu-
tions segment) as part of an asset deal with Austrian Post were
reported during the financial year. The sales have now been com-
pleted, ® notes 15 and 41.
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32 1ssued capital and purchase of treasury shares

As at 31 December 2019, KfiW Bankengruppe (Kfw} held a
20.5% interest, unchanged from the previous year, in the share
capital of Deutsche Post AG. Free float accounts for 79.4% of
the shares and the remalning 0.1% of shares are owned by
Deutsche Post AG. Kfw holds the shares in trust for the Federal
Republic of Germany.

32.1 Changes in issued capital

The issued capital amounts to €1,237 miltion. It is composed of
1,234,506,75% no-par value registered shares {ordinary shares)
with a notional interest in the share capital of €1 per share and
is fully paid up.

Changes in issued capital and treasury shares
€

2018 2019

Issued capital

Balance at1 January 1,228,707,545  1,234,506,759

Addition due to contingent capital

increase {convertible bond) 5,379,106 Q
Addition due to Sszsmm:.ﬁ capital o

increase {Performance Share Plan) 2,420,108 o]
Balance at 31 December 1,236,506,759  1,236,506,759
Treasury shares

Balance at 1 January -4,513,582 -3,628,651
mcﬂn_._mmm of treasury shares -1,284,619 |umwp.mo
_Mm.c...m\mm_m of treasury shares 2,169,550 3,030,077
Balanice at 31 December ‘ ' 23,628,651 -983,694

Total at 31 December 1,232,878,108 1,235523,065
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32.2 Authorised and contingent capital

Authorised/contingent capital at 31 December 2019

Amount
€m Purpose
Authorised Capital 2017 160 Increase in share capital against
tash/pon-cash contributions
funtil 27 April 2022)

Contingant Capital 2014 38 |ssue of Performance Share Units
to executives {until 7 May 2018)

Contingent Capital 2017 75 lssue of options/conversion rights
funtil 27 April 2022)

Contingent Capital 201871 12 Issue of Performance Share Units
to executives [until 23 April 2021}

Contingent Capital 201872 33 Issue of options/conversion rights

{untit 23 April 2021)

Authorised Capital 2017

As resolved by the Annual General Meeting on 28 April 2017, the

Board of Management is authorised, subject to the consent of
the Supervisory Board, to issue up to 160 millien new, no-par
value registered shares until 27 April 2022 in exchange for cash

and/or non-cash contributions and thereby increase the com-
pany's share capital. The authorisation may be used in full or for
partial amounts. Shareholders generally have pre-emptive rights.
However, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the

Board of Management may disappiy the shareholders’ pre-emp-
tive rights to the shares covered by the authorisation. No use was

made of the authorisation in the reporting period.

Contingent Capital 2014

Inits resolution dated 27 May 2014, the Annual General Meeting
authorised the Board of Management to contingently increase
the share capital by up to €40 mittion through the issue of up to
40 million new no-par value registered shares. The contingent

Deutsche Post DHL Group —201¢ Annual Report
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capital increase served to grant subscription rights (Performance
Share Units, PSUs) to selected Group executives. The contingent
capital increase will only be implemented to the extent that
shares are issued based on the PSUs granted and the company
does nct settle the PSUS by ¢ash payment or delivery of treasury
shares. The new shares participate in profit from the beginning
of the financial year in which they are issued. The exercising of
the authorisation in 2018 resuited in 2.4 million new shares that
were issued to executives in September 2018. No use was made
of the authorisation in financial year 2019. Contingent Capital
2014 amounts to £37.6 millicn.

Contingent Capital 2017

Inits resolution dated 28 April 2017, the Annual General Meeting

authorised the Board of Management, subject to the congent of
the Supervisory Board, to issue bonds with warrants, convertible
bonds and/er income bonds as well as profit participaticn certifi-
cates, or a combination thereof, in an aggregate principal amount
of up to €1.5 billion, on one or more occasions until 27 April 2022,
thereby granting options or conversion rights for up to 75 mitlion

shares with a proportionate interest in the share capital not to

exceed €75 million. The new shares participate in profit from

the beginning of the financial year in which they are issued.
The authorisation was exercised in part in December 2017, by
issuing the convertible bond 2017/2025 in an aggregate prin-
cipal amount of €1 billion, The share capital was increased ona

contingent basis by up to €75 million. No Use was made of the

authorisation in financial year 2019.

Contingent Capitat 2018/1

In its resolution dated 24 April 2018, the Annual General
Meeting contingently increased the share capital by up to
€12 million through the issue of up to 12 million no-par value
registered shares. The contingent capital increase serves
to grant Performance Share Units (PSUs) to selected Group
executives. The shares will be issued to beneficiaries based on

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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the aforementioned authorisation resolution. The new shares
participate in profit from the beginning of the financial year in
which they are issued. No use was made of the authorisation in
the reporting period.

Contingent Capital 2018/2

The share capital was centingently increased by up to €33 mil-
lion through the issue of up to 33 milion no-par value registered

shares. The contingent capital increase serves to grant options or

conversion rights or to settle conversion obligations and to grant

shares in lieu of cash payments to the holders of bonds issued

by the company or its Group companies in accordance with the

authorisation resolution by the Annual General Meeting dated

24 April 2018. The new shares participate in profit frem the be-
ginning ofthe financial year in which they are issued. No use was

made of the authorisaticn in the reparting period.

32,3 Authorisation to acquire treasury shares

By way of a resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting
on 28 April 2017, the company is authorised to acquire treasury
shares in the period to 27 April 2022 of up te 10% of the share
capital existing when the reselution was adopted. The author-
isation permits the Board of Management to exercise it for every
purpose permitted by law, and in particular to pursue the goals
mentioned in the resolution by the Annual General Meeting.
Treasury shares acquired on the basis of the authorisation, with
shareholders’ pre-emptive rights disapplied, may, furthermore,
be used for the purposes of listing on a stock exchange outside
Germany. In addition, the Board of Management was authorised
to acquire treasury shares using derivatives.

Purchase and issuance of treasury shares

In financial year 2019, around 385 thousand shares were ac-
quired for €11 million at an average price of €28.27 per share.
Along with existing treasury shares, a total of 1.3 million shares
were issued to executives to settle the Share Matching Scheme.
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In the third quarter, another 1.7 million treasury shares were

issued to the executives to settle the Performance Share Plan.
As at 31 December 2019, Deutsche Post AG held 983,694

treasury shares (previous year: 3,628,651 treasury shares).

32.4 Disclosures on corporate capital

in financial year 2019, the equity ratic was 27.6% (previous year:
27.5%). The company’s capital is monitored using the net gearing
ratio, which is defined as net debt divided by the total of equity
and net debt.

Corporate capital

€m

2018 2019
Financial liabilities 16,462 16,974
Less operating financial liab ‘ O -199 350
Less cash and cash equivalents ) -3,017 —2.862
Lesscurrent financialassets -943 -394
Less non-current derivative *_Jm..m.n._.mﬁ I T
instruments 0 -1
Net deht o C 12303 13367
Plus total equity ) T Hw..mwu - .:Walm-
Total capital 26,176 27,759
Net gearing ratio (%) 47.0 48.2

! Relates to e.g. liabilities from overpayments.
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33 Capital reserves dividend will be carried forward to new account. The final total
dividend wil! be based an the number of shares carrying dividend
€m rights at the time the Annual General Meeting resolves upon the
o018 2019 appropriation of the net retained profit on the day the AGM con-
BalanceatlJanuary 3327 3,469 Venes.
Share Matching Scheme
Addition 73 31
! . Total Dividend
_Exercise S, — —64 -25 dividend per share
Total for Share Matching Scheme 9 & €m €
perf Share Pl Dividend distributed in financial year 2019
erformance Share Plan f
Addition 28 25 or the year 2018 o 1,419 1.15
F— - .wmm — - Cividend distributed in financiat year 2018
Xercise for the year 2017 1,409 1.15
Total for Performance Share Plan -2 2 ’ -
Retirement/issue of treasury shares 26 D
Differences between purchase and issue
prices of treasury shares 7 5
Capital increase through exercise of 35 Non-controlling interests
conversion rights under convertible . . . . .
bond 2012/2019 102 0 This balance sheetitem _:.n_cqmm mﬂ_cmﬂgm:m for the interests of
Balance at 31 December 3.069 3,482 non-Group shareholders in consoelidated equity from acquisition

34 Equity attributable to Deutsche Post AG shareholders
The equity attributable to Deutsche Post AG shareholders in fi-
nancial year 2019 amounted to €14,117 million (previous year:
€13,590 million).

Dividends

Dividends paid to the shareholders of Deutsche Post AG are
based on the net retained profit of €6,484 million reported in
Deutsche Post AG’s annual financial statements in accordance
with the HGB. The Board of Management is proposing a dividend
of €1.25 per no-par value share carrying dividend rights. This
corresponds to a total dividend of €1,546 million. The amount
of €4,938 million remaining after deduction of the planned total

accounting, as well as their interests in profit or loss.
The following table shows the companies to which the
non-controlling interests retate:

€m

2018 2019
DHL Sinotrans International Alr Courier Ltd,,
China 173 169
PT. Birotika Semesta, indonesia - 16 19
Blue Dart Express Limited, India o 18 ‘J‘H.\.
Exel Saudia LLC, Saudi Arabia ) 14 5
DHL Global Forwarding Abu Phabi LLC,
United Arab Emirates 8 7
Other companies T m‘h ‘mh
Non-controlling interests 283 275

125



o EDITDRIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT

There are material non-controlling interestsin the following two
companies:

DHL Sinotrans International Air Courier Ltd. {Sinotrans),
China, which is assigned 1o the Express segment, provides do-
mestic and international express delivery and transport services.
Deutsche Post DHL Group holds a 50% interest in the company.
Deutsche Post AG holds a 75% interest in Blue Dart Express
Limited {Blue Dart), India, which is assigned tc the eCommerce
Solutions segment. Blue Dart is a courier service provider. The
following table gives an overview of their aggregated financial
data:

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report
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Financial data for material non-controlling interests
€em
Sinotrang Blue Dart

2018 201% 2018 2019
Balance sheet
ASSETS
Non-current assets 131 130 109 106
Current assets ) 485 475 98 o1
Total ASSETS . ‘ ] 66 605 207 197
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Non-turrent provisions and liabilities 31 32 37 28
Current provisions and liabilities ) o 240 237 79 73
Total EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 271 - 269 _.__.m. 111
Net assels ’ 345 3368 91 -1
Non-controlling interests ‘ - 17% 169 18 17
Income statement
Revenue 1,534 1677 383 407
P\c:mcmaqm income Exmw - ) ’ ‘ 340 330 20 3
Income taxes 86 82 ) 2
Profit after income taxes ’ - 254 - 248 12 1
%.mq comprehensive income ) B o -2 -3 -3 -1
Total comprehensive income 245 245 . ﬂ 0
attributable to non-controlling interests 12z 118 2 [}
Dividend distributed to 305.833_::m._.?mamm o a 127 1 H
Consolidated net profit attributable to non-controlling interests 127 \:, 120 3 0
Cash flow statement
Net cash frorm operating activities 293 278 29 20
Net cash used in/from investing activities ) -4 |:: -1 -6
Net cash used in financing activities —239 273 21 31
Net change in wmm: and cash equivalents . mo. -12 ﬁ ~17
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Hu::mé T Nwm, 277 HM 25
%w c.q changes in exchange rates on cash wma cash mn:_,\m_mjnm a |¢m| -3 o 0 ‘ 0
Cash and cash mn_._.m.,_.ﬁm_m_._."m at 21 December o 277 ~m~‘ 25 8
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The portien of other comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests largely relates to the currency trans-
lation reserve. The changes are shown in the following table:

€m
2018 2019
Balance at 1 January -1z 16
Transaction with non-centrolling Interests o o]
Total comprehensive income
Changes from unrealised gains and losses -4 0
Changes from realised gains and losses 0 0
Currency translation reserve at 31 December -16 =16

36 Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

The Group's most significant defined benefit retirernent plans are
in Germany and the UK. A wide variety of other defined benefit
retirement plans inthe Group are to be found in the Netheriands,
Switzerland, the USA and a large number of other countries.
There are specific risks associated with these plans along with
measures to mitigate them.

35.1 Plan features

Germany

tn Germany, Deutsche Post AG has an occupationai retirement
benefit arrangement based on a collective agreement, which is
open to new hourly workers and salaried employees. Depending
on the weekly working hours and wage/salary group, retirement
benefit components are calculated annually for each hourly
worker and salaried employee, and credited to an individual
pension account. A 2.5% increase on the previcus year isincluded
in every newly allocated component. When the statutory pension
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falls due, the hourly workers and salaried employees can choose

whether to receive payment as a lump-sum or in instalments,
or lifeleng manthly benefit payments that increase by 1% each

year. Hourly workers and salaried employees who were already
employed as at 31 December 2015 were generally transferred

to this system, Since the prior year, the added payment option
of receiving one lump-sum instead of lifelong month!y benefit
payments has also been granted to certain groups of hourly
workers and salaried employees {e.g. former hourly workers

and salaried employees with fully vested entitlements) for
whom it had previously not been available. The targe majority
of Deutsche Post AG's obligations relates to older vested entitle-
ments of hourly workers and salaried employees, and to legacy
pension commitments towards former hourly workers and

salaried employees who have left or retired from the company.
In addition, retirement benefit arrangements are available to

executives below the Board of Management level and ta specific
employee groups through deferred compensation in particular.
In the third and fourth quarter of 2019, respectively, the Group

began offering executives, below Board of Management level
and employees participating in the centrally managed deferred

compensation arrangements the option of taking a lump-sum

payment rather than receiving a lifetime pension. These changes

resulted in past service income as well as a change in current

service cost and net interest cost for the rest of the reporting

period. Details on the retirement benefit arrangements for the

Board of Management can be found in the & combined Manage-
ment Report, page 21 f.

The prime source of external funding for Deutsche Post AG's
respective retirement benefit obligations is a contractual trust
arrangement, which also inctudes a pension fund. The trust is
funded on a case-by-case basis in line with the Group's finance
strategy. Inthe case of the pension fund, the regulatery funding re-
guirements can, in principle, be met without additional employer
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contributions. Part of the plan assets consists of real estate that
is leased cut to the Group on a long-term basis. In addition, the
Versorgungsanstalt der Deutschen Bundespost (VAP — Deutsche
Bundespost institution for supplementary retirement pensions),
a shared pension fund for successor companies to Deutsche
Bundespost,is used for some of the tegacy pension commitments.

Individual subsidiaries in Germany have retirement ben-
efit plans that were acquired in the cantext of acquisitions and
transfers of operations and that are closed to new entrants, Con-
tractual trust arrangements are available for three subsidiaries
with a view to external financing.

United Kingdom
In the UK, the Group’s defined benefit pension arrangements
are closed to new entrants and for further service accrual.
One arrangement which, exceptionally, was partly apen until
31 March 2019, was ther: also closed to new entrants and for
further service accrual. The relevant decision was made in the
previous year, In the reporting period, certain active members of
this arrangement were subsequently given the option to transfer
their past service benefits to an external pension arrangement.
This led tc settlement effects fn the reporting period and corre-
spending settlement payments are expected to be made in 2020,
Further, a High Court ruling in the previous year on equalisation
of guaranteed minimum pensicns (GMP) required all affected
ptans to equalise GMP between male and female plan members.
The Group's defined benefit pension arrangements in the
UK have mainly been consolidated into a group plan with different
sections for the participating divisions. These are funded mainly
viaa group trust. The amount of the employer contributions must
be negotiated with the trustee inthe course of funding valuations.
Until that time, employee beneficiaries of the defined benefit
arrangement that was open until 31 March 2019 made their own
fundirg contributions.
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Other
Inthe Netherlands, collective agreements require that those em-
ployees who are not covered by a sector-specific plan participate
in a dedicated defined benefit retirement plan. The dedicated
plan provides for annual accruals which are subject to a pen-
sicnable salary cap. Furthermore, the plan provides for menthly
benefit payments that increase in line with inflation, on the one
hand, and the funds available for such increases, on the cther.
In Switzertand, employees receive an occupational pension
in tine with statutory requirements, where pension payments
depend on the contributions paid, an interest rate that is fixed
each year, certain annuity factors and any pension increases
specified. A separate plan providing for lump-sum payments
instead of lifelong pension payments exists for spe higher
wage components. In the USA, the companies’ defined benefit
retirement plans have been closed to new entrants and accrued
entitlements have been frozen. In the reporting period, members
there whose employment had ended were offered an immediate
lump-sum payment instead of receiving a future pension, which
primarily fed to settlement gatns and settlement payments.
The Group companies fund their dedicated defined ben-
efit retirement plans in these three countries primarily by using
respective jeint funding institutions. In the Netherlands and in
Switzerland, both employers and employees centribute to plan
funding. In the USA no regular contributions are currently made
in this regard.
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36.2 Financial performance of the plans and determination
of balance sheetitems

The present value of defined henefit obligations, the fair value

of plan assets and net pension provisions changed as follows:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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€m

Present value of defined
benefit obligations

Fair value of plan assets

Net pension previsions

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019

Balance at 1 January 17,381 16,696 13,084 12,608 4,297 4,088

Current service cost, excluding employee contributions 193 218 - - 193 218

Past service cost -113 -274 - = -113 —274

Settlernent gains (~}/losses {+) N -1 24 _ . 1 24

Other administration costs in accordance with IAS 19.130 B - - -11 - -12 11 12
Service noimm“% o 79 -80 -11 =12 20 -68
.-{_mm,mu.mﬁ coston n_mm._.dmm benefit obligations 401 379 - - 4n1 379

Interest income on plan assets o - - 303 mf‘. -303 =291
Net interest cost - a01 379 303 291 98 88
Income and expenses Snour“mm._ in the income statement 480 299 292 279 188 20

>2.._m:m._im_m3m (-)/losses (+)

- changes in demographic assumptions 100 -89 - - 100 -89

Actuarial gains (~) /losses (+) o

- changes in financial assumptions 2561 2,144 - - -261 2,145

Actuarial gains (—) /losses {+)

- experience adjustments —-286 63 - - -28B6 63

Return on plan assets excluding interest income - . -2546 - 1,052 256 -1,052
Remeasurements _.mﬁouimmm in the statement of comprehensive T
income -447 2,120 -256 1,052 -191 1,068
Employer contributions - - 65 56 -65 =56
Employee contributions ) B 32 35 19 19 14 16
Benefit payments B =737 742 ~585% L_mm: -152 ~254
Settlement payments ’ -10 4y g _az 2 7
Transfers [ -13 o -5 0 -8
>B:,.mEa:mE:\mm«:_.:.m.m‘ a o |H 0 io 1] 1
Currency translation effects -4 271 -3 279 -1 -8
Balance at 31 December 16,696 18,618 12,608 13,758 4,088 4,860
* including other administration costs in accordance with IAS 19.130 from plan assets.
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As at 31 December 2019, the effects of asset ceilings amounted
to €5 million; an expedient was applied to their recognition by
deducting this amount from the fair vailue of plan assets (1 Jan-
uary 2019/31 December 2018: €2 million; 1 January 2018:
€3 million).

In the reporting period, past service income was attribut-
able mainly to plan amendments in Germany in connection with
the expansion of the lump-sum payment option to two additional
retirement benefit arrangements, which contributed an amount
of €271 million. Settlement effects resulted mainly from changes
in the UK and the USA and settlement payments were already
incurred in the USA. In the previous year, past service income
was attributable mainly to plan amendments in Germany at
Deutsche Post AG and limited in particular by opposite effects

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR

GOVERNANCE
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of the court ruling in the UK. Experience adjustments were made
chiefly as a result of a new funding valuation in the UK. The pro-
portion of benefit payments paid out of plan assets in Germany
increased.

Total payments amounting to €332 million are expected
with regard to net pension provisions in 2020, Of this amount,
€288 million is attributable to the Group's expected direct bene-
fit payments and €44 million to expected employer contributions
to pension funds.

The disaggregation of the present value of defined benefit
obligations, fair value of plan assets and net pension provisions,
as well as the determination of the balance sheet items, are as
follows,

In the Other area, the Netherlands, Switzerland and the USA
account for a share in the corresponding present value of the
defined benefit obligations of 44%, 20% and 11%, respectively
{previous year: 43%, 21% and 12%).

Additionatly, rights to reimbursement from former Group
companies existed in the Group in Germany in the amount of
around €14 million {previous year: £1% million), which had to
be reported separatety under financial assets. Corresponding
benefit payments are being made directly by the former Group
companies.

€m

Germany United Kingdom Other Total
2019
Presant value of defined benefit obligations at 31 December 10,355 5349 2,914 18,618
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December o -5.828 -5489 -2,441 -13,758
Net pension provisions at 31 December 4,527 -140 473 4,860
Reported separately
Pension assets at 31 December 0 141 101 242
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations at 31 December 4,527 1 574 5,102
2018
Present vaiue of defined benefit cbligations at 31 December 9,371 4,747 2,578 16,696
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December -5,512 -4,914 -2,182 ~12,608
Net pension provisions at 31 December 3,859 =167 396 4,088
Reported separately
Pension assets at 31 December 0 167 93 260
Provisians for pensions and similar obligations at 31 December 3,859 0 489 4,348
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36.3 Additional information on the present value of defined
benefit obligations

The significant financial assumptions are as follows:
%

Germany United Kingdom Other Total
31 December 2019
Discount rate (defined benefit obligations) ~ 140 1.90 1.52 1.56
Expected annual rate of future salary increase N 2.50 n.a. 2.32 2,47
Expected annual rate of future pension increase 175 2.70 1.02 2.19
31December 2018
Discount rate (defined benefit abligations) - 2.30 2.70 235 2.42
Expected annuat rate of future salary increase 2.50 3.25 2.30 2.47
Expected annuai rate of future pension increase . 2.00 2.85 1.27 2.17

The discount rates for defined benefit obligations in the euro-
zone and the UK were each derived from an individual yield curve
comprising the yields of AA-rated corporate bonds and taking
into account membership compesition and duration. For cther
countries, the discount rate for defined henefit obligations was
determined in a similar way, provided there was a deep market for
AA-rated (o, in some cases, AA and AAA-rated) corporate bonds.
By contrast, government bond vields were used for countries
without a deep market for such corporate bonds. In the previous
year, we began rounding each of the discount rates to the nearest
0.10 percentage point (previcusly: 0.25 percentage point).

For the annual pension increase in Germany, fixed rates in
particular must be taken intc account, in addition to the assump-
tions shown. The effective weighted average therefore amounts
to 1.00% (previous year: 1.00%).

The most significant demaegraphic assumptions made
relate to life expectancy and/or mortality. For the Group com-
panies in Germany, they have been based since the previous year
on the HEUBECK RICHTTAFELN 2018 G mortality tables. Since
the previous year, life expectancy for the retirement benefit plans
in the UK has mainly been based on the S2PMA/S2PFA tables of
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the Continuous Mortality investigation (CMI) of the Institute and
Faculty of Actuaries, adjusted to reflect plan-specific mortality
according to the latest funding valuation. Current projections of
future mortality improvements were taken into account based
onthe CMI core projection model. For other countries, their own
country-specific current standard mortality tables were used.
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If one of the significant financial assumptions were to
change, the present value of the defined benefit obligations
would change as follows:
Change in present vatue
Change in assumption of defined benefit obligations
percentage points %
Germany United Kingdom COther Total
31 December 2019
Discount rate {defined benefit obligations) 1.00 -12.80 ~14.54 -14.73 =13.60
-1,00 16.37 18.79 16.74 17.58
Expected annual rate of future salary increase .50 0.16 n.a 0.98 0.24
) -0.50 -0.16 n.a. -G.91 -0.23
Expected annual rate of future pension increase 0.50 0.35 591 6.78 2.94
-0.50 -032 -5.35 -497 -2.48
31 December 2018
Discount rate {defined benefit obligations) 1.00 -12.37 -14.20 -14.01 ~13.14
-1.00 15.70 18.29 18.25 16.82
0.50 0.18 0.08 0.95 0.27
-0.50 -0.17 _ -0cs -0.88 -0.25
0.50 0.43 5.44 6.23 2.74
) -0.50 -0.3% -536 -4,52 ~2.43
These are effective weighted changes in the respective present isolation. This would be unusual in practice, since assumptions
value of the defined benefit obligations, e.g. taking into account are often correlated.
the largely fixed nature of the pension increase for Germany. The weighted average duration of the Group’s defined bene-
A one-year increase in life expectancy for a 65-year-old fit obligations at 31 December 2019 was 14.6 years in Germany
beneficiary would increase the present value of the defined bene- (previous year: 14,2 years) and 16,7 years in the UK (previous
fit obligations by 4.95% in Germany {previous year: 4.59%) and year: 16.4 years). In the other countries it was 17.9 years (pre-
by 4.39% in the UK [previous year: 3.60%). The corresponding vious year: 17.0 years), and in total it was 15.7 years {previous
increase for other countries would be 3.00% (previous year: year: 15.3 years).
2.80%) and the total increase would be 4.49% (previous year: Atotal of 31.5% (previous year: 30.6%) of the present vatue
4.04%). of the defined benefit obligations was attributable to active bene-
When determining the sensitivity disclosures, the present ficiaries, 19.0% {previous year: 18.4%) to formerly employed
values were calculated using the same methedology used to cal- beneficiaries and 49.5% (previous year: 51.0%)} to retirees.
culate the present values at the reporting date. The presentation
does not take into account interdependencies between the as-
sumptions; rather, it suppcses that the assumptiens change in
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36.4 Additional information on the fair value of plan assets
The fair value of the ptan assets can be disaggregated as follows:
€m

Germany United Kingdom Other Total
31 pecember 2019
Equities 1,100 Ihw 765 2,335
Fixed income securities ) 1,973 . 4,304 Wop‘w 7,320
Realestate ] - 1,600 279 342 2,221
Alternatives® N B 386 36 30 732
Insurances 538 o] 150 688
Cash o 199 120 9 128
Other 52 c 102 134
Fair value of plan assets 5,828 5,489 2,441 13,758
21 December 2018
Equities 550 415 668 1,633
Fixed incame securities 1717 3825 907 6,449
Realestate ] 1511 255 298 2,064
Alternatives? 372 379 30 781
Insurances T mbm“ o} - 127 673
Cash ’ ) 806 40 a6 892
Other i 10 o 106 115
mmm:w‘_(:.m oﬂ_u_wa assets o 5,512 4914 2,182 12,608

! Primarily includes absolute return products.

Quoted market prices in an active market exist for around 70%
{previous year: 72%) of the total fair values of plan assets. The
remaining assets for which no such quoted market prices exist
are mainly attributable as follows: 14% (previous year: 14%) to
real estate, 9% (previous year: 6%) to fixed income securities, 5%
(previous year; 5%) to insurances and 2% (previous year: 2%) to
alternatives, The majority of the investments on the active markets
are globally diversified, with certain country-specific focus areas.

Real estate included in plan assets in Germany with a fair
value of €1,502 mitlion {previous year: €£1,424 million} is occupied
by Deutsche Post DHL Group.

This year’s increase in fixed income securities resulted pri-
marily from the change in the relevant market interest rates. In
the previous year, hedging measures were taken due to devei-
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opments on the capital markets and resulted in adecreasein the
proportion of equity holdings and an increase in the proportion
of the cash holdings.

Asset-liability studies are performed at regular intervals
in Germany, the UK and, amongst ather places, the Netherlands,
Switzerland and the USA for the purpose of matching assets
and liabilities; the strategic allocation of plan assets is adjusted
accordingly.

Sustainabte approaches mainly based on an integration of
ESG criteria are increasingly being used when investing planassets.

36.5 Risk
Specific risks are associated with the defined benefit retire-
ment plans. This can result in a (negative or positive) change in

FURTHER INFORMATION

Deutsche Post DHL Group's equity through other comprehensive
income, whose overall relevance is classed as medium to high.
In contrast, 2 low relevance is attached to the short-term effects
on staff costs and net finance costs. Potential risk mitigation is
applied depending on the specifics of the plans.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Adecrease (increase} inthe respective discount rate would lead

to an increase (decrease} in the present value of the total obli-
gation and would in principie be accompanied by an increase

(decrease) in the fair value of the fixed income securities con-
tained in the plan assets. Further hedging measures are applied,
in some cases using derjvatives.

INFLATION RISK

Pensicn obligations —especially relating to final salary schemes
or schemes involving increases during the pension payment
phase - can be linked directly or indirectly to changes in inflation.
The risk of increasing inflation rates with regard to the present
value of the defined benefit obligations has been mitigated in
the case of Germany, for example, by switching to a system of
retirement benefit components and, in the case of the UK, by
closing the defined benefit arrangements. In addition, fixed rates
ofincrease have been set and increases partially capped, and/ar
lump-sum payments have been provided for. Thereis also a posi-
tive correlation with interest rates.

INVESTMENT RISK

The investment is in principle subject to a large number of risks;
in particular, it is exposed to the risk that market prices may
change. This is managed primarily by ensuring broad diversifi-
cation and the use of hedging instruments.

LONGEVITY RISK

Longevity risk may arise in connection with the benefits payable
in the future due to a future increase in life expectancy. This
is mitigated in particular by using current standard mortality
tables when calculating the present value of the defined henefit
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obligations. The mortality tables used in Germany and the UK,
forexample, Include an allowance for expected future increases
in life expectancy.
37 Otherprovisions
Other provisions break down into the following main types of
provision:
€m
Non-current Current Total
2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
Other emptoyee benefits e 703 205 154 994 857
Technical reserves {insurance) o 438 237 236 652 674
Rircraft maintenance o 185 58 74 218 259
Taxprovisions - - - 130 147 130 147
Restructuring provisicns ) B Nm 35 48 43 73 78
Miscellaneous provisicns ’ - 266 289 395 310 661 599
Other provisiens ‘ 1,655 1,650 1073 264 2,728 2,614
37.1 Changes in other provisions
€m
Technical
QOther employee Restructuring reserves Afrcraft Miscellaneous
henefits provisions {insurance) maintenance Tax provisions provisions Total
Balance at 1 January 2019 9%4 73 652 218 130 661 2,728
Changesin no:woﬂmmw»mn group S o 0 0 ‘|.w‘ 0 o, -3
Utilisation o o 702 -5 3 -5 BT —346 -1,201
Currency translation differences B 1 n 1 1 7 24
mmnmqmmh S T S |~o =12 -2 |H.m, ) -4 |m‘_,.. =124
Dﬂs__‘:mim oﬁa,mmo__;:nrm_mmmm in discount rate 16 1 IN; 1 \W_ 5 25
Reclassification - ‘ o o 0 0 0 0 =y 4]
Addition o 570 68 75 62 60 330 1,165
Balance at 31 December 201% o I , 857 78 674 259 147 599 2,614
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The provision for other employee benefits primarily covers work- Miscellaneous provisions, which include a large number of
force reduction expenses {severance payments, transitional bene- individual items, break down as follows:
fits, partial retirement, etc.), stock appreciation rights (SARs)
and jubilee payments, The decrease was largely as a result of €m
utitisation for the early retirement programme and the corres- 2018 2019
ponding reclassification to liabilities. Litigation costs,

The restructuring provisions comprise mainly costs from of which non-current: 55 {previous year: 54) 104 108
the closure of terminals and outstanding obligaticns to employ- Risks from business activities, o
ees regarding post-employment benefits. of which non-current: 8 (previous year: 8} 40 37

Technical reserves (insurance) mainty consist of outstand- M,,M”%Mﬂ:_ww“wﬁmwﬂwhﬁwwom,\.m-.w%ww,.%cm year: 206) . -
ing loss reserves and IBNR reserves; further details can be found Miscellaneos pravisions 6l S99
in ® note 6.

The provision for aircraft maintenance relates to obliga-
tions for major aircraft and engine maintenance by third-party
companies.

Of the tax provisions, €60 mitlion (previous year: €53 mil- 37.2 Maturity structure
lion) relates to VAT, €34 million (previous year: €31 million) to The maturity structure of the provisions recognised in financial
customs and duties, and €53 million {previous year: €46 million) year 2019 is as follows:
to other tax provisions.
€m

More than 1 year More than 2 years Mare than 3 years More than 4 years
Up ta 1 year 10 2 years to 3 years to 4 years to 5 years More than 5 years Total

2019
Other employee benefits 154 144 74 58 54 373 857
mMn.r.:_nm_ ﬁmm.m:\m.m.. {insurance) ‘ 236 ) . 249 . .mm MW ) 28 N w|o 674
Alrcraft maintenance . 14 68 24 5 T se 32 259
Tax provisicns o T . -qm ‘o ‘ 0 8] {‘o ) 0 147
Restructuring mmo_q_m_o:m .»w\ 15 o 6 ‘ z o a 7 78
Miscellaneous provisions o 30 108 4 35 0 69 599
Total i 964 584 231 143 172 520 2,614
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38 rFinancial liabilities
£m
Non-current Current Total

2018 201% 2018 2019 2018 2019
Bonds . ) o 5463 5154 G 03 5472 5,467
Amounts acm‘ﬁo\wmgx‘m “““ - B ) m.“ B 181 180 287 264 468
Lease liabilities! - 7,756 8,145 2,103 2,156 9,859 10,301
Liahilities at fair value through profit or toss i 1 1 37 22 33 23
Other :_H_wa.‘n_mﬁ abilities o o B o 565 245 264 o 470 829 715
Financial liabilities 13,869 13,736 2,593 3,238 16,462 16,974
' Explanations can be found in € note 40.
The amounts due to banks mainly comprise current overdraft The decline in other financial liabilities, which relate to a
facilities due to various banks. large number of individual items, is the result of the partial re-

The ameunts reported under Uabilities at fair value through payment of promissory note loans.

profit or loss mainly relate to the negative fair values of derivative
financial instruments, 38.1 Bonds

The bond issued by Deutsche Post Finance B.V. is fully guaran-
teed by Deutsche Post AG.

Significant bonds

2018
Ncminal coupon Issue voiume Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount
% €m lIssuer €m £€m £m
Bond 2012/2022 2.950 500 Deutsche Post Finance B.V, 498 544 459
Bond 2012/2020 S o 1875 © 300 Deutsche PostAG 299 311 300
Bond 2012/2024 2875 700 Deutsche Post AG 698 784 68 707
Bond 2013/2023 2750 500 Deutsche Post AG T 497 553 498 552
Bond 2014/2021 0375 750 Deutsche Post AG T 747 755 748 754
Bond 2016/2026 R 500 Deutsche Post AG 497 506 497 530
Bond 2017/2027 1.000 500 Deutsche PostAG 495 am3 496 524
Bond 201B/2028 1625 750 Deutsche Post AG 743 757 742 825
Convertible bond 2017/20251 o o 0.050 1,000 Deutsche Post AG 7 ess 938 960 960

* Fair value of the debt component; the fair value of the convertible bond 2017/2025 is €1,024 million (previous year: €956 million).
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CONVERTIBLE BOND 39 Other liabilities The liabilities from the sale of residential building loans re-
The convertible bond issued carries a conversion right that late to cbligations of Deutsche Post AG to pay interest subsidles
aflows holders to convert the bond into a predetermined number €m to borrowers to offset the deterioration in borrowing terms in
of Deutsche Post AG shares. 2018 2019 conjunction with the assignment of receivables in previous years,
In addition, Deutsche Post AG was granted a call option Tax liabilities 1196 1255 as well as pass-through obligations from repayments of principal
allowing it to repay the bond early at face value plus accrued Incentive bonuses 516 681 and interest for residential building loans sold.
interest if Deutsche Post AG's share price more than temporarily Wages, salarles, severance payments T 486 Miscellaneous other liabilities include a large number of
exceeds 130% of the conversion price applicable at that time, naaumsmm;mn_ absences 347 370 individual items.
The convertible bond has a debt component and an equity Contract liabilities,
component. In subsequent years, interast will be added to the of which non-current: 11 {previous year: 4) 227 235 39.1 Maturity structure
carrying amount of the bond, up to the Issue amount, using the Payables to empicyees and members
factive int t method and ised i fitorl of executive bodies 229 223
effective interest method and recognised in profit or loss. — -= -
& P Social security liabitities 171 179 €m
Deferred income, 2018 2019
Convertible bond of which nor-current: 63 (previous year: 61 129 150 Up to Lyear - 4,432 4913
Debtors with Q‘.Wa: balances ) ) 144 147 More than 1 year to 2 years 95 155
201772025 Postage stamps (contract liabilities) . 137 125 More than 2 years to 3 years 16 79
lssue date 12 Dec, 2017 Overtime claims 97 98 More than 3 years to 4 years o 22 54
Issue volume €1 billion Liabilities from the sale of More than 4 years to 5 years 14 35
- - = - residential building leans, I
Outstanding volume - €1 billion of which :o?nclm:ﬁ. 51 [previous year; 67) 85 &6 More than 5 years — wlm. L
Exercise period, conversion right 13 Dec. 2020 Insurance abilit R o3 Other liabilities 4,637 §,273
to 13 June 2025
- - - - €O liabilities 62 37
Exercise period, call option 2Jan, 2023 ————
t0 10 June 2025 Other compensated absences 28 30
— - : - Liabiliti ; There is no significant difference between the carrying amounts
Value of debt component at issue date? €946 million Liabilities from cheques issued 28 29 d the fai g F t the other liabilities d Y . 9 X
: n ir values -
Value of equity component at issue date® €53 million Accrued rentals R 16 a » et i of the other liabi _awm ue to their short ma
Transaction costs (debt/equity comporent) €4.7 1€0.3 million Accrued insurance Em.BEBm for turities or market interest rates. There is no significant interest
Conversion price at issue €55.60 damages and similar liab 8 12 rate risk because most of these instruments bear floating rates
Co : Lm_u ties from loss compensation o 9 of interest at market rates.
Conwversion price after adjustment? Miscellaneous other liabilities,
in2018 B o €55.61 of which non-current: 235 {previous year: 73) 689 1,062
in2019 ) €55.63 Other liabilities 4,637 5,273
of which current 4,432 4,913
3 Excluding possible contingent canversion periods according to the bond terms, non-current 205 - 260

* Including transaction costs and call option granted.
¥ Recognised in capital reserves.
* After dividend payment,

Of the tax liabitities, €648 million {previous year: €629 million)
relates to VAT, €427 million (previous year: €399 million) to cus-
toms and duties, and €180 million Iprevious year: £168 million)
to other tax liabilities.
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40 Lease disclosures

Currency translation gains on lease liabilities totalled €30 million
{previous year: €27 miilion), whilst the related losses amounted
to €32 million (previous year: €56 million).
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In the real estate area, the Group primarily leases warehouses,

office buildings and mail and parcel centres. The leased air-

craft are predominantly depioyed in the air network of the

The right-of-use assets carried as non-current assets re- Express segment. Leased transport equipment also includes
sulting fram leases are presented separately in the following the leased vehicle fleet. The real estate leases in particular are
table: long-term leases. The Group had around 64 real estate leases

with remaining lease terms of more than twenty years as at

Right-of-use assets 31 December 2019 (previous year: 65 leases). Aircraft leases
€m have remaining lease terms of up to eleven years. Leases may
Advance include extension and termination options, € note 6. The leases
Technical IT systems, payrnents and . L L . B
landand equipmentand  operating and Transport assets under are negotiated individually and include a wide range of different
buildings machinery office equipment Aircraft equipment  dewelopment Total conditions. Lease liabilities are presented in the fellowing table:
31 December 2018
Accumulated cost 9,003 186 ¢ 1,476 731 2 11,407 £m
- “o,ﬁ‘ﬁj_n: additions 1,801 52 1 341 201 1 2,397 2018 2019
>nn:3.5m.8a Non-current lease liabil 7,756 8,145
depreciation and . e
impairment losses 1,311 54 7 134 198 0 1,504 Current lease !lab ) 2,103 2,156
Carrying amount 7,692 132 2 1,142 533 2 9,503 Total 9,859 10,301
31 December 2019 _ T - .
10538 232 9 1,644 866 o 13,289 Financiat liabilities under leases of €1,894 million (previcus year:
of which additions 2.125 74 L 282 233 2 2737 €1,722 miilion} was repaid and interest on leases of €414 mil-
Accumulated B N - T lion {previous year: €376 million) was paid in financial year 2019,
depreciation and Future cash outflows amounted to €13 billion {previous year:
impai 2,543 88 7 601 343 c 3,582 - .
impairment losses L ) €12 billion) as at the reporting date, & note 42.
Carrying amount 7,995 144 2 1,043 523 0 9,707

Possible future cash outflows amounting to €1.5 billion
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(previous year; €1.3 billion} were not included in lease liabilities
because itis not reasonably certain that the leases will be ex-
tended (or not terminated).

Leases that the Group has entered into as a lessee but that
have not yet commenced result in possible future payment out-
flows totalling €0.2 billion {previous year: €0.4 hitlion).
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The foliowing table shows the reconciliation of changes in lia-
bilities arising from financing activities in accordance with the

IFRS requirements:

Liabilities arising from financing activities

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HOTES

FURTHER INFORMATION

As at the reporting date, there were no hedges attributable solely
ta the liabilities arising from financing activities, The effects on
cash flows from hedges are presented in the “Other financing
activities” cash flow item in the amount of €40 millicn.

41,1 Net cash from operating activities
At €6,049 million, net cash from operating activities was
€253 million higher than in the pricr-year period (€5,7646 million).

em Proceeds from the sale of the Supply Chain business in Chira
Amounts due to o Other financial are shown in net cash used in investing activities. Provisions
Bonds banks Lease liabilities Total h P €282 million to €-506 mill nly duse to th
changeqarom milon o £— midien, main ue 1o the !
Balance at L January 2018 5,350 156 9,416 15,087 _ g > M ,
T - . early retirement progr: in the for| -e - |
Cash changes? 149 81 -2,098 1436 Y iren programme mer Post ommerce ,
T Parcel division. ,
Non-cash changes Non-cash income and expenses are as follows:
Leases o} 0 2,454 o} 2454
Currency translation 0 -2 8e -1 86 h d
- - Non-=cash income and expenses
Fair value adjustment 0 0 0 1 1 expen
Qther changes -27 29 -2 33 33 €m
Balance at 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 5,472 264 9,859 630 16,225 2018 201%
Cash changes® i -93 \ 183 -2,310 —265 ~2,485 Expense from the remeasurement of assets o4 86
Income from the remeasurement of liah -140 -203 ,
Nan-cash changes - Z = .
Leases 0 0 2,714 ) 2,714 Gains (-}/losses (+) on asset disposals -2 1
Currency translation - 8] -3 130 2 129 ) Staft costs relating to equity-settled
. i - - S— share-b ayment 7
Fair value adjustment 0 0 0 -1 -1 are-based pay ents J— |m\ __ 5
e - v Other 2
Other changes 88 24 -%2 -1 19 - B — 4
. ) R Non- income (-] s {+ -
Balance at 31 December 2019 5,467 458 10,301 365 16,601 on-cash income () and expenses {+) 13 57
1 Differences from the financial liabilities presented in € nate 38 {other financial liabilities and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) In the amount of €373
{previous year: €237 million) are due te factors presented in other cash flow items, e.g., derivatives, cortingent consideration from company acquisitions or operating financial liabilities.
* pifferences in cash changes frem the total amount of net cash used in financing activities (€-4,112 million; previous year: £-3,03% million} are primarily due to interest payments in
addition to payments relating to equity transactions. The interest payments reported in the cash flow statement also include payments that do not relate to liabilities from financing
activities.
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41.2 Netcash used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities decreased from €2,777 mil-
lionto £2,140 million. A net amount of €653 million was received

from the sale of the Supply Chain business in China. In addition,
€49 million was received mainly from the sale of the power pack-
aging business in the United States, the Supply Chain business

in Switzerland, the Colombian document business and sales as

part of a partnership with Austrian Post:

Disposal of assets and liabilities

€m

2019
Nan-current assets 67
Current mwmmm. .A.m.v.ﬂ.n:_c&:m cash and cash equivalents) B 45
Cash and cash mnrzmﬁm:"w 2
Non-current provisions and liabilities T 35
nc_wqm:” nSsm_o:w‘wjn lfabilities . ) 24

Another cash inflow of €800 million stemmed from the sale of
money market funds. Investments in intangible assets and prop-
erty, piant and equipment amounted to €3.6 billion, €1.1 biltion

of which was spent on modernising the Express intercontinental

aircraft fleet.

41.3 Net cash used in financing activities
At €4,112 million, net cash used in financing activities was signifi-
cantly higher (€1,073 miliion) than in the previous year, which
included issue proceeds totalling €1.2 billion from the issuance
of promissory note loans and a bond. In the reporting period, in
contrast, cash inflow of €349 million related to the assumption
of loans.

Further details on the cash flow statement and free cash
flow can be found in the & combined Management Report, page 44 f.
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2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE

Other disclosures
42 Risks and financial instruments of the Group

42.1 Risk management

As a result of its operating activities, the Group is exposed to
financial risks that may arise from changes in exchange rates,
commodity prices and interest rates. Deutsche Post DHL Group
manages these risks centrally through the use of non-derivative
and derivative financial instruments. Derivatives are used exclu-
sively to mitigate non-derivative financial risks, and fluctuations
in their fair value should not be assessed separately from the
underlying transaction.

The Group's internal risk guidelines govern the universe of
actions, responsibilities and necessary controls regarding the
use of derivatives. Financial transactions are recorded, assessed
and processed using proven risk management software, which
also regularty documents the effectiveness of hedging relation-
ships. Portfolios of derivatives are regularty reconciled with the
banks concerned.

To limit counterparty risk from financial transactions, the
Group may only enter into this type of contract with prime-rated
panks. The conditions for the counterparty limits individually as-
signed to the banks are reviewed on a daily basis. The Group’s
Board of Management is informed internally at regular intervals
about existing financial risks and the hedging instruments de-
ployed to mitigate them. Financial instruments are accounted for
and measured in accardance with IFRS . The Group exercised
the cption to continue to apply hedge accounting in accordance
with IAS 39.

Disclosures regarding risks associated with the Group's de-
fined benefit retirement plans and their mitigation can be found
in & note 36.5.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES

FURTHER INFORMATION

Liquidity management

The ultimate objective of liquidity management is to secure the
solvency of Deutsche Post DHL Group and all Group companies.
Consequently, liquidity in the Group is centralised as much as
possible in cash pools and managed in the Corporate Center.

The centrally available liquidity reserves {(funding availabil-
ity}, consisting of central short-term financial investrments and
committed credit lines, are the key control parameter. The target
is to have at least €2 billion available in a central credit line.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had central liquidity
reserves of €3.5 billion (previous year: €4.3 billion), consisting
of central financial investments amounting to €1.5 billion plus a
syndicated credit line of €2 billion.

The maturity structure of non-derivative financial liabilities
within the scope of IFRS 7 based on cash flows is as follows:
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Maturity structure of financial liabilities
£m
More than More than More than More than

Upto 1 year lyearto2years 2vyearsto3years 3vyearstodvyears dyearstoSyears Morethan 5years
At 31 December 2019
Non-current financiat liabilities* 75 487 904 692 567 3,684
Non-currant lease liabilities L 0 1,843 1,547 1,234 909 4,570
Other :mz-nclmi financial liabilities - 0 12 10 8 7 - 14
Non-current financial liabilities 75 2,342 2,461 1,934 1,483 8,668
current financial liabilities 1,059
Current lease liabilities 2232 T
Trade payables T 7,225 e T
Other current financial liabilities - 327 S
Current financial liabilities 10,843
At 31 December 2018
Nor-current financial liabilities? 85 616 846 730 761 3,583
Non-current lease lial es ’ o _ o] 1,821 1,449 1,222 958 4466
Other non-current m:mjg‘m_.:mg ties ) o 15 12 10 8 21
Non-current financial liabilities ) N mm 2,452 2,307 1,962 1,727 8,070
Current financial {iabilities 468
Current lease liabilities o137
Trade payables 7,422
Other current financial liab ‘ ‘.- 241
Current financial liabilities ._.o.mmm
! The convertible bond 2025 is contained in the "More than 5 years” range.
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The maturity structure of the derivative financial instruments CURRENCY RISK AND CURRENCY MANAGEMENT
based on cash flows is as follows: The international business activities of Deutsche Post DHL Group
expose it to currency risks from recognised or planned future
Maturity structure of derivative financial instruments transactions:
€m On-balance sheet currency risks arise from the meas-
More than More than Mare than More than urement and settlement of recognised foreign currency items
Upto 1 year lyearto2years 2yearsto3vyears 3yearstodvyears dvyearstoSyears More than 5 years if the exchange rate on the measurement or settlement date
At 31 December 2019 differs from the rate at i { recognition. The resulting foreign
MMHMMMMHM“%_&: exchange differences directly impact profit or loss. In order to
Cash outflows ~1,360 —64 -31 -1 0 0 mitigate this impact as far as possible, ali significant on-bal-
Cash inflows 1387 66 32 1 0 0 ance sheet currency risks within the Group are centralised in
’ o Deutsche Post AG's in-house bank function, The centralised cur-
Net settlement .
Cash inflows 0 0 o o 0 o rency risks are aggregated by Corporate Treasury to calculate a
T net position per currency and hedged externally based on value-
Wwﬂm“w“_“_hm_”””__,_“_mmu at-risk limits. The currency-related value at risk [95%/one-
Cash outflows -1,870 -11 -10 -11 -1 0 month holding period) for the portfolio totalied €3 million {pre-
Cashinflaws 1,853 o 11 10 11 1 0 vious year: €5 million) at the reporting date; the limitis currently
z% settlement - a maximum of €5 million. The notional amount of the currency
rash outflows -1 0 0 0 0 0 forwards and currency swaps used te manage on-balance sheet
- currency risks amounted to €2,980 million at the reporting date
nowwmwwﬂmﬂoﬂm_whuﬁm- {previcus year: €2,293 million); the fair value was €-1 million
gross settlement (previous year: €23 million). Hedge accounting was not applied.
Cashoutflows -1,853 e .. .9 e 0 Derivatives are accounted for as trading derivatives (free-stand-
Casninflows : teco L 0 0 0 0 ing derivatives).
Net settlement Currency risks arise from planned foreign currency trans-
Cashinflows AR b 0 0 0 0 actions if the future transactions are settled at exchange rates
Derivative liabilities - that differ from the criginally projected rates. These currency
gross settlement risks are also captured centrally in Corporate Treasury. Currency
Cash outflows -1.231 —20 i “1e - 2 risks from planned transactions and transactions with existing
Cashinfiows telt B 1 10 7 0 contracts are enly hedged in selected cases. The relevant hedged
Net settlement items and derivatives used for hedging purposes are accounted
Cash outflows -3 ~1 ‘o 0 o]

The contract terms stipulate how the parties must meet their
obligations arising from derivative financial instruments, either
by net or by gross settlement.
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for using cash flow hedge accounting, & note 42.3.
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Currency risks also resuit from translating assets and liabil-
ities of foreign operations into the Group’s currency (translaticn
risk). No translation risks were hedged at the reporting date.

Currency forwards and currency swaps in a notional
amount of €3,377 million {previous year: £3,363 million) were
outstanding at the reporting date. The corresponding fair value
was €3 miltion (previous year: €23 million).

Of the unrealised gains or losses from currency derivatives
recognised in equity as at 31 December 2019, €4 million (previ-
ous year: €2 miilion) is expected to be recognised in income in
the course of the following year.

IFRS 7 requires the disciosure of quantitative risk data,
showing how profit or loss and equity are affected by changes
in exchange rates at the reporting date. The impact of these
changes in exchange rates on the portfolio of foreign currency
financlal instruments is assessed by means of a value-at-risk

Risk data on currency risk

20T9 FENANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES

calculation {95% confidence/one-month holding period). It is
assumed that the portfolic as at the reporting date is represen-
tative for the full year. The following assumptions are used as &
basis for the sensitivity analysis:

Primary financial instruments in foreign currencies used
by Group companies are hedged by Deutsche Post AG’s in-house
bank. Deutsche Post AG determines monthly exchange rates and
guarantees these to the Group companies. Exchange rate-re-
lated changes therefore have no effact on the profit or loss and
equity of the Group companies. Where Group companies are not
permitted to participate in in-house banking for legal reasons,
their currency risks from primary financial instruments are fully
hedged locally through the use of derivatives. They therefore
have no impact on the Group’s risk position.

The follewing table presents currency-related effects on
value at risk:

€m

2018

2019

Profit or loss effects

Equity effects Profit or loss effects Equity effects

Primary financial instruments and free-standing

derivatives - ] L 3 o
Derivative instruments (cash flow hedges) HH\ 5
12 7

Total value at risk!

1 The totalamount is lower than the sum of the individual amounts, owing to interdependencies.

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

FURTHER INFORMATION

INTEREST RATE RISK AND INTEREST RATE MANAGEMENT

No interest rate hedging instruments were recognised as at the
reporting date. The proportion of financial liabilities with short-
term interestiock-ins, &note 38, amounts 10 19% (previcus year;
17%)} of the total financial liabilities as at the reporting date. The
effect of potential interest rate changes on the Group's financial
positicn remains insignificant.

MARKET RISK

Most of the risks arising from commodity price fluctuations,
in particular fluctuating prices for kerosene and marine diesel
fuels, were passed on to customers via operating measures. As
the impact of the related fuel surcharges is delayed hy one to
two months, earnings may be affected temporarily if there are
significant short-term fuel price variations.

Asmall number of diesel and marine diesel swaps are used
to hedge residual risks arising from commadity price fluctu-
ations. The impact of market price changes on hedging derivatives,
and therefore on the Group’s earnings, is negligible.
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CREDIT RISK

Creditrisk arises for the Group from cperating activities and from
financial transactions. The aggregate carrying amount of finan-
cial assets represents the maximum default risk.

Inan effort to minimise credit risk from operating activities
and financial transactions, counterparties are assigned individ-
ual limits, the utilisation of which is regularly manitored. The
Group's heterogeneous customer structure means that there is
no tisk concentration. Financial transactions are only entered
into with prime-rated counterparties. A testis performed at the
reporting dates to establish whether an impairment {oss needs
to be charged on financial assets and the positive fair values of
derivatives due to changes in credit quality. This was not the case
for any of the counterparties as at 31 December 20159.

The credit risk of financial assets arising from cperations
is managed by the divisions.

Asarule, the expected credit loss associated with financial
assets must be determined. Based on the expected credit loss
meodel (impairment model}, a loss allowance must be anticipated
for the possible credit loss, € note 6.

The impairment model is applicable to non-current and
current debt instruments recognised at amortised cost and to
lease receivables. Debt instruments comprise mainly deposits,
collateral provided and loans to third parties.

The gross amounts of financial assets subject to the impair-
ment model are presented in the following table:
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2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FURTHER INFORMATION
NOTES
Stage 1 —twelve-month ECL Alldebtinstruments and lease receivables were recognised
€m in Stage 1 at the reporting date; they were neither past due nor
Gross Net impaired. There were no indications at the reporting date of any
carrying Loss carrying . X
amount  atlowance amount poor performance of the debt instruments and lease receiv-
Balance at 1 January 2019 991 28 965 abies. There was ne reclassification between the stages in the
Newly originated financial o I financial year.
assetls 823 - 823 Trade receivables from customer relationships amounting
Impairment loss -2 - -2 to €8,561 million were due within one year at thereporting date
Disposal —643 - —643 (previous year: €8,247 millicn). They are held primarily with the
Reversal of loss allowance - 22 22 aim of collecting the principal amount of the receivables. These
Increase n loss allowance - —24 24 items are therefore assigned to the “held to collect contractual
Currency translation " . ;
differences n _ - cash flows™ business mode! and measured at amortised cost.
Reclassications o . T 4 Trade receivables changed as follows:
Changes in consolidated group -11 - -11
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,165 -28 1137 Changes in receivables
Balance at 1 January 2018 987 —-27 960 €m
Newly originated financial 2018 2019
assets 667 - 667
Impairment Smw. T :Hmw. D ~17 Gross receivables
Disposal _572 _ _572 Balance at 1 January 8,365 B,453
Reversal of loss allowance - 17 17 n:m:mmm . .. 8 25
Increase in loss allowance -~ -16 -14 Balance at 31 December 8,453 8,728
n.,_,._qmzn< translation o Loss allowances
ditferences 1 - 1 BalanceatlJanuary -189 -206
mm.ﬂm.mw:_.nmzo:m -66 - -6 Changes 17 39
Changes In consolidated group -9 - -9 Balance at 31 December -206 -187
Balance at 51 December 2018 991 -26 945 Carrying amount at 31 December 8,247 8,561
No cash flows from debt instruments were modified in the finan-
cial year and no changes were made to the model for determin-
ing risk parameters. The inputs were not remeasured.
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The following table provides an overview of loss rates by age
band that were used in the Group for the financial year under
review:

Loss rates by age band

%

2018 2019
1to 60 days 0.1-0.4 0.1-0.3
51to 120 days h 0.4-5.0 0.5-5.0
121 to 180 days T 3.0-200 20-260
18110 360 days T 200-600 26.0-60.0
More than 360 days - 80.0-1000 80.0-100.0

Trade receivables are derecognised when a reasonable assess-
ment indicates they are ho longer recoverable. The relevant indi~
cators include a delay in payment of more than 360 days.

In financial year 2019, there were factoring agreements
in place that obliged the banks to purchase existing and fu-
ture trade receivables. The banks’ purchase obligations were
limited to a maximum portfolio of receivables of €836 million.
Deutsche Post DHL Group can decide at its discretion whether,
and to what extent, the revolving notional volume is utilised. The
risks relevant to the derecognition of the receivables include
credit risk and the risk of delayed payment (late payment risk).

Credit risk represents primarily alt the risks and rewards
associated with ownership of the receivables. This risk is trans-
ferred in full to the bank against payment of a fixed fee for doubt-
ful accounts, A significant late payment risk does not exist. All of
the receivables were therefore derecognised. In financial year
2019, the Group recognised programme fees (interest, allow-
ances for doubtful accounts) of €3 million (previous year: €2 mil-
lion) as an expense in the context of its continuing exposure, The
notional volume of receivables factored as at 31 December 2019
amounted to €365 million.

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FURTHER INFORMATION
NOTES
42,2 Collateral reporting date (previous year: €1,071 million}); the fair value was
€4 million (previous year: €0 million). The hedged items will
Collateral provided have an impact on cash flow by 2024,
€m The gains and losses on open hedging instruments recog-
2018 2019 nised in equity at the reporting date amounted to €4 million. No
Non-current financial assets, ineffective portions of hedges were recognised. In the financial
of which 187 175 year, realised net losses of £6 million from cash flow hedges on
for assets for the settiement of residential currency risks were recognised in other operating expenses due
building loans L 60 to the recognition of the hedged item in profit or loss.
aqm:wm:mm.nma 84 105 The following table shows the net open hedging positions
mwm”_:nnjzsmgn_m_mmmmﬁ 43 5o at the reporting date in the currency pairs with the highest net
for US cross-border leases (QTE ﬁmmmmy T positions and their weighted hedge rate.
transactions 7 7
for m:ﬁ.mﬁ;mmm paid 12 16

The collateral provided mainly relates to other financial assets.
42.3 Derivative financial instruments

FAIR VALUE HEDGES

There were no fair value hedges as at 31 December 2019, as
in the previous year. At the reporting date, unwinding interest
rate swaps resulted in carrying amount adjustments of €13 mil-
lion (previcus year: €21 million) which are included in current
(€3 millien) and non-current {€10 million) financial liabilities.
The carrying amount adjustments will be amortised using the
affective interest method over the remaining term of the liabil-
ities {until 2022} and will reduce future interest expense.

CASH FLOW HEDGES

The Group uses currency forwards and currency swaps to hedge
the cash flow risk from future foreign currency operating rev-
enue and expenses. The notional amount of these currency
forwards and currency swaps amounted to €396 million at the
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Notional volume of hedging instruments

€m
Remaining term

Total notional volume Upto1year Mare than 1 year to 5 years More than 5 years Average hedge rate {€)

31 December 2019
Hedging of currency risk

Currency forwards sale EUR/CZK -179 -128 ¢l 2633
ncﬁ%m}m,\ *o_..rmq.mm purchase EUR/JPY T o - ) T 20 0 T ¢} - 124.85
Currency forwards u:ﬂn:‘mmm‘ _‘m“@\cmo - 18 18 T 0 o] 1.14
31 December 2018
Hedaing of currency risk
Currency forwards purchase EUR/CNY 3240 340 0 4] 8.09
nc_“ﬂmng. forwards w‘m\_m‘ mc_u\nmx -177 -131 -46 - o\ No.w.m-
Currency ﬁom\,yw‘ummmjmm..m‘ cmuomHm,__ﬂ 105 wo 0 0 29.832
The carrying amounts of derivative assets (€5 million) and liabi NET INVESTMENT HEDGES
ities (€—1 million) included in cash flow hedges did not result in Currency risks resulting from the translaticn of foreign opera-
ineffectiveness due to the relevant fair value changes within the tionswere no longer hedgedin 2019. At the reporting date, there
period. This is because the changes in the value of the hedged was still a positive amount of €25 million from terminated net
items (€-5 million) and hedging transacticns (€5 million) offset investment hedges in the currency translation reserve.
each other.
42.4 Additional disclosures on the financial instruments

Cash flow hedging reserve used in the Group
€m The Group classifies financial instruments in line with the re-

2018 5019 spective bafance sheet items. The following table recenciles the
Balance at 1 lanuary 23 "y financial instruments to the categories and their fair values as at
Gamsandlosses on efectivehedges <15 -3 thereporting date:
Reclassification due to the recognition of
hedged items -30 7
Reclassification to the currency translation
reserve 5] 0
mwmm\wnm at31 DMliam r -6 -2

b Excluding deterred taxes,
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Reconciliation of carrying amounts in accordance with IFRS ¢ and level classification
€m
31 December 2018 31 Decernber 2019
Level classification Level classification
Financiat instruments Financial instruments
within the scope of IFRS 9 within the scape of IFRS @
Financial Other Financial Other
instruments financial instruments financial
within the instruments within the instruments
Carrying scope of outside IFRS 7 Carrying scope of outside IFRS 7
amournt IFRS ¢ IFRS9'  fairvalue Levell Level? LevelZ amount IFRS 9 IFRS9'  fairvalue Levell Level2 Leveld
ASSETS
Debt instruments measured at cost 12,288 12,181 107 49% 398 12,55¢ 12,430 129 448 347
Non-current financial assets 499 404 95 493 398 490 389 101 448 347
Current financial assets? 100 88 12 na. - 3¢9 341 28 na.
Other current assets? ‘ 425 425 na. ) 277 ) 277 ) n.a.
Trade receivables? 8,247 8,247 n.a. o 8,561 8,561 n.a.
Cash and nmm:“mnczm_m:ﬁ“ ‘ 3,017 3,017 na. N.momi 2,862 n.a.
Equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 43 43 43 43 34 34 34 34
Non-current financiai assets ) 43 43 ‘ 43 43 - 34 34 ) 34 34
Equity instruments without recyeling - 43 43 ‘ 43 43 ) 34 4 34 24
Debt instruments and equity instruments
at fair value through profit or loss 1,031 1,031 1,031 988 43 260 260 260 234 26
Non-current financial assets 188 188 188 188 o 235 235 235 234 1
Debt instruments 187 187 ) 187 187 o 233 233 233 233
) Equity instruments ‘ . 1 1 B 1 1 o 1 . 1 - 1 1
Derivatives designated as hedges -~ ‘ B ‘ ‘ o 1 1 o 1 1
Current financiai assets 843 843 843 800 43 25 25 ~ 25 25 -
Debt instruments 800 800 800 800 o B
Trading derivatives Nm, 29 29 - 29 o 21 21 21 21
Derivatives designated as hedges 14 14 14 B 14 4 4 4 4
Not IFRS 7 2,297 na. 2,716 n.a.
Other non-current assets 353 ] na. 395 ) n.a.
Other current assets ) - 1,944 na. o 2321 na.
TOTAL ASSETS 15,659 13,255 107 1,567 1,031 441 15,569 12,724 129 742 268 373
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31 December 2018 31 December 2019
Level classification Level classification
Financial instruments Financial instruments
within the scope of tFRS 9 within the scope of IFRS @
Financial Other Financial Other
instruments financial instruments financial
within the instruments within the instruments
Carrying scope of cutside IFRS 7 Carrying scope of outside IFRS 7
amount IFRS 9 IFRS @'  fairvalue Levell Level2 Level3 amount IFRS & IFR59*  fairvalue tievell Level2 Level3
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Liabilities measured at cost 24,322 14,463 9,859 6,406 5,687 719 24,555 14,254 10,301 6,051 5,600 451
Non-current financial liabilities® ) 13868 6112 7,756 6,339 5687 652 13,736 5591 8,145 5000 5600 400
Other non-gcurrent lighilities 67 E\ - ) ) ) &7 &7 51 51 51 51
Current financial liabilities® 2,556 453 2103 n.a. L 3216 1,060 2,154 na
Trade payables® 7,422 7,422 n.a, 7,225 7,225 n.a.
Other current liabilities? 409 409 n.a. 327 327 n.a.
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 38 38 38 23 15 23 23 23 23
Nen-current financial liabilities® 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Earrm-out obligation o o
Trading derivatives ) 1 1 1 1 -
Derivatives designated as hedges 1 1 1 1
Current financial lial - 27 37 37 ] 22 15 22 22 22 22
Earn-out obligation ) 15 15 15 15
Trading derivatives . L .-W o 8 o 8 8 21 21 21 21
Derivatives designated as hedges 14 14 14 14 o 1 1 1 1
NotIFRS 7 4,161 n.a. 4,895 n.a.
Other non-current liabilities 138 n.a. o 309 n.a.
Other current liabilities 4023 n.a. 4,586 na.
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 28,521 14,501 9,859 6,444 5,487 74z 18 29,473 14,277 10,302 6,074 5,600 474

! Relates to lease recervables or liabilities.

% The fair value is assumed to be egual to the carrying amount {IFRS 7.29a}, Levels are not indicated for these financial instruments,
* The Deutsche Post AG and Deutsche Post Finance B.V. bonds included in nen-current financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost. Where required, the carrying amounts of unwound Interest rate swaps were adjusted. The bonds are therefore not recognised fuily at either
fair value or amortised cost. The convertible bond Issued by Deutsche Post AG in December 2017 had a fair value of €1,024 million as at the reperting date. The fair value of the debt companent at the reparting date was €990 mitlion.
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FURTHER INFORMATION

If thereis an active market for a financlal instrument {e.g. a stock
exchange), its fair value is determined by reference to the market
or guoted exchange price at the reporting date. I ne fair value
is available in an active market, quoted market prices for sini-
lar instruments or recognised valuation techniques are used to
determine fair value.

IFRS 13 requires financial assets to be assigned to the ap-
oropriate level of the fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 comprises equity and debt instruments measured
at fair value and debt instruments measured at amortised cost
whose fair values can be determined based on quoted market
prices.

Inaddition to financial assets and financial liabitities meas-
ured at amortised cost, commodity, interest rate and currency
derivatives are reported under Level 2. The fair values of assets
measured at amortised ¢ost are determined using the muitiplier
method, amongst other things. The fair values of the derivatives
are measured on the basis of discounted expected future cash
flows, taking into account forward rates for currencies, inter-
est rates and commodities (market approach). For this purpose,
price guotations observable in the market {exchange rates, in-
terest rates and commodity prices) are imported from standard
market information platforms into the treasury management

system. The price quotations reflect actual transactions involv-
ing similar instruments on an active market. All significant inputs
used to measure derivatives are observable in the market.

Level 3 comprises mainly the fair values of equity invest-
ments and derivatives associated with M&A transactions, Rec-
ognised valuation models that reflect plausible assumptions are
used to calculate the fair values.

In the financial year, the financial instruments assigned to
Level 3 resulted in effects of €=20 million in other comprehen-
sive income, Another €2 million was recognised as income in the
income statement.
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As inthe previous year, ne financial instruments were trans-
ferred between levels in financial year 2019.

The following table documents the net gains and losses of
the categaries af financial instruments:

Net gains and losses by measurement category

€m

2018 2019

Net gains and losses on financial assets

Cebt instruments at amortised cost
Net gains (+}/losses () recognisedin profitorloss  —138 -91

Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss
(FVYTPL)
Net gains {+)/losses (=) recognised in profit or loss -11 -40

Net gains/losses on financial liabilities

Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss
{FVYTPL)
Net gains (+)/losses (-] 88@:@3 in profit or loss 8 =45

Debt instruments at amortised cost
Net gains (+}/losses (-} recognised in profit or loss 1 1

The net gains and losses mainly include the effects of fair value
measurement, impairment and disposals of financial instru-
ments. Dividends and interest are not taken into account for the
financial Tnstruments measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Interest income and expenses and expenses from commis-
sion agreements relating to financial instruments measured at
arnortised cost are recognised separately in the income state-
ment.

The following tables show the impact of netting agree-
ments based on master netting arrangements or similar agree-
ments on financial assets and financial liabilities as at the re-
porting date:
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Offsetting — assets
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€m

Recognised

Gross amount of net amount of

Assets and liabi

ies not set off

in the balance sheet

Liabilities that do not

Gross amount of assets liabilities set off assets set off  meet offsetting criteria Collateral received Total
At 31 December 201%
Derivative financial assets ) - 0 26 6 9 20
Trade receivables o ___Bsle - 55 8561 o] 0 8,561
Funds 648 648 4] 0 ol 0
At 31 December 2018
Derivative financial assets 43 o] o 43 _ g o 34
Trade receivables - i B3g2 135 8,247 0 8] 8,247
Funds 579 579 - 0 8] o] 0
Offsetting - liabilities
€m
Assets and liabilities not set off
in the balance sheet
Recognised
Gross amount of Gross amount of net amount of Assets that do not
lizbilities assets set off liabilities set off meet offsetting criteria Collateral received Total
At 31 December 2019
Derivative financial liabilities 23 o] o 23 & o 17
Trade payables B B B ‘ 7,280 55 7,225 0 o] 7,225
Funds 656 648 8 0 Q 8
At 31 December 2018
o 23 0 23 G 2 14
7.557 135 7,422 o] 0 7,422
588 579 9 0 0 9

* Excluding derivatives from M&Atransactions,
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To hedge cash flow and fair value risks, Deutsche Post AG en-
ters into financial derivative transactions with a large number
of financial services institutions. These contracts are subject to
a standardised master agreement for financial derivative trans-
actions. This agreement provides fer a conditional right of set-off,
resulting in the recognition of the gross amount of the financial
derivative transactions at the reporting date, The conditional
right of set-off is presented in the tables.

Settlement processes arising from services related to
postal deliveries are subject to the Universal Postal Convention
and the Interconnect Remuneration Agreement—Europe (IRA-E).
These agreements, particularly the settlement conditicns, are
hinding on all pubtic postal operators for the specified contrac-
tual arrangements. Imports and exports between the parties
to the agreement during a calendar year are summarised in an
annual statement of account and presented on a net basis inthe
final annual statement. Receivables and payables covered by the
Universal Postal Convention and the IRA-E agreement are pres-
ented on a net basis at the reporting date. In addition, funds are
presented on a net basis if a right of set-off exists in the normal
course of business. The tahles showthe receivables and payables
hefore and after offsetting.

43 Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations

Contingent liabilities

€m

2018 2019
Guarantee obligations 102 95
Warranties T ’mﬂ )
HU ies from mmzm: risks o Jﬂ - mm»,
oﬁjmqnow::mma_ic es - mﬂ.y o hﬂ
Total " oss  ses

In addition to provisions and liabilities, the Group has contingent
liabilities and other financial obligations.
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Other contingent tiabilities also include a potential obliga-
tion to make settlement payments in the USA, which had arisen
In 2014 mainly as a result of a change in the estimated settlement
payment obligations assumed in the context of the restructuring
measures in the USA, and other tax-related obligations.

Other financial obligations such as the purchase obligation
for investments in non-current assets amounted to £1,068 mil-
lion {previous year: €1,366 million).

44 Litigation

Many of the postal services rendered by Deutsche Post AG and

its subsidiaries are subject to sector-specific regulation by the

Bundesnetzagentur (German federal network agency) pursuant
to the Postgesetz (PostG — German Postal Act). As the regula-
tory authority, the Bundesnetzagentur approves or reviews such

prices, formulates the terms of downstream access anc has spe-
cial supervisory powers to combat market abuse. This general

regulatory risk could lead to a decline in revenue and earnings

in the event of negative decisions.

Legal risks arise, amongst other things, from the pending
administrative court appeal by an asseciation against the price
approval granted by the Bundesnetzagentur under the price cap
procedure for 2016 to 2018. The complaint was dismissed by
the Cologne Administrative Court, the court of first instance, by
way of aruling handed down on 4 December 2018, The claimant
has applied to the Federal Administrative Court for a “leapfrog
appeal’, asserting that the decision by the Bundesnetzagentur
is uniawfut for various reasons. The Bundesnetzagentur and
Deutsche Post AG do not share the claimant’s opinion.

In its ruling of 28 June 2014, the Bunhdesnetzagentur
determined that the prices for the Dialogpost “Impulspost”
product did not meet the pricing standards of the Postgesetz.
The agency ordered the prices to be adjusted immediately
(adjustment request). According to the Bundesnetzagentur,
the prices did not cover the cost of efficiently providing the
service and had anti-competitive effects. On 26 July 201§, the
Bundesnetzagentur barred Deutsche Post from charging these
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prices and declared the prices invalid (prohibitive order), since at
this time Deutsche Post AG had not yet complied with the adjust-
ment request. Deutsche Post AG does not share the legal opinion
of the Bundesnetzagentur and filed an appeal with the Cotogne
Administrative Court against the orders issued by the agency.
The complaints were dismissed by the Administrative Court of
Cologne. Insofar as the complaint against the adjustment reguest
was dismissed, Deutsche Post AG filed an appeal with Miinster
Higher Administrative Court.

Since 1 July 2010, as a resutt of the revision of the relevant
tax exemption provisions, the VAT exemption has only applied
to those specific universal services in Germany that are not sub-
jectto individually negotiated agreements or provided on special
terms (discounts, etc.). Deutsche Post AG and the tax authorities
hold different opinions on the VAT treatment of certain products,
In the interest of resolving these issues, proceedings have been
initiated by Deutsche Post AG at the tax court with jurisdiction
in this matter, © note 43.

On 30 June 2014, DHL Express France received a state-
ment of objections from the French competition authority al-
leging anti-competitive conduct with regard to fuel surcharges
and price fixing in the domestic express business, a business
which had been divested in June 2010. The French competition
authority made its decision on 15 December 2015. The decision
to fine DHL was confirmed by the Paris Court of Appeals on
19 July 2018 and DHL Express France is appealing it before the
Cour de Cassation (Supreme Court).

In view of the ongoing or announced legal proceedings
mentioned above, no further details are given on their presenta-
tion inthe financial statements.

45 Share-based payment

Assumptions regarding the price of Deutsche Post AG's shares
and assumptions regarding employee fluctuation are taken
into account when measuring the value of share-based pay-
ments for executives. All assumgptions are reviewed on a quar-
terly basis. The staff costs are recognised pro rata in profit or
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loss to reflect the services rendered as consideration during
the vesting period (lock-up period). in the financial year, a to-
tal of €112 million was recognised for share-hased payments,
€50 mitlion of which were cash-settled and €62 million of
which were equity-settled.

45,1 Share-hased payment for executives
{Share Matching Scheme)

Under the share-based payment system for executives (Share
Matching Scheme), certain executives receive part of their vari-
able remuneration for the financial year in the form of shares
of Deutsche Post AG in the following year [deferred incentive
shares). All Group executives can specify an increased equity
compenent individually by converting a further portien of their
variable remuneration for the financial year (investment shares).
After a four-year lock-up period during which the executive must

Share Matching Scheme
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be employed by the Group, they again receive the same number
of Deutsche Post AG shares (matching shares). Assumpticns are
made regarding the conversion behaviour of executives with
respect to their relevant bonus portion. Share-based payment
arrangements are entered into each year, with 1 December (from
financiak year 2015; until 2014: 1 January} of the respective year
and 1 April of the following year being the grant dates for each
year’s tranche. Whereas incentive shares and matching shares
are classified as equity-settled share-based payments, invest-
ment shares are compeund financial instruments and the debt
and equity components must be measured separately. However,
in accordance with IFRS 2,37, only the debt component is meas-
ured due to the provisions of the Share Matching Scheme. The
investment shares are therefore treated as cash-settled share-
based payments.
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In the first quarter of 2019, a decision was made not to
grant a variable remuneration component to executives {exclud-
ing members of the Board of Management] for the 2018 finan-
cial year. This is why there was no 2018 tranche of the Share
Matching Scheme. As an alternative, executives were granted
a voluntary investment in shares of Deutsche Post AG. This in-
vestment could be made asacentribution or in the form of freely
available Deutsche Post AG shares in the securities account. The
avaiiability date was 1 July 2019.

€37 million of the expenses under the Share Matching
Scheme (previous year: €37 million) was attributable to equi-
ty-settled share-based payments. €25 million related to cash-set-
tled share-based payments for investment shares (previous year:
€27 million), all of which were unvested as at 31 December 2019.

Additicnal infermation on granting and settlement of these
rights can be found in © note 32 and 33.

Alternative programme

2014 tranche 2015 tranche 2016 tranche 2017 tranche 2018 tranche 2019 tranche

Grant date of incentive shares and associated matching shares 1Jan.2014 1 Dec. 2015 1 Dec. 2016 1 Dec. 2017 - 1 Dec. 2019
Grant date of matching shares awarded for investment shares ‘\:H;_pE: 2015 1 Aprit 2016 1 April 2017 1 April2018 1 March 2019 1 April 2020
Term months 63 52 52 52 52 52
End of term March 2019 March 2020 March 2021 March 2022 June 2023 March 2024
Share price at grant date [fair value)

Incentive shares and associated matching shares 2591 27.12 29.04 38.26 33.29

Matching shares awarded for investment shares 29.12 23.98 3177 34.97 27.30 34.00*
Nurber of deferred incentive shares thousands 332 366 320 256 - 1942
Number of matching shares expected

Deferred incentive shares thousands n.a. 129 288 230 - 175

Investment shares thousands n.a. 848 901 864 384 651
Matching shares issued thousands 203
* Estimated provisional amount, will be determined on 1 April 2020,
* Expected number.
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45.2 Long-Term incentive Plan {2006 LTIP) for members

of the Board of Management
Since financial year 2006, the company has granted members
of the Board of Management cash remuneration linked to the
company's leng-term share price performance through the issue
of stock appreciation rights (SARs) as part of a Long-Term In-
centive Plan (LTIP). Participation in the LTIP requires Board of
Management members to make a personal investment of 10%
of their annual base salary by the grant date of each tranche, pri-
marily in shares.

The SARs granted can be fully or partly exercised after the
expiration of a four-year tock-up pericd at the earliest, provided
absolute or relative perfermance targets have been achieved at
the end of this lock-up period. After expiration of the lock-up
period, the SARs must be exercised within a period of two years
(exercise period); any SARs not exercised expire.

How many, if any, of the SARs granted can be exercised
is determined in accordance with four {absolute} performance
targets based on the share price and two (relative) performance
targets based on a benchmark index. One-sixth of the SARs
granted are earned each time the closing price of Deutsche Post

2006 LTIP
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shares exceeds the issue price by at least 10, 15, 20 or 25% at
the end of the waiting period {absolute performance targets).
Both relative performance targets are tied to the performance
of the shares in relation to the STOXX Europe 600 Index (SXXF;
ISIN EUCD09658202). They are met if the share price equals
the index performance or if it outperforms the index by more
than 10%. Performance is determined by comparing the aver-
agje price of Deutsche Post shares or the average index value
during a reference and a performance period. The reference
period comprises the last 20 consecutive trading days prior to
the issue date. The performance period is the last 60 trading
days before the end of the lock-up periad. The average {closing)
price is calculated as the average closing price of Deutsche Post
shares in Deutsche Birse AG's Xetra trading system. If absclute
or relative performance targets are not met by the end of the
lock-up peried, the SARSs attributable to them will expire without
replacement or compensation. Each SAR exercised entitles the
Beard of Management member to receive a cash settlement
equal to the difference between the average closing price of
Deutsche Post shares for the five trading days preceding the
exercise date and the exercise price of the SAR.

Issue date Issue price  Waiting peried expires
2014 tranche ..H September 2014 €24.14 31 August 2018
2015 tranche " 1september 2015 €25.89 31 August 2019
2016 tranche 1 September NOMWI €28.18 31 August 2020
2017 tranche 1 September 2017 mmﬁw 31 August2021
2018 tranche " 1September 2018 €3108  31August2022
2019 tranche 1 September 2019 €28.88 31 August 2023

* On the grant date of 1 November 2018 (John Gilbert), the issue price was €28.69; the waiting period ends on 31 October 2022,
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The Board of Management members received atotalof 2,322,978
SARs (previcus year: 1,191,840 SARs) with a total value, at the
time of issue, of €9.90 million (previous year: €5.43 million).

A stochastic simulation model is used to determine a fair
value fer the SARs from the 2004 LTIP. As a result, an expense
of €26 million {previous year: income of €50 million) for finan-
cial year 2019 and a provision of £23 million (previous year:
€8 million) as at the balance sheet date were recognised that
were attributable entirely to the Board of Management members
(previous year: €6 million} upon expiration of the last tranche for
executives in July 2019. The provision for the rights exercisable
by the Board of Management amounted to €17 million at the re-
porting date (previous year: €5 million).

For further disclosures on share-based payment for mem-
bers of the Beard of Management, see € note 446.2.

45.3 SAR Plan for executives

From July 2006 to August 2013, selected executives received

annual tranches of SARs under the SAR Plan. This allowed them

to recelve a cash payment within a defined period in the amount
of the difference between the respective price of Deutsche Post
shares and the fixed issue price if demanding performance tar-
gets are met (see disclosures on the 2006 LTIP for members

of the Board of Management). Starting in 2014, SARs were no

longer tssued to executives under the SAR Plan.

The exercise period of the last SAR tranche (2013) expired
on 31 July 2019 and no more obligations therefore arise from
the SAR Plan for executives, The Performance Share Plan (PSP)
for executives replaces the SAR Plan.
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45.4 Performance Share Plan for executives
The Annual General Meeting on 27 May 2014 resolved to intro-
duce the Performance Share Plan (PSP) for executives. This plan
replaces the former share-based payment system (SAR Plan) for
executives. Whereas the SAR Plan invoived cash-settled share-
based payments, under the PSP shares are issued to participants
at the end of the waiting period. Under the PSP, the granting of
the shares at the end of the waiting period is also linked to the
achievement of demanding performance targets. The perfor-
mance targets under the PSP are identical with the performance
targets under the LTIP for members of the Board of Management.
Performance Share Units (PSUs} were issued to selected
executives under the PSP for the first time on 1 September 2014,
It is not planned that members of the Board of Management will

Performance Share Plan

2019 FINANCIAL YEAR GOVERNANCE

participate inthe PSP. The Long-Term Incentive Plan (2004 LTIP)
for members of the Board of Management remains unchanged.

In the consolidated financial statements as at 31 Decem-
her 2019, a tetal of €25 million {previous year: €26 million) has
been apprepriated to capital reserves for the purposes of the
plan, with an egual amount recognised in staff costs.

The value of the PSP is measured using actuarial methods
based on option pricing models {fair value measurement).

Future dividends were taken into account, based on a
moderate increase in dividend distributions over the respective
measurement perfod.

The average remaining maturity of the cutstanding PSUs
as at 31 December 2019 was 27 months.
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2015 tranche 2016 tranche 2017 tranche 2018 tranche 2019 tranche
Grant date i 1 September 2015 1 September 2014 1 September 2017 1 September 2018 1 September 2019
Exercise price ‘ €259 €28.18 €34.72 es108 €288
Waiting period expires ) . ’ B 31 August 2019 31 August 2020 31 August 2021 31 August 2022 31 August 2023
Risk-free nterestrate . B -0.10% ~0.62% -0.48% -039% ~090%
Initial dividend yield of Deutsche Post shares o C z28% O z73% 331% 370% 433%
Yield volatility of Deutsche Post shares i } B 24.69% 23.94% 23.03% 2239% 2138%
Vield volatility of Dow Jones EURD STCXX 600 Index 16.40% 16.83% 16.34% 16.29% 14.79%
Covariance of Deutsche Post shares to Dow Janes EURD STOXX 600 Index 2.94% 2.93% 278% 2.66% 221%
Quantity
Rights outstanding at 1 January 2019 3,605,772 3,442,308 2,935,674 3,319,208 0
Rights granted ) 0 o o o 3522078
Rights lapsed ‘ ) - 1863,759 203,814 185,136 15,774
Rights settled at the end of the waiting period - S ] 1742013 c 0 0
- 0 3,238,494 2,750,538 3506304
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46 Related party disclosures

46.1 Related party disclosures {companies and Federal

Repubtic of Germany)

All of the companies below that are controlled by the Group
or over which the Group can exercise significant influence are
recorded in the list of shareholdings, on the company’s website
@ dpdhl.com/en/investers.

Deutsche Post AG maintains a variety of relationships with
the Federal Republic of Germany (Federat Republic) and other
companies contrelled by the Federal Republic of Germany.

The Federal Republic is a customer of Deutsche Post AG
and as such uses the company’s services. Deutsche Post AG has
direct business relationships with the individual public author-
ities and other government agencies as independent individual
customers. The services provided for these customers are insig-
nificant in respect of Deutsche Post AG's overall revenue.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KFW
KfWw supports the Federal Republic in continuing to privatise
companies such as Deutsche Post AG or Deutsche Telekem AG.
In 1997, KfW, together with the Federal Republic, developed a
“placeholder meodel” as a tool to privatise government-owned
companies. Under this model, the Federal Republic selts all or
part of its investments to KfW with the aim of fully privatising
these state-owned companies. On this basis, KfW has pur-
chased shares of Deutsche Post AG from the Federal Republic
in several stages since 1997 and executed various capital mar-
ket transactions using these shares. KfW’s current interest in
Deutsche Post AG's share capital is 20.5%. Deutsche Post AG is
thus considered to be an associate of the Federal Republic.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH BUNDESANSTALT FUR POST UND
TELEKOMMUNIKATION

The Bundesanstalt fiir Post und Telekommunikation (BAnst PT)
is a government agency and falls under the technical and legal

Deutsche Post DHL Group — 2019 Annual Report
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supervision of the German Federal Ministry of Finance. The
BAnst PT continues to manage the social facilities such as the
postal civil servant health insurance fund, the recreation pro-
gramme, the Postbeamtenversorgungskasse (PVK — Postal civil
servant pension fund), the Versorgungsanstalt der Deutschen
Bundespost (VAP — Deutsche Bundespost institution for sup-
plementary retirement pensions) and the welfare service for
Deutsche Post AG, Deutsche Postbank AG and Deutsche Tele-
kom AG. Tasks are performed on the basis of agency agree-
ments. In 2019, Deutsche Post AG was invoiced for €137 miltion
{previous year: €129 million) in instalment paymenits relating to
services provided by the BAnst PT. Further disclosures on the
PVK and the VAP can be found in & notes 6 and 36.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GERMAN FEDERAL MINISTRY

OF FINANCE

In financial year 2001, the German Federal Ministry of Finance
and Deutsche Post AG entered into an agreement that governs
the terms and conditions of the transfer of income received by
Deutsche Post AG from the levying of the settlement payment
under the Gesetze ber den Abbau der Fehlsubventionierung im
Wohnungswesen (German Acts on the Reduction of Misdirected
Housing Subsidies) relating to housing benefits granted by
Deutsche Post AG. Alump-sum payment is made to the Federal
Republic each year after areview.

Deutsche Post AG entered into an agreement with the Ger-
man Federal Ministry of Finance dated 30 January 2004 relating
to the transfer of civil servants to German federal authorities.
Under this agreement, civil servants are seconded with the aim
of transferring them initially for six months, and are then trans-
ferred permanently if they successfully complete their probation.
Oncea permanent transfer is completed, Deutsche Post AG con-
tributes to the costincurred by the Federal Republic by payinga
flat fee. In 2019, thisinitiative resulted in 57 permanent transfers
(previous year: 22) and 5 secondments with the aim of a perma-
nent transfer in 2020 (previous year: 22).
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GERMAN FEDERAL EMPLOYMENT
AGENCY

Deutsche Post AG and the German Federal Employment Agency
entered into an agreement dated 12 October 2009 relating to the
transfer of Deutsche Post AG civil servants to the Federal Em-
ployment Agency. In 20189, this initiative resulted in 3 permanent
transfers (previous year; 35).

RELATIONSHIPS WITH DEUTSCHE BAHN AG AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

Deutsche Bahn AG is wholly owned by the Federal Repubtic.
Owing to this control relatienship, Deutsche Bahn AG is a related
party to Deutsche Post AG. Deutsche Post DHL Group has vari-
ous business relaticnships with the Deutsche Bahn Group. These
mainly consist of transport service agreements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH PENSION FUNDS

The real estate with a fair value of €1,502 million (previous
year: €1,424 mitlion} — which can be offset as plan assets — of
which Deutsche Post Pensions-Treuhand GmbH & Co. KG,
Deutsche Post Altersvorserge Sicherung e.V. & Co. Objekt
Gronau KG and Deutsche Post Grundstiicks-Vermietungs-
gesellschaft beta mbH Cbjekt Leipzig KG are the legal owners, is
letto Deutsche Post Immohilien GmbH. These arrangements led
to lease liabilities of £509 million as at 31 December 2019 (previ-
ous year: €493 million). In 2019, Deutsche Post immobilien GmbH
extinguished €21 million in lease tiabilities and paid €17 million
in interest. Deutsche Post Pensions-Treuhand GmbH & Co. KG
owns 100% of Deutsche Post Pensionsfonds AG. Further disclo-
sures on pension funds can be found in € notes 6 and 36.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH UNCONSOLIDATED COMPANIES,
INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
AND JOINT OPERATIONS
In addition to the consolidated subsidiaries, the Group has dir-
ect and indirect relationships with unconsolidated companies,
investments accounted for using the equity method and joint op-
erations deemed to be related parties of the Group in the course
of its ordinary business activities.

Transactions were conducted in financial year 2019 with
majer related parties, resulting in the following items in the con-
solidated financial statements:

2019 FINANCIAL YEARR

GOVERNANCE
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€m

To/from investments accounted

Ta/from unconsolidated

for using the equity method companies

2018 2019 2018 2019

Trade receivables 5 14 7 5
Loans. ‘ 0 o 27 1
Receivables from in-house c..m:x.m:m B o 5 16 o] ) o}
Financial iabilities ) 5 1 31 2
Trade payables 1 14 0 5
_3n03m‘_‘ 2 12 7 2
Expenses? e 1 0 14 9

* Relates to revenue and other operating income.  # Reiate to materials expense and staff costs.

Deutsche Post AG issued letters of commitment in the amount of
€7 million {previous year: €8 million) for these companies. Of this
amount, €2 million (previous year: €3 million) was attributable
to investments accounted for using the equity method, €1 mil-
lion (previous year: €1 million) to joint operations and €4 million
{previcus year: £4 million) to unconsolidated companies.
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46.2 Related party disclosures (individuals)

In accordance with 1AS 24, the Group also reports on transac-
tions between the Group and related parties or members of their
famities. Related parties are defined as the Board of Manage-
ment, the Supervisory Board and the members of their families.
There were no reportable transactions or legal transactions in-
velving these related parties in financial year 2019. In particular,
the company extended no loans to these related parties.

The remuneration of key management personnel of the
Group requiring disclosure under IAS 24 comptrises the remu-
neration of the active members of the Board of Management and
the Supervisory Board.

The active members of the Board of Management and the
Supervisary Board were remunerated as follows:

€m

2018 2019
Shert-term empleyee benefits
[excluding share-based payment) 14 16
Post-employment benefits 3 ’ 2
._.mﬂa_:mmon.um:mam - 4 0
Share-based payment? ) a -34 ) HN‘
Total =13 30

! Gainon the reversal of the SAR provi
price performance at that time,

nin financial year 2018, awing to the share

As well as the aforementioned benefits for their work on the
Supervisory Board, the employee representatives on the
Supervisory Board and employed by the Group also receive their
normal salaries for their work in the company. These salaries
are determined at levels that are commensurate with the salary
appropriate for the function or work performed in the company.

Post-employment benefits are recognised as the service
costresulting from the pension provisions for active members of
the Board of Management. The corresponding liability amounted
to €328 million at the reparting date (previcus year: €41 million).
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The share-based payment amount relates to the relevant
expense recognised for financial years 2018 and 2019; further
details can be found in & notes a5.2 and 46.3. The expenseisitem-
ised in the following table:

Share-based payment

Thousands of €

2018 2019

SARs SARS
Dr Frank Appel, Chairman ~18,18% 5,026
Ken Allen =5,769 3,519
o.%nm_, de Bok {since 1 October 2019) - -
Dr h.c. Jirgen Gerdes (until 12 June 2018} -6,161 -
John Gilbert {until 30 September 2019) -2,216 1,595
Melanie Kreis -1,271 1,518
Dr Tohias Meyer {since 1 April 2019) - &0
Dr Thomas Ogilvie -39 276
John Pearson (since 1 January 2019) - &0
Tim Scharwath -39 292
Share-based payment! |wh.wmm‘. o wm.wm@<

* (ain on the reversal of the SAR provision fn financial year 2018, owing to the share
price perforrnance at that time.

46.3 Remuneration disclosures in accordance with the HGB

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to members of the Board of Manage-
ment in financial year 2019 totalled €13.6 million (previous
year: €11.4 million). Non-performance-related components
(fixed and fringe benefits) accounted for €8.2 million (previous
year: €8.1 million) and €5.5 million {previous year: €3.3 million)
was attributable to the annual benus paid as a perfermance-
related component. An additional €£2.9 million (previous year:
£0.6 million) of the annual benus was transferred to the medi-
um-term component (deferral). In financial year 2019, the Board
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of Management members received a total of 2,322,978 SARs
{previous year: 1,191,840 SARs), which zt the issue date were
valued at €9.9 million (previous year: €5.4 million).

FORMER MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

Benefits paid to former members of the Board of Management or
their surviving dependants amounted to £6.3 million (previpus

year: €9.6 million). The defined benefit obligation {DBO) for cur-
rent pensions calculated under IFRSs was €100 million {previous

year: €94 miilion}.

REMUNERATION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The total remuneration of the Supervisory Board in financial
year 2015 amounted to €2.6 million {previous year: €2.7 million);
£2.4 million of this amount was attributable to a fixed compo-
nent, as in the prior year, and €0.2 million to attendance allow-
ances (previous year: £€0.3 million).

Further information on the itemised remuneraticn of the
Board of Management and the Supervisory Board can be found
in the remuneration report, which forms part of the Group Man-
agement Report.

SHAREHOLDINGS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT AND
SUPERVISORY BOARD

As at 31 December 2019, shares held by the Board of Manage-
ment and the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Post AG amounted
to less than 1% of the company’s share capital.

REPORTABLE TRANSACTIONS

The transactions of Board of Management and Supervisory
Board members involving securities of the company and notified
tc Deutsche Post AG in accordance with Article 19 of the Market
Abuse Regulation can be viewed on the company’s website at
@ dpdhl.com/en/investors.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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47 Auditor’s fees

The fee for the auditor of the consolidated financial state-
ments, PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungs-
gesellschaft, amounted to €10 million in financial year 2019 and
was recognised as an expense.

Auditor’s fee

€m

2019
Audit services 10
Other assurance services* 0
Tax advisory services 0
Other services? 0
Total 10
! Rounded below €1 mi
The audit services categoty includes the fees for auditing the

consolidated financial statements and for auditing the annual
financial statements prepared by Deutsche Post AG and its Ger-
man subsidiaries. The fees for reviewing the interim reports, ac-
companying auditors in connection with the implementation of
new accounting requirements and the fees for voluntary audits
beyond the statutory audit engagement, such as audits of the
internal control system, are alsc reported in this category.

Cther assurance services related in particular to voluntary
audits of financial information and certificates for the internal
control system, Other services mainly comprised services re-
lating to further development of the internal control systems
outside the financial organisation.
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48 Exemptions under the HGB and
local foreign legislation
For financial year 2019, the following German subsidiaries have
exercised the simplification options under section 264(3) of the
HGB or section 264b of the HGB and, if applicable, section 291
of the HGB:
* Agheera GmbH
» Albert Scheid GmbH
» C5G GmbH
» CSG.PB GmbH
» CSGTS GmbH
+ Danzas Deutschland Holding GmbH
» Deutsche Post Adress Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH
+ Deutsche Post Assekuranz Vermittlungs GmbH
« Deutsche Post Beteiligungen Holding Gmb#
« Deutsche Post Customer Service Center GmbH
« Deutsche Post DHL Beteiligungen GmbH
« Deutsche Pest DHL Corporate Real Estate
Management GmbH
» Deutsche Post DHL Corporate Real Estate
Management GmbH & Co. Logistikzentren KG
» Deutsche Post DHL Express Holding GmbH
+ Deutsche Post DHL Research and Innovation GmbH
= Deutsche Post Dialog Selutiens GmbH
+ Deutsche Post Direkt GmbH
= Deutsche Post IT Services (Berlin} GmbH
(formerly; Deutsche Post E-Post Development GmbH)
« Deutsche Post E-POST Solutions GmbH
» Deutsche Post Fleet GmbH
= Deutsche Post Immobilien GmbH
» Deutsche Post InHaus Services GmbH
= Deutsche Post Investments GmbH
+ Deutsche Post IT Services GmbH
= Deutsche Post Mobility GmbH
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- Deutsche Post Shop Essen GmbH

= Deutsche Post Shop Hannover GmbH

+ Deutsche Post Shop Miinchen GmbH

+» DHL Airways GmbH

+ DHL Automotive GmbH

» DHL Automotive Offenau GmbH

» DHL Consulting GmbH

» DHL Delivery GmbH

« DHL Express Customer Service GmbH

* DHL Express Germany GmbH

» DHL Express Network Management GmbH
= DHL Fashion Retail Operations GmbH

DHL FoodLogistics GmbH

DHL Freight Germany Holding GmbH

DHL Freight GmbH

» DHL Global Ferwarding GmbH

* DHL Global Ferwarding Management GmbH
» DHL Global Management GmbH

« DHL Home Delivery GmbH

* DHL Hub Leipzig GmbR

= DHL International GmbH

= DHL inventory Finance Services GmbH

* BHL. Paket GmbH

= DHL Paketzentrum Obertshausen GmbH

* DHL Solutions Fashion GmbH

= DHL Solutions GmbH

« DHL Serting Center GmbH

» DHL Supply Chain {Leipzig) GmbH

+ DHL Supply Chain Management GmbH

* DHL Supply Chain VAS GmbH

* DHL Trade Fairs & Events GmbH

» Erste End of Runway Development Leipzig GrmbH
« Erste Logistik Entwicklungsgesellschaft MG GmbH
+ European Alr Transport Leipzig GmbH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION

» Gerlach Zolldienste GmbH

« interServ Gesellschaft fiir Personal- und
Beraterdienstleistungen mbH

« italogistics GmbH

- Saloode! GmbH

+ StreetScooter GmbH

¢ yunexus GmbH

The following companies in the UK make use of the audit exemp-
tioen under section 4794 of the UK Companies Act:

» DHL Exel Supply Chain Limited

* Exel Freight Management (UK) Limited

+ Exel Investments Limited

+ Exel Overseas Limited

« Freight Indemnity and Guarantee Company Limited
+ Ocean Group Investments Limited

* Ocean Overseas Holdings Limited

« Power Europe Development Limited

» Power Europe Operating Limited

49 Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate
Governance Code

The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Post AG jointly submitted the Declaration of Conform-
ity with the German Corporate Governance Code for financial
year 2019 required by section 161 of the AktG. This Declara-
tion of Conformity can be accessed online at ® degk.de and at
® dpdhl.com/en/investors.

50 significant events after the reporting date and

other disclosures
After the Chinese government introduced measures to contain
the ceronavirus outbreak in early 2020, trade volumes in subse-
quent weeks weakened, not only on the inbound and outbound
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China trade tanes but also in other countries of Asia; constraints
on industrial preduction are also expected outside of China. The
Group currently sees more significant effects for the Global
Forwarding business unit and the Express division, where the
business is particularly affected with regards to cross-border
trade flows into and out of China. The other business units have
been affected only marginally to date. The impact on the Group’s
full-year results cannot be estimated with any precision at this
time. In case of a longer duration or a worsening of the current
situation aver the next months, the negative effects for the Group
are likely to outweigh the positives.

On 28 February 2020 the Group decided to concentrate
on operating the existing StreetScooter fleet. The realignment
of StreetScooter is expected to result in a one-off expense of
€300 million to €400 million outside of the company’s core
husiness for the current financial year. In addition to the result
from current StreetScooter operations, this will largely comprise
depreciation and impairment losses on currentand non-current
assets and restructuring costs.

There were no other significant events after the report-
ing date.

RESPONSIBILITY
STATEMENT

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the appli-
cable reporting principles, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial posi-
tion and profit or loss of the Group, and the management report
of the Group, which is combined with the management report
of Deutsche Post AG, includes a fair review of the development
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INDEPEMDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

and performance of the business and the position of the Group,
together with a description of the principal opportunities and
risks associated with the expected development of the Group.

Bonn, 14 February 2020

Addition of disclosures related to material subseguent events
to the notes to the consolidated financial statements and the
group management report: these subsequent events concern
the impact of the coronavirus on the earnings forecast for 2020
and the decision to restructure StreetScooter into an operator of
the existing fleet of vehicles.

Bonn, 9 March 2020

Deutsche Post AG
The Board of Management

Dr Frank Appel Ken Alten
Oscarde Bok Melanie Kreis
\’
AN

Dr Tobias Meyer

o

John Pearson

Dr Thomas Ogitvie

A -Jhawck

Tim Scharwath

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

To Deutsche Post AG, Bonn

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements and of the Group
Management Report

Audit Opinions
We have audited the consoclidated financial statements of
Deutsche Post AG, Bonn, and its subsidiaries {the Group), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at December 31, 2019, the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income, consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of changes in equity, and consclidated
statement of cash flows for the financial year from January 1
to December 31, 2019, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. In addition, we have audited the group management
report of Deutsche Post AG, which is combined with the Compa-
ny’s management report, for the financial year from January 1
to December 31, 2019. In accordance with the German legal
requirements, we have not audited the content of those parts of
the group management report listed in the “Other information”
section of our auditor’s report.
In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in

the audit,
= the accompanying censolidated financial statements com-

ply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as adopted by the

EU, and the additional requirements of German commer-

cial law pursuant to § [Article] 315e Abs. [paragraph] 1HGR
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[Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] and, in com-
pliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities, and financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2019, and of its financial performance for the
financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2019, and

« the accompanying group management report as a whole pro-
videsan appropriate view of the Group's position. In all material
respects, this group management report is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal
requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and
risks of future development. Our audit opinion on the group
management report does not cover the content of those parts
of the group management report listed in the “Other Informa-
tion” section of cur auditer’s report.

Pursuant to § 322 Abs. 3 Satz [sentence] 1 HGB, we declare that
our audit has not led to any reservations relating to the legal
compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the
group management report.

Basis for the Audit Opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments and of the group management report in accordance with

§ 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014, referred

to subsequently as “EU Audit Regulation™} in compliance with

German Generally Accepted Standards for Financiaf Statement

Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftspriifer [insti-
tute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW)}. We performed the

audit of the consolidated financial statements in supplementary
compliance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).
Our responsibilities under those requirements, principles and

standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities

for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of
the Group Management Repart” section of our auditor’s report,
We are independent of the group entities in accordance with
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the requirements of Eurcpean law and German commercial
and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German
professional respensibilities in accordance with these require-
ments. In addition, in accordance with Article 10 (2} point (f) of
the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not provided
non-audit services prchibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit
Regulation. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opin-
ions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group
management report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the conscili-
dated financial statements for the financial year from January 1
to December 31, 2019. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as
a whotle, and in forming our audit opinion thereon; we do not
provide a separate audit opinion on these matters.

In our view, the matters of most significance in our audit were
as follows:

©  Recoverability of goodwill

© Pension obligations and plan assets

Our presentation of these key audit matters has been structured
in each case as follows:

(@  Matter and issue

(@ Auditapproach and findings

(3 Reference to further information

Hereinafter we present the key audit matters:

1]
O]

Recoverability of goodwill

Inthe consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Post AG,
goodwitl amounting to EUR 11.3 billion is reperted under
the balance sheet item “Intangibie assets”, representing
approximately 22% of total assets and 81% of the Group's
reported equity. Goodwitl is tested for impairment by the
Company on an annual basis as of the balance sheet date
or if there are indications that goodwill may be impaired.
The impairment test of goodwillis based on the recoverable
amount, which is determined by applying a measurement
model using the discounted cash flow method. This matter
was of particular significance in our audit, because the re-
sult of this measurement depends to a large extent on the
estimation of future cash inflows by the Company’s exec-
utive directors and the discount rate used, and is therefore
subject to considerable uncertainty.

We satisfied ourselves as to the appropriateness of the
future cash inflows used in the calculation by, inter alia,
comparing this data with the current budgets in the three-
year plan prepared by the executive directors and approved
by the Company's supervisory board, and reconciling it
against general and sector-specific market expectations,
With the knowledge that even relatively small changes
in the discount rate can have a material impact on the re-
coverable amount calculated using this method, we also
focused our testing on the parameters used to determine
the discount rate applied, including the weighted average
cost of capital, and evaluated the Company’s calculation
procedure. Due to the materiality of goodwill and the fact
thatits measurementalso depends on economic conditions
which are outside of the Company’s sphere of influence, we
carried out our swn additional sensitivity analyses for those
cash-generating units with low headrcom (recoverable
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amount compared with the carrying amount) and found
that the respective goodwill is sufficiently covered by the
discounted future cash inflows. Overall, the measurement
parameters and assumptions used by the executive direc-
tors are reproduceable.

(3 The Company's disclosures regarding goodwill are con-
tained in note 21 of the notes to the consclidated financial
statements.

Pension obligations and plan assets

Inthe consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Post AG
atotal of EUR 5.1 billionis reported under the balance sheet
item “Provisions for pensions and similar obligations”. The
net pension provisions of EUR 4.9 billion {after consideration
of reported plan assets of EUR 0.2 billion) were calculated
on the basis of the present value of the obiigations amount-
ing to EUR 18.6 billion, netted against the plan assets of
EUR13.7 billion, which were measured at fair value. The ob-
ligations from defined benefit pension plans were measured

OF )

using the projected unit credit method n accordance with
1AS 19. This requires in particular that assumptions be made
as to the long-term salary and pension trend as wellas aver-
age life expectancy. Furthermore, the discount rate must be
determined as of the balance sheet date by reference to the
yield on high-quality cerperate bonds with matching curren-
cies and consistent terms. Changes to these measurement
assumptions are recognized directly in equity as actuarial
gains or losses. Changes in the financial measurement pa-
rameters resulted inactuarial losses of EUR 2.1 billion. In our
view, these matters were of particular significance, as the
measurement of the pension obligations and plan assets is
to a large extent hased on the estimates and assumptions
made by the Company's executive directors.,

(@ withthe knowledge that estimated values bear an increased
risk of accounting misstatements and that the executive
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directors’ measurement decisions have a direct and sig-
nificant effect on the consolidated financial statements,
we assessed the appropriateness of the values adopted,
in particular the measurement parameters used in the cal~
culation of the pension provisions, inter alia on the basis
of actuarial reports made available to us and taking into
account the expert knowledge of cur internal specialists
for pension vaiuations. Our evaluation of the fair values of
plan assets was in particular based an bank confirmations
submitted to us, as well as other statements of assets and
real estate appraisals. On the basis of our audit procedures,
we were able to satisfy oursetves that the estimates and as-
sumptions made by the executive directors were sufficiently
documented and supported to justify the recognition and
measurement of the material pension provisions.

(3) The Company’s disclosures retating to provisions for pen-
sions and similar obligations are contained in note 36 of
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Other Information

The executive directors are responsible for the other informa-

tion. The other information comprises the following non-audited

parts of the group management report:

« the statement on corporate governance pursuant to § 289 f
HGB and § 315 d HGB included in the “Declaration on Corpo-
rate Governance and Non-financial Group Report” section of
the group management report

* the separate non-financial report pursuantto § 289 b Abs. 3 HGB
and § 315 b Abs. 3HGB

The other information comprises further the remaining parts

of the annual report ~ excluding cross-references to external

information —with the exception of the audited consolidated fi-
nancial statements, the audited group management report and

our auditor’s report.

Qur audit opinions on the consolidated financial state-
ments and on the group management report do not cover the
other information, and consequently we do not express an audit
opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion thereon.

in connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read
the other informaticn and, in so doing, to consider whether the
other information
+ Is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial state-

ments, with the group management report or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or
+ otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors and the
Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the Group Management Report
The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that comply, in all mate-
rial respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additignal
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315 e
Abs. 1 HGB and that the consolidated financial statements, in
compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and financiat per-
formance of the Group. In addition the executive directors are
responsible for such internal control as they have determined
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the ex-
ecutive directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as agoing concern. They also have the respensibility
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information from these assumptions. We do not expressasep-
arate audit opinion on the prospective information and on the
assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable
risk that future events will differ materiaily from the prospec-
tive information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficien-
cies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with the relevant independ-
ence requirements, and communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
ourindependence, and where applicable, the related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most sig-
nificance in the audit of the consoelidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter.
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Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements

Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit
Regulation
We were etected as group auditor by the annual general meet-
ing on May 15, 2019. We were engaged by the supervisory
board on August 8, 2019. We have been the group auditor of
Deutsche Post AG, Bonn without interruption since the Company
first met the requirements as a public interest entity within the
meaning of § 319 a Abs. 1 Satz 1 HGB in the financtai year 2000.
We declare that the audit opinions 2xpressed in this audi-
tor’'s report are consistent with the additional report to the audit
committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation
(long-form audit report).

Reference to Supplementary Audit

We issue this auditor’s report on the amended consolidated finan-
cial statements and amended group management report on the

basis of our audit, duly completed as at 14 February 2020, and

our supplementary audit completed as at 9 March 2020 related

to the addition of disclosures related to material subsequent

events to the notes to the consolidated financial statements and

the group managementreport. These subsequent events concern

the impact of the coronavirus an the earnings forecast for 2020

and the decision to restructure StreetScooter into an operator of
the existing fleet of vehicles. We refer to the presentation of the
amendments by the executive directors in the amended notes
to the consolidated financial statements, note 50 “Significant
events after the reporting date and other disclosures”, as well
as the amended group management repcrt, sections “report on

economic position”, “expected developments” and “epportunities
and risks”.

German Public Auditor Responsihle
for the Engagement

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is
Verena Heineke.

Dilsseldorf, 14 February 2020/limited to the amendments
stated in the “Reference to Supplementary Audit” section above:
9 March 2020.

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft

Dietmar Priimm
Wirtschaftspriifer
(German Pubtic Auditor)

Verena Heineke
Wirtschaftspriiferin
(German Pubtic Auditor)
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MULTI-YEAR REVIEW
Key figures, 2012 to 2019
€m

2014 2015 20146 2017 2018 2019

adjusted adjusted adjusted adjusted

Revenue
Post & Parcet Germany o 15,686 16,131 i 17,078 18,161 15,108 15,484
Express B 12,491 13661 13,748 15,049 T 161a7 17101
Global Forwarding, Freight 14924 14890 13737 14482 14978 15128
Supply Chain ) B 14737 15,791 13,957 14152 13350 13436
eCommerce Solutions B - - } - - T - T 3834 4045
Total for the divisicns 57,838 60473 58520 61844 63417 85194
Corporate Functions {uniil 2017: Corporate Center/Dther) M - 1,345 1,269 \l H,mwﬂ o 1387 1624 1,477
Consoligation - -2,553 -2512 -2465  -2787  -3461 3330
Total 56,630 59,230 57,334 60,444 61,550 63,341
Profit/loss from operating activities (EBIT)
Post & Parcel Germany i 1,298 1103 1446 1508 683 1,230
Express ) ] ) 1,260 1391 1,544 L7368 1957 2,039
Global Forwarding, Freight 293 -181 T 287 297 T a0 521
Supply Chain o 465 445 572 855 520 92
eCommerce Solutions B - B - - - ] - -27 51
Total for the divisicns i 3316 2762 3849 4091 3575 4,651
Carporate Functions [until 2017: Corparate Center/Otherl - -352 -351 S -359 350 TTala 0 san
Consolidation - ‘ 1 o 1 C o — T — 5
Total - 2,965 2,411 3,491 3741 3,162 4,128
Consolidated net profit for the period 2,177 1,719 2,781 2,853 2,224 2,776
Cash flow/capex/depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
Net cash from eperating activities 3040 3444 2439 ) 3,297 5,796 6,049
Net cash used i _:swm‘::m. activities o i -1,087 -1,462 o .Hoﬂ\w e T om0 T 22140
Net cash used in financing activities -2,348 -1367 1233 -log7 3039 —41127
Free cash flow ) 1345 1724 444 1,432 1050~ g7
Capex’ ) T N 1876 2024 2074 2268 2,648 3,617
Depreciation, mE.o_.HmmmHmo; and impairment losses ) o _ 1381 1,665 1377 ) 1471 B 3297 "3,684
Assets and capital structure
Non-current assets |Nm.oow mw.wMN 24,146 23916 34,804 37,117
Current assets ’ - 14,077 - 14143 i 14,129 14,756 15,686 15,052
Equity (excluding 10:-8:.:0_:3@ interests} - S 9,376 HHE |\\ Homm M HHNM&W H ﬂoo \|\ Hk_u“__u.u‘
Nen-controlling interests - 204 261 - 263 266 283 N.uW
Non-current provisions and liabilities B 13,804 12,734 12,127 11370 20131 20,504
Current provisions and liabilities | 13595 13,841 14818 14399 1b46b 18873
Total assets 36,979 37,870 38295 38672 50470 52,169
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Employees/staff costs
Number of employees? At 31 Dec. 488,824 497,745 508,036 519,544 547,459 546,924
Full-tme equivalents® _ m3lDec 443784 450,508 459,262 472208 499018 499,250
Average number of employees? T 484,025 492,865 498,459 513,338 534370 544,282
Staff costs Em 18,189 19,640 19,592 20072 ) 20,825 21610
Staff cost ratio® T S % 32.1 332 342 32 338 T
Key figures revenue/Income/assets and capital structure
Return on sales’ o % 5.2 - 4.1 ‘ 6.1 62 5.1 6.5
Return on equity (ROE) before taxes® - % 263 15.7 277 - 275 193 24.6
Return on assets” ‘ % 8.2 6.4 9.2 97 7.1 8.0
Tax rate® T % 155 16.4 11.2 143 140 201
Equity ratio® T i % 25.9 29.8 29.6 334 oa7s 27.6
Netdebt®® S T e T T 14 1,093 2201 1,938 112,303 13,367
Net gearing™ o - % 135 8.8 166 131 470 482
Key stock data
Basic earnings per share?* £ 1.71 1,27 219 2.24 1.69 2.13
Diluted earnings per share* T o € 1.64 1.22 210 2.15 1.66 2.09
Cash flow per share® € 251 2.84 2.03 272 471 490
Dividend distribution - em 1,030 1,027 1270 1409 1419 154amee
Payout ratio? T o % 497 667 481 519 68.4 " 5gg
Dividend per share ’ € 7 o085 o085 105 115 115 1.25%
Dividend yield o o ‘ % R 33 24 29 ) 48 37
Price-ta-earnings ratio*® - 15.8 204 14,3 177 ) 141 160
Price-to-cash flow ratio™? i 108 ) 2.1 154 14.6 5.1 o 6.9
Humber of shares as at 31 December millions 12112 12128 12409 1,2287 TT12365 12365
Year-end closing u.znm. Y - € 2705 - 2596 21.24 ) 3975 o 23.91 3401
High 3 28.43 3108 3135 40.99 40.96 T 3a51
Low € 2230 23.15 19.73 20.60 23.72 2354
Market capitalisation as at 31 December - £m o 32,758 31,483 38,760 48,841 29411 42053
Average trading volume per day®® shares 4,019,689 4,351,223 3,497,213 2,613,250 3770866 3,109,350
Annual performance including dividends N % 51 05 236 306 169 471
Annual performance excluding dividends % T2 —40 203 T T2 -398 422
Beta factor? S ‘ 094 0.95 097 099 oy 1.00

L As of 2017: capex retating to assets acquired.

* Headcountincluding trainees.

* Excluding trainees.

4 Staff costs/revenue.

5 EBIT/revenue.

¢ Profit before Income taxes/average equity (including non-controlling Interests).

? EBIT/average total

assets. ® Income taxes/profit before income taxes. * Equity {including non-controlling interests)/tetal assets. '° £ Combined Management Report, page 45. ' Net debt/net debt and equity (including nen-controlling interests). 12 The average

weighted number of shares outstanding is used for the calculation.
' Excluding one-off effects, 2015: 45.8%, 2018: 55.4%, 2019: 59.4%.
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% The average welghted number of shares outstanding is adjusted for the number of all potentially dilutive shares.
2 Year-end closing price/basic earnings per share.

¥ Year-end closing price/cash flow per share.

1 Cash flow from operating activities.
2 Yolumes traded via the Xetra trading venue.

** Proposal.
1 Three-year beta; source: Bloombery.

& Estimate.
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Dialogue marketing
Market-crientated activities that apply direct communications to selectively
reach target groups using a personal, individualised approach.

German federal network agency {Bundesnetzagentur}
German national regulator for electricity, gas, telecommunications, post
and railway.

German Postal Act (Postgesets)

The purpose of the German Postal Act, which took effect on 1 January 1698,
is to promote postal competition through regulation and ensure the
nationwide provision of appropriate and sufficient postal services. [tincludes
regutations on licensing, price control and the universal service. The
initiation of a legislative procedure for a new Postal Act is expected in the
course of 2020.

Packstation
Parcel machine where parcels and small packages can be deposited and
collected around the clock.

Price-cap procedure

Procedure whereby the German federal network agency approves prices
for certain mail products. The agency approves prices on the basis of
parameters it stipulates in advance, which set the average changes in these
prices within baskets of services defined by the agency.

B2C
The exchange of goods, services and informatior between businesses and
consumers.

Block space agreement

Freight forwarders or shippers enter into block space agreements with
airline companies which provide them with defired freight capacities ona
regular flight against payment of a fee.

Contract logistics

Complex logistics and logistics-related services along the vaiue chain that
are performed by a contract logistics service provider. Services are tailored
to a particular industry or customer and are generally based on tang-term
contracts.

Customer Solutions & Innovation {CSI1)
DHL's cross-divisional commercial and innovatien unit.

Gateway
Callection peint for goods intended for export ard for further distribution
of goods upon import.

Hub
Collection point for transferring and connecting nternational shipments
from and to multiple countries.

Lead Logistics Partner (LLP)
A logistics service provider who assumes the organisation of all or key
logistics processes for the customer.
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Medical Express

The transpert of time-critical or temperature-critical medicat shipments
such as blood and tissue samples to medical facilities, hospitals,
laborataries or research institutes, usually related to clinical trials of new
medications.

Multimodal transport
Combines a minimurm of two different means of transport for a shipmant,
such as air, sea, rail and ground.

Supply chain
A series of connected resources and processes from sourcing materials
to delivering goods to consumers.

Time Definite
Delivery of time-critical shipments by a pre-selected time.

Transported Asset Protection Assoeciation (TAPA)

Aforum that unites manufacturers, logistics providers, freight carriers,
law enfercement authorities and other stakeholders with the common
aim of reducing losses from international supply chains.

Twenty-foot equivalent unit [TEU)
Standardised container unit, 20 feet long and 8 feet wide [& x 2.4 metres).

This Report contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not historical facts. They also include statements concerning assumptions and expectations. These statements are based upon current plans, estimates
and projections, and the information available to Deutsche Post AG at the time this Repart was completed, They should not be censidered to be assurances of the future performance and results contained therein, Instead, they depend
on a number of factors and are subject to various risks and uncertainties (particularly those described in the "0pportunities and -isks” section) and are based on assumptions that may prove to be inaccurate. It is possible that actual
performance and results may differ from the forward-looking staterments made in this Report. Deutsche Post AG assumes no obligation beyond the statutory reguirements to update the forward-looking statements made in this Report.
If Deutsche Post AG updates one or more forward-looking statements, no assumption can be made that the statement(s} in quection or other farward-looking statements will be updated reqularly.
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2020

Results of the first quarter of 2020 12 May
2020 Annual General Meeting 13 May
Dividend payment 18 May
Results of the first half of 2020 5 August

Results of the first nine months of 2020 10 November
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2021
Results of financial year 2020 9 March
Results of the first quarter of 2021 5 May
2021 Annual General Meeting 6 May
Dividend payment 11 May
Results of the first half of 2021 S August
Results of the first nine months of 2021 4 November
Further dates, updates as well as information on live webcasts:
@ dpdhl.com/en/investars
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